

 


 


 


PINOLE CITY COUNCIL 
1AMENDED MEETING 


AGENDA 


CITY COUNCIL 


Vincent Salimi, Mayor  
Devin Murphy, Mayor Pro Tem 
Anthony Tave, Council Member 
Maureen Toms, Council Member 


Norma Martínez-Rubin, Council Member 


TUESDAY 
April 5, 2022 


5:00 P.M 
Please note:  HYBRID MEETING FORMAT & EARLY START TIME 


Attend in person : PINOLE CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS - 2131 PEAR STREET 
OR 


Attend VIA ZOOM TELECONFERENCE – Details provided below 


Please note:  Updated COVID-19 safety protocols will be posted outside the City Council 
Chambers.  Please review this information before entering the Council Chambers. 


How to Submit Public Comments: 
In Person:  Attend meeting at the Pinole City Council Chambers, fill out a yellow public comment
card and submit it to the City Clerk. 


Via Zoom: 
Members of the public may submit a live remote public comment via Zoom video conferencing. Download 
the Zoom mobile app from the Apple Appstore or Google Play. If you are using a desktop computer, you 
can test your connection to Zoom by clicking here. Zoom also allows you to join the meeting by phone. 


From a PC, Mac, iPad, iPhone or Android:    
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89335000272 


Webinar ID: 893 3500 0272 
By phone:   +1 (669) 900-6833  or  +1 (253) 215-8782  or  +1 (346) 248-7799   


• Speakers will be asked to provide their name and city of residence, although providing this
is not required for participation.


• Each speaker will be afforded up to 3 minutes to speak (subject to modification by the
Mayor)


• Speakers will be muted until their opportunity to provide public comment.


When the Mayor opens the comment period for the item you wish to speak on, please use the 
“raise hand” feature (or press *9 if connecting via telephone) which will alert staff that you have 
a comment to provide and press *6 to unmute.  To comment with your video enabled, please let 
the City Clerk know you would like to turn your camera on once you are called to speak. 


CORONAVIRUS ADVISORY 
INFORMATION: 


CLICK HERE for City Updates 


CLICK HERE for County Updates 


1 of 316


1  Revised Reports for Agenda Items 9H and 9J 



https://www.zoom.us/join

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/89335000272

http://pinoleca.hosted.civiclive.com/city_government/coronavirus

https://www.coronavirus.cchealth.org/





City Council 
Agenda – April 5, 2022 
Page 2 


Written Comments: All comments received before 3:00 pm the day of the meeting will
be posted on the City’s website on the agenda page (Agenda Page Link) and provided to the 
City Council prior to the meeting.  Written comments will not be read aloud during the meeting. 
Email comments to comment@ci.pinole.ca.us Please indicate which item on the agenda you 
are commenting on in the subject line of your email. 


Please note:  Updated COVID-19 safety protocols will be posted outside the City Council 
Chambers.  Please review this information before entering the Council Chambers. 


OTHER WAYS TO WATCH THE MEETING 
LIVE ON CHANNEL 26.  They are retelecast the following Thursday at 6:00 p.m.  The Community TV Channel 26 
schedule is published on the city’s website at www.ci.pinole.ca.us.   


VIDEO-STREAMED LIVE ON THE CITY’S WEBSITE, www.ci.pinole.ca.us.  and remain archived on the site for five 
(5) years. 


If none of these options are available to you, or you need assistance with public comment, please 
contact the City Clerk, Heather Bell at (510) 724-8928 or hbell@ci.pinole.ca.us . 


Americans With Disabilities Act:  In compliance with the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, if you need 
special assistance to participate in a City Meeting or you need a copy of the agenda, or the agenda packet in an 
appropriate alternative format, please contact the City Clerk’s Office at (510) 724-8928.  Notification at least 48 hours 
prior to the meeting or time when services are needed will assist the City staff in assuring that reasonable 
arrangements can be made to provide accessibility to the meeting or service. 


Note:  Staff reports are available for inspection on the City Website at www.ci.pinole.ca.us.  You may also contact the 
City Clerk via e-mail at hbell@ci.pinole.ca.us . 


Ralph M. Brown Act.  Gov. Code § 54950.  In enacting this chapter, the Legislature finds and 
declares that the public commissions, boards and councils and the other public agencies in this 
State exist to aid in the conduct of the people's business.  It is the intent of the law that their 
actions be taken openly and that their deliberations be conducted openly.  The people of this State 
do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies, which serve them.  The people, in delegating 
authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know 
and what is not good for them to know.  The people insist on remaining informed so that they may 
retain control over the instruments they have created. 


2 of 316



https://www.ci.pinole.ca.us/city_government/city_council/agendas_and_minutes

mailto:comment@ci.pinole.ca.us

http://www.ci.pinole.ca.us/

http://www.ci.pinole.ca.us/

mailto:hbell@ci.pinole.ca.us

http://www.ci.pinole.ca.us/

mailto:hbell@ci.pinole.ca.us





Pinole City Council  
Agenda –April 5, 2022 
Page 3 


1. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE IN HONOR OF THE US MILITARY
TROOPS


2. LAND ACKNOWLEDGMENT
Before we begin, we would like to acknowledge the Ohlone people, who are the traditional custodians of 
this land. We pay our respects to the Ohlone elders, past, present, and future, who call this place, Ohlone 
Land, the land that Pinole sits upon, their home. We are proud to continue their tradition of coming 
together and growing as a community. We thank the Ohlone community for their stewardship and 
support, and we look forward to strengthening our ties as we continue our relationship of mutual respect 
and understanding. 


3. ROLL CALL, CITY CLERK’S REPORT & STATEMENT OF CONFLICT
An official who has a conflict must, prior to consideration of the decision: (1) publicly identify in detail the 
financial interest that causes the conflict; (2) recuse himself /herself from discussing and voting on the 
matter; and (3) leave the room until after the decision has been made, Cal. Gov't Code § 87105. 


4. CONVENE TO A CLOSED SESSION
Citizens may address the Council regarding a Closed Session item prior to the Council adjourning 
into the Closed Session, by first providing a speaker card to the City Clerk.   


A. CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 
Gov. Code § 54957.6 
Agency designated representatives:  Human Resources Director Shell, Assistant 
City Attorney Mog 
Unrepresented employee:  City Clerk 


5. RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION TO ANNOUNCE RESULTS OF CLOSED SESSION


6. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD (Public Comments)
Citizens may speak under any item not listed on the Agenda.  The time limit is 3 minutes and is subject to 
modification by the Mayor. Individuals may not share or offer time to another speaker.  Pursuant to 
provisions of the Brown Act, no action may be taken on a matter unless it is listed on the agenda, or 
unless certain emergency or special circumstances exist.  The City Council may direct staff to investigate 
and/or schedule certain matters for consideration at a future Council meeting.  PLEASE SEE THE 
COVERSHEET OF THE AGENDA FOR INSTRUCTIONS ON HOW TO SUBMIT PUBLIC COMMENTS 


7. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS


A. Mayor Report
1. Announcements


B. Mayoral & Council Appointments 


C.  City Council Committee Reports & Communications 


D. Council Requests for Future Agenda Items 


E. City Manager Report / Department Staff 


F. City Attorney Report 


3 of 316







City Council 
Agenda – April 5, 2022 
Page 4 


8. RECOGNITIONS / PRESENTATIONS / COMMUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS


None 


9. CONSENT CALENDAR
All matters under the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine or noncontroversial.  These items will be 
enacted by one motion and without discussion.  If, however, any interested party or Council member(s) wishes to 
comment on an item, they may do so before action is taken on the Consent Calendar. Following comments, if a 
Council member wishes to discuss an item, it will be removed from the Consent Calendar and taken up in order after 
adoption of the Consent Calendar. 


A. Approve the Minutes of the March 15, 2022 Regular Meeting and the March 22, 
2022 Special Meeting. 


B. Receive the March 12, 2022 -April 1, 2022 List of Warrants in the Amount of 
$1,635,243.60, the March 18, 2022 Payroll in the Amount of $497,824.38, and 
the April 1, 2022 Payroll in the Amount of $502,369.08 


C. Resolution Continuing Authorized Remote Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to 
AB361 [Action:  Adopt Resolution per Staff Recommendation (Casher)] 


D. Activities of the Public Works Department Operations and Maintenance Division 
[Action:  Receive and File Report (Mishra)] 


E. Status of Building Permit Process [Action:  Receive and file report (Whalen)] 


F. Consulting Services Agreement for Informational Outreach and Ballot Measure 
Coordination for Potential November 2022 Ballot Measure [Action:  Adopt 
Resolution per Staff Recommendation (Murray)] 


G. Resolution Authorizing the City Manager to Enter into a Services Agreement with 
Fire Recovery USA, LLC [Action:  Adopt Resolution per Staff Recommendation 
(Wynkoop)] 


H. Authorize The City Manager to Execute a Settlement Agreement Between the 
City of Pinole and The Pinole Police Employees’ Association [Action:  Adopt 
Resolution per Staff Recommendation (Shell)] 


I. Ordinance Amending Chapter 9.24 Of the Municipal Code to Regulate the Use 
and Sale of Fireworks in The City of Pinole [Action:  Adopt Ordinance on Second 
Reading (Casher)] 


J. Approve a Disposition and Development Agreement Between the City of Pinole 
and Grp Shores, LLC For the Development of Property Located at 850 San 
Pablo Avenue Known as Pinole Shores 2 [Action:  Adopt Resolution per Staff 
Recommendation (Mishra)] 


10. PUBLIC HEARINGS
Citizens wishing to speak regarding a Public Hearing item should fill out a speaker card prior to the completion of the 
presentation, by first providing a speaker card to the City Clerk.  An official who engaged in an ex parte 
communication that is the subject of a Public Hearing must disclose the communication on the record prior 
to the start of the Public Hearing. 


None 


4 of 316







City Council   
Agenda – April 5, 2022 
Page 5  


11.      OLD BUSINESS 
 


None 
 
12.       NEW BUSINESS 
 


A. Letter Of Support for Assembly Bill 1944 [Action:  Receive Report and Consider  
 Approval of Letter per Staff Recommendation (Casher)] 
 


B.      Consideration Of a Letter of Support for United Steelworkers Contract at                                 
                       Chevron Richmond Refinery [Action:  Receive Report and Consider Approval of  
   Letter per Staff Recommendation (Whalen)] 
 


C.       Receive Draft Information Technology Plan (“It Plan”) And Recommend Changes,  
     If any, to be Incorporated into Final IT Plan [Action:  Receive Report and Provide  
      Direction (Murray)] 
 


 
13. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD (Continued from Item 6) (Public Comments)  
Open only to members of the public who did not speak under the first Citizens to Be Heard, 
Agenda Item 6 
Citizens may speak under any item not listed on the Agenda.  The time limit is 3 minutes for City Council items 
and is subject to modification by the Mayor. Individuals may not share or offer time to another speaker. Pursuant to 
provisions of the Brown Act, no action may be taken on a matter unless it is listed on the agenda, or unless certain 
emergency or special circumstances exist.  The City Council may direct staff to investigate and/or schedule certain 
matters for consideration at a future meeting. 
 
 
14. ADJOURNMENT to the Regular City Council Meeting of April 19, 2022 in Remembrance 
of Amber Swartz.  
 
 
I hereby certify under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing Agenda was 
posted on the bulletin board at the main entrance of Pinole City Hall, 2131 Pear Street 
Pinole, CA, on the City’s website, not less than 72 hours prior to the meeting date set forth 
on this agenda.  
 
POSTED:  March 31, 2022 at 4:00 P.M. 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 
 


5 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 1 
 


CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES 


March 15, 2022  
 


 
1. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE IN HONOR OF THE US MILITARY 


TROOPS 
 
The City Council Meeting was held in a hybrid format (in-person and via Zoom videoconference 
and broadcast) from the Pinole Council Chambers, 2131 Pear Street, Pinole, California.  Mayor 
Salimi called the Regular Meeting of the City Council to order at 6:00 p.m. and led the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
2. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  
Before we begin, we would like to acknowledge the Ohlone people, who are the traditional custodians of 
this land.  We pay our respects to the Ohlone elders, past, present and future, who call this place, Ohlone 
Land, the land that Pinole sits upon, their home.  We are proud to continue their tradition of coming together 
and growing as a community.  We thank the Ohlone community for their stewardship and support, and we 
look forward to strengthening our ties as we continue our relationship of mutual respect and understanding.  
 
3. ROLL CALL, CITY CLERK’S REPORT & STATEMENT OF CONFLICT 
An official who has a conflict must, prior to consideration of the decision; (1) publicly identify in detail the 
financial interest that causes the conflict; (2) recuse himself/herself from discussing and voting on the 
matter; and (3) leave the room until after the decision has been made, Cal. Gov. Code § 87105.   
 


A. COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT 
 
Vincent Salimi, Mayor  
Devin Murphy, Mayor Pro Tem   
Norma Martinez-Rubin, Council Member (Zoom teleconference)  
Anthony Tave, Council Member 
Maureen Toms, Council Member 
 
 B. STAFF PRESENT 
 
Andrew Murray, City Manager 
Heather Bell, City Clerk 
Eric Casher, City Attorney   
Alex Mog, Assistant City Attorney  
Chris Wynkoop, Fire Chief  
Neil Gang, Police Chief  
Lilly Whalen, Community Development Director 
 
City Clerk Heather Bell announced the agenda had been posted on Thursday, March 10, 2022 at 
4:00 p.m. with all legally required written notices.  A revised staff report for Item 9F had been 
distributed and published on the City website.  No written comments had been received in 
advance of the meeting.   
 
Following an inquiry, the Council reported there were no conflicts with any items on the agenda.   
 


6 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 2 
 


4. CONVENE TO A CLOSED SESSION   
Citizens may address the Council regarding a Closed Session item prior to the Council adjourning 
into the Closed Session, by first providing a speaker card to the City Clerk.   
 


A. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION   
Pursuant to Gov. Code § 54957 
Title:  City Clerk  


 
PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED 
 
Cordell Hindler, Richmond, suggested City Clerk Heather Bell had done a wonderful job.  As the 
City Council moved into Closed Session he asked the City Council to recognize City Clerk Bell 
made sure all meeting materials had always been distributed in a timely manner.   
 
Rafael Menis, Pinole, echoed the comments of the previous speaker.  He too praised the efforts 
of City Clerk Bell and urged everyone to read the meeting minutes which summarized the 
comments from all speakers.  He also appreciated the set up for this hybrid meeting and the work 
of the City Clerk to ensure that virtual meetings had been held during the pandemic.  He looked 
forward to her continuing to serve the City of Pinole.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  


 
5. RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION TO ANNOUNCE RESULTS OF CLOSED SESSION 
 
At 6:45 p.m., Mayor Salimi reconvened the meeting into open session and announced there was 
no reportable action from the Closed Session.     
 
Mayor Salimi moved onto Item 8A at this time and announced that the City Council would return 
to the regular meeting agenda after the completion of the item.   
 
8. RECOGNITIONS / PRESENTATIONS / COMMNUNITY ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 


A. Proclamations  
1. Recognition of Nowruz  


 
The City Council read into the record a proclamation in recognition of Nowruz, a celebration of 
the Persian New Year which marked the spring equinox.  Nowruz would be celebrated on March 
20, 2022.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
Dr. Hoss Abar thanked the City Council for the proclamation.  He described the significance of 
Nowruz, an international holiday celebrating the Persian New Year. As a first generation 
immigrant to the United States, he detailed his background and his orthodontics practice located 
in Pinole for over 20 years.  He expressed his appreciation to Pinole for the freedom and 
opportunities provided to his family and friends.  On behalf of the Iranian community, he again 
thanked the Mayor and the entire City Council for the proclamation recognizing Nowruz.    
 


7 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 3 
 


Shaheen Jorjani, Berkeley, a teacher of Farsi in the Albany School District, and a member of the 
Persian community also thanked the City Council for the proclamation and the recognition of other 
cultures.  She emphasized the importance of learning all cultures and their history.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 
Mayor Salimi declared a recess at 7:10 p.m. for refreshments.  The City Council meeting 
reconvened at 7:22 p.m. with all Councilmembers and staff present via the hybrid meeting format.   
 


2. Women’s History Month  
 


The City Council read into the record a proclamation recognizing March 2022 as Women’s History 
Month, and Council member Toms asked that the proclamation be forwarded to the City Clerk to 
be shared with City staff.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
City Clerk Bell reported there were no comments for this item.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 


3. American Red Cross Month  
 


The City Council read into the record a proclamation recognizing March 2022 as American Red 
Cross Month.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
Rolanda Wilson thanked the City Council for the proclamation and described the work of the 
American Red Cross and its response to natural disasters and emergencies, powered by 
community volunteers, community partners and those trained in vital health and safety skills.  She 
provided an overview of the numerous blood drives held in Contra Costa County over the past 
year and those scheduled this year, the award of the American Red Cross Life Saving Award to 
a Contra Costa resident for saving the life of a two-year old girl, and the partnership with the City 
of Concord for the Sound the Alarm campaign for the installation of life-saving smoke alarms to 
communities in need.  The Red Cross also planned to conduct an evacuation drill in Rossmoor.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 
6. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD (Public Comments) 
Citizens may speak under any item not listed on the Agenda.  The time limit is 3 minutes and is 
subject to modification by the Mayor. Individuals may not share or offer time to another speaker.  
Pursuant to provisions of the Brown Act, no action may be taken on a matter unless it is listed on 
the agenda, or unless certain emergency or special circumstances exist.  The City Council may 
direct staff to investigate and/or schedule certain matters for consideration at a future Council 
meeting 
. 


8 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 4 
 


City Clerk Bell described the procedures for public comment for the hybrid meeting and explained 
that public comments from those present in-person would be provided prior to the comments from 
those present via Zoom teleconference.   
 
Bob Kopp, Pinole, provided an aerial view of the property where an apartment development had 
been proposed on Fitzgerald Drive and which he suggested would impact neighboring 
businesses, with inadequate parking and traffic and sewage impacts. He questioned adding 
potentially 200 apartment units given potential impacts on numerous utilities including water 
resources and pointed out that PG&E did not have the electrical grid capacity to keep electricity 
operating during hot summer months.  There would also be impacts to the Pinole Police 
Department   He suggested the development should not be permitted and the City should consider 
commercial development that would bring revenue to the City.  He also suggested the City lacked 
the proper fire apparatus for a multi-story building which could impact the City’s budget.   
 
Peter Murray, Pinole, also referenced the proposed apartment development to be located on 
Fitzgerald Drive, a project that had been in process for some time with work already having been 
completed with limited public notification.  He pointed out that the Pinole Vista Shopping Center 
was intended to be self-sustaining for the City’s future and the City had invested financially into 
the property to generate commercial property sales taxes for the General Fund, which was 
intended to be a parallel revenue stream to augment the City’s limited property taxes.  A potential 
residential project in the middle of the City’s greatest revenue generating asset was a serious 
concern.  Given the nature of the project and its size, it could be detrimental to the City’s fragile 
financial dynamic, create a gap in Measure S funds, and result in a series of shares of state sales 
tax funds.  While the City was faced with state housing mandates, he found there were many 
serious issues to discuss and be vetted for a project that would impact the entire community.   
 
Rafael Menis, Pinole, referenced a petition to be presented to Contra Costa County regarding 
General Plan modifications, a topic germane to all County residents regarding the call for a ban 
on all new oil and gas drilling within the County due to environmental impacts on nearby 
communities, Greenhouse Gas (GHGs) emissions and climate change impacts.  He urged all 
residents of the County to sign the petition and reported that Los Angeles County had agreed to 
ban all new oil extraction within its territory.   
 
Roy Swearingen, Pinole, also referenced the potential residential development on Fitzgerald 
Drive in the Pinole Vista Shopping Center.  He emphasized the City’s multi-year effort to design 
the center as a sales tax viable development and not as a residential development.  He was 
uncertain what work the Planning Commission or the City Council had done to research the 
background of the proposed project but pointed out that hospitals were non-existent, the nearest 
hospital was located in the City of Vallejo, and possibly 900 new residents would add 10 percent 
to the Pinole community.  He urged the City Council to consider the City’s local infrastructure, 
ensure that all bases were covered before permitting such development and consider the adverse 
impacts to the community.   
 
Debbie Long, Pinole, also referenced the potential five story, 223-unit residential apartment 
development on Fitzgerald Drive in the Pinole Vista Shopping Center, and suggested the project 
should have already been reviewed by the Planning Commission and not an assortment of staff 
that was fairly new to the City with little to no institutional knowledge.  She understood that a traffic 
study for the project had been prepared around the pandemic but should have been done prior to 
administratively pushing the project forward.   


9 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 5 
 


A study of accidents and crime in the area should have been researched as well as an opinion 
from the Police Department as to how an apartment complex of this size would affect existing 
traffic conditions and surrounding properties including those on Appian Way and Fitzgerald Drive.   
 
Ms. Long questioned whether roads were adequate to meet pedestrian needs based on the 
residential property and the size proposed; whether the Fire Department could adequately 
respond to a high-rise apartment complex; how the units may tax the City’s already underfunded 
and overburdened infrastructure; whether the City Council was aware the project was not slated 
to include solar although it would be prepped to be solar ready; and the fact the project would not 
be separated from the center but be open to the center’s parking with the applicant having 
requested a variance from the required parking regulations.  She understood no camera system 
was being required and the project would include less than 30 Very Low or Low Income units with 
the remainder of the units slated for market rate, which did not equate to affordable housing.    The 
project was also the sole interest of the developer who was also the owner of the shopping center 
and it should be scrutinized as to whether it met all of the safety issues and Environmental Impact 
Report (EIR) concerns.   
 
Ms. Long further questioned the consideration of changing Pinole from a General Law to a Charter 
City for the sole purpose of increasing taxes.   
 
Ann Ling, a resident of Contra Cost County, referenced an agreement from Contra Costa County 
Animal Services to the 18 cities in the county that contracted for animal services which agreement 
had been written below the basic standards of care for shelters across the state, with many 
shelters serving smaller populations with a fraction of the animal services budget.  She asked that 
the 18 cities agree to increase funding for animal services and that the cities consider a well-
written humane City/County agreement that outlined all services to be provided.  Cities should 
also consider reaching out to rescue groups and community members who could be involved in 
creating the new agreement.  She noted that in September 2020, the County’s Animal Services 
had removed many of its services due to budget issues, and while it was seeking more funds from 
the cities it was contracted with it was not including the numerous services that had been 
removed.  While she recognized the County’s Animal Services needed more funding, the 
agreement was not written with the best of intentions and she implored the City Council to 
consider discussing this issue with the Public Manager’s Association (PMA). 
 
Lisa Fulton, echoed the comments from the previous speaker and noted the Pinole Animal Shelter 
had been permanently closed placing a hardship on everyone.   She detailed her background with 
animal rescues and commented on the current animal population explosion.  She urged the City 
of Pinole to reinstate high volume spay and neuter services as well as low cost vaccinations, 
which services were desperately needed.  She added there was an issue with cats being poisoned 
in areas where the population had exploded with people going to drastic measures to control the 
increase in population.  She too spoke to the number of services the County’s Animal Services 
no longer provided.  She added that many people had studied the agreement and were willing to 
meet with members of the City Council to discuss improvements to the agreement.   
 
Annie Wright, a Contra Costa County resident, detailed her efforts to trap/spay/neuter/vaccinate 
feral cats through the resources of non-profit rescue groups and she too expressed concern with 
the recent agreement from Contra Costa County Animal Services to the 18 cities in the county 
that provided animal services given that the scope of the contract did not include many needed 
services, and the fact that even before the pandemic the agency had reduced or eliminated 


10 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 6 
 


programs that were community based.  While Contra Costa County’s main animal shelter had 
reopened, there were backlogs for many of its services and waiting lists with limited 
spay/neuter/vaccination services which could result in potential health risks to animals.  Also, the 
elimination of wildlife services, which was sorely needed, was an injustice to the communities and 
the animals.  She too urged Pinole leaders to listen to their citizens and meet the needs of 
residents and animals.   
 
Hulan Barnett, Richmond, identified himself as a candidate for the Contra Costa County Board of 
Supervisors.  He too commented on the lack of animal services to Pinole, El Cerrito and 
Kensington residents, the closure of the Pinole Animal Shelter, traffic impacts in the region, 
closure of local businesses due to the pandemic and numerous other impacts to residents of 
District 1 of Contra Costa County.  He found the City of Pinole to be a positive community and a 
good model for its residents.  He stated that more information on his campaign was available on 
his website.   
 
Mayor Salimi reported the City Council had approved a request for a future agenda item for a 
presentation from Contra Costa County Animal Services given the closure of the Pinole Animal 
Shelter.   
 
City Manager Andrew Murray clarified in response to the public comments with respect to the 
application for a residential apartment development on Fitzgerald Drive that an application had 
been submitted by a developer, the application was going through the City review processes, and 
the project had been slated to be considered by the Planning Commission in late April.   
 
7. REPORTS & COMMUNICATIONS  
 


A. Mayor Report 
1. Announcements 


 
Mayor Salimi welcomed everyone back to the Council Chambers for the first in-person meeting 
since the closure of City Hall due to the pandemic.   
 


B. Mayoral & Council Appointments 
 
None  
 


C.   City Council Committee Reports & Communications 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy also welcomed everyone back to the Council Chambers and looked 
forward to reaching out to the public in-person.   He welcomed everyone to the next Marin Clean 
Energy (MCE) Board meeting scheduled for March 17, 2022 at 7:00 p.m. and provided an 
overview of the meeting agenda; invited everyone to his monthly coffee and conversation 
scheduled for Sunday, March 20, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. at East Bay Coffee; and thanked the Contra 
Costa County Congressional delegation specifically Mike Thompson, Mark DeSaulnier, and Jerry 
McNerney and reported that due to their leadership there was now an additional $3 million for 
Contra Costa Behavioral Health Services.  He looked forward to a great year in 2022.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin wished everyone a happy spring and welcomed everyone back 
to the Council Chambers and stated she planned to join the Council at its next meeting. She 


11 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 7 
 


appreciated all of the staff efforts to provide safety measures in the Council Chambers and urged 
the public to continue to practice good public health measures to reduce exposure to COVID-19 
by masking, practicing social distancing and getting vaccinated. 
 
Council member Toms reported she and Council member Tave had attended the quarterly Pinole-
Hercules Wastewater Subcommittee meeting and she shared information on the monthly flow 
data from the Wastewater Treatment Plant.  She had also attended meetings of WestCAT and 
the Bay Front Chamber of Commerce Board briefing the Council on the discussions and 
scheduled Chamber activities.   
 
Council member Tave reported Pinole Garden Club would host its plant sale on May 7 at Pinole 
Valley Community Church.  He too briefed the Council on the discussions from the quarterly 
Pinole-Hercules Wastewater Subcommittee meeting and provided clarity regarding the monthly 
flow data from the Wastewater Treatment Plant.   He had also attended a meeting of RecycleMore 
briefing the Council on the discussions.       
 


D. Council Requests for Future Agenda Items 
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin requested a future agenda item for staff to prepare something  
to allow the City Council to think through the long-term impacts related to the state mandates such 
as the housing mandates and other state mandates the City would face given concerns with the 
lack of funding and how the City should plan for the future.   
 
City Manager Murray commented there were a number of unfunded state mandates, many of 
which were not related to land use planning.   He asked whether Council member Martinez-Rubin 
was referencing land use planning items or other buckets of items, and Council member Martinez-
Rubin clarified she was speaking to all of the buckets to allow the City Council to have an overview 
of those issues, with the main topic at this time being housing.  She suggested they should start 
the discussion now given the potential impacts on the City’s infrastructure and there should be a 
discussion on how to plan for that beyond the housing mandates.   
 
Council member Toms pointed out the housing piece would commence when the City Council 
held a workshop at its next meeting.  The City would also go through a General Plan Amendment 
and that would be the mechanism for that review.   
 
City Manager Murray confirmed the City Council would be discussing the state housing legislation, 
and there were a number of impact fees the City imposed on developers as part of the Master 
Fee Schedule to recoup some of the expenses imposed on the City.  He and the City Attorney 
could meet to prepare something to get this conversation started with additional research on 
individual presentations that could be provided to the City Council.  If that direction was acceptable 
staff could proceed.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin welcomed future presentations on specific topics as they moved 
along but at some point she would like all of the pieces presented to allow a better understanding 
of the complexity of the ongoing challenges and multifaceted issues facing the City.   
 
Council member Tave requested a future agenda item in the form of a memorandum to show 
whether the City had a mechanism to opt into a leverage cooperative or master agreement for 
buying or purchasing with the state and how many the City could manage if it did. 


12 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 8 
 


City Manager Murray expressed the willingness to prepare something.  He noted the City had 
recently updated its Procurement Policy, which allowed the City to piggyback on cooperative 
purchasing agreements or those with other public agencies and he could prepare some 
information for the City Council to review. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy requested a future agenda item for the City Council to consider a Letter 
of Support for Assembly Bill (AB) 1814, allow Community Choice Aggregators (CCAs) to plug into 
state funding for programs to advance transportation electrification in California.  Consensus 
given.   
 
Mayor Salimi requested a future agenda item as a Closed Session item for the City Council to 
discuss the allocation of American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) funds for increases, bonuses or 
benefits for frontline workers.   
 
Council member Tave recalled that HdL Consulting had advised against using COVID-19 relief 
funds for such uses, and Mayor Salimi recalled HdL had stated that the ARPA funds could not be 
allocated for that purpose although he would be more than happy for staff to provide additional 
information since he understood other cities had, in fact, been able to use ARPA funds for that 
purpose.   Consensus given.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
Rafael Menis, Pinole, requested a future agenda item for the City Council to adopt a 
resolution/proclamation in support of Ukraine and reported that other municipalities in the country 
including Aspen, Colorado had adopted similar resolutions.  He urged the City Council to adopt a 
resolution/proclamation similar to that adopted by the City of Aspen.   
 
Cordell Hindler, Richmond, requested a future agenda item for the City Council to revisit the 
budget and invite Sabrina Landreth, General Manager, East Bay Regional Park District (EBRPD) 
to provide an update on how COVID-19 had impacted parks in the Bay Area.  
 
Irma Ruport, Pinole, sought a future presentation on the status of the Pinole Animal Shelter.  She 
otherwise requested a future agenda item for the Fire Chief or Contra Costa County Supervisor 
John Gioia to provide an update on Fire Station No. 74.   
 
City Manager Murray advised that Fire Chief Wynkoop would be providing a presentation at a City 
Council meeting in April on some of the changes to Fire Station No. 74 and the progress of 
negotiations with the Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (CCCFPD) about greater 
collaboration.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 


E. City Manager Report / Department Staff 
 


City Manager Murray reported the City Council had been provided a memorandum on the status 
of Youth Commissions; a Special City Council meeting had been scheduled for March 22, 2022 
to discuss updates to the General Plan, Housing, Health and Safety and Environmental Justice; 
another Special City Council meeting was scheduled for March 29 and would focus on the City’s 


13 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 9 
 


revenue stream and local taxes; and he provided a preview of potential agenda items for the April 
5, 2022 Regular City Council meeting. 
 


F. City Attorney Report 
 


City Attorney Casher reported the Municipal Code Update Subcommittee would meet on March 
21, 2022 to discuss updates to the City’s Encroachment Permit Ordinance and an ordinance and 
policy update to comply with the requirements of AB 481, Funding, Acquisition and Use of Military 
Equipment.   
 
8. RECOGNITIONS / PRESENTATIONS / COMMUNITY EVENTS 
 


B. Presentations / Recognitions  
1. Overview of Recent Housing Legislation by Assistant City Attorney Alex 


Mog and Community Development Director Lilly Whalen  
 
Community Development Director Lilly Whalen provided a PowerPoint presentation which 
included an overview of the General Plan, Specific Plan, Zoning Ordinance, concept of density, 
General Plan Land Use Map for the City of Pinole, General Plan Land Use Designations, variety 
of land use designations in Pinole, summary of new housing in 2021 and criteria for affordable 
housing.   
 
Assistant City Attorney Alex Mog highlighted the requirements of the Density Bonus Law, Housing 
Accountability Act, Senate Bill (SB) 35, Affordable Housing:  Streamlined Approval Process and 
SB 9, California Housing Opportunity and More Efficiency [HOME] Act.   
 
Mayor Salimi asked that the presentation be posted on the City’s website.   
 
Responding to the Council, Assistant City Attorney Mog explained that an Accessory Dwelling 
Unit (ADU) amnesty was still possible under state law, whereby someone with a currently illegal 
ADU could legalize the unit without penalty.  Pursuant to state law, if the City were to impose 
requirements on a project there must be a nexus between the project and the requirement and it 
must be roughly proportional to the impacts of the project.    
 
As an example, the City had a requirement for a project to improve the frontage of a project, such 
as if sidewalks were absent the sidewalk and curb must be improved.  It was more difficult for 
cities to require something more than that but some cities had been able to negotiate greater 
community benefits when a project needed something from a city.  If a project needed 
discretionary approval from a city and needed a Development Agreement (DA), a city would be 
in a stronger position to negotiate additional benefits as part of that DA, or if a project was seeking 
some other discretionary approval from a city, the city could require more community benefits.   
Where a project complied with the zoning standards it became more difficult for a city to require 
anything more and the standards the city may adopt required a nexus between what the city may 
require and what the developer planned to do.   
 
Assistant City Attorney Mog also highlighted how cities may incentivize things such as through 
fee waivers, preparation of pre-approved plans for model ADUs that members of the public may 
use, or the creation of incentives in the regulations for a city to get the types of units preferred in 
a community.   


14 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 10 
 


 
Community Development Director Whalen added as part of the kick-off of the Housing Element 
Update, the process would have to understand the community’s needs and there would be polling 
and surveying of the community’s needs regarding housing and what would be helpful in the future 
for everyone to have safe and affordable housing.  There would also be stakeholder polling as 
part of the effort.    
 
Assistant City Attorney Mog again highlighted the Density Bonus Law and confirmed that relaxing 
any development standard was possible as an incentive.   He again described SB 9, and clarified 
there was nothing currently in state law which limited the City’s ability to collect full impact and 
connect fees related to SB 9 units, although he would not be surprised if legislators changed that 
in the future.   
 
Council member Tave commented that he had additional questions he would ask in writing to the 
City Manager. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy looked forward to future discussions on this topic, particularly on SB 9, 
and greater discussions on the needs for housing to be a community benefit to the City.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin found there was a need for the legislators to balance all that they 
were requiring with what the law allowed as exemptions while also providing support and funding 
to facilitate not only the building of structures, housing and the amenities without sacrificing the 
quality of life around new developments and the rest of the City.  She was amazed with the shift 
in housing laws, was not surprised people were moving away from more dense communities, and 
looked forward to the results of the community survey and polling to identify the needs of the 
community.    
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin commented that given her background in health care, she was 
interested in knowing how high density development may impact the environment and where 
nearby open space may be limited or absent.  She suggested this presentation should also be 
provided to the Planning Commission.   
 
Assistant City Attorney Mog confirmed a version of the presentation had already been made to 
the Planning Commission.    
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin wanted to see a comparable presentation on what could be done 
about design and the internal environment in terms of impacts from high density development on 
health and safety.  As an example, Asian countries lived in highly dense environments and this 
large life shift was global due to demographic increases.   
 
In response to the Mayor, Community Development Director Whalen identified the areas of the 
City that allowed Commercial land uses and noted that the majority of the land in Pinole was 
dedicated to residential land uses.  
 
Mayor Salimi understood Pinole had about two percent Commercial and he asked whether the 
City could identify that as a hardship if losing that two percent to build residential development, 
and therefore the City did not have to build additional residential units.   


15 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 11 
 


Also, given that the nature of housing was changing, Mayor Salimi suggested the General Plan 
should be redesigned in such a way to integrate all of the state legislation but keep the Pinole-
preferred design, which could be part of a future discussion.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
Debbie Long, Pinole, requested that SB 99, General Plans: safety element: emergency 
evacuation routes, should be added to this discussion.  She detailed the requirements of SB 99, 
and commented that she had discussed with the City Council the fact that Rancho and Galbreth 
Roads had only one evacuation route.  She suggested the City was jeopardizing the health of its 
citizens and she had raised this concern with the Fire Chief with no action.  The community was 
facing a looming fire season, the area had been identified by PG&E as a fire hazard zone, 
homeowners qualified for a generator, and she again asked that SB 99 be part of the discussion 
and part of all discussions related to the Housing Element.   
 
Peter Murray, Pinole, agreed that development should be of a certain quality which had been 
attempted when redevelopment funds had been spent on low-income housing in Pinole.  He 
commented in the past developers would build anything, move on and leave a city with the 
problems, leaving the community to pay or administrate the problems.  He suggested no one had 
the right to build anything, it was a privilege that had to be earned and it was up to the Planning 
Commission to ensure the City’s standards were met.   
 
Rafael Menis, Pinole, commented that a prior Consent Calendar item had involved the Housing 
Element and attached Safety and Environmental Justice Elements, which had been signed out to 
a contractor to run the various processes associated with the updates.  Evacuations had 
specifically been tagged as part of the Safety Element and would be reviewed as part of General 
Plan revisions that would take place this year.  In terms of the role of the Planning Commission 
and City and state rules, it was important to realize, as the presentation had made clear, the state 
intent with new legislation was to limit the discretion of a city as a whole to make subjective 
judgments.  The State of California had made an effort over the years to dismantle a city’s ability 
to apply subjective standards and he cited 5G technology and the discussion around objective 
versus subjective standards.  He suggested the state did not want discretion and subjectivity but 
development and was willing to use its power to compel it as far as it could and if that did not work 
as part of SB 9 they would likely try another law.   
 
Cordell Hindler, Richmond, stated he would not live in a residential area that could be close to a 
fire hazard and he agreed with many of the comments that had been made.   
 
Mayor Salimi suggested if the City Council wanted any further presentations on additional state 
legislation to let him know so that staff could provide that information.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 
9. CONSENT CALENDAR 
All matters under the Consent Calendar are considered to be routine and noncontroversial.  These 
items will be enacted by one motion and without discussion.  If, however, any interested party or 
Council member(s) wishes to comment on an item, they may do so before action is taken on the 
Consent Calendar.   


16 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 12 
 


Following comments, if a Council member wishes to discuss an item, it will be removed from the 
Consent Calendar and taken up in order after adoption of the Consent Calendar. 
 


A. Approve the Minutes of the March 1, 2022 Meeting. 
   


B. Receive the February 26, 2022 – March 11, 2022 List of Warrants in the Amount 
of $670,680.32 and the March 4, 2022 Payroll in the Amount of $493,913.10 


 
C. Resolution Continuing Authorized Remote Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to 


AB 361 [Action:  Adopt Resolution per Staff Recommendation (Casher)] 
 
D. Resolution Confirming Continued Existence of Local Emergency [Action:  Adopt 


Resolution per Staff Recommendation (Casher)] 
 


E. Housing Successor Annual Report for Fiscal Year 2020-21 [Action:  Receive and 
File Report (Whalen)] 


 
F. Annual Progress Report – Housing Element [Action:  Adopt Resolution per Staff 


Recommendation (Whalen)] 
 
G. Stormwater Utility Area Assessment for Fiscal Year 2022-23 [Action:  Adopt 


Resolution per Staff Recommendation (Kaur)] 
 


PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
Rafael Menis, Pinole, referenced Item 9E, commented that the Housing Successor Annual Report 
had noted the land the Faria House sat upon was deed restricted to be park limiting its use and 
could not be transferred from the Successor Agency.  He asked how the restrictions on the land 
would limit the City’s ability to engage in alternate solutions for the Faria House.   
 
City Manager Murray advised that staff would have to get back to Mr. Menis with clarification since 
it would require additional research.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy spoke to Item 9F and commented that the Annual Progress Report – 
Housing Element, had identified the City’s Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) with no 
Very Low or Low housing units having been built in the reporting cycle and he asked staff to 
provide clarification.   
 
Community Development Director Whalen stated that no building permits had been issued for 
those categories of units in the reporting cycle. She also clarified the City had an Affordable 
Housing Fund, which fund had a cash balance after taking into account the SAHA Project and 
which would be just over $2 million.  The funds could be used to support the development of 
affordable housing units in Pinole but she was uncertain those funds would accommodate the 
RHNA.   
 
ACTION:  Motion by Council member Toms/Tave to Approve Consent Calendar Items 9A 
through 9G, as shown.     


17 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 13 
 


 
Vote:   Passed  5-0 


Ayes:   Salimi, Murphy, Martinez-Rubin, Tave, Toms 
Noes:   None  
Abstain: None  
Absent: None  
 


Mayor Salimi re-opened public comment for Item 9.   
 
Cordell Hindler, Richmond, referenced Item 9A and stated he was appalled at the adjournment 
time which was a burden to City staff, and urged the City Council to be more considerate of City 
staff.  As to Item 9C, he described the current meeting as a hybrid format.  He otherwise 
expressed support for Items 9B and 9D.   
 
10. PUBLIC HEARINGS 
Citizens wishing to speak regarding a Public Hearing item should fill out a speaker card prior to 
the completion of the presentation, by first providing a speaker card to the City Clerk. An official 
who engaged in an ex parté communication that is the subject of a Public Hearing must disclose 
the communication on the record prior to the start of the Public Hearing. 
 


A. Ordinance Amending Chapter 9.24 of the Municipal Code to Regulate the Use and 
Sale of Fireworks in the City of Pinole [Action: Conduct Public Hearing and 
Approve First Reading of Ordinance (Casher)] 


 
City Attorney Eric Casher provided a PowerPoint presentation of an ordinance amending Chapter 
9.24 of the Pinole Municipal Code (PMC) to regulate the use and sale of fireworks in the City of 
Pinole and asked the City Council to conduct the first reading of the ordinance. If approved, the 
ordinance would come back for a second reading and go into effect 30 days from the approval of 
the second reading and be in place in time for the July 4, 2022 holiday.  
 
Responding to the Council, City Attorney Casher explained the ordinance allowed for enforcement 
against individuals and there would be a need to identify whomever may discharge fireworks in 
the public right-of-way (ROW).  The prior ordinance had no regulations regarding fireworks 
discharged on residential properties with no enforcement mechanism. 
 
Council member Toms reported the Municipal Code Update Subcommittee had supported the 
ordinance.   
 
City Attorney Casher also clarified the intent of Chapter 9.24 Use of Fireworks – Sale, as shown 
on Page 127 of 131 of the agenda packet, with the use of the term “sale” a carryover from the 
prior ordinance but which could be stricken if unclear.  The prohibition of the sale of fireworks had 
been provided in Chapter 9.24, Section 9.24.020, Prohibition, as written but which could be 
expanded if necessary, and the code enforcement provisions had been provided in Section 
9.24.050, Enforcement which included code enforcement for any civil action to enforce the code.  
The language was essentially identical to the Contra Costa County ordinance and part of the 
interest in adopting an ordinance for Pinole was to have alignment with the County Ordinance, 
but the language could be adjusted if so directed by the City Council.   
 


18 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 14 
 


Fire Chief Chris Wynkoop confirmed he had conferred with the City Attorney on the ordinance 
and found the changes to be acceptable.   
 
Police Chief Neil Gang had also conferred with the City Attorney on the ordinance, found the 
changes to be acceptable, and applauded the work of the City Attorney since the ordinance 
enhanced the ability for enforcement.  He suggested no additional language was necessary.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED  
 
Bob Kopp, Pinole, found no issue with the City’s ordinance being consistent with the County 
Ordinance but suggested the problem was people did not know how to use fireworks and people 
were getting hurt.  He suggested that professional fireworks displays should include a bond but 
he otherwise supported following the laws.   
 
Cordell Hindler, Richmond, thanked the City Attorney for a well-thought report and urged the City 
Council to conduct the first reading.   
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED  
 
Council member Tave offered a motion, seconded by Council member Toms to conduct a first 
reading of an ordinance amending Chapter 9.24 of the Municipal Code to regulate the use and 
sale of fireworks in the City of Pinole.   
 
On the motion, Council member Martinez-Rubin requested modification to eliminate the reference 
to Sale from the heading of Chapter 9.24 Use of Fireworks as shown on Page 127 of 131.   
 
Council member Toms suggested the heading remain as shown since it would be more inclusive. 
 
City Attorney Casher agreed that the heading was more inclusive regulating more than the use 
and sale of fireworks.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin retracted her recommended modification.   
 
ACTION:  Motion by Council member Tave/Toms to conduct a first reading of an ordinance 
amending Chapter 9.24 of the Municipal Code to regulate the use and sale of fireworks in 
the City of Pinole.    
 
Vote:   Passed  5-0 


Ayes:   Salimi, Murphy, Martinez-Rubin, Tave, Toms 
Noes:   None  
Abstain: None  
Absent: None  


 
11. OLD BUSINESS  
  


A. Provide Direction on Whether to Include, in the Voter Poll Regarding a Potential 
Charter City and Real Property Transfer Tax Ballot Measure, Questions on Certain 
Other Matters of Community Interest [Action: Discuss and Provide Direction 
(Murray)] 


19 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 15 
 


 
City Manager Murray provided a PowerPoint presentation and asked the City Council to provide 
direction on whether to include in the voter poll regarding a potential Charter City and Real 
Property Transfer Tax (RPTT) ballot measure, questions on certain other matters of community 
interest.   
 
Council member Toms suggested the following additional polling questions “How are we 
communicating infrastructure needs?” and “Do you see the climate crisis as a local issue that 
could be addressed locally by investing in charging stations, solar or an electrification ordinance?”  
and suggested the consultants would know how to frame the question.   
 
Responding to Council member Martinez-Rubin, City Manager Murray explained that the 
consultant would not normally run the polling questions before the City Council first given there 
was a standard formula for constructing them and timing would not allow it.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy suggested questions about the climate crisis and wildfire prevention were 
important and recommended a question about the participatory budget process and how many 
people were aware of the Balancing Tool, or a question leaning to a metric or participatory 
budgeting and how the process was modeled in Pinole.   
 
Council member Tave suggested a question asking “How likely are you to ____” and insert the 
question and possibly include a 1 to 10 scale on how likely a resident may vote for a RPTT, and 
how likely a resident would use the Senior Center, playhouse, and to vote for a tax for additional 
services as examples, leaving it to the consultant as to how to frame the questions.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin asked how the polling information would be used, to which City 
Manager Murray explained that the purpose of the polling was to get a sense of the likely voter 
support for a potential tax measure, gauge the persuasiveness of different funding priorities and 
gauge the persuasiveness of possible opposition statements and the like.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin recommended leaving the simplicity of the questions to be asked 
by the pollster to be able to gauge whether people understand what a Charter City and RPTT was 
along with the potential impacts, and whether the pollster could make any prediction for the City 
Council to use the survey results to inform the next steps.   She suggested there would be enough 
questions from the pollster on the two components; the Charter City and RPTT for the poll, but 
there may be room for questions on how the RPTT could be used, which would be helpful for the 
next steps.   Questions related to the amount of the RPTT would also have to be clarified.   
 
City Manager Murray explained that the pollster would use a standard formula with questions on 
how the RPTT could be spent and to gauge voter priorities around different community services 
and needs, all part of the standard poll the pollster would likely prepare.  If there was the possibility 
to add additional questions, the question was posed to the City Council whether community input 
should be sought on other issues.   
  
Council member Martinez-Rubin suggested it would be good practice that the questions the 
pollster would pose to the voters be available to the City Council.  She was uncomfortable not 
being apprised of the questions prior to polling and asked staff to inform the pollster that the City 
Council wanted to see the questions prior to publishing them to the public.   
 


20 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 16 
 


City Manager Murray reiterated that seeing the questions prior to publishing them was a matter 
of timing.  The next regular City Council meeting would be the first Tuesday of April, which would 
delay administering the survey if the questions were to be brought back to the City Council first.  
The pollster had experience with Charter City and real property tax polling measures, the survey 
methodology was straightforward, and City Manager Murray would be reluctant for the City 
Council to weigh-in on the survey questions since the pollster had a well-honed methodology.   
 
Council member Toms would be interested in seeing the questions to be posed to voters but not 
having any decision points on reviewing and approving the questions, prior to going out to the 
public.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin concurred with Council member Toms and suggested that was 
part of the transparency.   
 
City Manager Murray confirmed a copy of the questions could be provided to the City Council.   
 
Mayor Salimi asked whether or not questions could be targeted specifically to the high propensity 
voters, those who had voted in the last five elections, a good representation of the voters, and 
City Manager Murray explained that the pollster would use a methodology to screen likely voters 
to be able to forecast the outcome of the vote on the two topics.  The consultants would likely 
craft the questions in a way to mimic the likely ballot question to obtain as much representative 
set of responses as possible, but traditionally would not ask the question in more than one way.  
The questions would likely be crafted based on the success of past ballot measures.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
Peter Murray, Pinole, suggested the language in the polling would make a difference.  He 
commented that the City had routinely balanced its budget, had reserves and set asides for 
unfunded mandates, and suggested some of the questions for the polling should include  
questions why the City wanted to change the existing governance system, whether people 
realized a Charter City was almost always tied to the imposition of a new tax with the RPTT, which 
in his opinion would be for nothing with no required nexus of a benefit to the exiting community 
member, and while a number of local cities had become charter cities, none were remotely a city 
Pinole should emulate financially or administratively.  It should also be explained in a question 
form that a charter city had possible and potential political nefarious actions and the charter could 
be amended to perform in undesirable ways.  He cited the City of Bell, which had overflowing and 
unfettered corruption only because it could and it could possibly happen in Pinole.  Another 
question to pose to voters could be to ask the reasons for removing the City from the state’s 
General Law practices.   
 
Rafael Menis, Pinole, referenced the National Civic League, which had information on possible 
questions that could be considered for this topic.  Example questions to consider for polling could 
be whether one was more likely to consider a charter city if it encompassed adopting rank choice 
voting for city elections and adopting a RPTT in a certain amount or if adopting a RPTT at a 
certain amount.  One of the recommendations for a charter city would be to establish a Board of 
Ethics and he read into the record the information provided by the National Civic League.  There 
were options to construct a charter city to require ethics and correct against concerns around 
corruption, but it would be unknown whether the public would support that if the question was not 
asked as part of the polling. 


21 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 17 
 


 
 
Mr. Menis suggested the following two questions be included:  Would you be more or less likely 
to support the adoption of a charter city if it included both a Real Property Transfer Tax and the 
adoption of rank choice voting? and Would you be more or less likely to support the adoption of 
a Charter City if it included the establishment of an independent City Board of Ethics required as 
a charter element and the adoption of a Real Property Transfer Tax?   
 
Debbie Long, Pinole, emphasized that citizens should be made aware what a charter city is since 
that had not been discussed.  She read into the record the definition of a charter city, which 
included a number of provisions and carried many concerns.   Charter cities may control elections, 
decide how recalls were handled, adopt its own process and how to handle city contracts, decide 
how to finance public improvements, and she noted that in the State of California, charter cities 
had declared bankruptcy or insolvency but to date no General Law city had declared bankruptcy. 
Charter cities may make charitable gifts of public funds for public purposes and decide the 
classification of the public purpose, and may open the door for lawsuits.  Charter cities may also 
create a sub-government in part of the city, create a strong Mayoral form of government leading 
to a Mayor having almost total administrative authority with city staff reporting to the Mayor, and 
it may regulate and govern local police.   
 
Ms. Long noted that one of the candidates running for the City Council had already expressed a 
desire to reimagine the role of policing, shifting of resources and establishing a Police Oversight 
Commission.  A charter city had complete control over finances and financing and may decide 
what debt to income ratio it was comfortable with absent state oversight.  A charter city may also 
create a special jurisdiction to create a new governance system, potentially superseding state 
laws.  Until the City Council determined the need for additional taxations, the purpose of wanting 
a charter city and how the City Council proposed to spend the money, she found that putting this 
matter out for public polling was irresponsible and lacking transparency without upfront 
accountability.   
 
Bob Kopp, Pinole, commented that the City had been in existence for years, had run smoothly 
and he questioned changing something that was working.  He questioned whether the current 
City Council would support a charter city.  He also spoke to the current real property tax with half 
of the funds going to the County and the other half to the City of Pinole and provided calculations 
on how increasing the real property tax would impact residences of a certain value.  He was willing 
to place an advertisement in the local newspaper to inform the public of his comments, 
emphasized he had paid taxes on his residence for years, the City had never provided any 
financial assistance for home maintenance and upkeep, and this discussion may result in a 
penalty, and not a real property transfer fee but a transfer tax on residents, possibly forcing 
residents out of Pinole.  He suggested this was not the right thing do.  He was surprised the City 
Council was considering a charter city, and he had lost confidence in the current City Council.   
 
ACTION:  Motion by Mayor Salimi/Mayor Pro Tem Murphy to extend the City Council 
meeting to 11:30 p.m.      
 
Vote:   Passed  5-0 


Ayes:   Salimi, Murphy, Martinez-Rubin, Tave, Toms 
Noes:   None  
Abstain: None  


22 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 18 
 


Absent: None  
 
Cordell Hindler, Richmond, agreed with the previous speaker.  He was appalled at the idea of a 
charter city for Pinole and commented that when the City of El Cerrito had become a Charter City 
it had a committee comprised of residents.  He suggested a charter city was not good for the 
community. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 
Council member Tave sought a representative data set from likely voters and hoped the pollster 
would base that scale on Pinole’s voting records. 
 
City Manager Murray reiterated the pollster would use a methodology to forecast to the greatest 
extent possible the possible outcome of a vote and had every interest in reaching those most 
likely to vote.  The polling firms were highly regarded and highly recommended.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy pointed out the outcome of a charter city would not be decided by the 
City Council but the voters of Pinole.  He commented that everyone was welcome in Pinole, no 
one had a stronger voice than another whether they were long term or new residents.  He 
suggested the questions offered by Mr. Menis should be added to the questions the pollster would 
ask the public and asked how they could be added. 
 
City Manager Murray advised that based on City Council direction the questions could be added 
to the pollster’s slate of questions.   
 
Mr. Menis reiterated the two questions he would like the pollster to add to the slate of questions 
as follows: Would you be more or less likely to support the adoption of a charter city if it included 
both a Real Property Transfer Tax and the adoption of rank choice voting? and Would you be 
more or less likely to support the adoption of a Charter City if it included the establishment of an 
independent City Board of Ethics required as a charter element and the adoption of a Real 
Property Transfer Tax?   
 
Council member Toms reported she had previously provided her recommended questions for 
consideration if the pollster found them appropriate to add.   
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin again wanted to see the final set of questions and would be 
curious about the findings from the poll.  She wanted to know more about the methodology the 
pollster may use given that different segments in Pinole voted in different ways and the interest 
in taxes may vary however the pollster was able to identify what was meaningful to residents who 
would likely vote in terms of what a charter city and RPTT would mean.  She asked that the 
questions be kept simple.  As to the questions offered by Mr. Menis, she pointed out that the topic 
of rank choice voting and its implications had not been discussed by the City Council and she was 
curious how the questions would be asked.   
 
Mayor Salimi summarized the consensus of the City Council to move forward and provide 
direction to staff to include additional questions in the voter poll regarding a potential Charter City 
and RPTT Ballot Measure, with the City to rely on the expertise of the consulting firm conducting 
the poll to decide whether questions on matters that the Council identified, other than the ballot 
measure, could be incorporated into the ballot measure poll, as follows: 


23 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 19 
 


 
 Is the public aware of the infrastructure needs? 
 Is the public aware climate issues are local issues? 
  


How do you model participatory budgeting? 
 
How likely are you to ____ (insert the question) and possibly include a 1 to 10 scale on 
how likely a resident may vote for a RPTT, and how likely would a resident use the Senior 
Center, playhouse, as examples, and  vote for a tax for additional services leaving it to the 
consultant on how to specifically frame the question.  . 
 
Would you be more or less likely to support the adoption of a Charter City if it included 
both a Real Property Transfer Tax and the adoption of rank choice voting?  
 
Would you be more or less likely to support the adoption of a Charter City if it included the 
establishment of an independent City Board of Ethics required as a charter element and 
the adoption of a Real Property Transfer Tax?   


 
ACTION:  Motion by Council member Toms/Tave to direct staff to discuss the additional 
questions with the pollsters and if appropriate to have the questions included in some 
form.       
 
Vote:   Passed  5-0 


Ayes:   Salimi, Murphy, Martinez-Rubin, Tave, Toms 
Noes:   None  
Abstain: None  
Absent: None  


 
12. NEW BUSINESS  
 
None  
 
13. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD (Continued from Item 6) (Public Comments)  
Only open to members of the public who did not speak under the first Citizens to be Heard, 
Agenda Item 6.   
Citizens may speak under any item not listed on the Agenda.  The time limit is 3 minutes and 
is subject to modification by the Mayor. Individuals may not share or offer time to another speaker.  
Pursuant to provisions of the Brown Act, no action may be taken on a matter unless it is listed on 
the agenda, or unless certain emergency or special circumstances exist.  The City Council may 
direct staff to investigate and/or schedule certain matters for consideration at a future Council 
meeting. 


 
City Clerk Bell reported there were no comments for this item.   
 
14. ADJOURNMENT to the Special City Council Meeting of March 22, 2022 in Remembrance 


of Amber Swartz.   
 
At 11:12 p.m., Mayor Salimi adjourned the meeting to the Special City Council Meeting of March 
22, 2022 in Remembrance of Amber Swartz.   


24 of 316







9A 


 
Pinole City Council  
Minutes – March 15, 2022 
Page 20 
 


 
 
Submitted by: 
 
_________________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 
 
Approved by City Council:  


25 of 316







9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 1 
 


CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MINUTES 


March 22, 2022  
 


 
1. CALL TO ORDER & PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE IN HONOR OF THE US MILITARY 


TROOPS 
 
The Special City Council Meeting was held via a hybrid meeting format live in-person and Zoom 
videoconference and broadcast from the Pinole Council Chambers, 2131 Pear Street, Pinole, 
California.  Mayor Pro Tem Murphy called the Special Meeting of the City Council to order at 6:01 
p.m. and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
2. LAND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT  
Before we begin, we would like to acknowledge the Ohlone people, who are the traditional 
custodians of this land.  We pay our respects to the Ohlone elders, past, present and future, who 
call this place, Ohlone Land, the land that Pinole sits upon, their home.  We are proud to continue 
their tradition of coming together and growing as a community.  We thank the Ohlone community 
for their stewardship and support, and we look forward to strengthening our ties as we continue 
our relationship of mutual respect and understanding.  
 
3. ROLL CALL, CITY CLERK’S REPORT & STATEMENT OF CONFLICT 
An official who has a conflict must, prior to consideration of the decision; (1) publicly identify in 
detail the financial interest that causes the conflict; (2) recuse himself/herself from discussing and 
voting on the matter; and (3) leave the room until after the decision has been made, Cal. Gov. 
Code § 87105.   
 


A. COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT 
 
Devin Murphy, Mayor Pro Tem   
Norma Martinez-Rubin, Council Member  
Anthony Tave, Council Member (Zoom teleconference)  
Maureen Toms, Council Member 
 
  COUNCILMEMBERS ABSENT 
 
Vincent Salimi, Mayor  
 
 B. STAFF PRESENT 
 
Andrew Murray, City Manager 
Heather Bell, City Clerk 
Eric Casher, City Attorney   
Lilly Whalen, Community Development Director  
 
City Clerk Heather Bell announced the agenda had been posted on Thursday, March 17, 2022 at 
4:00 p.m. with all legally required written notice.  A written comment had been received and 
distributed to the City Council and posted online in advance of the meeting.     
 


26 of 316







9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 2 
 


Following an inquiry, the Council reported there were no conflicts with any items on the agenda.   
 
4. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD (Public Comments) 
Citizens may speak under any item not listed on the Agenda.  The time limit is 3 minutes and is 
subject to modification by the Mayor. Individuals may not share or offer time to another speaker.  
Pursuant to provisions of the Brown Act, no action may be taken on a matter unless it is listed on 
the agenda, or unless certain emergency or special circumstances exist.  The City Council may 
direct staff to investigate and/or schedule certain matters for consideration at a future Council 
meeting. 
 
Jack Meehan, Pinole, described his experience 23 years ago when he had died on the freeway 
but his wife had been able to bring their vehicle to a stop, a number of Good Samaritans had also 
stopped and lent first aid, and firefighters had responded with a defibrillator and after much work 
had saved his life.   He expressed his appreciation to those firefighters for saving his life.   
 
5. STUDY SESSION ITEM  
 


A. Introduction and Discussion of the “Land Use Planning for Pinole” Project 
[Action:  Receive Report, Discuss and Provide Direction] 
 


Community Development Director Lilly Whalen introduced the consultant team with Michael Baker 
International that would provide a PowerPoint presentation on the “Land Use Planning for Pinole” 
project, which consisted of updates to two existing elements of the City’s General Plan; the 
Housing Element and the Health and Safety Element.  As a part of the project, the City would also 
consider either adoption of a standalone Environmental Justice Element or addressing issues of 
environmental justice within other elements.  The team from Michael Baker International was to 
provide the City Council with a comprehensive overview of the Project and the regulatory 
framework behind it and the extensive background and experience of the Michael Baker 
International consultant team to accomplish it.   
 
Emily Elliott, Michael Baker International, provided a PowerPoint presentation which included an 
overview of the purpose of the meeting to review the requirements of the 2023 to 2031 Housing 
Element, requirements of the Environmental Justice and Health and Safety Elements, recent 
housing legislation, project schedule and to respond to any questions from the City Council and 
the public.   
 
Ms. Elliott highlighted the purpose, background and contents of the Housing Element and the key 
recent Housing Element legislation which included Assembly Bill (AB) 1398, to rezone in 1 year 
versus 3 years if the Housing Element was not certified by the State Department of Housing and 
Community Development (HCD) by May 31, 2023; AB 215, a 4.5 month mandatory HCD and 
public review period; AB 1397, more stringent requirements for eligible Regional Housing Needs 
Allocation (RHNA) sites; and Senate Bill (SB) 166 “No Net Loss,” which required cities to maintain 
adequate capacity for all income levels through the Housing Element cycle.   
 
Dan Wery, Michael Baker International, provided the background and purpose of the RHNA as 
mandated by the Association of Bay Area Governments (ABAG) and its Housing Methodology 
Committee (HMC), which required every city and county to plan to accommodate its fair share of 
regional housing needs.  The City of Pinole’s RHNA was identified at 500 units.   


27 of 316







9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 3 
 


Mr. Wery presented the following tables and described them at length that compared the RHNA 
to previous RHNA’s, the RHNA buffer and SB 166 “No Net Loss,” comparing the City’s upcoming 
(2023-2031) RHNA allocation to the 5th Cycle (2015-2023) RHNA allocation, a breakdown of the 
RHNA and the City’s obligation to provide sufficient land zoned appropriately to accommodate 
the RHNA, income levels and minimum density sites, inventory requirements including the 
requirements of Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing (AFFH), and constraints to site capacity and 
selection.   
 
Mr. Wery explained that the Housing Element would require evaluation under the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), with the CEQA process to be defined by the RHNA strategy 
in the summer of 2022.  He also highlighted examples of the housing program areas which 
included adequate sites and zoning for the RHNA compliance, Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs), 
education, constraint removal and the AFFH.  Consequences of non-compliance with the RHNA 
were also detailed and may include disqualification from state funding, carryover of the RHNA to 
the next Housing Element cycle, fines and penalties, court receivership/loss of control and the 
inability to deny new projects.   
 
Ms. Elliott provided further details on the community outreach strategies which would include a 
project website currently in development, an online housing needs survey and the proposed 
schedule for stakeholder focus groups/interviews and community workshops.  She also 
highlighted the proposed schedule for a joint Planning Commission and City Council Study 
Session, Housing Element preparation, public and HCD review, CEQA and the adoption and 
certification of the Housing Element, which included a 120-day grace period.   
 
Surabhi Barbhaya, Project Manager and Safety Element Lead, Michael Baker International, 
provided an overview of the required Health and Safety Element Updates, to also include updates 
to seismic and geologic hazards, evacuation routes, military installations, peak-load water supply 
requirements, minimum road widths and clearances around structures, flood and fire hazards.   
 
Noelle Steele, Environmental Justice Lead, Michael Baker International, provided an overview of 
the required components for the Environmental Justice Element, a new regulatory requirement 
for cities in California, designed to address systemic inequalities and injustices which stem from 
land use decisions that disproportionately burden disadvantaged communities.  She walked 
through the primary tool that would be used to identify disproportionately burdened disadvantaged 
communities through CalEnviroScreen, a data mapping tool developed and maintained by the 
California Office of Environmental Health and Hazard Assessment that would include information 
regarding pollution burden, environmental effects, sensitive populations and socio-economic 
factors aggregated into a percentile score.   
 
Ms. Steele explained that the City of Pinole had a unique Environmental Justice Element scenario 
in that the census tract majority was located in the neighboring City of Richmond with small areas 
within Pinole, although some of the burden impacts did not respect the boundaries of the census 
tract.  Further research would be conducted into the data in coordination with the AFFH 
investigation.   
 
The Environmental Justice Element would be comprised of the following topics including Pollution 
Exposure:  Air quality, water contamination, toxic waste and hazardous materials; public facilities; 
safe and sanitary homes; food access and physical activity.  


28 of 316







9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 4 
 


Ms. Elliott reiterated the community outreach strategies and detailed the effort for outreach: efforts 
to include social media, public hearings, videos and online surveys.  The online survey would be 
widely distributed once completed and be offered in four languages, but in the meantime any 
questions for the consultant team could be provided to a dedicated member of the consultant 
team identified as Courtney.Long@bakerintl.com.   
 
Responding to the Council, the consultants and staff clarified the following: 
 


• The constraints analysis was again highlighted with HCD looking for the City to respond 
to each and every constraint identified and with the consultants to work with City staff to 
find solutions, with examples provided.  Anything identified as a significant constraint 
would have some corresponding program aimed at addressing the constraint. For non-
governmental constraints and while out of the City’s control, HCD would still look at 
creative thinking as to how to address it such as having City staff help connect developers 
with available grant resources, as an example.  Each program would be required to have 
an objective criteria or standard by which it was measured with a timeline and responsible 
agency identified.   
 


• The proposed joint Planning Commission and City Council meeting would provide 
feedback on the RHNA strategy and allow the consultants to present its analysis on the 
community needs and identified constraints.  Many cities shared common constraints and 
many common programs had already been proposed to alleviate those constraints which 
could be considered as part of the process.    
 


• A Climate Change Vulnerability Assessment would be prepared by Michael Baker 
International. 
 


• The CalEnviroScreen tool would comprehensively evaluate the pollution burden, 
environmental effects, sensitive populations and socio-economic factors, and its data base 
included information on exactly what had been included in the composite score.  The 
consultants acknowledged a request that the evaluation include the Pinole Creek 
Watershed.   
 


• As part of the Fair Housing Assessment and AFFH, HCD was looking for cities to make 
improvements, such as improvements to sidewalks in underserved areas with some cross 
sections between the Housing Element and the Environmental Justice Element.  The 
consultants acknowledged concerns with walkable neighborhoods including street light 
infrastructure given that some areas of the City were quite old and would be more walkable 
with adequate amounts of light.  Concerns were expressed for the condition of the City’s 
sidewalks with some sidewalks uneven and not walkable, particularly by seniors. 
 


• The Environmental Justice Element would also look at access in terms of walkability, 
bicycle ability, connection to retail and employment centers among others.  The Health 
and Safety Element may also have crossover sections with the Environmental Justice 
Element, with local knowledge important to identify areas of need that were underserved 
or differently served to be able to improve the overall housing situation and livability.  It 
was noted that tree canopies may also address climate change concerns as well.   
 


29 of 316



mailto:Courtney.Long@bakerintl.com





9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 5 
 


• In addition to the CalEnviroScreen tool, the consultants had overlaid different resources 
that were available.  The Healthy Places Index developed by the Public Health Alliance of 
Southern California was recognized as a top resource.   
 


• Income levels and density were again highlighted with the state using density as a proxy 
for affordability, with areas zoned for 20 units or more than 30 units per acre that would 
count towards meeting the RHNA in the Housing Element, which did not mean it was 
affordable housing.  What was actually built or regulated as affordable housing actually 
counted and HCD would look at what had actually been built.  It was noted that affordable 
housing was generally high density since multifamily was more efficient and the units were 
smaller and less costly.  For the more affluent areas, Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) 
were a tool that allowed creation of affordable housing in low density areas.   
 


• Density bonus units were clarified but it could not be assumed they could be counted on 
the front end or part of the original RHNA since all of the trends had to be demonstrated 
and all of the assumptions documented.  In some cases where the density bonus had 
been used trends had been shown but the yield versus the maximum zoning potential 
varied by city.  If strong trends were shown yield assumptions could be increased and that 
would be evaluated by City staff to ensure there were sound, reasoned and documented 
assumptions.   
 


• The most recent CAL FIRE maps, as depicted on its website, would be used as part of 
the process and the consultants would work with the Fire Chief to ensure the accuracy of 
the maps.   
 


• In terms of data collection for the needs assessment, publicly available data from a variety 
of sources would be utilized, some from ABAG, the American Community Survey, U.S. 
Census and the City’s fair housing provider.  Local knowledge was also important with 
vital feedback from the online survey and community workshops.      
 


• The online survey would include a variety of questions including open-ended questions 
that could be analyzed.   
 


• The first community workshop would include an introduction to the Housing Element, 
Health and Safety and Environmental Justice Elements with an effort to keep the 
presentation in layman’s terms as much as possible.  The online surveys would be 
anonymous and the dedicated website would include a wealth of information in layman’s 
terms with links to additional resources.  All online sessions would be recorded, as would 
this meeting, providing future opportunity for review and convenience to the public, with 
the survey questions targeted but easy and not requiring any special knowledge of this 
topic.   
 


• The City was not responsible to build any of the housing but create an environment for 
housing with the private sector, affordable housing or non-profits to actually build the 
housing.  Actual construction design would not be addressed in the Housing Element but 
through the City’s Development Standards or Design Guidelines.  The Health and Safety 
Element would address any deficiencies which would become an implementation strategy 
in the Health and Safety Element.   
 


30 of 316







9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 6 
 


• The Health and Safety Element would include a number of maps with overlaid parcel maps 
which would be clear to the reader the location of a property and the potential hazard 
related to that parcel would be part of the conditions assessment report.   
 


• The purpose of this meeting was a study session for the City Council to provide the 
background needed to work through the process.   
 


• A Frequently Asked Questions (FAQ) glossary and key terms had been prepared for the 
focus groups and stakeholders and could be made available to the public.   
 


• The consultant did not anticipate a carryover from the 5th RHNA Cycle to the 6th RHNA 
Cycle but it was a possibility if the RHNA capacity was not maintained throughout the 
entire period.  Staff would have to verify that the balance of units that had not been built 
for various reasons through 2023 would not be part of the new RHNA cycle.  Staff did not 
anticipate any carryover.   
 


PUBLIC COMMENTS OPENED  
 
Rafael Menis, Pinole, questioned whether there would be a carryover from the 5th Cycle Housing 
Element.   He referred to an item on the March 15, 2022 City Council agenda which had identified 
a deficit of Very Low income category units.  He also spoke to density versus equity, and 
commented that some of the higher density developments in Pinole, citing Appian Village as an 
example, was a high density development with mostly Above Moderate Income units.  He 
understood if the City did not meet its RHNA in the next cycle it may trigger penalties and he was 
unsure it would happen for this cycle.  He commented that the equity categories identified in the 
PowerPoint presentation had not been included in the agenda packet and it would be helpful if 
included for future presentations.  He questioned whether the Environmental Justice Element and 
the CalEnviroScreen tool would address the potential future impacts of climate change and the 
current environmental impacts from existing pollution sources.    
 
Mr. Menis commented that the Planning Commission had flagged an area of sidewalk as an issue 
of importance in one of the yellow zones as shown in the CalEnviroScreen analysis as part of the 
PowerPoint presentation.  He also referred to a recent Planning Commission Academy 
presentation by CAL FIRE and noted that the new CAL FIRE maps included wind data that was 
not part of their current maps.  Since wind and potential wildfire was a significant part of the Pinole 
climate, it was important that the new CAL FIRE maps be used in the Health and Safety Element, 
particularly related to evacuation routes.   
 
Mr. Menis asked that the online housing needs survey be distributed to as broad a group of people 
as possible.  In terms of the AFFH, he suggested it would tie into the Environmental Justice 
Element being limited on what it could track since it was based on census level data.  He asked 
whether more narrow scale breakdowns of the City as a whole would be done for both the 
Environmental Justice Element tracking and the purposes of the AFFH.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS CLOSED  
 
City Clerk Bell advised that there was a revised PowerPoint presentation that would be posted on 
the City’s webpage.   
 


31 of 316







9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 7 
 


Council member Toms referenced the Environmental Justice Disadvantaged Communities 
census tracks adjacent to unincorporated communities that were also environmental justice 
communities.  She reported that Contra Costa County had a planned process underway and after 
community input, the community members from those areas had requested they not be referred 
to as “disadvantaged communities,” and had created the term impacted communities.  For those 
communities in unincorporated areas that shared a census track, she recommended use of the 
term impacted communities.  
 
Council member Toms also understood that CAL FIRE was updating its maps.  She identified a 
community of single-family homes on Galbreth Road surrounded by areas located in the High Fire 
Hazard Severity Zone with one way in and out.  She commented that SB 99 required an evaluation 
of those areas and if any area were to change its designation it was likely that neighborhood 
would.  The unincorporated side of that boundary was all within a Very High Fire Hazard Severity 
Zone as were parts of the City but not in that neighborhood.  She expressed concern the updated 
CAL FIRE maps could come out after the adoption of the City’s Housing Element and that issue 
may have to be revisited soon as a result.  
 
Council member Toms also suggested the City consider pre-planning ADUs and providing both 
approved design and construction level drawings for two sizes of ADUs, which may help residents 
to decide whether or not to consider that investment.  She understood that some of the SB 2 
monies could be used for that purpose.  As to the identification of housing sites, she cautioned 
against identifying any housing sites in the Regional Commercial areas given the community 
concern for that area.  She suggested once the City Council had reached the stage of discussing 
the zoning update, there be consideration of designating housing in the Regional Commercial 
areas as a permitted, not a conditional use, particularly since the City lacked the local control to 
keep that up.   She otherwise looked forward to going through this process.  
 
Council member Martinez-Rubin agreed with Council member Toms’ comments and noted the 
City’s major sources of income were from sales taxes which largely contributed to the General 
Fund, and it was not farfetched to keep in mind the relevance of the Commercial areas which 
were important for the City since Pinole was not currently a job center.  She also wanted to see 
respect for and maintenance of open space as part of this process, particularly where there was 
open space and parks, areas that were important to the ecosystem beyond humans contributing 
to the health of the environment.   
 
Council member Tave thanked the consultants for the presentation.   He looked forward to 
additional conversations.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy suggested a health and land use dictionary would be an asset to the 
dedicated website and he looked forward to its launch.   He thanked the consultants for the Gantt 
Chart and asked that it be shared in print rather than online.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy suggested the data collection process would be very important.  He 
understood there were numerous resources and studies available and wanted as much data for 
this process as possible for Pinole residents and visitors, which would help in the decision process 
and for a broader General Plan process.  He asked that there be more discussion and decision 
points where the City Council may play a part in that data collection.   
 


32 of 316







9A-1 


 
Pinole City Council Special Meeting  
Minutes – March 22, 2022 
Page 8 
 


Mayor Pro Tem Murphy agreed a joint Planning Commission and City Council meeting be held in 
the future, hopefully sooner than July 2022.  He supported more than one joint meeting as part of 
the schedule since it would benefit the Planning Commission and City Council to have a 
discussion in one place.   
 
In terms of building equitable housing through the climate lens, Mayor Pro Tem Murphy reported 
the Greenbelt Alliance had launched a Resilience Playbook, which resource would be helpful and 
allow thinking ahead on the housing crisis and the identified issues such as wildfire and sea rise.   
He suggested that engagement with the Greenbelt Alliance as part of the community engagement 
program should also be considered.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy also sought a better effort to get the most feedback in all ways possible.  
He was curious about the video option and suggested possibly an online video survey could be 
considered, would be beneficial, and how data from that process would be compiled would be 
interesting to learn.  He asked that those ideas be explored.   He thanked staff and the consultants 
for the presentation.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy clarified, when asked by Council member Martinez-Rubin, that Pinole 
had been impacted by wildfires either by fires in other communities or from poor air quality from 
wildfires in neighboring communities and he suggested that should be considered through the 
climate action lens.   
 
City Manager Murray thanked the City Council for the comments which had been documented 
and advised that staff would follow up with the consultants.   
 
Community Development Director Whalen also thanked the City Council and the public for the 
feedback.   
 
Mayor Pro Tem Murphy again thanked everyone for their comments and participation.   
 
6. ADJOURNMENT to the Special City Council Meeting of March 29, 2022 in Remembrance 


of Amber Swartz.   
 
At 8:08 p.m., Mayor Pro Tem Murphy adjourned the meeting to the Special City Council Meeting 
of March 29, 2022 in Remembrance of Amber Swartz.   
 
Submitted by: 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 
 
Approved by City Council:  


33 of 316







34 of 316







35 of 316







36 of 316







37 of 316







38 of 316







39 of 316







40 of 316







41 of 316







42 of 316







43 of 316







44 of 316







45 of 316







46 of 316







47 of 316







48 of 316







49 of 316







50 of 316







51 of 316







52 of 316







53 of 316







54 of 316







55 of 316







56 of 316







57 of 316







58 of 316







59 of 316







60 of 316







61 of 316







62 of 316







63 of 316







 CITY COUNCIL 
 REPORT 


9C


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO:  HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: ERIC CASHER, CITY ATTORNEY 


SUBJECT: RESOLUTION CONTINUING AUTHORIZED REMOTE 
TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS PURSUANT TO AB 361 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a resolution authorizing the continued 
use of remote teleconference meetings pursuant to AB 361. 


BACKGROUND 


On March 4, 2020, Governor Newsom declared a State of Emergency to make 
additional resources available, formalize emergency actions already underway across 
multiple state agencies and departments, and help the State prepare for the 
anticipated broader spread of the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”). On 
March 18, 2020, the City Manager, acting as Director of Emergency Services, 
proclaimed a local emergency due to COVID-19 pursuant to California Government 
Code Section 8630 and Pinole Municipal Code Chapter 2.32. The City Council 
subsequently adopted a resolution affirming the emergency declaration and 
continues to reevaluate the need for continuing the local emergency every fourteen 
(14) days. Both the State and local emergency declaration remain in effect through 
March 31, 2022. 


All meetings of the City Council and the City’s other legislative bodies, such as the 
Planning Commission, are open and public, as required by the Ralph M. Brown Act 
(Government Code section 54950 et seq.). Any member of the public may attend, 
participate, and watch the City’s legislative bodies conduct their business. On March 
17, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Governor Newsom issued 
Executive Order N-29-20 suspending certain provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act in 
order to allow local legislative bodies to conduct meetings telephonically or by other 
means during a declared state of emergency and in order to slow the spread of 
COVID-19. As a result of Executive Order N-29-20, staff set up virtual meetings for all 
City Council meetings and other City legislative bodies.  On June 11, 2021, Governor 
Newsom issued Executive Order N-08-21, which, effective September 30, 2021, 
repealed the provisions of Executive Order N-29-20 that allowed local legislative 
bodies to conduct meetings telephonically or by other means. 


64 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022 


On September 16, 2021, Governor Gavin Newson signed Executive Order N-15-21 
clarifying that cities may continue to meet remotely in accordance with 
procedures established by prior Executive Orders. Specifically, AB 361 (2021) allows 
local legislative bodies to continue to conduct meetings via teleconferencing during  a 
declared state of emergency without complying with certain Brown Act provisions 
under specified conditions and includes a requirement that the City Council make 
specified findings. AB 361(2021) took effect October 1, 2021.  On January 5, 2022, 
Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-1-22, extending the sunset of AB 361 
(2021) through March 31, 2022, in light of the surge in cases due to the novel 
Omicron variant not previously considered when the Legislature considered AB 361, 
and to protect the public health and safety. 
 
On October 19, 2021, the City Council adopted a Resolution Of The City Council Of 
The City Of Pinole Authorizing Remote Teleconference Meetings Pursuant To AB 
361 upon a finding that: (i) the State of Emergency continues to directly impact the 
ability of the members to meet safely in person, and (ii) State or local officials 
continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing.  
 
AB 361 provides that, if the state of emergency remains active for more than thirty 
(30) days, a local agency must make either of the following findings by majority vote 
every thirty (30) days to continue using the bill’s exemption to the Brown Act 
teleconferencing rules: (1) a declared state of emergency continues to directly impact 
the ability of the members to meet safely in person; or (2) state or local health 
officials continue to impose or recommend measures to promote social distancing. 
Thus, the City Council has a standing opportunity every thirty (30) days to discuss a 
return to in-person meetings or maintain the Resolution of October 19, 2021. 
Following such reevaluation every thirty (30) days and upon a finding that the 
conditions under AB 361 continue to exist, the City Council has continued to adopt 
the Resolution Authorizing Continued Remote Teleconference Meetings Pursuant to 
AB 361 every thirty (30) days thereafter, most recently on March 15, 2022. This staff 
report discusses whether these conditions under AB 361 continue to exist in order 
continue the use of remote teleconference meetings pursuant to AB 361. 
 
DISCUSSION  
 
Since issuing Executive Order N-08-21, the highly contagious Delta and Omicron 
variants of COVID-19 have emerged, causing an increase in COVID-19 cases 
throughout the State and Contra Costa County. COVID-19 cases surged throughout 
the State during the winter months with an estimated 1 million new COVID cases a 
day. As such, Governor Newsom extended the State of Emergency declared on March 
4, 2020 through March 2022. Despite a recent decline in new COVID cases and belief 
that the surge of cases as a result of the Omicron variant has passed, Governor 
Newsom extended the statewide indoor masking requirement until after February 15, 
2022 in his order of January 7, 2022.  Effective March 1, 2022, the requirement for 
unvaccinated persons to mask in indoor public settings and businesses has been 
replaced by a strong recommendation that all persons, regardless of vaccination status, 
continue to mask while in indoor public settings and businesses. Additionally, the 


65 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022 


universal masking requirement for K-12 and Childcare settings  has terminated, with a 
strong recommendation that individuals in these settings continue to mask in indoor 
settings. As such, the California Department of Health is maintaining the masking 
requirements in specified high-risk settings, consistent with California Department of 
Health recommendations including public transit, healthcare settings and congregate 
living.  The California Department of Health continues to find that wearing a face mask 
in indoor public settings, regardless of vaccination status, remains a critical component 
for protecting those that are most vulnerable in our communities, including the 
unvaccinated, the immunocompromised, or those at risk for severe disease and illness. 
This allows us to continue protecting our most vulnerable populations and the workforce 
that delivers critical services in these settings.  
 
The City Council has confirmed the continued existence of the local emergency, through 
March 31, 2022.  Notwithstanding the expiration of the state and local state of 
emergency, AB 361 provides for the continued use of remote meetings and exemption 
to the Brown Act upon a finding that state or local health officials continue to impose 
or recommend measures to promote social distancing. Such a finding is consistent 
with the goal of AB 361 “to improve and enhance public access to local agency 
meetings during the COVID-19 pandemic and future applicable emergencies, by 
allowing broader access through teleconferencing options” consistent with Executive 
Order N-29-20.  
 
Health officials continue to recommend measures based upon COVID-19 community 
levels in efforts to slow the spread of COVID-19 and reduce the rate of infection. 
Specifically, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”) continues to 
recommend physical distancing of at least 6 feet from others outside of the household 
and masking in all indoor settings in communities of high COVID-19 rates and among 
persons at high risk for severe illness. The CDC believes the Omicron variant is spread 
more easily than the original SARS-CoV-2 virus with breakthrough infections occurring 
in people who are fully vaccinated.  
 
On August 2, 2021, in response to the Delta variant of COVID-19, the Contra Costa 
County Health Officer issued an order for nearly all individuals to wear masks when 
inside public spaces. Subsequent exceptions or exemptions to the health order have 
been made for persons participating in certain religious activities, performers and 
public speakers in venues where everyone eligible to receive a COVID-19 vaccine is 
fully vaccinated, and certain organized gatherings in indoor settings that are not open 
to the general public.  
 
On September 20, 2021, the Contra Costa County Health Officer issued 
recommendations for safely holding public meetings but strongly recommended the 
use of online meetings as it presents the lowest risk of transmission of COVID-19.  
The County Health Officer most recently issued a health order on March 1, 2022, 
continuing the strong recommendation of the availability of remote access as an 
alternative to participating in in-person meetings as particularly important in light of the 
current community prevalence rate as of March 1, 2022. Although Contra Costa 
County current trends as of March 1, 2022 in COVID-19 case rate, COVID-19 test 


66 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022 


positivity, and COVID-19 hospitalizations are decreasing, case rates remain high with 
the Omicron variant of COVID-19 being the predominant variant identified, the impact 
of which on the spread of COVID-19 has shown to dramatically increase COVID-19 
transmission. Additionally, access to remote appearance allows those at higher risk 
of and/or higher concern about COVID-19 an alternative to participating in person. 
 
The proposed resolution re-affirms the necessary findings in order for the City 
Council, and all of the City’ s other legislative bodies, to continue to hold remote 
teleconference meetings pursuant to AB 361. Additionally, the resolution is 
necessary in order to allow Staff to return to an in-person hybrid meeting format. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no direct fiscal impact from the adoption of the resolution.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A. Resolution Authorizing Continued Remote Teleconference Meetings Pursuant 


to AB 361  
5085472.1  


67 of 316







1  


ATTACHMENT A 
 
 


RESOLUTION NO. 2022- 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PINOLE 
AUTHORIZING CONTINUED REMOTE TELECONFERENCE MEETINGS 


PURSUANT TO AB 361 
 


WHEREAS, all City of Pinole (“City”) meetings are open and public, as required 
by the Ralph M. Brown Act (Cal. Gov. Code 54950 – 54963), so that any member of 
the public may attend, participate, and watch the City’s legislative bodies conduct their 
business; and 


 
WHEREAS, on March 4, 2020, Governor Newsom declared a State of 


Emergency to make additional resources available, formalize emergency actions already 
underway across multiple state agencies and departments, and help the State prepare 
for an anticipated broader spread of the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19”), 
and Governor Newsom has continued to confirm the continued existence of the State of 
Emergency; and 


 
WHEREAS, on March 18, 2020, the City Manager, acting as Director of 


Emergency Services, proclaimed a local emergency due to COVID-19 pursuant to 
California Government Code Section 8630 and Pinole Municipal Code Chapter 2.32, 
and the City Council has continued to confirm the continued existence of the local 
emergency; and 


 
WHEREAS, On March 17, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 


Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-29-20 suspending certain provisions of 
the Ralph M. Brown Act in order to allow local legislative bodies to conduct meetings 
telephonically or by other means; and 


 
WHEREAS, as a result of Executive Order N-29-20, staff set up virtual meetings 


for all City Council meetings and meetings of all City legislative bodies, such as the 
Planning Commission; and 


 
WHEREAS, on June 11, 2021, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-08-


21, which, effective September 30, 2021, repealed the provisions of Executive Order N-
29-20 that allowed local legislative bodies to conduct meetings telephonically or by other 
means; and 


 
WHEREAS, on September 16, 2021, Governor Newsom signed AB 361 (2021) 


which allows for local legislative bodies and advisory bodies to continue to conduct 
meetings via teleconferencing under specified conditions and includes a requirement 
that the City Council make specified findings; and 


 
WHEREAS, on September 20, 2021, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order 


N-15- 21, delaying the full application of AB 361 (2021) until 11:59 p.m. October 1, 
2021; 


 
WHEREAS, on January 5, 2022, Governor Newsom issued Executive Order N-1-


22, extending the sunset of AB 361 (2021) through March 31, 2022; 


68 of 316







2  


WHEREAS, in order for legislative bodies to conduct meetings via teleconferencing 
pursuant to AB 361 (2021), a proclaimed State of Emergency must exist; and 


 
WHEREAS, AB 361 (2021) further requires that State or local officials have 


imposed or recommended measures to promote social distancing, or, requires that the 
legislative body determines that meeting in person would present imminent risks to the 
health and safety of attendees; and 


 
WHEREAS, on October 19, 2021, the City Council adopted Resolution Of The 


City Council Of The City Of Pinole Authorizing Remote Teleconference Meetings 
Pursuant To AB 361 upon a finding that such conditions existed in the City of Pinole, 
specifically, Governor Newsom has declared a State of Emergency due to COVID-19 
and the City Council has confirmed the continued existence of the local emergency due 
to COVID-19; and 


 
WHEREAS, AB 361 (2021) allows the City Council to continue to conduct 


meetings via teleconference upon a finding every thirty (30) days thereafter, that either a 
declared state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the members to 
meet safely in person, or state or local health officials continue to impose or recommend 
measures to promote social distancing; and 


 
WHEREAS, since issuing Executive Order N-08-21, the highly contagious Delta 


and Omicron variants of COVID-19 have emerged, causing an increase in COVID-19 
cases throughout the State and Contra Costa County; and 


 
WHEREAS, on August 2, 2021, in response to the Delta variant of COVID-19, the 


Contra Costa County Health Officer issued Health Order No. COVID19-51, for nearly all 
individuals to wear masks when inside public spaces and such mandate remains in effect 
in specified high-risk settings, consistent with California Department of Health 
recommendations including public transit, healthcare settings and congregate living; and 


 
WHEREAS, on September 20, 2021, and reaffirmed on March 1, 2022, the 


Contra Costa County Health Officer issued recommendations for safely holding public 
meetings strongly recommending the of the availability of remote access as an 
alternative to participating in person at meetings as it presents the lowest risk of 
transmission of COVID-19 and such  recommendation remains in effect; and 


 
WHEREAS, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”) continues to 


recommend physical distancing of at least six (6) feet from others outside of the 
household and use of a face mask as a critical component for protecting those that are 
most vulnerable in our communities, including the unvaccinated, the 
immunocompromised, or those at risk for severe disease and illness; and 


 
WHEREAS, because of the rise in cases due to the Delta and Omicron variants 


of COVID-19, the City Council is concerned about the health and safety of all 
individuals who intend to attend City Council meetings and meetings of the City’s 
other legislative bodies; and 


69 of 316







3  


WHEREAS, the City Council desires to provide a way for the Council, staff, and 
members of the public to participate in meetings remotely as an alternative to having to 
attend meetings in person; and 


 
WHEREAS, the City Council hereby finds that the presence of COVID-19 and the 


increase of cases due to the Delta and Omicron variants would present imminent risks to 
the health or safety of certain attendees, including legislative bodies and staff, during in 
person meetings; and 


 
WHEREAS, the City shall ensure that it’s meetings comply with the provisions 


required by AB 361 (2021) for holding teleconferenced meetings; and 
 


WHEREAS, the City Council has re-affirmed the necessary findings in order for 
the City Council, and all of the City’s other legislative bodies, to continue to hold remote 
teleconference meetings pursuant to AB 361 and on that basis adopted a Resolution Of 
The City Council Of The City Of Pinole Authorizing Continued Remote Teleconference 
Meetings Pursuant To AB 361 on November 16, 2021, and every thirty (30) days 
thereafter, most recently adopted on March 15, 2022; 


 
WHEREAS, the City Council has reconsidered the need to conduct meetings 


remotely within thirty (30) days of the Resolution and finds the need continues to exist. 
 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council of the City of Pinole 
hereby declares as follows: 


 
1. The above recitals are true and correct, and incorporated into this 


Resolution. 
 


2. In compliance with AB 361 (2021), and in order to continue to conduct 
teleconference meetings without complying with the usual teleconference meeting 
requirements of the Brown Act, the City Council makes the following findings: 


 
a) The City Council has reconsidered the circumstances of the State of 


Emergency; and 
 


b) Either of the following circumstances exist: The state of emergency 
continues to directly impact the ability of members to meet safely in 
person, or State or local officials continue to impose or recommend 
social distancing measures. 


 
3. The City Council and all of the City’s other legislative bodies may continue to 


meet remotely in compliance with AB 361 (2021), whether in whole or part, in order to 
better ensure the health and safety of the public. 


 
4. The City Council will revisit the need to conduct meetings remotely within 


thirty (30) days of the adoption of this resolution. 
 


70 of 316







4  


PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Pinole City Council held on 
the 5th day of April, 2022, by the following vote: 


 
AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:  
NOES: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
ABSTAIN: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
 


I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was introduced, passed, and adopted on 
the 5th day of April, 2022. 


 
 


 


Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 


 
 


5085473.1 


71 of 316







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


9D 


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: JOE BINGAMAN, PUBLIC WORKS MANAGER 
SANJAY MISHRA, PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR 


SUBJECT:  ACTIVITIES OF THE PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT OPERATIONS 
AND MAINTENANCE DIVISION 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council receive a report on the activities of the Operations 
and Maintenance Division of the Public Works Department. 


BACKGROUND 


At its meeting on February 1, 2022, the City Council requested a future agenda item on 
the activities of the maintenance division of the Public Works Department. The information 
below responds to that request. (Note that at its meeting on March 1, 2022, the City 
Council requested a future agenda item on park maintenance activities at Fernandez 
Park. That will be a separate future agenda item.) 


The Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Division of the Public Works Department is 
responsible for maintenance of the City’s infrastructure (i.e., public streets, storm 
drainage, sanitary sewer collection system, parks, and public facilities) and management 
of the City’s vehicle fleet, as described below. The Division has 10 budgeted positions in 
fiscal year (FY) 2021/22: one Public Works Manager, three Maintenance Supervisors, 
and eight Maintenance Workers. This is one more Maintenance Supervisor and two more 
Maintenance Workers than were budgeted in prior fiscal years. Public Works issued a 
recruitment in October of 2021. Unfortunately, the recruitment was unsuccessful 
producing only one qualified candidate. In January of 2022, Public Works reissued the 
recruitment and was able to offer two qualified applicants positions with the Department. 
The tentative start date for the new staff members is the end of April. 


REVIEW & ANALYSIS 


The Public Works Department attends and addresses various activities every day. 
Activities are prioritized based on various factors i.e., urgency, health, and safety of 
staff/public etc. Division staff completes routine activities daily including servicing and 
cleaning the park restrooms and checking sewer lift stations. After completing the 
servicing of the restrooms, the Public Works team will move to other activities. There are 


72 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  2 


usually service requests that will need to be addressed and these are prioritized based 
on the urgency of the request. Health or safety issues will be of top priority and these 
service requests will be addressed first. These would include issues with plumbing in City 
buildings, Environment control issues in City buildings or hazards impacting streets. The 
Public Works team strives to plan maintenance activities to make efficient use of time. 
Planned activities would include streetlight repair, pothole patching or irrigation repair in 
the parks. The Public Works Maintenance Supervisors also evaluate and inspect all areas 
of the City to identify maintenance needs and these are scheduled into daily activities. 
 
Currently public works does not have accurate data to show staff hours spent on various 
maintenance tasks. However, the following table shows our best estimate of staff time 
spent on various tasks performed by the division staff over the period of one year. The 
percent of staff time allocation does not represent daily task allocation. 
 


Tasks Frequency Percent of staff time 
Annually 


Street Maintenance Daily-As needed 20% 
Facility Maintenance As needed 5% 
Parks Maintenance (Trash Pickup, rest 
room cleaning / maintenance etc.) 


Daily – As needed  25% 


Wastewater Collection System Daily-As needed 30% 
Stormwater Collection System As needed 10% 
Fleet Management and miscellaneous As needed 5% 
Emergency tasks As needed 5% 


 
Street Maintenance 
 
The Division’s street maintenance activities include pavement repair (pothole repair, 
minor patch paving, and crack sealing). These street repair activities will be enhanced 
due to the acquisition of the patch paving truck and the crack seal pot; street 
markings/striping (refresh striping); public sidewalk repair; streetlight maintenance; City 
street tree maintenance; traffic sign maintenance; street sweeping; and vegetation 
management (weed control). Contra Costa County Public Works performs traffic signal 
maintenance for the City.  The City occasionally hires vendors to perform some of the 
services above. The City has hired Pacific Site Landscaping for maintenance of medians 
and public parking areas. 
 
Facility Maintenance 
 
The Division’s facility maintenance activities include performing repairs, preventative 
maintenance, and remodel project management of City-owned buildings i.e., City Hall, 
Public Safety Building, Memorial Hall (Theater), Youth Center, Tiny Tots, Senior Center, 
Swim Center, Station 74, and The Corp Yard. Maintenance of facilities includes the recent 
installation of the automated locking systems for the park restrooms which allows the 
restrooms to be open during posted park hours and the daily cleaning and sanitizing of 
the restrooms. 
 


73 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  3 


Parks Maintenance 
Division staff works closely with the Parks and Recreation Division of the Community 
Services Department regarding park maintenance and support of park rentals. There are 
14 parks within the City. Duties include cleaning and maintenance of restrooms at five 
parks (Bayfront Park, Fernandez Park, Tennis Courts, Pinole Valley Park, and the dog 
park at Pinole Valley Park). Staff also do periodic maintenance of the tennis courts, 
general turf area, trees, weed control, 4 sports fields, 7 play structures, and picnic areas. 
 
Wastewater Collection System 
 
The wastewater collection system is one of the major components of the wastewater 
management system. It consists of the main sewer lines in the public right of way and the 
conveyance system to the Wastewater Treatment Plant. Division staff inspects (manually 
or camera), maintains, cleans, and repairs the sewer mains in the public right of way. 
Daily inspection of sewer pumps at lift stations are conducted as part of this maintenance. 
Staff is also responsible to document work in Beehive (an online asset management 
system). Division staff is gearing up for an inhouse conditions assessment for the aging 
wastewater collection system. 
 
Stormwater Collection System 
 
The stormwater collection system refers to important infrastructure that prevents flooding 
when it rains. The system, also known as a Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System or 
MS4, works to move water away from a developed area to a local water body, such as a 
creek or river. The stormwater collection system includes the inlets (storm drains) and 
gutters on the street as well as pipes and outfalls where the stormwater enters the water 
body. Because the MS4 flows directly into water bodies without any treatment, it is critical 
to keep it as pollutant free as possible. Division staff periodically checks and cleans catch 
basins, inlets, trash capture devices, and repairs headwalls and structures. 
 
Fleet Management 
 
Division staff ensures the availability and reliability of the City’s vehicles and heavy 
equipment, provides proactive and preventative maintenance and repair programs, and 
maintains regulatory compliance. The City currently owns and maintains the following 
major equipment: one hydro flush truck, one rodding truck, one vacuum truck, one dump 
truck, one patch paving truck, one crack seal applicator pot, one bucket truck (waiting for 
replacement that is on order), one backhoe, one compact track loader, one cold plane 
machine, and one commercial turf mower. In addition, the City also owns nine crew trucks, 
six staff vehicles, 33 Police vehicles, and one van used for park and recreation, which are 
maintained and serviced by the O&M staff. 
 
Public Events and Interdepartmental Coordination 
 
Division staff also provides setup, traffic control, and clean up for numerous community 
events, including the Car Show, Tree Lighting, Dumpster Days, Compost Days, Coastal 
Clean Up, Mattress Disposal Days, Holiday Street Decoration, and Community Service 


74 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  4 


Days. Staff also provides support for posting banners and signs for department and 
community groups. 
 
Management of Service Providers 
 
The Division engages vendors to carry out some maintenance tasks. As such, a 
significant responsibility of the Division is overseeing those vendors. Vendors conduct 
pool maintenance, HVAC maintenance, janitorial services, landscape maintenance, tree 
trimming, light pole replacement, and sidewalk repair for the City. Division staff, with help 
from other Public Works Department staff, manages contracts of these service providers 
and oversees their quality of service. 
 
 
The Operations and Maintenance (O&M) Division strives to provide excellent, cost-
effective service to the City’s residents and other City departments. The City Council has 
appropriated additional funds in recent years to the Public Works Department to add 
positions and replace many pieces of aging or obsolete equipment. This has provided the 
Public Works Department with appropriate resources to address the continual 
maintenance needs throughout the City. Many of the City’s maintenance needs have 
been deferred for several years and with the addition of the updated equipment and 
additional staff, the Public Works team goal is to make significant headway towards 
improved maintenance of the City’s infrastructure. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact to receiving this information. 
 
ATTACHMENT 
 
None 


75 of 316







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


9E 


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO:  MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: LILLY WHALEN, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 


SUBJECT: STATUS OF BUILDING PERMIT PROCESS 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council receive a report from staff regarding the building 
permit process and customer service. 


SUMMARY 


In 2021 the Community Development Department experienced a backlog in permit 
processing that led to processing delays and customer frustration. Since that time, 
additional resources were provided to the Department in order to assist in resolving the 
backlog. This report, requested by the Council, is provided to Council and the community 
in order to: 
 Provide context for the purpose of the Department
 Offer background on permitting trends in Pinole
 Highlight issues experienced in 2021 that lead to the backlog
 Detail the steps taken to resolve the backlog
 Identify new resources needed for continued future success in reducing permitting


timeframes and increasing customer service levels


BACKGROUND AND TRENDS 


The Community Development Department is comprised of the following divisions: 


• Planning;
• Building;
• Code Enforcement;
• Affordable Housing;
• Economic Development; and
• Redevelopment Successor Agency


The mission of the Community Development Department is to guide orderly growth and 
development in Pinole, consistent with the General Plan and priorities of the City Council, 


76 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  2 


and to protect the quality of life, health, safety, and welfare of residents. Figure 1 is a 
chart illustrating the current organizational structure of the department. The Department 
is currently staffed at a team of seven individuals. Two of the staff positions (both 
Inspectors) are vacant. The Department currently completely outsources inspection, 
building official and plan check services to consultant firms.  
 
Figure 1: CDD Organizational Chart 


 
 
The Building Division issues building permits and provides building, electrical, 
mechanical, plumbing, Title-24 and accessibility inspections for new construction, 
additions, and alterations of commercial, residential, and public projects to ensure a safe 
environment for the Pinole community. The Division also performs rental housing 
inspections on a recurring basis and business license inspections on an as-needed basis. 
The Division investigates citizens’ complaints pertaining to construction code compliance 
and/or health and safety issues in a prompt and courteous manner. 
 
The California Building Code requires a permit to be obtained to construct, enlarge, alter, 
repair, move, demolish or change the occupancy of a building or structure, or to erect, 
install, enlarge, alter, repair, remove, convert or replace any electrical, gas, mechanical 
or plumbing system. Only owners of a building (or their legal representative) or 
contractors licensed by the State of California can be issued a building permit. The City 


Community 
Development 


Director


Building Division


Senior Building 
Inspector 
(Vacant)


Building 
Inspector 
(Vacant)


Permit 
Technician


Permit 
Technician


Planning Division


Planning 
Manager


Senior Planner 
(0.5 FTE)


Code 
Enforcement 


Division


Code 
Enforcement 


Officer


Affordable 
Housing Division


Community 
Development 


Director


Economic 
Development 


Division


Community 
Development 


Director


77 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  3 


currently uses a permit tracking system procured in the year 1999 to process permits, 
keep permit records and to process reports. This system needs modernization. 
 
Activity in the Community Development Department is increasing. A review of building 
permit applications submitted to the Building Division over the last five years (2017-2021) 
shows the volume of building permit activity fluctuating between 600 to 800 permit 
applications and that the average number of annual applications the Division receives 
has been 683 permits (see Figure 2). There was a substantial increase in the number of 
applications received in 2019, compared to 2017 and 2018, followed by a decline in 
permits in 2020. Permit applications in 2021 substantially rebounded, with permit 
application totals close to the 2019 figure.  
 
Figure 2: Total Building Permits Applications by Calendar Year 


 
 
The number of building inspections performed over the last five years follows a similar 
trend (see Figure 3). Average inspections over the last five years shows that on average, 
the Division performs 2,028 inspections annually. There was a decline in inspections in 
the calendar year 2020, followed by a strong rebound in inspections in 2021. 
 


624 631


796


604


761


0


100


200


300


400


500


600


700


800


900


2017 2018 2019 2020 2021


N
U


M
BE


R 
O


F 
PE


RM
IT


 A
PP


LI
CA


TI
O


N
S


CALENDAR YEAR


Total Building Permit Applications


78 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  4 


Figure 3: Number of Building Inspections by Calendar Year 


 
 
 
The overwhelming majority of building permits issued in Pinole are for residential projects. 
Figure 4 below shows the distribution of commercial and residential building permit 
applications by calendar year.  
 
Figure 4: Distribution of Major Building Permit Application Types by Calendar Year 


 
 
Additionally, permitting trends show that since the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic the 
mix of types of permits applied for is changing. Pinole is seeing a wider distribution of 
over the counter permit types (Plumbing, Mechanical, Electrical, Solar), which have 
shorter review times and are more reliant on in-house staff review and processing (see 
Figure 5). 


1368


2384 2295
1778


2314


0
500


1000
1500
2000
2500
3000


2017 2018 2019 2020 2021


N
U


M
BE


R 
O


F 
IN


SP
EC


TI
O


N
S


CALENDAR YEAR


Number of Inspections


61
4


56
2


72
2


55
5


72
1


10


69 74 49 40


2 0 1 7 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1


N
U


M
BE


R 
O


F 
BU


IL
DI


N
G


 
PE


RM
IT


S


CALENDAR YEAR


Residential Commercial


79 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  5 


Figure 5: Distribution of Permit Application Types in by Calendar Year and Quarter 


 
 
BUILDING PERMIT PROCESS AND TIMELINES  
 
Building permits fall into two types: those that require a plan check and those that do not. 
Typical permits that do not require plans include plumbing permits (e.g., water heater 
replacement), electrical permits (e.g., upgrade electrical panel) and mechanical permits 
(e.g., furnace replacement). There are some other limited permit types that do not require 
plans, including reroofing permits and siding permits. 
 
Typical permits that do require plans include room additions, kitchen remodels, retaining 
walls, and new structures. Applications to install photovoltaic panels and electric vehicle 
chargers are a hybrid process which require plan review but must be issued within a 
specific time period pursuant to State law. Due to limited modern technological resources 
needed to expedite processing, complying with these timeframes has been challenging.  
 
1. General Permitting Process 
Below is an outline of the two processes, currently: 
 


Process for permits not requiring plan check: 
 


• Applicant makes application by email 


23 14 13 11 19 10 16 10 16 20 27 16 13 22 25 26 28 12


70


145


72
105


82


112


65


119
97


123
142


95


66
52


89 73 79 83
84


90


12


7


19


17


25


6


23


19


24


38


27


25
16


27
26 30 25


29


23
17


10


18


18


24


21


25


26


27


37


21


18


17


18
25 19 13 26


283


2


3


9


8


6


15


8


11


16


12


18


13


19 26 20 24 17


35


JA
N


-M
A


R


A
P


R
-J


U
N


JU
L-


SE
P


O
C


T
-D


E
C


JA
N


-M
A


R


A
P


R
-J


U
N


JU
L-


SE
P


O
C


T
-D


E
C


JA
N


-M
A


R


A
P


R
-J


U
N


JU
L-


SE
P


O
C


T
-D


E
C


JA
N


-M
A


R


A
P


R
-J


U
N


JU
L-


SE
P


O
C


T
-D


E
C


JA
N


-M
A


R


A
P


R
-J


U
N


JU
L-


SE
P


2 0 1 7 2 0 1 8 2 0 1 9 2 0 2 0 2 0 2 1


N
U


M
BE


R 
O


F 
PE


RM
IT


S


CALENDAR YEAR AND QUARTER


Solar Building Mechanical Plumbing Electrical


80 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  6 


• Permit application is reviewed by Permit Technician to ensure that all required 
documents have been submitted and the application is complete 


• Application is then placed in an electronic folder queue for “over the counter” 
processing 


• Permit is issued by email by Pinole Permit Technicians or Building Official  
 
Process for permits requiring plan check: 
 


• Applicant submits application, plans and support information by email 
• Permit application is reviewed by Permit Technician  
• Permit application is logged and placed in an electronic folder queue by date to 


be sent to the city’s plan checking firm, SAFEbuilt. 
• Permit plans are transmitted to SAFEbuilt in the order that they are submitted 


as complete applications. Since only a few permits can be processed by Permit 
Technicians each day, daily transmittals to SAFEbuilt are often limited.  


• Once plans are returned from SAFEbuilt, the comments are transmitted to the 
applicant.  


• It is the applicant’s responsibility to respond to the plan check comments.  
Sometimes applicants are extremely responsive, and at other times, there have 
been long delays in receiving responses.  


• Once applicant responses to plan check comments are received by Permit 
Technicians, they are placed in a queue to be sent back to SAFEbuilt.   
 If plan check comments are fully addressed, then the permit can be 


issued. 
 If plan check comments have not been fully addressed, a new comment 


letter is generated by SAFEbuilt, transmitted to the applicant, and the 
applicant is responsible for responding to the plan check comments. 


• A report of issued permits is transmitted to the Contra-Costa County Assessor 
each month, and available online.  


 
Once either type of building permit is issued, the applicant or contactor can call for 
inspections. The City currently has one full-time contract building inspector who performs 
residential and commercial inspections.  Inspections can be requested a day or two prior 
to the preferred inspection date.  Additional support in the inspection division is needed 
in order to allow for important administrative tasks to be completed.  
 
2. Current Permitting Timelines 
Changes have been put in place since November of 2021 that have improved building 
permit processing timelines. It is anticipated that the timeframes in Table 1 below will be 
improved in FY 2022/23 as the Department continues to make improvements that will 
expedite and streamline permit issuance and timeframes. 
 
 


81 of 316



https://www.ci.pinole.ca.us/cms/One.aspx?portalId=10947056&pageId=14626624





City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  7 


Table 1: Building Permit Processing Times 


Item Processing Times 
As of November 2021 As of February 2022 


Review/Process 
Submittal  


8-10 weeks of working days 4-6 weeks of working days 


Typical Plan 
Review 


First Review: 10 working days 
Second Review:  5 working 
days, Third Review: 3 working 
days 


No change 


Larger Plan 
Review 


Up to 12 weeks of Working 
Days (Cyc 1: 6 weeks, Cyc 2: 
4 weeks, Cyc 3: 2 weeks); 
 
First Review: 6 weeks 
Second Review:  4 weeks, 
Third Review: 2 weeks 


No change 


Plan Review 
Letter(s) 


Up to 14 working days after 
Plan Review 


Up to 7 working days 


Phone 
Calls/Emails 


Up to 14 working days Up to 7 working days 


Payment and 
Issuance 


Up to 7 working days  Up to 5 working days 


 
CHALLENGES, IMPROVEMENTS AND OPPORTUNITIES FOR ENHANCEMENT 
 
Pinole, like many other communities, experienced challenges during the COVID-19 
pandemic which lead to an increase in the average building permit processing timeline. 
There were several factors that lead to the backlog of applications, including the following: 
 


• Permit activity and types: After a substantial decrease in the number of permits 
immediately following the pandemic, permit applications began to steadily 
increase. An up-tick in the distribution of permit types that did not require plan 
check resulted in additional responsibility for review and issuance on in-house 
permitting staff. A focus in FY 2022/23 will be to create opportunities for permit 
automation, streamlined processes for permitting staff and new self-service 
options for customers. 
 


• Tools: At the outset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Building Division shifted from 
in person paper permit processing to completely touchless, paperless permit 
processing. This was done using existing tools and systems available at the time 
to staff, including phone, email and the City’s website. An investment was made in 
Bluebeam software (electronic plan review software) to assist with reviews. 
Additional significant improvements are anticipated to be made in FY 2022/23 
which will appreciably transform and streamline the process. 


82 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  8 


 
• Staffing: The city had two permit technicians working full time on permit 


processing up until June of 2021.  One of the permit technicians was selected to 
become an inspector in the Public Works Department and the other left 
employment of the city.  One single contract Permit Technician was processing 
permits for about one month until two new permanent Permit Technicians were 
hired. One of the technicians hired was the contract employee, so there was a 
seamless transition for her position. The other new technician worked for the City 
before, and was familiar with the city’s permit process. An additional temporary 
contract employee has recently been secured to assist the permit technicians in 
eliminating the backlog. 


 
• Communication: Continual requests for information on permit process and status 


made it difficult for the technicians to process permits. A focus in FY 2022/23 will 
be to improve communication and self-service options for customers. 


 
The arrival of the new Community Development Director in November 2021 allowed for 
the implementation of process improvements to clear the backlog. These improvements 
included: 
 


• Permit Technician Staffing. Contract Permit Technician assistance was secured 
to help get through and eliminate the backlog. With this assistance, as of 
December 2021 the Division was able process all permits filed as far back as July 
2021 and eliminated the substantial backlog of major permits. Although the 
Department was closed for the majority of January 2022 for COVID-related health 
reasons, staff was able to get caught back up in February and as of the end of 
March 2022 the Division was able to issue over-the-counter permits within  48-72 
business hours of receiving a complete application. Additionally, the Department 
is able to begin processing permits that require plan review within about a month 
of receiving the application, which is a substantial improvement from the eight to 
ten weeks of time needed in November of 2021. 
 


• Building Official Staffing. As of January 2022, a contract Building 
Official/Inspector replaced the contract Building Inspector. The new Building 
Official is able to conduct a wide range of over-the-counter permit review, which is 
a benefit to the customer to eliminate external plan check process and saves time 
and money. The Building Official is also identifying gaps in the Division’s 
procedures and is working with the Community Development Director to implement 
process and policy improvements. These changes have provided additional clarity 
to staff and the customer, which in turn improves and streamlines the process. 
 


• Solar Tuesdays. Permit Technicians established “Solar Tuesdays” as a designed 
day for issuing solar permits. This has increased the City’s compliance with permit 
issuance timeframes for solar permits and decreased customer frustration. 


 


83 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  9 


• Forms and Handouts. Improvements to forms and messaging documents 
continue to be made which provide ease of use for the customer and clarity for 
staff.  
 


• Permit Valuation. The City’s Building Permit fees are based on the project’s 
valuation, which is the total value of all construction work for which the permit is 
issued as well as all finish work, painting, roofing, electrical, plumbing, heating, air 
conditioning, elevators, fire extinguishing systems and any other permanent 
equipment. With support from the new contract Building Official, the Division has 
been able to more closely look at recent self-reported valuations and has found 
that many valuations are undervalued. Pursuant to the City’s master fee schedule, 
the building valuation is based on either the applicant’s self-reported valuation or 
determined by staff using the International Code Council and adjusted using the 
most current City Cost Index whichever is higher. The Division secured a 
subscription to the R.S. Means Construction Cost Data, which assists the Building 
Official in determining fair valuations so that all projects pay equitable permitting 
fees.   
 


• Development Review Coordination, Submittal and Routing Process. A full 
examination of the existing building permitting process from application submittal 
to permit issuance was undertaken by the Director and Permit Technicians. Small 
but impactful changes to the process, using existing technology tools, were made 
that helped to streamline the process and eliminate unnecessary steps. The 
Department is coordinating with Public Works, Police, Fire and other agencies who 
closely work with the Department on thresholds for review and will be documenting 
agreed upon process and procedures for review and approval of building permits.  
 


Looking to the upcoming fiscal year, the Division will be requesting the following structural 
changes and improvements to continue to improve permit issuance timeframes and 
customer service levels: 
 


• Modernization of Permit Application, Review and Issuance Technology. The 
Department is working to upgrade, migrate and modernize the City’s permit 
tracking system, TRAKiT. The current system was procured in 1999 and has not 
been updated or maintained since 2015. The new system will create efficiency and 
flexibility in automating and coordinating the permitting process. The customer 
friendly web based system tracks all building permits, inspections, site plan 
reviews, and code enforcement violations, allowing users to manage projects more 
effectively. The workflow provided by the system allows for the efficient transfer of 
work, providing visibility, comprehensive collaboration tools, and reporting. A web-
based module will allow citizens, business owners, contractors, architects, and 
engineers to view the status of projects, permits, and code cases, and request 
permit inspections. An online e-planning component will allow for the electronic 
submittal and approval of plans. Online functionality will be augmented through the 


84 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  10 


new online portal to allow for the application and payment of certain permit types 
eliminating the need for credit card authorization forms. 
 


• Specialty Permit Automation. The Division is piloting automated residential solar 
permitting in Pinole in partnership with the US Department of Energy’s SolarAPP+ 
software. SolarAPP+ is an automated online application 
for instantaneous permitting of new residential rooftop solar and storage systems, 
with no cost to the City a small surcharge to the customer. The process to inspect 
the solar system does not change with the automatic permitting system. It is 
anticipated that the integration of SolarAPP+ in Pinole, both staff and the customer 
will save time and reduce costs. In 2021, 88 solar permits were applied for which 
would have been eligible for automated permitting with SolarAPP+. With an 
average of 2 hours of staff time involved in processing solar permits (from submittal 
to issuance), annually SolarAPP+ is anticipated to eliminate over 20 working days 
of staff time while providing instant solar permitting to the customer and complete 
compliance with state law regarding turnaround time for solar permit issuance. 


 
• Waste Management Documentation and Reporting. The California Green 


Building Code requires that 65% of construction and demolition debris be diverted 
from landfills on each covered project.  Before a building permit can be issued, a 
Waste Management Plan must be approved that identifies both (1) a waste hauler 
and (2) a construction and demolition sorting facility. Before a project can be 
finalized, a Waste Log documenting the 65% diversion requirement must be 
approved. The process of tracking a project’s compliance with waste diversion 
requirements can be time intensive for both staff and the customer. In order to 
facilitate tracking, the Division will be integrating GreenHalo waste 
management/recycling tracking system with the new online permitting system in 
order to automate the management, verification and filing of recovery reports.  
 


• Staffing. The Department will be requesting reclassification of the Building 
Inspector and Senior Building Inspector positions to a Building Inspector I/II and 
Building Official structure and to eliminate routine contract inspection services. 
Additionally, reclassification of the Permit Technician position to flexibly staffed 
Permit Technician I/II positions will be requested. Lastly, a new shared staffing 
position will be requested with Public Works to manage the permit tracking system 
and other integrated components, regularly update the Department’s website, 
support the Department’s move to paperless records by digitizing records and 
serve as the records coordinator. All of these staffing changes will provide greater 
resources to the Division both internally and externally, allow for succession 
planning and growth opportunities, enhance staff retention, improve permit 
processing and inspection times, and set the Division up for better success. The 
Division will also be able to more regularly focus on updating forms, handouts, 
processes and procedures and will be able to more nimbly respond to requests 
from the public. 


 


85 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  11 


• Benchmarking. Monitoring and reporting on success of the Department will be 
important to ensure that the permit process is improving as anticipated. The 
Director will utilize the robust reporting options in the modern TRAKiT system to 
monitor such data points as permit volume, processing time, valuation and fees on 
a quarterly basis. A dashboard, or some other visual representation of department 
statistics may be used to transparently report Department activity. Additionally, 
customer service surveys may be introduced regularly to take the pulse of how 
well the Department is doing on making on improvements, and generating ideas 
for additional enhancements.  
 


• Development Review Meetings. The Department will be taking the lead in 
instituting better internal coordination in the upcoming fiscal year. This will include 
implementing monthly development review meetings for all relevant City 
Departments to review and discuss major development applications. 
 


FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact to receiving this report.  
 
 


86 of 316







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


9F 


DATE APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: ANDREW MURRAY, CITY MANAGER 


SUBJECT: CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT FOR INFORMATIONAL 
OUTREACH AND BALLOT MEASURE COORDINATION FOR 
POTENTIAL NOVEMBER 2022 BALLOT MEASURE 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council authorize the City Manager to execute a 
consulting services agreement with the Lew Edwards Group (LEG) for informational 
outreach and ballot measure coordination for a potential November 2022 ballot measure. 


BACKGROUND 


At its meeting on March 1, 2022, the City Council discussed whether to pursue a ballot 
measure to become a charter city and enact a real property transfer tax. At that meeting, 
the Council directed staff to retain a polling firm and consultant to conduct research and 
communication related to a potential November 2022 ballot measure. 


City staff issued a request for proposals (RFP) for this work, attached. The City received 
proposals from two highly qualified teams, TBWBH Props & Measures/EMC Research 
and the Lew Edwards Group (LEG)/FM3. 


Staff from the City Manager department, City Attorney department, and Finance 
Department reviewed the proposals from the two teams and concluded that the LEG/FM3 
team had stronger qualifications to perform the work desired by the City. LEG has worked 
with nearly 150 California cities, including many in Contra Costa County, on municipal 
revenue measures, including charter city and real property transfer tax measures 
specifically. LEG worked with Pinole on Measure S and the extension of the City’s utility 
users’ tax in 2012. FM3 has similarly worked with over 150 California cities on municipal 
revenue measures, including many in Contra Costa County, including charter city and 
real property transfer tax measures specifically. City staff interviewed the LEG/FM3 team 
and conducted reference checks, both of which were positive. 


FM3’s fee will be an amount not to exceed $31,250. The specific fee will depend on the 
survey length, whether the survey is conducted in any languages other than English, and 
how many surveys are completed. FM3 will advise the City on these matters prior to 
executing the survey. The City has already executed a consulting services agreement 


87 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  2 


with FM3 to conduct this work, using the City’s standard consulting services agreement 
format, under the City Manager’s contracting authority, to expedite the polling process. 
 
LEG’s fee would be a fixed fee of $48,000 ($6,000 per month for April – November 2022) 
plus up to $47,000 in addition for graphic design, mailing list procurement, printing, and 
mailing of up to four informational mailers and potentially digital advertising, for a total of 
$95,000. Staff is requesting that the agreement be established for $95,000 although the 
actual cost might be lower if the City decides to do fewer informational mailers or other 
informational outreach. 
 
REVIEW & ANALYSIS 
 
The LEG/FM3 team has extensive experience in polling, informational outreach, and 
ballot measure coordination, and the City has worked with LEG on past ballot measures. 
City staff is recommending that the City Council adopt the proposed resolution (attached) 
to authorize the City Manager to execute a consulting services agreement in the City’s 
standard form with LEG (attached) and appropriate $95,000 from unassigned General 
Fund balance for this purpose. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The fiscal impact of adopting the proposed resolution would be appropriating $95,000 
from unassigned General Fund balance for the proposed consulting services agreement. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment A-  Request for Proposals 
Attachment B - Proposed Resolution 


Exhibit 1 - Proposed Consulting Services Agreement with LEG 


88 of 316







CITY OF PINOLE 


REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) 


RESEARCH, INFORMATIONAL 
OUTREACH, AND COORDINATION FOR 


BALLOT MEASURE 


Proposal Submission Deadline 
Wednesday March 9, 2022, 5 p.m.


ATTACHMENT A


89 of 316







City of Pinole RFP for Research, Informational Outreach, and Coordination for Ballot Measure 


2 
 


I. Introduction 
 
The City of Pinole is a diverse community of approximately 20,000 residents situated in West 
Contra Costa County on the east side of San Francisco Bay. Pinole has a lovely natural setting and 
is noted for its architectural heritage. 
 
The Pinole City Council is considering placing a measure on the November 2022 ballot to enact a 
real property transfer tax, as well as transition from a general law city to a charter city. The City 
would like to engage a consulting firm to research voters’ priorities and interest in such a ballot 
measure. If the City Council decides to move forward with a ballot measure, the City would like 
the consulting firm to perform community engagement and informational outreach to the voters 
regarding the measure and coordination of the placement of the ballot measure. 
 
II. Scope of Work 
 
The City currently envisions that the consulting firm’s scope of work would include the following: 
 
Research voters’ priorities and interest in ballot measure 
 


• Conduct a statistically representative survey of voters to identify their priorities and interest 
in a real property transfer tax and charter city ballot measure 


• Analyze survey results to determine voters’ priorities and interest in a ballot measure 
• Provide recommendation to the City Council regarding placing a measure on the ballot 


 
Community engagement and informational outreach to voters 
 
If, after receiving the recommendation regarding placing a measure on the ballot, the City Council 
decides to continue to pursue a ballot measure, the consulting firm would perform the following: 
 


• Develop and implement an engagement and information plan to gather community input 
regarding a ballot measure and inform key audiences about the City’s existing conditions 
and the ballot measure 


• Assist the City in defining the ballot measure, including determining the scope of the city 
charter, structure and term of the tax, and taxpayer accountability mechanisms 


 
Coordination of the placement of the ballot measure 
 
If the City Council decides to place a measure on the ballot, the consulting firm would perform the 
following: 
 


• Coordinate all procedural actions required for placement of the ballot measure 
• Assist with the development of the ballot question, the full text of the measure, and other 


materials that will appear in the ballot pamphlet distributed to voters 
 
  


90 of 316







City of Pinole RFP for Research, Informational Outreach, and Coordination for Ballot Measure 


3 
 


III. Submittal Requirements 
 
Proposals must meet the following requirements in order to be considered responsive to this RFP. 
 
Proposals shall include the following information: 
 


• Firm name, key point of contact, and contact information; 
• Firm’s qualifications to perform the scope of work; 
• Staffing plan, including principal-in-charge and project manager, and any subconsultants 


that the firm proposes to engage, including their specific role; 
• Scope of work including key deliverables and timeline; 
• Proposed fee to complete the scope of work; 
• List of three organizations, with contact information, to serve as references, for which the 


firm has completed a similar scope of work within the last four years; 
• Description of any existing or potential conflicts of interest that may arise from the firm’s 


work on this project and description of any instances in which the firm’s work on a contract 
with a public agency has been terminated by the agency within the past four years; and 


• Statement by the firm that it has reviewed the City’s Standard Consulting Services 
Agreement (attached) and is willing to execute an agreement with those terms. 


 
Firms shall submit their proposal as an attachment to an email with the subject line “Research, 
Informational Outreach, and Coordination for Ballot Measure” sent to amurray@ci.pinole.ca.us 
no later than Wednesday March 9, 2022, 5 p.m. 
 
The City encourages public affairs and voter research firms to partner to submit a single proposal 
covering the scope of work. 
 
IV. Proposal Evaluation and Consultant Selection 
 
The City will evaluate firms on the basis of the proposal and reference checks. Upon the City’s 
review of proposals, the City may invite firms for interviews. 
 
V. Miscellaneous Provisions 
 
Please direct questions regarding this RFP to Andrew Murray, City Manager, 
amurray@ci.pinole.ca.us. 
 
VI. Attachments 
 
Attachment A – City of Pinole Standard Consulting Services Agreement 


91 of 316







 


92 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 1 of 18 
 


CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF PINOLE AND 
[NAME OF CONSULTANT] 


 
THIS AGREEMENT for consulting services is made by and between the City of Pinole (“City”) and 


__________________ (“Consultant”) (together sometimes referred to as the “Parties”) as of 
____________, 20__ (the “Effective Date”) in Pinole, California. 
 
Section 1. SERVICES.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City the services described in the Scope of Work attached as Exhibit A at the time and 
place and in the manner specified therein.  In the event of a conflict in or inconsistency between the terms 
of this Agreement and Exhibit A, the Agreement shall prevail. 
 


1.1 Term of Services.  The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and shall 
end on _______________, and Consultant shall complete the work described in Exhibit A 
by that date, unless the term of the Agreement is otherwise terminated or extended, as 
provided for in Section 8.  The time provided to Consultant to complete the services 
required by this Agreement shall not affect the City’s right to terminate the Agreement, as 
provided for in Section 8. 


 
1.2 Standard of Performance.  Consultant shall perform all services required pursuant to this 


Agreement in the manner and according to the standards observed by a competent 
practitioner of the profession in which Consultant is engaged in the geographical area in 
which Consultant practices its profession.  Consultant shall prepare all work products 
required by this Agreement in a professional manner and shall conform to the standards of 
quality normally observed by a person practicing in Consultant's profession. 


 
1.3 Assignment of Personnel.  Consultant shall assign only competent personnel to perform 


services pursuant to this Agreement.  In the event that City, in its sole discretion, at any 
time during the term of this Agreement, desires the reassignment of any such persons, 
Consultant shall, immediately upon receiving notice from City of such desire of City, 
reassign such person or persons. 


 
1.4 Time.  Consultant shall devote such time to the performance of services pursuant to this 


Agreement as may be reasonably necessary to meet the standard of performance 
provided in Section 1.1 above and to satisfy Consultant’s obligations hereunder. 


 
Section 2. COMPENSATION.  City hereby agrees to pay Consultant an amount not to exceed 
________________, for all work set forth in Exhibit A and all reimbursable expenses incurred in performing 
the work.  In the event of a conflict between this Agreement and Consultant’s proposal regarding the 
amount of compensation, the Agreement shall prevail.  City shall pay Consultant for services rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement at the time and in the manner set forth herein.  The payments specified below 
shall be the only payments from City to Consultant for services rendered pursuant to this Agreement.  
Consultant shall submit all invoices to City in the manner specified herein.  Except as specifically 
authorized by City, Consultant shall not bill City for duplicate services performed by more than one person. 


93 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 2 of 18 
 


 
Consultant and City acknowledge and agree that compensation paid by City to Consultant under this 
Agreement is based upon Consultant’s estimated costs of providing the services required hereunder, 
including salaries and benefits of employees and subcontractors of Consultant.  Consequently, the parties 
further agree that compensation hereunder is intended to include the costs of contributions to any pensions 
and/or annuities to which Consultant and its employees, agents, and subcontractors may be eligible.  City 
therefore has no responsibility for such contributions beyond compensation required under this Agreement, 
and the applicable sections of Exhibit D. 
 


2.1 Invoices.  Consultant shall submit invoices, not more often than once a month during the 
term of this Agreement, based on the cost for services performed and reimbursable costs 
incurred prior to the invoice date.  Invoices shall contain the following information: 


 
 Serial identifications of progress bills, i.e., Progress Bill No. 1 for the first invoice, 


etc.; 
 The beginning and ending dates of the billing period; 
 A Task Summary containing the original contract amount, the amount of prior 


billings, the total due this period, the balance available under the Agreement, and 
the percentage of completion;  


 At City’s option, for each work item in each task, a copy of the applicable time 
entries or time sheets shall be submitted showing the name of the person doing 
the work, the hours spent by each person, a brief description of the work, and 
each reimbursable expense;  


 The total number of hours of work performed under the Agreement by Consultant 
and each employee, agent, and subcontractor of Consultant performing services 
hereunder, as well as a separate notice when the total number of hours of work by 
Consultant and any individual employee, agent, or subcontractor of Consultant 
reaches or exceeds 800 hours, which shall include an estimate of the time 
necessary to complete the work described in Exhibit A;  


 The Consultant’s signature. 
 


2.2 Monthly Payment.  City shall make monthly payments, based on invoices received, for 
services satisfactorily performed, and for authorized reimbursable costs incurred.  City 
shall have 30 days from the receipt of an invoice that complies with all of the requirements 
above to pay Consultant. 


 
2.3 Final Payment.  City shall pay the last 10% of the total sum due pursuant to this 


Agreement within sixty (60) days after completion of the services and submittal to City of a 
final invoice, if all services required have been satisfactorily performed. 


 
2.4 Total Payment.  City shall pay for the services to be rendered by Consultant pursuant to 


this Agreement.  City shall not pay any additional sum for any expense or cost whatsoever 
incurred by Consultant in rendering services pursuant to this Agreement.  City shall make 
no payment for any extra, further, or additional service pursuant to this Agreement.   


 


94 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 3 of 18 
 


 In no event shall Consultant submit any invoice for an amount in excess of the maximum 
amount of compensation provided above either for a task or for the entire Agreement, 
unless the Agreement is modified prior to the submission of such an invoice by a properly 
executed change order or amendment. 


 
2.5 Hourly Fees.  Fees for work performed by Consultant on an hourly basis shall not exceed 


the amounts shown on the following fee schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
 
2.6 Reimbursable Expenses.  Reimbursable expenses are specified in Exhibit B, and shall 


not exceed     ($  ).  Expenses not listed in Exhibit B are 
not chargeable to City.  Reimbursable expenses are included in the total amount of 
compensation provided under this Agreement that shall not be exceeded. 


 
2.7 Payment of Taxes.  Consultant is solely responsible for the payment of employment taxes 


incurred under this Agreement and any similar federal or state taxes. 
 
2.8 Payment Upon Termination.  In the event that the City or Consultant terminates this 


Agreement pursuant to Section 8, the City shall compensate the Consultant for all 
outstanding costs and reimbursable expenses incurred for work satisfactorily completed as 
of the date of written notice of termination.  Consultant shall maintain adequate logs and 
timesheets in order to verify costs incurred to that date. 


 
2.9 Authorization to Perform Services.  The Consultant is not authorized to perform any 


services or incur any costs whatsoever under the terms of this Agreement until receipt of 
authorization from the Contract Administrator. 


 
Section 3. FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT.  Except as set forth herein, Consultant shall, at its sole 
cost and expense, provide all facilities and equipment that may be necessary to perform the services 
required by this Agreement.  City shall make available to Consultant only the facilities and equipment listed 
in Exhibit C, and only under the terms and conditions set forth therein. 
 
Section 4. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.  Before beginning any work under this Agreement, 
Consultant, at its own cost and expense, unless otherwise specified below, shall procure the types and 
amounts of insurance listed below against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property that may 
arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant and its agents, 
representatives, employees, and subcontractors.  Consistent with the following provisions, Consultant shall 
provide proof satisfactory to City of such insurance that meets the requirements of this section and under 
forms of insurance satisfactory in all respects to the City.  Consultant shall maintain the insurance policies 
required by this section throughout the term of this Agreement.  The cost of such insurance shall be 
included in the Consultant's bid.  Consultant shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work on any 
subcontract until Consultant has obtained all insurance required herein for the subcontractor(s) and 
provided evidence thereof to City.  Verification of the required insurance shall be submitted and made part 
of this Agreement prior to execution. 
 


95 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 4 of 18 
 


4.1 Workers’ Compensation.  Consultant shall, at its sole cost and expense, maintain 
Statutory Workers’ Compensation Insurance and Employer’s Liability Insurance for any 
and all persons employed directly or indirectly by Consultant.  The Statutory Workers’ 
Compensation Insurance and Employer’s Liability Insurance shall be provided with limits of 
not less than ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) per accident.  In the alternative, 
Consultant may rely on a self-insurance program to meet those requirements, but only if 
the program of self-insurance complies fully with the provisions of the California Labor 
Code.  Determination of whether a self-insurance program meets the standards of the 
Labor Code shall be solely in the discretion of the City. The insurer, if insurance is 
provided, or the Consultant, if a program of self-insurance is provided, shall waive all rights 
of subrogation against the City and its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers for loss 
arising from work performed under this Agreement. 


 
4.2 Commercial General and Automobile Liability Insurance.   
 


4.2.1 General requirements.  Consultant, at its own cost and expense, shall maintain 
commercial general and automobile liability insurance for the term of this 
Agreement in an amount not less than ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) 
per occurrence, combined single limit coverage for risks associated with the work 
contemplated by this Agreement. If a Commercial General Liability Insurance or an 
Automobile Liability form or other form with a general aggregate limit is used, 
either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to the work to be 
performed under this Agreement or the general aggregate limit shall be at least 
twice the required occurrence limit.  Such coverage shall include but shall not be 
limited to, protection against claims arising from bodily and personal injury, 
including death resulting therefrom, and damage to property resulting from 
activities contemplated under this Agreement, including the use of owned and non-
owned automobiles. 


 
4.2.2 Minimum scope of coverage.  Commercial general coverage shall be at least as 


broad as Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability occurrence form 
CG 0001 (ed. 11/88) or GL 0002 (ed.1/73) covering comprehensive General 
Liability and Insurance Services Office form number GL 0404 covering Broad 
Form Comprehensive General Liability.  Automobile coverage shall be at least as 
broad as Insurance Services Office Automobile Liability form CA 0001 (ed. 12/90) 
Code 1.  No endorsement shall be attached limiting the coverage. 


 
4.2.3 Additional requirements.  Each of the following shall be included in the 


insurance coverage or added as a certified endorsement to the policy: 
 


a. The insurance shall cover on an occurrence or an accident basis, and not 
on a claims-made basis. 


 


96 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 5 of 18 
 


b. Any failure of Consultant to comply with reporting provisions of the policy 
shall not affect coverage provided to City and its officers, employees, 
agents, and volunteers. 


 
4.3 Professional Liability Insurance.   
 


4.3.1 General requirements.  Consultant, at its own cost and expense, shall maintain 
for the period covered by this Agreement professional liability insurance for 
licensed professionals performing work pursuant to this Agreement in an amount 
not less than ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000) covering the licensed 
professionals’ errors and omissions.  Any deductible or self-insured retention shall 
not exceed $150,000 per claim. 


 
4.3.2 Claims-made limitations.  The following provisions shall apply if the professional 


liability coverage is written on a claims-made form: 
 


a. The retroactive date of the policy must be shown and must be before the 
date of the Agreement. 


 
b. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be 


provided for at least five years after completion of the Agreement or the 
work, so long as commercially available at reasonable rates. 


 
c. If coverage is canceled or not renewed and it is not replaced with another 


claims-made policy form with a retroactive date that precedes the date of 
this Agreement, Consultant must provide extended reporting coverage for 
a minimum of five years after completion of the Agreement or the work.  
The City shall have the right to exercise, at the Consultant’s sole cost and 
expense, any extended reporting provisions of the policy, if the Consultant 
cancels or does not renew the coverage. 


 
d. A copy of the claim reporting requirements must be submitted to the City 


prior to the commencement of any work under this Agreement. 
 
4.4 All Policies Requirements. 
 


4.4.1 Acceptability of insurers.  All insurance required by this section is to be placed 
with insurers with a Bests' rating of no less than A:VII. 


 
4.4.2 Verification of coverage.  Prior to beginning any work under this Agreement, 


Consultant shall furnish City with complete certified copies of all policies, including 
complete certified copies of all endorsements.  All copies of policies and certified 
endorsements shall show the signature of a person authorized by that insurer to 
bind coverage on its behalf.   


 


97 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 6 of 18 
 


4.4.3 Notice of reduction in or cancellation of coverage.  A certified endorsement 
shall be attached to all insurance obtained pursuant to this Agreement stating that 
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, or reduced in 
coverage or in limits, except after thirty (30) days' prior written notice by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the City.  In the event that any 
coverage required by this section is reduced, limited, cancelled, or materially 
affected in any other manner, Consultant shall provide written notice to City at 
Consultant’s earliest possible opportunity and in no case later than ten (10) 
working days after Consultant is notified of the change in coverage. 


 
4.4.4 Additional insured; primary insurance.  A certified endorsement at least as 


broad as Insurance Services Office form number CG 20 10 (11/85 ed.) shall be 
attached to all policies stating that the City and its officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers shall be covered as additional insureds with respect to each of the 
following: liability arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of Consultant, 
including the insured’s general supervision of Consultant; products and completed 
operations of Consultant, as applicable; premises owned, occupied, or used by 
Consultant; and automobiles owned, leased, or used by the Consultant in the 
course of providing services pursuant to this Agreement.  The coverage shall 
contain no special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to City or its 
officers, employees, agents, or volunteers. 


 
 A certified endorsement shall be attached to all policies stating that coverage is 


primary insurance with respect to the City and its officers, officials, employees and 
volunteers, and that no insurance or self-insurance maintained by the City shall be 
called upon to contribute to a loss under the coverage. 


 
4.4.5 Deductibles and self-insured retentions.  Consultant shall disclose to and 


obtain the approval of City for the self-insured retentions and deductibles before 
beginning any of the services or work called for by any term of this Agreement.   


 
During the period covered by this Agreement, only upon the prior express written 
authorization of Contract Administrator, Consultant may increase such deductibles 
or self-insured retentions with respect to City, its officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers.  The Contract Administrator may condition approval of an increase in 
deductible or self-insured retention levels with a requirement that Consultant 
procure a bond, guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claim 
administration, and defense expenses that is satisfactory in all respects to each of 
them. 
 


4.4.6 Subcontractors.  Consultant shall include all subcontractors as insureds under its 
policies or shall furnish separate certificates and certified endorsements for each 
subcontractor.  All coverages for subcontractors shall be subject to all of the 
requirements stated herein. 


 


98 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 7 of 18 
 


4.4.7 Variation.  The City may approve a variation in the foregoing insurance 
requirements, upon a determination that the coverage, scope, limits, and forms of 
such insurance are either not commercially available, or that the City’s interests 
are otherwise fully protected. 


 
4.5 Remedies.  In addition to any other remedies City may have if Consultant fails to provide 


or maintain any insurance policies or policy endorsements to the extent and within the time 
herein required, City may, at its sole option exercise any of the following remedies, which 
are alternatives to other remedies City may have and are not the exclusive remedy for 
Consultant’s breach: 


 
 Obtain such insurance and deduct and retain the amount of the premiums for such 


insurance from any sums due under the Agreement; 
 


 Order Consultant to stop work under this Agreement or withhold any payment that 
becomes due to Consultant hereunder, or both stop work and withhold any payment, 
until Consultant demonstrates compliance with the requirements hereof; and/or 


 
 Terminate this Agreement. 
 


Section 5. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONSULTANT’S RESPONSIBILITIES.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend with counsel reasonably acceptable to the City, and hold harmless the City and its 
officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers from and against any and all losses, liability, claims, 
suits, actions, damages, and causes of action arising out of any personal injury, bodily injury, loss of life, or 
damage to property, or any violation of any federal, state, or municipal law or ordinance, to the extent 
caused, in whole or in part, by the willful misconduct or negligent acts or omissions of Consultant or its 
employees, subcontractors, or agents, by acts for which they could be held strictly liable, or by the quality 
or character of their work.  The foregoing obligation of Consultant shall not apply when (1) the injury, loss of 
life, damage to property, or violation of law arises wholly from the negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City or its officers, employees, agents, or volunteers and (2) the actions of Consultant or its employees, 
subcontractor, or agents have contributed in no part to the injury, loss of life, damage to property, or 
violation of law.  It is understood that the duty of Consultant to indemnify and hold harmless includes the 
duty to defend as set forth in Section 2778 of the California Civil Code.  Acceptance by City of insurance 
certificates and endorsements required under this Agreement does not relieve Consultant from liability 
under this indemnification and hold harmless clause.  This indemnification and hold harmless clause shall 
apply to any damages or claims for damages whether or not such insurance policies shall have been 
determined to apply.  By execution of this Agreement, Consultant acknowledges and agrees to the 
provisions of this Section and that it is a material element of consideration. 
 
In the event that Consultant or any employee, agent, or subcontractor of Consultant providing services 
under this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS) to be eligible for enrollment in PERS as an employee of City, Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless City for the payment of any employee and/or employer contributions 
for PERS benefits on behalf of Consultant or its employees, agents, or subcontractors, as well as for the 


99 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 8 of 18 
 


payment of any penalties and interest on such contributions, which would otherwise be the responsibility of 
City. 
 
Section 6. STATUS OF CONSULTANT. 
 


6.1 Independent Contractor.  At all times during the term of this Agreement, Consultant shall 
be an independent contractor and shall not be an employee of City.  City shall have the 
right to control Consultant only insofar as the results of Consultant's services rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement and assignment of personnel pursuant to Subparagraph 1.3; 
however, otherwise City shall not have the right to control the means by which Consultant 
accomplishes services rendered pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding any other 
City, state, or federal policy, rule, regulation, law, or ordinance to the contrary, Consultant 
and any of its employees, agents, and subcontractors providing services under this 
Agreement shall not qualify for or become entitled to, and hereby agree to waive any and 
all claims to, any compensation, benefit, or any incident of employment by City, including 
but not limited to eligibility to enroll in the California Public Employees Retirement System 
(PERS) as an employee of City and entitlement to any contribution to be paid by City for 
employer contributions and/or employee contributions for PERS benefits. 


 
6.2 Consultant No Agent.  Except as City may specify in writing, Consultant shall have no 


authority, express or implied, to act on behalf of City in any capacity whatsoever as an 
agent.  Consultant shall have no authority, express or implied, pursuant to this Agreement 
to bind City to any obligation whatsoever. 


 
Section 7. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS. 
 


7.1 Governing Law.  The laws of the State of California shall govern this Agreement. 
 
7.2 Compliance with Applicable Laws.  Consultant and any subcontractors shall comply with 


all laws applicable to the performance of the work hereunder including but not limited to 
the California Labor Code and the prevailing wage requirements set forth in Exhibit D. 


 
7.3 Other Governmental Regulations.  To the extent that this Agreement may be funded by 


fiscal assistance from another governmental entity, Consultant and any subcontractors 
shall comply with all applicable rules and regulations to which City is bound by the terms of 
such fiscal assistance program. 


 
7.4 Licenses and Permits.  Consultant represents and warrants to City that Consultant and 


its employees, agents, and any subcontractors have all licenses, permits, qualifications, 
and approvals of whatsoever nature that are legally required to practice their respective 
professions.  Consultant represents and warrants to City that Consultant and its 
employees, agents, any subcontractors shall, at their sole cost and expense, keep in effect 
at all times during the term of this Agreement any licenses, permits, and approvals that are 
legally required to practice their respective professions.  In addition to the foregoing, 


100 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 9 of 18 
 


Consultant and any subcontractors shall obtain and maintain during the term of this 
Agreement valid Business Licenses from City. 


 
7.5 Pinole Business License. Consultant shall obtain a City of Pinole business license 


according to the terms of Title 5 of the City of Pinole Municipal Code and deliver to City 
proof of such business license prior to beginning work under this Agreement.  Work under 
this Agreement cannot begin until the City receives proof that Consultant has obtained a 
City of Pinole business license. 


7.6 Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity.  Consultant shall not discriminate, on the 
basis of a person’s race, religion, color, national origin, age, physical or mental handicap or 
disability, medical condition, marital status, sex, or sexual orientation, against any 
employee, applicant for employment, subcontractor, bidder for a subcontract, or participant 
in, recipient of, or applicant for any services or programs provided by Consultant under this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 
policies, rules, and requirements related to equal opportunity and nondiscrimination in 
employment, contracting, and the provision of any services that are the subject of this 
Agreement, including but not limited to the satisfaction of any positive obligations required 
of Consultant thereby.   


 
Consultant shall include the provisions of this Subsection in any subcontract approved by 
the Contract Administrator or this Agreement. 


 
Section 8. TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION. 
 


8.1 Termination.  City may cancel this Agreement upon thirty (30) calendar days and without 
cause upon written notification to Consultant pursuant to this section and the applicable 
sections of Exhibit D.   


 
In the event of termination, Consultant shall be entitled to compensation for services 
performed to the effective date of termination; City, however, may condition payment of 
such compensation upon Consultant delivering to City any or all documents, photographs, 
computer software, video and audio tapes, and other materials provided to Consultant or 
prepared by or for Consultant or the City in connection with this Agreement. 
 


8.2 Extension.  City may, in its sole and exclusive discretion, extend the end date of this 
Agreement beyond that provided for in Subsection 1.1.  Any such extension shall be 
specified in writing by the City.  Consultant understands and agrees that if City issues such 
an extension, City shall have no obligation to provide Consultant with compensation 
beyond the maximum amount provided for in this Agreement.  Similarly, unless authorized 
by the City, City shall have no obligation to reimburse Consultant for any otherwise 
reimbursable expenses incurred during the extension period. 


 
8.3 Consultant’s Identity and Personnel. The person identified on page one as the 


CONSULTANT’s Key Personnel will be the key person for the performance of services 


101 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 10 of 18 
 


under this AGREEMENT. CONSULTANT’s additional key personnel who will work on the 
PROJECT are identified in Exhibit B.  Any addition or deletion of a firm (whether working 
as a joint venture partner or subconsultant), or any change in key personnel may be made 
only upon prior written approval by CITY.  CONSULTANT shall notify CITY of any 
proposed change of ownership or fundamental structure in CONSULTANT’s firm. Within 
thirty (30) calendar days of such notice, CITY shall notify CONSULTANT whether CITY will 
approve such changed firm or personnel to continue providing services under this 
AGREEMENT or whether CITY will terminate this AGREEMENT.  Nothing in this provision 
shall be construed to limit CITY’s right to terminate this AGREEMENT for cause or without 
cause as set forth in Article I, Section C of this AGREEMENT.  Subcontracts between the 
CONSULTANT and any subconsultants will be subject to review and approval of CITY’s 
representative.  


 
If CONSULTANT reassigns or reduces the commitment of any such key personnel, 
CONSULTANT shall provide a suitable replacement, subject to the approval of CITY, and 
CONSULTANT shall provide a reasonable number of unbilled hours of work for such 
replacement personnel to the extent required to bring the personnel up to speed. 


 
8.4 Amendments.  The parties may amend this Agreement only by a writing signed by all the 


parties and consistent with the requirements set forth in Exhibit D. 
 
8.5 Assignment and Subcontracting.  City and Consultant recognize and agree that this 


Agreement contemplates personal performance by Consultant and is based upon a 
determination of Consultant’s unique professional competence, experience, and 
specialized professional knowledge.  Moreover, a substantial inducement to City for 
entering into this Agreement was and is the personal reputation and competence of 
Consultant.  Consultant may not assign this Agreement or any interest therein without the 
prior written approval of the City.  Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the 
performance contemplated and provided for herein, other than to the subcontractors noted 
in the proposal, without prior written approval of the City.  See the applicable sections of 
Exhibit D for additional requirements. 


 
8.6 Survival.  All obligations arising prior to the termination of this Agreement and all 


provisions of this Agreement allocating liability between City and Consultant shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 


 
8.7 Options upon Breach by Consultant.  If Consultant materially breaches any of the terms 


of this Agreement, City’s remedies shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
 


8.7.1 Immediately terminate the Agreement; 
 
8.7.2 Retain the plans, specifications, drawings, reports, design documents, and any 


other work product prepared by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement; 
 


102 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 11 of 18 
 


8.7.3 Retain a different consultant to complete the work described in Exhibit A not 
finished by Consultant; or 


 
8.7.4 Charge Consultant the difference between the cost to complete the work 


described in Exhibit A that is unfinished at the time of breach and the amount that 
City would have paid Consultant pursuant to Section 2 if Consultant had 
completed the work.  


 
Section 9. KEEPING AND STATUS OF RECORDS. 
 


9.1 Records Created as Part of Consultant’s Performance.  All reports, data, maps, 
models, charts, studies, surveys, photographs, memoranda, plans, studies, specifications, 
records, files, or any other documents or materials, in electronic or any other form, that 
Consultant prepares or obtains pursuant to this Agreement and that relate to the matters 
covered hereunder shall be the property of the City.  Consultant hereby agrees to deliver 
those documents to the City upon termination of the Agreement.  It is understood and 
agreed that the documents and other materials, including but not limited to those described 
above, prepared pursuant to this Agreement are prepared specifically for the City and are 
not necessarily suitable for any future or other use.  City and Consultant agree that, until 
final approval by City, all data, plans, specifications, reports and other documents are 
confidential and will not be released to third parties without prior written consent of both 
parties and pursuant to the applicable sections of Exhibit D. 


 
9.2 Consultant’s Books and Records.  Consultant shall maintain any and all ledgers, books 


of account, invoices, vouchers, canceled checks, and other records or documents 
evidencing or relating to charges for services or expenditures and disbursements charged 
to the City under this Agreement for a minimum of three (3) years, or for any longer period 
required by law, from the date of final payment to the Consultant to this Agreement 
consistent with the applicable sections of Exhibit D.  


 
9.3 Inspection and Audit of Records.  Any records or documents that Section 9.2 of this 


Agreement requires Consultant to maintain shall be made available for inspection, audit, 
and/or copying at any time during regular business hours, upon oral or written request of 
the City pursuant to the applicable sections of Exhibit D.  Under California Government 
Code Section 8546.7, if the amount of public funds expended under this Agreement 
exceeds TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($10,000.00), the Agreement shall be subject to the 
examination and audit of the State Auditor, at the request of City or as part of any audit of 
the City, for a period of three (3) years after final payment under the Agreement. 


 
Section 10 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
 


10.1 Attorneys’ Fees.  If a party to this Agreement brings any action, including an action for 
declaratory relief, to enforce or interpret the provision of this Agreement, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees in addition to any other relief to which 


103 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 12 of 18 
 


that party may be entitled.  The court may set such fees in the same action or in a 
separate action brought for that purpose. 


 
10.2 Venue.  In the event that either party brings any action against the other under this 


Agreement, the parties agree that trial of such action shall be vested exclusively in the 
state courts of California in the County of Contra Costa or in the United States District 
Court for the Northern District of California. 


 
10.3 Severability.  If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or rules that any provision of this 


Agreement is invalid, void, or unenforceable, the provisions of this Agreement not so 
adjudged shall remain in full force and effect.  The invalidity in whole or in part of any 
provision of this Agreement shall not void or affect the validity of any other provision of this 
Agreement. 


 
10.4 No Implied Waiver of Breach.  The waiver of any breach of a specific provision of this 


Agreement does not constitute a waiver of any other breach of that term or any other term 
of this Agreement. 


 
10.5 Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of 


and shall apply to and bind the successors and assigns of the parties. 
 
10.6 Use of Recycled Products.  Consultant shall endeavor to prepare and submit all reports, 


written studies and other printed material on recycled paper to the extent it is available at 
equal or less cost than virgin paper. 


 
10.7 Conflict of Interest.  Consultant may serve other clients, but none whose activities within 


the corporate limits of City or whose business, regardless of location, would place 
Consultant in a “conflict of interest,” as that term is defined in the Political Reform Act, 
codified at California Government Code Section 81000 et seq.   


 
Consultant shall not employ any City official in the work performed pursuant to this 
Agreement.  No officer or employee of City shall have any financial interest in this 
Agreement that would violate California Government Code Sections 1090 et seq. 
 
Consultant hereby warrants that it is not now, nor has it been in the previous twelve (12) 
months, an employee, agent, appointee, or official of the City.  If Consultant was an 
employee, agent, appointee, or official of the City in the previous twelve months, 
Consultant warrants that it did not participate in any manner in the forming of this 
Agreement.  Consultant understands that, if this Agreement is made in violation of 
Government Code §1090 et.seq., the entire Agreement is void and Consultant will not be 
entitled to any compensation for services performed pursuant to this Agreement, including 
reimbursement of expenses, and Consultant will be required to reimburse the City for any 
sums paid to the Consultant.  Consultant understands that, in addition to the foregoing, it 
may be subject to criminal prosecution for a violation of Government Code § 1090 and, if 
applicable, will be disqualified from holding public office in the State of California. 


104 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 13 of 18 
 


 
Consultant will comply with all conflict of interest laws and regulations including, without 
limitation, City’s Conflict of Interest Code (on file in the City Clerk’s Office) and the 
requirements set forth in Exhibit D.  It is incumbent upon the Consultant or Consultant’s 
firm to notify the City pursuant to section 10.10 Notices of any staff changes relating to this 
Agreement. 
 
a. In accomplishing the scope of services of this Agreement, all officers, employees 


and/or agents of Consultant(s), unless as indicated in Subsection b, will be 
performing a very limited and closely supervised function, and, therefore, are unlikely 
to have a conflict of interest arise.  No disclosures are required for any officers, 
employees, and/or agents of Consultant, except as indicated in Subsection b. 


 
       
Initialed by City Attorney’s Office 


 
b. In accomplishing the scope of services of this Agreement, Consultant(s) will be 


performing a specialized or general service for the City, and there is substantial 
likelihood that Consultant’s work product will be presented, either written or orally, for 
the purpose of influencing a governmental decision.  As a result, the following 
Consultant(s) shall be subject to the Disclosure Category “1-5” of the City’s Conflict of 
Interest Code: 


 
___________________________  ___________________________ 
 
___________________________  ___________________________ 


 
10.8 Solicitation.  Consultant agrees not to solicit business at any meeting, focus group, or 


interview related to this Agreement, either orally or through any written materials. 
 
10.9 Contract Administration.  This Agreement shall be administered by 


_____________________________ who shall act as the City’s representative.  All 
correspondence shall be directed to or through ______________________ or his or her 
designee. 


 
10.10 Notices.  Any written notice to Consultant shall be sent to: 


______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 


 
Any written notice to City shall be sent to: 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________ 


105 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 14 of 18 
 


 
10.11 Professional Seal.  Where applicable in the determination of the City, the first page of a 


technical report, first page of design specifications, and each page of construction 
drawings shall be stamped/sealed and signed by the licensed professional responsible for 
the report/design preparation.   


 
10.12 Integration; Incorporation.  This Agreement, including all the exhibits attached hereto, 


represents the entire and integrated agreement between City and Consultant and 
supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either written or oral.  All 
exhibits attached hereto are incorporated by reference herein. 


 
10.13 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which 


shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one agreement. 
 
The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 
 
 
CITY OF PINOLE     CONSULTANT 
 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Michelle Fitzer, City Manager    [NAME, TITLE] 
 


Consultant’s City of Pinole Business 
License #:_____________________ 


 
 
Attest:      
 
 
___________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Eric S. Casher, City Attorney 
 
 


106 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 15 of 18 
 


 
EXHIBIT A 


 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 


 
. 
 
 
 
 


107 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 16 of 18 
 


EXHIBIT B 
 


COMPENSATION SCHEDULE AND HOURLY FEES 


108 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 17 of 18 
 


EXHIBIT C 
CITY-FURNISHED FACILITIES 


 
City shall furnish physical facilities such as desks, filing cabinets, and conference space, as may be 
reasonably necessary for Consultant’s use while consulting with City employees and reviewing records and 
the information in possession of the City.  The location, quantity, and time of furnishing those facilities shall 
be in the sole discretion of City.  In no event shall City be obligated to furnish any facility that may involve 
incurring any direct expense, including but not limited to computer, long-distance telephone or other 
communication charges, vehicles, and reproduction facilities. 
 


 


109 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between [DATE] 
City of Pinole and ______________  Page 18 of 18 
 


EXHIBIT D 
 


ADDITIONAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS 


110 of 316







ATTACHMENT B 


RESOLUTION NO. 2022-___ 


RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PINOLE, COUNTY OF 
CONTRA COSTA, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT WITH THE LEW EDWARDS GROUP (LEG) FOR 


INFORMATIONAL OUTREACH AND BALLOT MEASURE COORDINATION FOR A 
POTENTIAL NOVEMBER 2022 BALLOT MEASURE 


WHEREAS, in March 2022, the City Council directed staff to retain a polling firm 
and consultant to conduct research and communication related to a potential November 
2022 ballot measure; and 


WHEREAS, the City issued a request for proposals (RFP) for this work; and 


WHEREAS, the City received proposals from two highly qualified teams; and 


WHEREAS, City staff evaluated the proposals and teams and determined that the 
LEG/FM3 team was best qualified to perform the work desired by the City; 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that the City Council of the City of Pinole 
does hereby authorize the City Manager to execute an agreement in substantially the 
same form as that attached hereto as Exhibit 1 with LEG for informational outreach and 
ballot measure coordination for a potential November 2022 ballot measure and 
appropriate $95,000 from unassigned General Fund balance for this purpose. 


PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Pinole City Council held on 
the 5th day of April 2022 by the following vote: 


AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS: 
NOES:  COUNCILMEMBERS: 
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS: 
ABSTAIN: COUNCILMEMBERS: 


______________________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 


111 of 316







Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group Page 1 of 18 


CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE CITY OF PINOLE AND LEW EDWARDS GROUP 


THIS AGREEMENT for consulting services is made by and between the City of Pinole (“City”) and 
Lew Edwards Group (LEG) (“Consultant”) (together sometimes referred to as the “Parties”) as of April 6, 
2022 (the “Effective Date”) in Pinole, California. 


Section 1. SERVICES.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City the services described in the Scope of Work attached as Exhibit A at the time and 
place and in the manner specified therein.  In the event of a conflict in or inconsistency between the terms 
of this Agreement and Exhibit A, the Agreement shall prevail. 


1.1 Term of Services.  The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and shall 
end on December 5, 2022, and Consultant shall complete the work described in Exhibit A 
by that date, unless the term of the Agreement is otherwise terminated or extended, as 
provided for in Section 8.  The time provided to Consultant to complete the services 
required by this Agreement shall not affect the City’s right to terminate the Agreement, as 
provided for in Section 8. 


1.2 Standard of Performance.  Consultant shall perform all services required pursuant to this 
Agreement in the manner and according to the standards observed by a competent 
practitioner of the profession in which Consultant is engaged in the geographical area in 
which Consultant practices its profession.  Consultant shall prepare all work products 
required by this Agreement in a professional manner and shall conform to the standards of 
quality normally observed by a person practicing in Consultant's profession. 


1.3 Assignment of Personnel.  Consultant shall assign only competent personnel to perform 
services pursuant to this Agreement.  In the event that City, in its sole discretion, at any 
time during the term of this Agreement, desires the reassignment of any such persons, 
Consultant shall, immediately upon receiving notice from City of such desire of City, 
reassign such person or persons. 


1.4 Time.  Consultant shall devote such time to the performance of services pursuant to this 
Agreement as may be reasonably necessary to meet the standard of performance 
provided in Section 1.1 above and to satisfy Consultant’s obligations hereunder. 


Section 2. COMPENSATION.  City hereby agrees to pay Consultant an amount not to exceed 
$95,000 for all work set forth in Exhibit A and all reimbursable expenses incurred in performing the work. 
This shall include a fixed fee of $6,000 per month plus up to $47,000 for graphic design, mailing list 
procurement, printing, and mailing of up to four informational mailers and potentially digital advertising. In 
the event of a conflict between this Agreement and Consultant’s proposal regarding the amount of 
compensation, the Agreement shall prevail.  City shall pay Consultant for services rendered pursuant to this 
Agreement at the time and in the manner set forth herein.  The payments specified below shall be the only 
payments from City to Consultant for services rendered pursuant to this Agreement.  Consultant shall 


EXHIBIT 1


112 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 2 of 18 
 


submit all invoices to City in the manner specified herein.  Except as specifically authorized by City, 
Consultant shall not bill City for duplicate services performed by more than one person. 
 
Consultant and City acknowledge and agree that compensation paid by City to Consultant under this 
Agreement is based upon Consultant’s estimated costs of providing the services required hereunder, 
including salaries and benefits of employees and subcontractors of Consultant.  Consequently, the parties 
further agree that compensation hereunder is intended to include the costs of contributions to any pensions 
and/or annuities to which Consultant and its employees, agents, and subcontractors may be eligible.  City 
therefore has no responsibility for such contributions beyond compensation required under this Agreement, 
and the applicable sections of Exhibit D. 
 


2.1 Invoices.  Consultant shall submit invoices, not more often than once a month during the 
term of this Agreement, based on the cost for services performed and reimbursable costs 
incurred prior to the invoice date.  Invoices shall contain the following information: 


 
 Serial identifications of progress bills, i.e., Progress Bill No. 1 for the first invoice, 


etc.; 
 The beginning and ending dates of the billing period; 
 A Task Summary containing the original contract amount, the amount of prior 


billings, the total due this period, the balance available under the Agreement, and 
the percentage of completion;  


 The Consultant’s signature. 
 


2.2 Monthly Payment.  City shall make monthly payments, based on invoices received, for 
services satisfactorily performed, and for authorized reimbursable costs incurred.  City 
shall have 30 days from the receipt of an invoice that complies with all of the requirements 
above to pay Consultant. 


 
2.3 Final Payment.  City shall pay the last 10% of the total sum due pursuant to this 


Agreement within sixty (60) days after completion of the services and submittal to City of a 
final invoice, if all services required have been satisfactorily performed. 


 
2.4 Total Payment.  City shall pay for the services to be rendered by Consultant pursuant to 


this Agreement.  City shall not pay any additional sum for any expense or cost whatsoever 
incurred by Consultant in rendering services pursuant to this Agreement.  City shall make 
no payment for any extra, further, or additional service pursuant to this Agreement.   


 
 In no event shall Consultant submit any invoice for an amount in excess of the maximum 


amount of compensation provided above either for a task or for the entire Agreement, 
unless the Agreement is modified prior to the submission of such an invoice by a properly 
executed change order or amendment. 


 
2.5 Hourly Fees.  Not applicable. 
 


113 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 3 of 18 
 


2.6 Reimbursable Expenses.  Reimbursable expenses shall not exceed $47,000. 
Reimbursable expenses are included in the total amount of compensation provided under 
this Agreement that shall not be exceeded. 


 
2.7 Payment of Taxes.  Consultant is solely responsible for the payment of employment taxes 


incurred under this Agreement and any similar federal or state taxes. 
 
2.8 Payment Upon Termination.  In the event that the City or Consultant terminates this 


Agreement pursuant to Section 8, the City shall compensate the Consultant for all 
outstanding costs and reimbursable expenses incurred for work satisfactorily completed as 
of the date of written notice of termination.  Consultant shall maintain adequate logs and 
timesheets in order to verify costs incurred to that date. 


 
2.9 Authorization to Perform Services.  The Consultant is not authorized to perform any 


services or incur any costs whatsoever under the terms of this Agreement until receipt of 
authorization from the Contract Administrator. 


 
Section 3. FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT.  Except as set forth herein, Consultant shall, at its sole 
cost and expense, provide all facilities and equipment that may be necessary to perform the services 
required by this Agreement.  City shall make available to Consultant only the facilities and equipment listed 
in Exhibit C, and only under the terms and conditions set forth therein. 
 
Section 4. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.  Before beginning any work under this Agreement, 
Consultant, at its own cost and expense, unless otherwise specified below, shall procure the types and 
amounts of insurance listed below against claims for injuries to persons or damages to property that may 
arise from or in connection with the performance of the work hereunder by the Consultant and its agents, 
representatives, employees, and subcontractors.  Consistent with the following provisions, Consultant shall 
provide proof satisfactory to City of such insurance that meets the requirements of this section and under 
forms of insurance satisfactory in all respects to the City.  Consultant shall maintain the insurance policies 
required by this section throughout the term of this Agreement.  The cost of such insurance shall be 
included in the Consultant's bid.  Consultant shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work on any 
subcontract until Consultant has obtained all insurance required herein for the subcontractor(s) and 
provided evidence thereof to City.  Verification of the required insurance shall be submitted and made part 
of this Agreement prior to execution. 
 


4.1 Workers’ Compensation.  Consultant shall, at its sole cost and expense, maintain 
Statutory Workers’ Compensation Insurance and Employer’s Liability Insurance for any 
and all persons employed directly or indirectly by Consultant.  The Statutory Workers’ 
Compensation Insurance and Employer’s Liability Insurance shall be provided with limits of 
not less than ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) per accident.  In the alternative, 
Consultant may rely on a self-insurance program to meet those requirements, but only if 
the program of self-insurance complies fully with the provisions of the California Labor 
Code.  Determination of whether a self-insurance program meets the standards of the 
Labor Code shall be solely in the discretion of the City. The insurer, if insurance is 
provided, or the Consultant, if a program of self-insurance is provided, shall waive all rights 


114 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 4 of 18 
 


of subrogation against the City and its officers, officials, employees, and volunteers for loss 
arising from work performed under this Agreement. 


 
4.2 Commercial General and Automobile Liability Insurance.   
 


4.2.1 General requirements.  Consultant, at its own cost and expense, shall maintain 
commercial general and automobile liability insurance for the term of this 
Agreement in an amount not less than ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000.00) 
per occurrence, combined single limit coverage for risks associated with the work 
contemplated by this Agreement. If a Commercial General Liability Insurance or an 
Automobile Liability form or other form with a general aggregate limit is used, 
either the general aggregate limit shall apply separately to the work to be 
performed under this Agreement or the general aggregate limit shall be at least 
twice the required occurrence limit.  Such coverage shall include but shall not be 
limited to, protection against claims arising from bodily and personal injury, 
including death resulting therefrom, and damage to property resulting from 
activities contemplated under this Agreement, including the use of owned and non-
owned automobiles. 


 
4.2.2 Minimum scope of coverage.  Commercial general coverage shall be at least as 


broad as Insurance Services Office Commercial General Liability occurrence form 
CG 0001 (ed. 11/88) or GL 0002 (ed.1/73) covering comprehensive General 
Liability and Insurance Services Office form number GL 0404 covering Broad 
Form Comprehensive General Liability.  Automobile coverage shall be at least as 
broad as Insurance Services Office Automobile Liability form CA 0001 (ed. 12/90) 
Code 1.  No endorsement shall be attached limiting the coverage. 


 
4.2.3 Additional requirements.  Each of the following shall be included in the 


insurance coverage or added as a certified endorsement to the policy: 
 


a. The insurance shall cover on an occurrence or an accident basis, and not 
on a claims-made basis. 


 
b. Any failure of Consultant to comply with reporting provisions of the policy 


shall not affect coverage provided to City and its officers, employees, 
agents, and volunteers. 


 
4.3 Professional Liability Insurance.   
 


4.3.1 General requirements.  Consultant, at its own cost and expense, shall maintain 
for the period covered by this Agreement professional liability insurance for 
licensed professionals performing work pursuant to this Agreement in an amount 
not less than ONE MILLION DOLLARS ($1,000,000) covering the licensed 
professionals’ errors and omissions.  Any deductible or self-insured retention shall 
not exceed $150,000 per claim. 


115 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 5 of 18 
 


 
4.3.2 Claims-made limitations.  The following provisions shall apply if the professional 


liability coverage is written on a claims-made form: 
 


a. The retroactive date of the policy must be shown and must be before the 
date of the Agreement. 


 
b. Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be 


provided for at least five years after completion of the Agreement or the 
work, so long as commercially available at reasonable rates. 


 
c. If coverage is canceled or not renewed and it is not replaced with another 


claims-made policy form with a retroactive date that precedes the date of 
this Agreement, Consultant must provide extended reporting coverage for 
a minimum of five years after completion of the Agreement or the work.  
The City shall have the right to exercise, at the Consultant’s sole cost and 
expense, any extended reporting provisions of the policy, if the Consultant 
cancels or does not renew the coverage. 


 
d. A copy of the claim reporting requirements must be submitted to the City 


prior to the commencement of any work under this Agreement. 
 
4.4 All Policies Requirements. 
 


4.4.1 Acceptability of insurers.  All insurance required by this section is to be placed 
with insurers with a Bests' rating of no less than A:VII. 


 
4.4.2 Verification of coverage.  Prior to beginning any work under this Agreement, 


Consultant shall furnish City with complete certified copies of all policies, including 
complete certified copies of all endorsements.  All copies of policies and certified 
endorsements shall show the signature of a person authorized by that insurer to 
bind coverage on its behalf.   


 
4.4.3 Notice of reduction in or cancellation of coverage.  A certified endorsement 


shall be attached to all insurance obtained pursuant to this Agreement stating that 
coverage shall not be suspended, voided, canceled by either party, or reduced in 
coverage or in limits, except after thirty (30) days' prior written notice by certified 
mail, return receipt requested, has been given to the City.  In the event that any 
coverage required by this section is reduced, limited, cancelled, or materially 
affected in any other manner, Consultant shall provide written notice to City at 
Consultant’s earliest possible opportunity and in no case later than ten (10) 
working days after Consultant is notified of the change in coverage. 


 
4.4.4 Additional insured; primary insurance.  A certified endorsement at least as 


broad as Insurance Services Office form number CG 20 10 (11/85 ed.) shall be 


116 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 6 of 18 
 


attached to all policies stating that the City and its officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers shall be covered as additional insureds with respect to each of the 
following: liability arising out of activities performed by or on behalf of Consultant, 
including the insured’s general supervision of Consultant; products and completed 
operations of Consultant, as applicable; premises owned, occupied, or used by 
Consultant; and automobiles owned, leased, or used by the Consultant in the 
course of providing services pursuant to this Agreement.  The coverage shall 
contain no special limitations on the scope of protection afforded to City or its 
officers, employees, agents, or volunteers. 


 
 A certified endorsement shall be attached to all policies stating that coverage is 


primary insurance with respect to the City and its officers, officials, employees and 
volunteers, and that no insurance or self-insurance maintained by the City shall be 
called upon to contribute to a loss under the coverage. 


 
4.4.5 Deductibles and self-insured retentions.  Consultant shall disclose to and 


obtain the approval of City for the self-insured retentions and deductibles before 
beginning any of the services or work called for by any term of this Agreement.   


 
During the period covered by this Agreement, only upon the prior express written 
authorization of Contract Administrator, Consultant may increase such deductibles 
or self-insured retentions with respect to City, its officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers.  The Contract Administrator may condition approval of an increase in 
deductible or self-insured retention levels with a requirement that Consultant 
procure a bond, guaranteeing payment of losses and related investigations, claim 
administration, and defense expenses that is satisfactory in all respects to each of 
them. 
 


4.4.6 Subcontractors.  Consultant shall include all subcontractors as insureds under its 
policies or shall furnish separate certificates and certified endorsements for each 
subcontractor.  All coverages for subcontractors shall be subject to all of the 
requirements stated herein. 


 
4.4.7 Variation.  The City may approve a variation in the foregoing insurance 


requirements, upon a determination that the coverage, scope, limits, and forms of 
such insurance are either not commercially available, or that the City’s interests 
are otherwise fully protected. 


 
4.5 Remedies.  In addition to any other remedies City may have if Consultant fails to provide 


or maintain any insurance policies or policy endorsements to the extent and within the time 
herein required, City may, at its sole option exercise any of the following remedies, which 
are alternatives to other remedies City may have and are not the exclusive remedy for 
Consultant’s breach: 


 


117 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 7 of 18 
 


 Obtain such insurance and deduct and retain the amount of the premiums for such 
insurance from any sums due under the Agreement; 


 
 Order Consultant to stop work under this Agreement or withhold any payment that 


becomes due to Consultant hereunder, or both stop work and withhold any payment, 
until Consultant demonstrates compliance with the requirements hereof; and/or 


 
 Terminate this Agreement. 
 


Section 5. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONSULTANT’S RESPONSIBILITIES.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend with counsel reasonably acceptable to the City, and hold harmless the City and its 
officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers from and against any and all losses, liability, claims, 
suits, actions, damages, and causes of action arising out of any personal injury, bodily injury, loss of life, or 
damage to property, or any violation of any federal, state, or municipal law or ordinance, to the extent 
caused, in whole or in part, by the willful misconduct or negligent acts or omissions of Consultant or its 
employees, subcontractors, or agents, by acts for which they could be held strictly liable, or by the quality 
or character of their work.  The foregoing obligation of Consultant shall not apply when (1) the injury, loss of 
life, damage to property, or violation of law arises wholly from the negligence or willful misconduct of the 
City or its officers, employees, agents, or volunteers and (2) the actions of Consultant or its employees, 
subcontractor, or agents have contributed in no part to the injury, loss of life, damage to property, or 
violation of law.  It is understood that the duty of Consultant to indemnify and hold harmless includes the 
duty to defend as set forth in Section 2778 of the California Civil Code.  Acceptance by City of insurance 
certificates and endorsements required under this Agreement does not relieve Consultant from liability 
under this indemnification and hold harmless clause.  This indemnification and hold harmless clause shall 
apply to any damages or claims for damages whether or not such insurance policies shall have been 
determined to apply.  By execution of this Agreement, Consultant acknowledges and agrees to the 
provisions of this Section and that it is a material element of consideration. 
 
In the event that Consultant or any employee, agent, or subcontractor of Consultant providing services 
under this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction or the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS) to be eligible for enrollment in PERS as an employee of City, Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend, and hold harmless City for the payment of any employee and/or employer contributions 
for PERS benefits on behalf of Consultant or its employees, agents, or subcontractors, as well as for the 
payment of any penalties and interest on such contributions, which would otherwise be the responsibility of 
City. 
 
Section 6. STATUS OF CONSULTANT. 
 


6.1 Independent Contractor.  At all times during the term of this Agreement, Consultant shall 
be an independent contractor and shall not be an employee of City.  City shall have the 
right to control Consultant only insofar as the results of Consultant's services rendered 
pursuant to this Agreement and assignment of personnel pursuant to Subparagraph 1.3; 
however, otherwise City shall not have the right to control the means by which Consultant 
accomplishes services rendered pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding any other 
City, state, or federal policy, rule, regulation, law, or ordinance to the contrary, Consultant 


118 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 8 of 18 
 


and any of its employees, agents, and subcontractors providing services under this 
Agreement shall not qualify for or become entitled to, and hereby agree to waive any and 
all claims to, any compensation, benefit, or any incident of employment by City, including 
but not limited to eligibility to enroll in the California Public Employees Retirement System 
(PERS) as an employee of City and entitlement to any contribution to be paid by City for 
employer contributions and/or employee contributions for PERS benefits. 


 
6.2 Consultant No Agent.  Except as City may specify in writing, Consultant shall have no 


authority, express or implied, to act on behalf of City in any capacity whatsoever as an 
agent.  Consultant shall have no authority, express or implied, pursuant to this Agreement 
to bind City to any obligation whatsoever. 


 
Section 7. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS. 
 


7.1 Governing Law.  The laws of the State of California shall govern this Agreement. 
 
7.2 Compliance with Applicable Laws.  Consultant and any subcontractors shall comply with 


all laws applicable to the performance of the work hereunder including but not limited to 
the California Labor Code and the prevailing wage requirements set forth in Exhibit D. 


 
7.3 Other Governmental Regulations.  To the extent that this Agreement may be funded by 


fiscal assistance from another governmental entity, Consultant and any subcontractors 
shall comply with all applicable rules and regulations to which City is bound by the terms of 
such fiscal assistance program. 


 
7.4 Licenses and Permits.  Consultant represents and warrants to City that Consultant and 


its employees, agents, and any subcontractors have all licenses, permits, qualifications, 
and approvals of whatsoever nature that are legally required to practice their respective 
professions.  Consultant represents and warrants to City that Consultant and its 
employees, agents, any subcontractors shall, at their sole cost and expense, keep in effect 
at all times during the term of this Agreement any licenses, permits, and approvals that are 
legally required to practice their respective professions.  In addition to the foregoing, 
Consultant and any subcontractors shall obtain and maintain during the term of this 
Agreement valid Business Licenses from City. 


 
7.5 Pinole Business License. Consultant shall obtain a City of Pinole business license 


according to the terms of Title 5 of the City of Pinole Municipal Code and deliver to City 
proof of such business license prior to beginning work under this Agreement.  Work under 
this Agreement cannot begin until the City receives proof that Consultant has obtained a 
City of Pinole business license. 


7.6 Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity.  Consultant shall not discriminate, on the 
basis of a person’s race, religion, color, national origin, age, physical or mental handicap or 
disability, medical condition, marital status, sex, or sexual orientation, against any 
employee, applicant for employment, subcontractor, bidder for a subcontract, or participant 


119 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 9 of 18 
 


in, recipient of, or applicant for any services or programs provided by Consultant under this 
Agreement.  Consultant shall comply with all applicable federal, state, and local laws, 
policies, rules, and requirements related to equal opportunity and nondiscrimination in 
employment, contracting, and the provision of any services that are the subject of this 
Agreement, including but not limited to the satisfaction of any positive obligations required 
of Consultant thereby.   


 
Consultant shall include the provisions of this Subsection in any subcontract approved by 
the Contract Administrator or this Agreement. 


 
Section 8. TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION. 
 


8.1 Termination.  Either party may cancel this Agreement upon thirty (30) calendar days and 
without cause upon written notification to the other,  pursuant to this section and the 
applicable sections of Exhibit D.   


 
In the event of termination, Consultant shall be entitled to compensation for services 
performed to the effective date of termination; City, however, may condition payment of 
such compensation upon Consultant delivering to City any or all documents, photographs, 
computer software, video and audio tapes, and other materials provided to Consultant or 
prepared by or for Consultant or the City in connection with this Agreement. 
 


8.2 Extension.  City may, in its sole and exclusive discretion, extend the end date of this 
Agreement beyond that provided for in Subsection 1.1.  Any such extension shall be 
specified in writing by the City.  Consultant understands and agrees that if City issues such 
an extension, City shall have no obligation to provide Consultant with compensation 
beyond the maximum amount provided for in this Agreement.  Similarly, unless authorized 
by the City, City shall have no obligation to reimburse Consultant for any otherwise 
reimbursable expenses incurred during the extension period. 


 
8.3 Consultant’s Identity and Personnel. Catherine Lew and Robert Dempsey will be the 


key persons for the performance of services under this AGREEMENT. Any addition or 
deletion of a firm (whether working as a joint venture partner or subconsultant), or any 
change in key personnel may be made only upon prior written approval by CITY.  
CONSULTANT shall notify CITY of any proposed change of ownership or fundamental 
structure in CONSULTANT’s firm. Within thirty (30) calendar days of such notice, CITY 
shall notify CONSULTANT whether CITY will approve such changed firm or personnel to 
continue providing services under this AGREEMENT or whether CITY will terminate this 
AGREEMENT.  Nothing in this provision shall be construed to limit CITY’s right to 
terminate this AGREEMENT for cause or without cause as set forth in Article I, Section C 
of this AGREEMENT.  Subcontracts between the CONSULTANT and any subconsultants 
will be subject to review and approval of CITY’s representative.  


 
If CONSULTANT reassigns or reduces the commitment of any such key personnel, 
CONSULTANT shall provide a suitable replacement, subject to the approval of CITY, and 


120 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 10 of 18 
 


CONSULTANT shall provide a reasonable number of unbilled hours of work for such 
replacement personnel to the extent required to bring the personnel up to speed. 


 
8.4 Amendments.  The parties may amend this Agreement only by a writing signed by all the 


parties and consistent with the requirements set forth in Exhibit D. 
 
8.5 Assignment and Subcontracting.  City and Consultant recognize and agree that this 


Agreement contemplates personal performance by Consultant and is based upon a 
determination of Consultant’s unique professional competence, experience, and 
specialized professional knowledge.  Moreover, a substantial inducement to City for 
entering into this Agreement was and is the personal reputation and competence of 
Consultant.  Consultant may not assign this Agreement or any interest therein without the 
prior written approval of the City.  Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the 
performance contemplated and provided for herein, other than to the subcontractors noted 
in the proposal, without prior written approval of the City.  See the applicable sections of 
Exhibit D for additional requirements. 


 
8.6 Survival.  All obligations arising prior to the termination of this Agreement and all 


provisions of this Agreement allocating liability between City and Consultant shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 


 
8.7 Options upon Breach by Consultant.  If Consultant materially breaches any of the terms 


of this Agreement, City’s remedies shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 
 


8.7.1 Immediately terminate the Agreement; 
 
8.7.2 Retain the plans, specifications, drawings, reports, design documents, and any 


other work product prepared by Consultant pursuant to this Agreement; 
 
8.7.3 Retain a different consultant to complete the work described in Exhibit A not 


finished by Consultant; or 
 
8.7.4 Charge Consultant the difference between the cost to complete the work 


described in Exhibit A that is unfinished at the time of breach and the amount that 
City would have paid Consultant pursuant to Section 2 if Consultant had 
completed the work.  


 
Section 9. KEEPING AND STATUS OF RECORDS. 
 


9.1 Records Created as Part of Consultant’s Performance.  All final work product reports, 
data, maps, models, charts, studies, surveys, photographs, memoranda, plans, studies, 
specifications, records, files, or any other documents or materials, in electronic or any 
other form, that Consultant prepares or obtains pursuant to this Agreement and that relate 
to the matters covered hereunder shall be the property of the City.  This provision 
specifically excludes Consultant’s working drafts and notes, which shall be owned by 


121 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 11 of 18 
 


Consultant.  Consultant hereby agrees to deliver all final work products to the City upon 
termination of the Agreement.  It is understood and agreed that the documents and other 
materials, including but not limited to those described above, prepared pursuant to this 
Agreement are prepared specifically for the City and are not necessarily suitable for any 
future or other use.  City and Consultant agree that, until final approval by City, all data, 
plans, specifications, reports and other documents are confidential and will not be released 
to third parties without prior written consent of both parties and pursuant to the applicable 
sections of Exhibit D. 


 
9.2 Consultant’s Books and Records.  Consultant shall maintain any and all ledgers, books 


of account, invoices, vouchers, canceled checks, and other records or documents 
evidencing or relating to charges for services or expenditures and disbursements charged 
to the City under this Agreement for a minimum of three (3) years, or for any longer period 
required by law, from the date of final payment to the Consultant to this Agreement 
consistent with the applicable sections of Exhibit D.  


 
9.3 Inspection and Audit of Records.  Any records or documents that Section 9.2 of this 


Agreement requires Consultant to maintain shall be made available for inspection, audit, 
and/or copying at any time during regular business hours, upon oral or written request of 
the City pursuant to the applicable sections of Exhibit D.  Under California Government 
Code Section 8546.7, if the amount of public funds expended under this Agreement 
exceeds TEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($10,000.00), the Agreement shall be subject to the 
examination and audit of the State Auditor, at the request of City or as part of any audit of 
the City, for a period of three (3) years after final payment under the Agreement. 


 
Section 10 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
 


10.1 Attorneys’ Fees.  If a party to this Agreement brings any action, including an action for 
declaratory relief, to enforce or interpret the provision of this Agreement, the prevailing 
party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees in addition to any other relief to which 
that party may be entitled.  The court may set such fees in the same action or in a 
separate action brought for that purpose. 


 
10.2 Venue.  In the event that either party brings any action against the other under this 


Agreement, the parties agree that trial of such action shall be vested exclusively in the 
state courts of California in the County of Contra Costa or in the United States District 
Court for the Northern District of California. 


 
10.3 Severability.  If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or rules that any provision of this 


Agreement is invalid, void, or unenforceable, the provisions of this Agreement not so 
adjudged shall remain in full force and effect.  The invalidity in whole or in part of any 
provision of this Agreement shall not void or affect the validity of any other provision of this 
Agreement. 


 


122 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 12 of 18 
 


10.4 No Implied Waiver of Breach.  The waiver of any breach of a specific provision of this 
Agreement does not constitute a waiver of any other breach of that term or any other term 
of this Agreement. 


 
10.5 Successors and Assigns.  The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of 


and shall apply to and bind the successors and assigns of the parties. 
 
10.6 Use of Recycled Products.  Consultant shall endeavor to prepare and submit all reports, 


written studies and other printed material on recycled paper to the extent it is available at 
equal or less cost than virgin paper. 


 
10.7 Conflict of Interest.  Consultant may serve other clients, but none whose activities within 


the corporate limits of City or whose business, regardless of location, would place 
Consultant in a “conflict of interest,” as that term is defined in the Political Reform Act, 
codified at California Government Code Section 81000 et seq.   


 
Consultant shall not employ any City official in the work performed pursuant to this 
Agreement.  No officer or employee of City shall have any financial interest in this 
Agreement that would violate California Government Code Sections 1090 et seq. 
 
Consultant hereby warrants that it is not now, nor has it been in the previous twelve (12) 
months, an employee, agent, appointee, or official of the City.  If Consultant was an 
employee, agent, appointee, or official of the City in the previous twelve months, 
Consultant warrants that it did not participate in any manner in the forming of this 
Agreement.  Consultant understands that, if this Agreement is made in violation of 
Government Code §1090 et.seq., the entire Agreement is void and Consultant will not be 
entitled to any compensation for services performed pursuant to this Agreement, including 
reimbursement of expenses, and Consultant will be required to reimburse the City for any 
sums paid to the Consultant.  Consultant understands that, in addition to the foregoing, it 
may be subject to criminal prosecution for a violation of Government Code § 1090 and, if 
applicable, will be disqualified from holding public office in the State of California. 


 
Consultant will comply with all conflict of interest laws and regulations including, without 
limitation, City’s Conflict of Interest Code (on file in the City Clerk’s Office) and the 
requirements set forth in Exhibit D.  It is incumbent upon the Consultant or Consultant’s 
firm to notify the City pursuant to section 10.10 Notices of any staff changes relating to this 
Agreement. 
 
a. In accomplishing the scope of services of this Agreement, all officers, employees 


and/or agents of Consultant(s), unless as indicated in Subsection b, will be 
performing a very limited and closely supervised function, and, therefore, are unlikely 
to have a conflict of interest arise.  No disclosures are required for any officers, 
employees, and/or agents of Consultant, except as indicated in Subsection b. 


 
       


123 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 13 of 18 
 


Initialed by City Attorney’s Office 


 
b. In accomplishing the scope of services of this Agreement, Consultant(s) will be 


performing a specialized or general service for the City, and there is substantial 
likelihood that Consultant’s work product will be presented, either written or orally, for 
the purpose of influencing a governmental decision.  As a result, the following 
Consultant(s) shall be subject to the Disclosure Category “1-5” of the City’s Conflict of 
Interest Code: 


 
Not applicable________________  ___________________________ 
 
___________________________  ___________________________ 


 
10.8 Solicitation.  Consultant agrees not to solicit business at any meeting, focus group, or 


interview related to this Agreement, either orally or through any written materials. 
 
10.9 Contract Administration.  This Agreement shall be administered by City Manager who 


shall act as the City’s representative.  All correspondence shall be directed to or through 
City Manager or his or her designee. 


 
10.10 Notices.  Any written notice to Consultant shall be sent to: 
 


Catherine Lew, Esq. 
President & Chief Executive Officer 
The Lew Edwards Group 
5454 Broadway, 2nd Floor 
Oakland, CA 94618 
Catherine@LewEdwardsGroup.com 
 
Any written notice to City shall be sent to: 
 
City Manager 
City of Pinole 
2131 Pear Street 
Pinole, CA 94564 


 
10.11 Professional Seal.  Where applicable in the determination of the City, the first page of a 


technical report, first page of design specifications, and each page of construction 
drawings shall be stamped/sealed and signed by the licensed professional responsible for 
the report/design preparation.   


 
10.12 Integration; Incorporation.  This Agreement, including all the exhibits attached hereto, 


represents the entire and integrated agreement between City and Consultant and 


124 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 14 of 18 
 


supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or agreements, either written or oral.  All 
exhibits attached hereto are incorporated by reference herein. 


 
10.13 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which 


shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one agreement. 
 
The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. 
 
 
CITY OF PINOLE     CONSULTANT 
 
 
___________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Andrew Murray, City Manager Catherine Lew, President & Chief Executive 


Officer 
 


Consultant’s City of Pinole Business 
License # _____________________ 


 
 
Attest:      
 
 
___________________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Eric S. Casher, City Attorney 
 
 


125 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 15 of 18 
 


 
EXHIBIT A 


 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 


 
• Provide Lead Project Coordination 
• Continuously update and refine a Project Timeline, Activities, and Budget 
• Update the City on Best Practices for similar projects 
• Develop a Strategic Plan for community engagement, recommend ongoing Communications 


throughout the process to engage the public 
• Conduct audit of all recent City issues /media coverage in the public arena 
• Review past and current City budget materials and planning 
• Facilitate design of updated studies by City’s designated public opinion research professional 
• Independently analyze survey results 
• Draft Public Messaging/Engagement Platform 
• Produce communications collaterals 
• Conduct message training 
• Work with City staff on methods to engage constituents, expand community awareness of policy, 


fiscal/service needs and solicit additional community input on City’s proposal/vision 
• Recommend to staff methods of engaging/informing constituents about Project in City 


communications vehicles, including newsletters, guest columns, website, digital/online 
• Provide recommendations to proposed city budget reports, presentations, or documents 
• Participate in selected City briefing and planning sessions related to budget adoption to maximize 


messaging 
• Assist with rapid response needs from media or the community as necessary to correct 


misinformation or clarify confusing information (LEG does not function as a city spokesperson) 
• Advise City of viability and feasibility of potential ballot measures and confer with City Attorney on 


measure components 
• Work with City staff on related staff report and measure developments 


 
The parties expressly acknowledge and agree that legal services or advice are not within Consultant’s 
scope of services. Consultant’s services will be provided exclusively via teleconference or 
videoconference—no on-site visits will be required by the City. 
 
Consultant will facilitate timely delivery to USPS of direct mail products on a schedule to be agreed on by 
the parties, but can only monitor—not be responsible for actual delivery— once products are within the 
possession and control of USPS. 
 


126 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 16 of 18 
 


EXHIBIT B 
 


COMPENSATION SCHEDULE AND HOURLY FEES 
 
Not applicable 


127 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 17 of 18 
 


EXHIBIT C 
CITY-FURNISHED FACILITIES 


 
City shall furnish physical facilities such as desks, filing cabinets, and conference space, as may be 
reasonably necessary for Consultant’s use while consulting with City employees and reviewing records and 
the information in possession of the City.  The location, quantity, and time of furnishing those facilities shall 
be in the sole discretion of City.  In no event shall City be obligated to furnish any facility that may involve 
incurring any direct expense, including but not limited to computer, long-distance telephone or other 
communication charges, vehicles, and reproduction facilities. 
 


 


128 of 316







 
Consulting Services Agreement between April 6, 2022 
City of Pinole and Lew Edwards Group  Page 18 of 18 
 


EXHIBIT D 
 


ADDITIONAL CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS 
 
None 


129 of 316







 CITY COUNCIL 
 REPORT 


9G


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: HONORABLE MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: CHRIS WYNKOOP, FIRE CHIEF 


SUBJECT: RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER 
INTO A SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH FIRE RECOVERY USA, LLC 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council adopt a resolution authorizing the City 
Manager to approve and execute a Services Agreement with Fire Recovery USA, 
LLC, to provide third party billing for emergency services performed by the City of 
Pinole Fire Department.  


BACKGROUND & DISCUSSION 


The City of Pinole Fire Department (“Department”) currently provides emergency 
services for motor vehicle accidents, vehicle fires, and structure fires, among other 
things ("Services"). The Department currently responds to over 2,800 calls for 
Services annually. Approximately 10% of those calls are for motor vehicle accidents. 
Because of Pinole’s proximity to the I-80 freeway, nearly 75% of vehicle accidents to 
which our Fire Department responds involve non-residents, so the Pinole taxpayers 
are effectively paying for Services used by non-residents.    


Tax dollars should fund basic services required to operate a fire department, and not 
subsidize expenses resulting from automobile accidents. Automobile insurance 
exists for that purpose. Fire Recovery USA, LLC ("Fire Recovery") provides third-
party billing services for fire department services and takes full responsibility for 
working directly with the insurance company to recover appropriate expenses for 
emergency services performed. Most insurance companies already budget for these 
claims but individual cities lack the time and resources to bill or collect such monies.  
It is more efficient and cost effective to have a third-party bill for Services and 
relieves the department from expending time and expenses associated with billing 
for and recovering costs for Services performed.   


The Department evaluated several options for third party vendors to handle cost 
recovery and Fire Recovery provided the highest rate of reimbursement. They are 
the nation’s largest emergency services cost recovery company, providing services 
to fire departments in 41 states, with over 114 accounts in the State of California. 


130 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022 


Fire Recovery's billing process is as follows:  When the Department is called for a 
motor vehicle accident, it performs the necessary services and then completes a 
one-page form capturing all the information needed for Fire Recovery to bill the 
insurance company. The form is submitted to Fire Recovery. Fire Recovery then bills 
the insurance company and collects the claim, keeps a percentage as payment, and 
promptly forwards the City its portion of the proceeds.  Net proceeds to the City 
typically range from $425 to $1,575 per accident, and the City is provided with 
monthly reports and payments. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no upfront cost to the City.  Under the agreement, Fire Recovery would collect 
a 22% (twenty-two percent) portion of all monies they work to collect on the City’s 
behalf for emergency services claims. The City will receive 78% (seventy-eight 
percent) of the total monies collected on the Client’s claims after fees. Net proceeds 
to the City typically range from $425-$1,575 per accident, and the Department is 
provided with monthly reports and payments. Projected emergency incident cost 
recovery forecast for 2022-2023 is $100,000 annually. This would result in a payment 
to Fire Recovery of $28,000 annually.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 


A. Resolution 
            Exhibit A Fire Services Recovery Agreement 


 
 
 


 


131 of 316







RESOLUTION NO. 2022- 


RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PINOLE 
AUTHORIZING CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A SERVICES 


AGREEMENT WITH FIRE RECOVERY USA, LLC 


WHEREAS, the City of Pinole ("City") Fire Department provides emergency 
services for motor vehicle accidents, vehicle fires, and structure fires, among other things 
("Services") to its citizens; and  


WHEREAS, the Fire Department currently responds to over 2,800 calls for 
Services annually, and where approximately 75% of Services for vehicle accidents 
involve non-residents, and because not all of the service recipients are Pinole residents, 
the Pinole taxpayers are effectively paying for fire services used by non-residents; and  


WHEREAS, tax dollars should fund basic services required to operate a the Fire 
Department, and not subsidize expenses resulting from automobile accidents; and  


WHEREAS, Fire Recovery USA, LLC ("Fire Recovery") provides third party 
billing services for fire departments throughout the United States in connection with 
motor vehicle incidents and other emergency incidents and recover appropriate expenses 
for emergency services performed; and  


WHEREAS, the City seeks Fire Recovery’s services to assist with the billing for 
emergency services the City provides in connection with motor vehicle incidents and 
other emergency incidents; and 


WHEREAS, the Fire Department recommends that the City of Pinole enter into 
an agreement with Fire Recovery to provide its billing services; and 


WHEREAS, the City and Fire Recovery agree to enter into a Fire Services 
Recovery Agreement. 


NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY COUNCIL OF 
THE CITY OF PINOLE does hereby authorize and direct the City Manager to execute, 
in form substantially similar hereto, the Fire Services Recovery Agreement attached as 
Exhibit A. 


BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that an executed copy of said Agreement shall 
be kept on file by the City Clerk. 


PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Pinole City Council held 
on the 5th day of April, 2022, by the following vote:  


ATTACHMENT A


132 of 316







AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:  
NOES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:  
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
ABSTAIN: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
 


I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was introduced, passed, and adopted on the 
5th day of April, 2022. 
 
 
 
____________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


133 of 316







SERVICES AGREEMENT 


This Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is made effective as of __________________, 2021 
(“Effective Date”), by and between FIRE RECOVERY USA, LLC, a California limited liability 
company (“Company”), and City of Pinole Fire Department, (“Client”).  The Company and Client 
are referred to herein individually as a “party” and collectively as the “parties.” 


R E C I T A L S 


WHEREAS, Company engages in the business of performing billing services (“Company 
Services”) for United States Fire Departments in connection with the motor vehicle incidents and 
other emergency incidents at which the Client provides emergency services: and 


WHEREAS, Client seeks the services of Company to assist with the billing for services 
that Client provides in connection with motor vehicle incidents and other emergency incidents; 
and  


WHEREAS, Company and Client desire to enter into this Agreement to memorialize their 
agreements regarding the Company Services to be provided to Client.  


NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual representations, warranties and 
covenants set forth herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Company and Client agree as follows: 


ARTICLE 1 
ENGAGEMENT 


1.1. Engagement:  Client hereby engages Company to provide the Company Services 
described in Article 4 herein, and Client hereby accepts such engagement, all on the terms and 
conditions set forth herein.  Company will determine the method, detail and means of performing 
the services detailed below. 


ARTICLE 2 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 


2.1. Representations and Warranties of Company: Company hereby represents and 
warrants to Client that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, Company is a limited liability 
company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
California. 


2.2. Representations and Warranties of Client: Client hereby represents and warrants 
to Company that, at all times during the term of this Agreement, Client is, or Governs, or Contracts 
with an organized fire department established pursuant to the laws and ordinances of the state in 
which Client is located.  


EXHIBIT A


134 of 316







 2 


ARTICLE 3 
COMPANY STATUS AND QUALIFICATIONS 


3.1. Independent Contractor: Company enters into this Agreement, and will remain 
throughout the term of the Agreement, as an independent contractor.  Company agrees that it will 
not become an employee, partner, agent or principal of Client while this Agreement is in effect. 


3.2. Payment of Income Taxes: Company is responsible for paying when due all 
income taxes, including estimated taxes, incurred as a result of the compensation paid by Client 
to Company for services rendered under this Agreement. On request, Company will provide Client 
with proof of timely payment. Company agrees to indemnify Client for any claims, costs, losses, 
fees, penalties, interest, or damages suffered by Client resulting from Company’s failure to comply 
with this provision. 


3.3. Use of Employees or Subcontractors: Company may, at Company’s own expense, 
use any employees or subcontractors as Company deems necessary to perform the services 
required of Company by this Agreement. Client may not control, direct, or supervise Company’s 
employees or subcontractors in the performance of those services.  


3.4. Qualifications: Company represents that it is qualified and has the skills necessary 
to perform the services under this Agreement in a competent and professional manner, without 
the advice or direction of Client.  


3.5. Ownership Interest: Company will have no ownership interest in Client.  


3.6. No Benefit Contributions: Company shall have no obligation under this Agreement 
to compensate or pay applicable taxes or provide employee benefits of any kind to any person 
employed or retained by Client.  


3.7. Attorney-in-Fact: Client appoints Company as Client’s attorney-in-fact for the 
following purposes:  


(a) Billing and Collections: To bill and collect (“Collections”) all revenue earned by and 
due to Client, in connection with Client’s provision of emergency services 
provided/rendered at the sites of motor vehicle incidents and other emergency 
incidents, and to receive all Collections on Client’s behalf and to sue for and give 
satisfaction for monies due on account and to withdraw any claims, suits, or 
proceedings pertaining to or arising out of Company’s or Client’s right to collect 
such amounts; and 


(b) Endorsement:  To take possession of and endorse in Client’s name any notes, 
checks, money orders, and any other instruments received as Collections.  


ARTICLE 4 
GENERAL RESPONSIBILITIES OF COMPANY 


4.1. Minimum Amount of Service: Company agrees to devote as much time and 
attention to the performance of the Company Services under this Agreement as may be, in 
Company’s sole discretion, required to accomplish the tasks described herein to accomplish the 
results for which the Company is responsible under this Agreement.  


135 of 316







 3 


4.2. Company Services: Company agrees to perform the Company Services as set 
forth in the “List of Company Services” attached hereto as Schedule “A” and incorporated herein 
by reference; including those additional services requested by Client and accepted in writing by 
the Company during the term of this Agreement. 


4.3. Non-Exclusive Relationship: Company may represent, perform services for, and 
contract with as many additional clients, persons, or companies as Company, in Company’s sole 
discretion, sees fit. 


4.4. Time and Place of Performing Work: Company may perform the services under 
this Agreement at any suitable time and location Company chooses. 


4.5. Materials and Equipment: Company will supply all materials and equipment 
required to perform the services under this Agreement. 


4.6. Workers’ Compensation: Company agrees to provide workers’ compensation 
insurance for Company and Company’s employees and agents and agrees to hold harmless and 
indemnify Client for any and all claims arising out of any injury, disability, or death of any of 
Company’s employees or agents. 


4.7. Assignment:  Neither this Agreement nor any duties or obligations under this 
Agreement may be assigned by Company without the prior written consent of Client, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. 


ARTICLE 5 
COMPENSATION OF COMPANY 


5.1. Compensation for Company Services:  All Company Services provided pursuant 
to this Agreement will be provided in accordance with the terms, including compensation amounts 
and schedule of remittance, set forth in the “List of Company Services,” attached hereto as 
Schedule A. 


5.2. The provisions of Article 11 of this Agreement will govern any dispute associated 
with compensation.  


ARTICLE 6 
OBLIGATIONS OF CLIENT 


6.1. Cooperation of Client: The Client agrees to comply with all reasonable requests of 
Company and provide access to all documents reasonably necessary to the performance of 
Company’s duties under this Agreement. The Client shall be responsible for initially insuring, and 
continuing to review, local and state laws in the Client’s jurisdiction to assure adequate legal 
authority for Company to engage in the Services described herein on behalf of Client. 


136 of 316







 4 


6.2. Assignment:  Once a run is assigned to Company for processing, Company will 
pursue collection until all efforts have been exhausted. While Company is pursuing payment on 
a claim Client is precluded from assigning any duties or obligations under this Agreement to any 
other party, without the written consent of Company.  Client may not negotiate a settlement of a 
run Company is processing without Company’s written consent to the terms of the settlement and 
compensation due to Company for processing the run. Once Company has determined a run is 
not collectible it will either be archived and closed or sent to a collection agency (only if Client 
chooses to do so). Sending an account to collection incurs additional fees to Client. If payment is 
received from a collection agency, the amount received will be posted to Client’s account by 
Company. Company will reimburse Client at the rate set forth in Schedule A, List of Company 
Services for that particular run, minus any additional fees from the collection agency. 


ARTICLE 7 
CLIENT AUTHORIZATION 


7.1. Authorization: Notwithstanding other provisions of this Agreement, Company shall 
obtain authorization from Client prior to performing any of the following: 


(a) The sale conveyance, transfer, pledge exchange, assignment, hypothecation, or 
encumbrance of Client’s interest in any sums owed to Client; and 


(b) All other limitations as stated by the terms of this Agreement. 


ARTICLE 8 
TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT 


8.1. Termination on Notice:  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, 
either party may terminate this Agreement at any time by giving thirty days (30) written notice to 
the other party.  Unless earlier terminated as set forth below, this Agreement shall be effective as 
of the date first set out above and shall continue for a period of one (1) year thereafter. This 
Agreement shall automatically renew for successive one (1) year periods, unless either party 
provides written notification to the other party of its decision not to renew this Agreement. Any 
runs submitted for processing to Company prior to the date of the notice of termination will 
continue to be processed under the terms of the List of Company Services set forth in this 
Agreement. 


8.2. Termination on Occurrence of Stated Events: This Agreement will terminate 
automatically on the occurrence of any of the following events;  


(a) Bankruptcy or insolvency of either party; 


(b) The assignment of this Agreement by either party without the consent of the other 
party; the parties agree that neither party will unreasonably withhold consent to 
such an assignment. 


8.3. Termination for Default:  If either party defaults in the performance of this 
Agreement or materially breaches any of its provisions, the non-breaching party may terminate 
this Agreement by giving written notification to the breaching party. Termination will take effect 
immediately on receipt of notice by the breaching party or five days (5) after mailing of notice, 


137 of 316







 5 


whichever occurs first. For the purposes of this paragraph, material breach of this Agreement 
includes, but is not limited to, the following:  


(a) Company’s failure to complete the services specified in the Description of 
Services;  


(b) Client’s material breach of any representation, warranty or agreement contained 
in this Agreement;  


(c) Company’s material breach of any representation, warranty or agreement 
contained in this Agreement; 


(d) Client’s yearly billable run volume is at or below six runs (6). 


ARTICLE 9 
PROPRIETARY RIGHTS 


9.1. Confidential Information:  Any written, printed, graphic, or electronically or 
magnetically recorded information furnished by Client for Company’s use are the sole property of 
Client. This proprietary information includes, but is not limited to, customer requirements, 
customer lists, marketing information, and information concerning the Client’s employees, 
products, services, prices, operations, and subsidiaries.  Company will keep this confidential 
information in the strictest confidence, and will not disclose it by any means to any person except 
with the Client’s approval, and only to the extent necessary to perform the services under this 
Agreement. This prohibition also applies to Company’s employees, agents, and subcontractors.  
On termination of this Agreement, Company will return any confidential information in Company’s 
possession to Client.  


9.2 Confidential Information:  Any written, printed, graphic, electronically or 
magnetically recorded information, computer-based hardware, software, applications, software 
scripts, or software links furnished by Company for Client’s use are the sole property of 
Company. This proprietary information includes, but is not limited to, customer requirements, 
customer lists, marketing information, and information concerning the Company’s employees, 
products, services, prices, operations, and subsidiaries.  Client will keep this confidential 
information in the strictest confidence, and will not disclose it by any means to any person 
except with the Company’s approval, and only to the extent necessary to perform the services 
under this Agreement. This prohibition also applies to Client’s employees, agents, and 
subcontractors.  On termination of this Agreement, Client will return any confidential information 
in Client’s possession to Company. 


 


ARTICLE 10 
INDEMNIFICATION 


10.1. Indemnification:  To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Company will indemnify 
and hold the Client harmless from and against any and all loss, damage, liability, claims and/or 
injury resulting from all negligent actions performed by the Company, or its agents on the 
Company’s behalf, in connection with this Agreement.  However, this indemnification shall not 
apply with respect to any legal cause, action or consequential liability or losses as a result from 


138 of 316







 6 


inaccurate or incomplete information or unfounded or unreasonable submissions furnished to 
the Company by the Client nor shall it apply to any act, omission or negligence of the Client. 


ARTICLE 11 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 


11.1. Governing Law:  This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by the laws of 
the State of California, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule 
(whether of the State of California or any other jurisdiction that would cause the application of the 
laws of any jurisdiction other that the State of California). 


11.2. Entire Agreement:  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 
Parties pertaining to the subject matter contained in it and supersedes all prior and 
contemporaneous agreements, representations, and understanding of the parties. 


11.3. Successors and Assigns:  Except as otherwise provided herein, the provisions 
hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the successors, assigns, heirs, executors 
and administrators of the parties hereto.  No party may assign any of its rights or obligations 
hereunder without the express written consent of the other party hereto, which consent may not 
be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, any party may assign any and all of its rights and 
interests hereunder to one or more of its affiliates and designate one or more of its affiliates to 
perform its obligations hereunder; provided, however, that such party remains liable for full and 
total performance of its obligations hereunder. 


11.4. Notices:  Any notices authorized to be given hereunder shall be in writing and 
deemed given, if delivered personally or by overnight courier, on the date of delivery, if a Business 
Day, or if not a business day, on the first Business Day following delivery, or if mailed, three days 
after mailing by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, and in each case, addressed, 
as follows: 


If to the Company to:      
 
Fire Recovery USA, LLC  
2271 Lava Ridge Court, Suite 120 
Roseville CA 95661 
Attention:  Craig Nagler 
 
 
If to Client to:    
City of Pinole Fire Department 
880 Tennent Ave. 
Pinole, CA 94564 
Attention:  ______________ 


with a copy to:    
   
The Watkins Firm, APC            
4275 Executive Square, Suite 1020             
La Jolla, CA 92037              
Attention: Chris Popov, Esq. 
 
 
with a copy to: 
_______________________ 
_______________________  
_______________________ 
Attention:  ______________ 


 


Or, if delivered by telecopy, on a Business Day before 4:00 PM local time of addressee, on 
transmission confirmed electronically, or if at any other time or day on the first Business Day 
succeeding transmission confirmed electronically, to the facsimile numbers provided above, or to 
such other address or telecopy number as any party shall specify to the other, pursuant to the 
foregoing notice provisions. When used in this Agreement, the term “Business Day” shall mean a 
day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a Federal Holiday. 


139 of 316







 7 


11.5. Waiver; Amendments:  This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement of the 
parties respecting the subject matter hereof, (ii) supersede any prior and contemporaneous 
understandings, agreements, or representations by or among the parties, written or oral, to the 
extent they related in any way to the subject matter hereof, and (iii) may not be amended orally, 
and no right or obligation of any party may be altered, except as expressly set forth in a writing 
signed by such party. 


11.6. Counterparts:  This Agreement may be signed in several counterparts. 


11.7. Expenses:  Each party shall bear its own expenses incurred with respect to the 
preparation of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. 


11.8. Arbitration: 


(a) If at any time there shall be a dispute arising out of or relating to any 
provision of this Agreement, any Transaction Document or any agreement 
contemplated hereby or thereby, such dispute shall be submitted for binding and 
final determination by arbitration in accordance with the regulations then obtaining 
of the American Arbitration Association.  Judgment upon the award rendered by 
the arbitrator(s) resulting from such arbitration shall be in writing, and shall be final 
and binding upon all involved parties.  The site of any arbitration shall be at a site 
agreed to by the parties and the arbitration decision can be enforced in a “court of 
competent jurisdiction”. 


(b) This arbitration clause shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement, any Transaction Document and any agreement contemplated hereby 
or thereby.  


11.9. Waiver of Jury Trial; Exemplary Damages:  THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY 
WAIVE THEIR RIGHTS TO TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY DISPUTE ARISING 
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION DOCUMENT.  NO PARTY SHALL BE 
AWARDED PUNITIVE OR OTHER EXEMPLARY DAMAGES RESPECTING ANY DISPUTE 
ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY TRANSACTION DOCUMENT 
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.  


11.10 Cooperative Purchases: This Agreement may be used by other government 
agencies. Company has agreed to offer similar serves to other agencies under the same or similar 
terms and conditions as stated herein except that the revenue share percentage (Compensation) 
may be negotiated between the Company and other agencies based on the specific revenue 
expectations, agency reimbursed costs, and other agency requirements.  The City/County/or 
Client/Protection District will in no way whatsoever incur any liability in relation to specifications, 
delivery, payment, or any other aspect of purchase by other agencies.   


 


 


Signatures on following page: 


140 of 316







 8 


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date 
first written above. 


 


 


COMPANY: 
 
FIRE RECOVERY USA, LLC. 
a California limited liability company 
 


Signature: ______________________________________ 
 
 
Name:  M. Craig Nagler              
 
Title:  Manager 
 
 


 
 
CLIENT:  
 
 
City of Pinole Fire Department 
 
 


Signature: ______________________________________ 
 
 
Name (printed): ____________________________________ 
 
 
Title: _____________________________________ 


 
 
 


141 of 316







  
 


1 


SCHEDULE A 
 


LIST OF COMPANY SERVICES 
 
 


1. Company agrees to bill the responsible party on the Client’s behalf for services 
provided/rendered during motor vehicle incidents and other emergency incidents. The 
Mitigation Rates lists in Exhibit A will increase by 1.5% annually or based on the annual 
percentage increase in the Consumer Price Index (CPI), as developed by the Bureau of 
Labor Statistics of the U.S. Department of Labor, whichever is more.  Rate adjustments 
will occur on the anniversary date of this ordinance/resolution to keep the fire 
department's cost recovery program in conformity with increasing operating expenses. 


 


2. Company will provide, as a normal matter of business; entry of claims and submission to 
the responsible party, collections of monies deemed due to the Client, payments of the 
agreed upon percentage of said monies to Client, and reporting of progress. 


 


3. Company agrees to bill to the best of its ability all claims provided to Company by the 
Client. 


 


4. Company will not begin litigation against a person, entity, or insurance carrier without 
prior written approval by the Client. 


 


5. Company agrees to reimburse Client a portion of the monies collected at a rate of 78% 
(seventy-eight percent) of the total monies collected on the Client’s claims.  Total monies 
collected will be net, after any credit card processing fees (charged at 4%) or any 
collection agency fees. If Client submits a claim to Company and later wants to cancel 
the claim, Client may be subject to a billing fee. If Client agrees to submit a claim to 
Company’s collection agency and later wants to remove it from collection status, Client 
may be subject to a fee of up to 35% of the amount of the claim to compensate for 
efforts made to collect the claim. 


 


6. Company agrees to pay these monies collected to the Client on a monthly basis, within 
seven (7) working days after the close and accounting of the monthly billing cycle. 


 


7. Company agrees to make available reports via a password protected website to the 
Client which detail billable claims outstanding (which are claims submitted, but not yet 
completed) and claims completed in the prior billing cycle. 


 


8. Company will not be responsible for, nor accept any liability for, any erroneous, invalid, 
or illegal procedure codes or claims submitted to Company by the Client on the Run 
Sheets. 


 


142 of 316







  
 


2 


EXHIBIT A 


MITIGATION RATES 


BASED ON PER HOUR 


The mitigation rates below are average “billing levels”, and are typical for the incident responses 
listed, however, when a claim is submitted, it may be itemized and based on the actual services 
provided. 
 
These rates are based on actual costs using amortized schedules for apparatus (including 
useful life, equipment, repairs, and maintenance).  Labor rates include an average department’s 
actual burdened labor costs and not just a firefighter's wage.  These include wages, retirement, 
benefits, workers comp, etc.  


 


 


MOTOR VEHICLE INCIDENTS 


Level 1 - $516.00  
Provide hazardous materials assessment and scene stabilization. This will be the most common 
“billing level”.  This occurs almost every time the fire department responds to an 
accident/incident.   
 
Level 2 - $588.00   
Includes Level 1 services as well as clean up and material used (sorbents) for hazardous fluid 
clean up and disposal.  We will bill at this level if the fire department has to clean up any 
gasoline or other automotive fluids that are spilled as a result of the accident/incident.   
 
Level 3 – CAR FIRE - $718.00   
Provide scene safety, fire suppression, breathing air, rescue tools, hand tools, hose, tip use, 
foam, structure protection, and clean up gasoline or other automotive fluids that are spilled as a 
result of the accident/incident.   
 
ADD-ON SERVICES: 
 
Extrication - $1,550.00   
Includes heavy rescue tools, ropes, airbags, cribbing etc.  This charge will be added if the fire 
department has to free/remove anyone from the vehicle(s) using any equipment.  We will not bill 
at this level if the patient is simply unconscious and fire department is able to open the door to 
access the patient.  This level is to be billed only if equipment is deployed.  
 
Creating a Landing Zone -  $474.00  
Includes Air Care (multi-engine company response, mutual aid, helicopter).  We will bill at this 
level any time a helicopter landing zone is created and/or is utilized to transport the patient(s). 
 
Itemized Response: You have the option to bill each incident as an independent event with 
custom mitigation rates, for each incident using, itemized rates deemed usual, customary and 
reasonable (UCR). These incidents will be billed, itemized per apparatus, per personnel, plus 
products and equipment used. 


143 of 316







  
 


3 


HAZMAT 
 
Level 1 - $832.00   
Basic Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder assignment, perimeter 
establishment, evacuations, set-up and command.  
 
 
Level 2 - $2,971.00  
Intermediate Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder assignment, 
hazmat certified team and appropriate equipment, perimeter establishment, evacuations, set-up 
and command, Level A or B suit donning, breathing air and detection equipment.  Set-up and 
removal of decon center. 
 
Level 3 – $7,012.00  
Advanced Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder assignment, hazmat 
certified team and appropriate equipment, perimeter establishment, evacuations, first responder 
set-up and command, Level A or B suit donning, breathing air and detection equipment and 
robot deployment. Set-up and removal of decon center, detection equipment, recovery and 
identification of material. Disposal and environment clean up. Includes above in addition to any 
disposal rates of material and contaminated equipment and material used at scene.  Includes 3 
hours of on scene time - each additional hour @ $336.00 per HAZMAT team. 
 
 
 
FIRE INVESTIGATION 
Fire Investigation Team - $327.00 per hour.  
Includes:  
  
• Scene Safety 
• Investigation  
• Source Identification 
• K-9/Arson Dog Unit 
• Identification Equipment 
• Mobile Detection Unit 
• Fire Report 
  
The claim begins when the Fire Investigator responds to the incident and is billed for 
logged time only.  
 
 
FIRES 
Assignment - $475.00 per hour, per engine / $594.00 per hour, per truck 
  
Includes:  
  
• Scene Safety 
• Investigation   
• Fire / Hazard Control 
 
This will be the most common “billing level”.  This occurs almost every time the fire department 
responds to an incident.   


144 of 316







  
 


4 


 
OPTIONAL:  A fire department has the option to bill each fire as an independent event 
with custom mitigation rates.   
 
Itemized, per person, at various pay levels and for itemized products use. 
 
 
 
 
ILLEGAL FIRES 
Assignment - $475.00 per hour, per engine / $594.00 per hour, per truck 
When a fire is started by any person or persons that requires a fire department response during 
a time or season when fires are regulated or controlled by local or state rules, provisions or 
ordinances because of pollution or fire danger concerns, such person or persons will be liable 
for the fire department response at a cost not to exceed the actual expenses incurred by the fire 
department to respond and contain the fire.  Similarly, if a fire is started where permits are 
required for such a fire and the permit was not obtained and the fire department is required to 
respond to contain the fire the responsible party will be liable for the response at a cost not to 
exceed the actual expenses incurred by the fire department. The actual expenses will include 
direct labor, equipment costs and any other costs that can be reasonably allocated to the cost of 
the response. 
 
 


 


WATER INCIDENTS 


Level 1   
Basic Response: Claim will include engine response, first responder assignment, perimeter 
establishment, evacuations, first responder set-up and command, scene safety and 
investigation (including possible patient contact, hazard control).  This will be the most common 
“billing level”. This occurs almost every time the fire department responds to a water incident.   
 
Billed at $475 plus $59 per hour, per rescue person. 
 
Level 2  
Intermediate Response: Includes Level 1 services as well as clean up and material used 
(sorbents), minor hazardous clean up and disposal.  We will bill at this level if the fire 
department has to clean up small amounts of gasoline or other fluids that are spilled as a result 
of the incident.   
 
Billed at $950 plus $59 per hour, per rescue person. 
 
Level 3  
Advanced Response: Includes Level 1 and Level 2 services as well as D.A.R.T. activation, 
donning breathing apparatus and detection equipment. Set up and removal of decon center, 
detection equipment, recovery and identification of material. Disposal and environment clean 
up. Includes above in addition to any disposal rates of material and contaminated equipment 
and material used at scene.  
  


145 of 316







  
 


5 


Billed at $2,350 plus $59 per hour per rescue person, plus $119 per hour per HAZMAT 
team member. 
 
Level 4  
Itemized Response: You have the option to bill each incident as an independent event with 
custom mitigation rates for each incident using itemized rates deemed usual, customary and 
reasonable (UCR). These incidents will be billed, itemized, per trained rescue person, plus 
rescue products used. 
 
 
 
 
BACK COUNTRY OR SPECIAL RESCUE 
Itemized Response: Each incident will be billed with custom mitigation rates deemed usual, 
customary and reasonable (UCR). These incidents will be billed, itemized per apparatus per 
hour, per trained rescue person per hour, plus rescue products used. 
 
Minimum billed $475 for the first response vehicle plus $59 per rescue person. Additional 
rates of $475 per hour per response vehicle and $59 per hour per rescue person. 
 
 
CHIEF RESPONSE 
This includes the set-up of Command, and providing direction of the incident. This could include 
operations, safety, and administration of the incident. 
 
Billed at $297 per hour.  
 
 
 
MISCELLANEOUS / ADDITIONAL TIME ON-SCENE 
 
 
ADDITIONAL TIME ON-SCENE (for all levels of service) 
Engine billed at $475 per hour. 
Truck billed at $594 per hour. 
Miscellaneous equipment billed at $357. 
 
 
MITIGATION RATE NOTES 
The mitigation rates above are average “billing levels” for one hour of service, and are typical for 
the incident responses listed, however, when a claim is submitted, it may be itemized and based 
on the actual services provided.  
 
These average mitigation rates were determined by itemizing costs for a typical run (from the 
time a fire apparatus leaves the station until it returns to the station) and are based on the actual 
costs, using amortized schedules for apparatus (including useful life, equipment, repairs, and 
maintenance) and labor rates (an average department’s “actual personnel expense” and not just 
a firefighter's basic wage).  The actual personnel expense includes costs such as wages, 
retirement, benefits, workers comp, insurance, etc.  


146 of 316







 CITY COUNCIL 
 REPORT 9H


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: STACY SHELL, HUMAN RESOURCES DIRECTOR 
BY: JESSE LAD, LEGAL COUNSEL 


SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF PINOLE AND THE PINOLE 
POLICE EMPLOYEES’ ASSOCIATION 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council authorize the City Manager to execute a 
settlement agreement related to the regular rate of pay computation between the City 
of Pinole and the Pinole Police Employees’ Association (“PPEA”). 


BACKGROUND 


On June 2, 2016, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals issued a decision in Flores v. City 
of San Gabriel (9th Cir. 2016) holding that cash in-lieu of medical benefits (medical in-
lieu) shall be included in employees’ regular rate of pay. In Hart v. City of Alameda 
(N.D. Cal. June 17, 2009), the court held that pay provided in lieu of a holiday shall be 
included in employees’ regular rate of pay, and thus in the calculation of the overtime 
rate. 


An employee's “hourly regular rate” is the hourly rate an employee is paid for all non-
overtime hours worked in a workweek. When calculating an employee's hourly regular 
rate of pay, all forms of compensation received by the employee in a workweek must 
be included.  The hourly regular rate of pay is used to determine the overtime rate. 


The Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) between the City of Pinole and the 
PPEA covers both sworn and non-sworn employees of the Police Department. Under 
the MOU, rather than receiving a paid holiday day off, sworn employees receive 
Holiday-In-Lieu pay, regardless of whether or not the holiday falls within their regular 
shift schedule.  Until the Flores case, the City had not included the payment of 
Medical-in-Lieu or Holiday-In-Lieu when calculating the regular rate of pay for 
overtime. 


On November 26, 2019, the City reached out to the Police Department employees, 
through their representatives, informing them of the Flores case and requested a 
meeting to discuss resolution of any compensation underpayments due to the 


Revised







City Council Report 
April 5, 2022 2 


omission of the in-lieu when calculating the regular rate of pay.  Following a meeting 
where all parties agreed to work cooperatively to determine the impact to employees’ 
compensation, on December 5, 2019, the PPEA filed a grievance, to hold their 
standing, alleging that the City failed to include Holiday-In-Lieu and Medical-In-Lieu 
pay as part of the employees’ regular rate of pay. The employees sought unpaid 
wages, liquidated damages, and attorneys’ fees and costs. 


REVIEW AND ANALYSIS 


In an effort to resolve the pay issues, the City and the PPEA have engaged in 
negotiations of a settlement agreement regarding the issues raised by the grievance, 
and any and all claims that the City failed to correctly pay overtime compensation.  
During these discussions the parties agreed that any compensation not originally 
included in the calculation of the regular rate of pay would be included as part of a re-
adjusted calculation. The time frame under which the re-adjustment calculation would 
be effective would be from September 21, 2015 through April 10, 2022. 


The proposed settlement agreement not only establishes the method to be used to 
calculate the regular rate of pay moving forward but also sets a timeline of when any 
underpayments are to be paid. 


At this time, the parties wish to avoid the potential uncertainty, expense, and delay of 
litigation and have therefore, based on their negotiations, mutually agreed to a 
settlement of their disputes. The proposed settlement is full and complete, resolving 
all current and potential grievances, disputes, controversies, claims and possible 
actions between the parties arising out of this matter. 


FISCAL IMPACT 


The maximum claim settlement amount through February 13, 2022 is $206,962.15. 
Per the settlement agreement, staff will perform a calculation using the same formula 
to determine the additional amount owed from February 14, 2022, through April 10, 
2022.  On April 10, 2022, the new agreed-upon overtime formula that includes the 
previously excluded items will be implemented. The City has also agreed, as part of 
the settlement, to pay $20,000 in legal fees to the law firm of Rains Lucia Stern St. 
Phalle and Silver, PC, which represents the PPEA. 


ATTACHMENTS 


A Resolution   
Exhibit A:  Settlement Agreement and General Release 







RESOLUTION NO. 2022-__ 


A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PINOLE, 
COUNTY OF CONTRA COSTA, STATE OF CALIFORNIA APPROVING AND 


AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE A SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE PINOLE POLICE 


EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION (PPEA)  


WHEREAS, the City of Pinole’s Personnel Rules, Section 36 – Standard 
Hours of Work and Overtime and the current Memorandum of Understanding 
(MOU) between the City and the PPEA, Section 10.2 – Overtime Rate, include 
language stating that non-exempt employees who work overtime will be 
compensated at the premium overtime rate of one and one-half times the 
employee’s straight time rate; and 


WHEREAS, the PPEA stated that that the City failed to include numerous 
items of compensation in the straight time rate of pay and failed to meet its 
overtime obligations under the FLSA; and 


WHEREAS, the City’s Finance Department confirmed that unpaid 
minimum wages and/or compensation are due to PPEA employees; and 


WHEREAS, in an effort to resolve the issues raised by the PPEA, City staff 
believes it would be reasonable to compensate PPEA employees; and 


WHEREAS, the City’s chief negotiator and PPEA mutually agreed to a 
settlement of their disputes.  This Settlement is full and complete, resolving all 
current and potential grievances, disputes, controversies, claims and possible 
actions between them arising out of this matter; and 


WHEREAS, the agreed upon maximum back pay amount to settle this 
matter is two hundred and six thousand nine hundred and sixty two dollars and 
fifteen cents ($206,962.15) to retroactively account for unpaid overtime due to 
PPEA employees, through February 13, 2022, plus applying a similar formula to 
account for any additional amounts owed from that date until the new overtime 
formula identified in the Settlement Agreement is put in place for current 
employees.  In addition, the Settlement includes twenty-thousand dollars 
($20,000) in Attorney’s fees. 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City 
of Pinole does hereby:  


Section 1: Approve the Settlement Agreement and General Release 
between the City of Pinole and Police Department employees attached hereto as 
Exhibit A and made a part hereof; and 


Section 2: Authorize the City Manager to execute the Settlement 
Agreement and General Release. 


ATTACHMENT A







 


 


 
Section 3: The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to 


execute the proposed settlement agreement, with such minor changes as 
approved by the City Attorney, and take such action as is necessary to effectuate 
the intent of this Resolution.  
 


PASSED AND ADOPTED this 5th day of April 2022, by the following vote: 
 


AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:  
NOES: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS: 
ABSTAIN: COUNCILMEMBERS:  


 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was introduced, passed, and adopted 
on this 5th day of April 2022. 
 
 
____________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 
 







-1- 


SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE 


This Settlement Agreement and General Release (“Agreement”) is made and entered into 
by and between the City of Pinole (“City”), the Pinole Police Employees’ Association 
(“Association”), each current and former Sworn City employee that was or is employed in a 
classification represented by the Association during the Settlement Period set forth below that 
executes an individual settlement agreement (“Police Employees”), and each current and former 
Non-Sworn City employee that was or is employed in a classification represented by the 
Association during the Settlement Period set forth below that executes an individual settlement 
agreement (“Non-Sworn Employees”). The City, the Association and the individual Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees may be individually referred to herein as a “Party” and 
collectively referred to herein as the “Parties.” 


RECITALS 


A. Whereas, Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees presently are or were 
employed by City in the City’s Police Department and in a bargaining unit represented by the 
Association. 


B. Whereas, on or about December 5, 2019, the Association alleged violations of  City 
Personnel Rules and the Memorandum of Understanding, and the Fair Labor Standards Act 
(“FLSA”), and sought unpaid wages based, in part, on the decision in Flores v. City of San Gabriel 
(9th Cir. 2016) 824 F.3d 890, which held cash-in-lieu of medical benefits shall be  included  in 
employees'  regular rate of pay, as well as Hart v. City of Alameda, C-07-5845MMC, 2009 WL 
1705612, at *2-3 (N.D. Cal. June  17, 2009) (“Hart”),  in which the court held that pay provided 
in lieu of a holiday shall be included in employees' regular rate of pay, and thus in the calculation  
of the overtime rate as well as the liquidation of accrued Compensatory Time Off (CTO). 


C. Whereas, the City denies any violation of the FLSA, any law, City Personnel Rules 
or the Memorandum of Understanding. 


D. Whereas, the Association’s overtime claims are in all respects controverted, and the 
applicability of the FLSA to the facts as alleged, as well as the applicable level of compensation, 
and all other claims, allegations, and requests for damages are disputed. 


E. Whereas, in an effort to resolve all of the wage and hour issues raised by the 
Association on behalf of the Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees, the Parties engaged in 
extensive negotiations regarding Police Employees' and Non-Sworn Employees overtime claims, 
along with any and all claims that the City failed to correctly pay compensation pursuant to the 
relevant provisions of the applicable Memoranda of Understanding governing compensation 
provided to Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees as well as any other applicable federal 
and/or state wage and hour law claims. Throughout these negotiations, the Parties were and 
continue to be represented by counsel experienced in wage and hour, employment, and labor 
matters. 


Exhibit A







-2- 


F. Whereas, the Parties wish to avoid the potential uncertainty, expense, and delay of 
litigation and have therefore, based on their extensive negotiations, mutually agreed to a settlement 
of their disputes. The Parties understand the potential recovery at trial or arbitration remains 
unknown, but the Parties believe the terms of this Agreement are consistent with and within the 
range of a reasonable result the Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees and/or the 
Association might expect to obtain after a trial if they were to prevail on their assertions that they 
are owed unpaid wages under the City Personnel Rules and/or MOU or unpaid overtime 
compensation under the FLSA. 
 


G. Whereas, as a result of their negotiations, the City, the Association, and 
participating Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees desire a settlement that is full and 
complete, resolving all current and potential grievances, disputes, controversies, claims and 
possible actions between them arising out of this matter. 
 


NOW THEREFORE, in consideration for the mutual promises and undertakings of the 
Parties as set forth below, the Association and the City hereby enter into this Agreement as follows: 
 


SETTLEMENT TERMS 
 
1. Recitals. The recitals set forth in this Agreement are true and correct and are hereby fully 
incorporated by reference into this Agreement. This Agreement affects claims and demands which 
are disputed, and by executing this Agreement, no Party admits or concedes any of the claims, 
defenses, or allegations which were raised or could be raised by any other Party or any third party 
relating to the City’s calculation of the regular rate of pay. The City expressly denies liability for 
any and all claims or demands. The Parties acknowledge that this is a compromise settlement of a 
disputed claim or claims.  Moreover, neither this Agreement, nor any part of this Agreement, shall 
be construed to be, nor shall be, admissible in any proceeding as evidence of, or as an admission 
by, any Party of any violation of law or any wrongdoing whatsoever. This Agreement may be 
introduced in a proceeding to enforce its terms. 
 
2. Resolution of Claims. 
 


a. If the contingencies described in this Agreement are met, the City shall pay the 
following to the participating Police Employees, Non-Sworn Employees and the 
Association: 


 
i. Effective the first full pay period following the execution of this 


Agreement, including execution of individual releases by at least 95% 
of all Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees that are currently 
employed by the City in classifications represented by the Association, 
the City shall pay Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees 
identified in Exhibit A  their proportion  of  two hundred and six 
thousand nine hundred and sixty two dollars and fifteen cents 
($206,962.15), which shall be allocated in the manner set forth in 
Exhibit A and paid by the City via separate check to the Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees, less all applicable payroll 







-3- 


withholdings including state and federal taxes (“Wage Payment”).  The 
Parties mutually acknowledge that the Wage Payment calculation set 
forth in Exhibit A reflects the City’s calculation of overtime wages due 
and payable to Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees 
attributable to the omission of cash-in-lieu of medical benefits (Flores) 
and holiday pay provided in lieu of observing holidays (Hart) paid for 
regularly scheduled work hours (collectively “Omitted Pay Items”) 
through February 13, 2022.  Payment is calculated by totaling the 
amount paid to each Police Employee and Non-Sworn Employee in 
Omitted Pay Items each year, and dividing by the number of hours in 
paid status (hereinafter “Omitted Regular Rate of Pay Factor”).  The 
Omitted Regular Rate of Pay Factor is then multiplied by the number of 
overtime hours worked by the statutory multiplier of 1.5 to provide the 
back pay due for a given Calendar Year for the individual Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees.  The calculations set forth in 
Exhibit A have been annualized in lieu of a pay-period-by-pay-period 
calculations; calculations for Calendar Year 2015, Calendar Year 2022, 
and any year where Police Employees have been employed for less than 
the full calendar year have allocated 114.4 hours of holiday pay 
compensation on a pro rata basis (i.e., 4.4 hours of holiday pay per pay 
period).  Further, to avoid the possibility of miscalculating an individual 
Police Employee’s pay rates, the Parties have agreed that compensation 
included in the calculation of holiday pay shall be based on the top 
salary step for each Police Employee’s classification as of the first 
payroll in November in each Calendar Year, however, back pay for 
Calendar Year 2022 shall be based upon the employee’s current salary 
step.  Holiday pay amounts included in the calculation for Non-Sworn 
shall be based on actual holiday payments made as the holiday rates 
vary. Finally, the Wage Payment set forth in Exhibit A separately 
identifies compensation to be paid for the liquidation of accrued 
Compensatory Time Off (CTO).  Each hour of liquidated CTO during 
the Settlement Period shall be paid by multiplying the number of 
liquidated CTO hours times the Regular Rate of Pay for the individual 
based on the FLSA period preceding the CTO liquidation payment. 
Payments made for CTO, at the time of liquidation, will be subtracted 
from the amount calculated based on the regular rate of pay and the 
difference will be paid.  A supplemental payment for the period of time 
between February 13, 2022 through April 10, 2022 shall be issued to the 
Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees within 30 calendar days 
of ratifying this Agreement, paid via separate check (“Supplemental 
Payment”).  This Supplemental Payment shall be calculated in the same 
manner as set forth in this paragraph, above. 
 


ii. A detailed accounting of the calculation of the Wage Payment is 
attached hereto as Exhibit B, so that employees can see the total amount 
of Omitted Pay Items each year, the total number of liquidated hours of 







-4- 


CTO on a given payout date, the total number of hours in paid status 
each year, as well as the salary step range of their respective 
classification used in calculating the back pay due in each year.   
 


iii. The Wage Payments represent the agreed upon amount for all unpaid 
compensation allegedly owed to the Police Employees and Non-Sworn 
Employees through April 10, 2022, including all amounts allegedly 
owed for liquidated damages, a one-year extension of the statute of 
limitations, interest, and any and all damages and/or other relief 
recoverable for claims alleging unpaid overtime wages under the MOU 
and claims for unpaid  overtime compensation under the FLSA, with the 
exception of attorneys' fees, for the period commencing as of September 
21, 2015 through the date of executing of this Agreement.  Only Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees that are currently employed by 
the City identified in Exhibit A that have executed individual waivers 
are entitled the amounts identified to be paid to them in Exhibit A, 
provided the additional contingencies in this Agreement are met.  The 
City shall provide all former Police Employees and Non-Sworn 
Employees with a copy of this Agreement and their portion of back pay 
identified in Exhibit A within 30 days of ratifying this Agreement.  


 
b. If the contingencies described in Paragraph 2.a.i., of this Agreement are met, the 


City will also pay Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) to the law firm of Rains 
Lucia Stern St. Phalle & Silver, PC, tax identification number 26-1573463 (“Law 
Firm”). The payment to the Law Firm will be in the form of a separate check and 
represents payment in full for attorneys' fees and costs for the Police Employees, 
Non-Sworn Employees, and the Association for the claims resolved by this 
Agreement. Except as provided herein, each Party will bear its own attorneys' fees 
and costs. 


 
c. The maximum total of all payments to be provided to the Police Employees and 


Non-Sworn Employees as part of the Wage Payment and Law Firm under this 
Agreement through February 13, 2022 shall be two hundred twenty six thousand 
nine hundred and sixty two dollars and fifteen cents ($226,962.15), plus the value 
of the Supplemental Payment to be paid via separate check within 30 calendar days 
of ratifying this Agreement. 


 
d. Enforceability of this Agreement does not commence until and unless the Pinole 


City Council formally considers and approves the Agreement, which approval shall 
be sought at the soonest available Pinole City Council meeting following the City's 
receipt of those documents described in Paragraph 2(e) below. Should the Pinole 
City Council reject this agreement, it shall have no force or effect, and the Parties 
shall be returned to the same status they were prior to the execution of this   
Agreement. 


 







-5- 


e. Payment of the Wage Payment and  the payment to Law Firm will occur in the first 
full pay period after satisfaction of the following contingencies: (1) the City's 
receipt of a W9 form completed by Law Firm; (2) City Council approval of this 
Agreement; (3) full-execution of this Agreement by the City and the Association; 
and (4) execution of individual releases by at least 95% of all Police Employees 
and Non-Sworn Employees that are currently employed by the City in 
classifications represented by the Association.  Only those individual Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees identified in Exhibit A that have signed and 
returned the form provided as Exhibit C shall receive the Wage Payment. 


 
g.  The Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees expressly agree that the 


allocations of the Wage Payment, as provided in Exhibit A is fair, just and 
reasonable compensation for all wage claims arising from the Association’s claims 
for additional compensation under Sections 10.01, 10.02, 10.04, and 10.05 of the 
MOU and for claims of overtime compensation and claims for unpaid overtime 
compensation and CTO liquidation under the FLSA for the period commencing on 
September 21, 2015 through the date of execution of this Agreement. 


 
h. The Association and the City agree that future contractual overtime compensation 


and liquidation of accrued CTO, as provided in the current Memorandum of 
Understanding any subsequent applicable Memorandum of Understanding between 
the City and the Association or any successor shall be calculated by the City in the 
manner described in the Prospective Overtime Calculation Methodology, below.    
This Agreement does not prevent the Parties from making future changes to these 
calculation methodologies as long as any applicable meet and confer obligations 
under the Meyers-Milias Brown Act are satisfied.   


 
i. The Parties agree that upon execution of this Agreement and payment of the sums 


described in Paragraph 2(a) and 2(b) to the Police Employees, Non-Sworn 
Employees, and Law Firm, the Tolling Agreement between the City and the 
Association that was entered into on December 23, 2019, will be terminated and 
deemed void.  The parties acknowledge that the Tolling Agreement between the 
City and the Association is necessarily limited in scope, and only applies to 
individuals represented by the Association while employed by the City as Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees.   


 
3. Prospective Overtime Calculation Methodology.   


 
       a.    Regular Rate of Pay Calculation for Non-Sworn Employees.   


 
 Effective the pay period including April 11, 2022 and continuing thereafter, the City 
shall calculate the Non-Sworn Employees’ regular rate of pay in each 7-day FLSA 
work period by calculating the sum of all forms of remuneration identified herein 
paid to the employee during their 7-day work period: base wage, longevity pay, 
education incentive pay, certificate pay, shift differential pay, specialty incentive 
pays, medical in lieu pay, holiday pay, out of class pay, field training officer 







-6- 


pay/dispatch trainer pay, and divide the total number by the hours in paid status 
during the work period.  Compensation provided to employees on paid time off (e.g., 
vacation, sick leave, compensatory time off) shall be included in calculating the 
numerator, and hours while on paid time off shall be included in the divisor.  For 
those items of compensation paid on a fixed dollar amount on a monthly or other 
regular basis (e.g., medical in lieu), the City shall allocate the average amount to be 
paid in a 7-day pay period (e.g., a $1,000/month medical in lieu benefit shall be 
credited with $230.77 per pay period because $1,000 x 12 month / 52 work periods 
= 230.77)1.  Compensation for holidays shall be included in the calculation of the 
regular rate in the 7-day work period in which the holiday is earned (i.e., in the 7-
day work period when the holiday is celebrated/observed).  Nothing in this 
Agreement shall be interpreted to, or serve to modify the inclusion of Shift 
Differential and Field Training Officer Pay/Dispatch Trainer Pay when such work 
is performed while working overtime.  The regular rate of pay derived from the 
formula set forth above shall be applied to contractual overtime pursuant to Article 
10 of the MOU as well as FLSA overtime.  Examples of the Prospective Overtime 
Calculation Method are attached hereto as Exhibit D. 


 
b. Regular Rate of Pay Calculation for Police Employees.   


 
 Effective the pay period including April 11, 2022 and continuing thereafter, the City 
shall calculate the sworn Police Employees’ regular rate of pay in each 14-day pay 
period (i.e., FLSA work period) by calculating the sum of all forms of remuneration 
identified herein paid to the employee during their 14-day pay period: base wage, 
longevity pay, education incentive pay, certificate pay, shift differential pay, 
specialty incentive pays, medical in lieu pay, holiday pay, out of class pay, field 
training officer pay/dispatch trainer pay, stand-by pay and divide the total number 
by the hours in paid status during the pay period,  For those items of compensation 
paid on a fixed dollar amount on a monthly or other regular basis (e.g., medical in 
lieu), the City shall allocate the average amount to be paid in a 14-day pay period 
(e.g., a $1,000/month medical in lieu benefit shall be credited with  $461.54 per pay 
period because $1,000 x 12 month / 26 pay periods =  461.54).  Compensation for 
holidays shall be included in the calculation of the regular rate in the 14-day work 
period in which the holiday is earned (i.e., in the 14-day work period when the 
holiday is celebrated/observed).  Nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted to, 
or serve to modify the inclusion of Shift Differential and Field Training Officer Pay 
when such work is performed while working overtime.  The regular rate of pay 
derived from the formula set forth above shall be applied to contractual overtime 
pursuant to Article 10 of the MOU as well as FLSA overtime.  Examples of the 
Prospective Overtime Calculation Method are attached hereto as Exhibit D. 


 
  


                                                 
1 The actual amounts of compensation paid on a fixed dollar amount, including, but not limited to medical in lieu 
benefits, are determined based upon amounts established in the MOU. 







-7- 


c. Compensatory Time (CTO) Buyback and Liquidation.   
 


 Effective the pay period including April 11, 2022 and continuing thereafter, Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees that are paid out CTO upon separation or 
pursuant to the Compensatory Time Buyback provided in Article 10 of the MOU 
shall be compensated for each hour of such time paid at the regular rate of pay 
pursuant to the methodology described herein above, in the pay period in which 
payment was or is made. The regular rate of pay calculation will be based on the 
FLSA period preceding the CTO liquidation payment. Unlike overtime, which is 
compensated at one and one-half times the regular rate of pay, CTO buyback and 
liquidation shall be at the regular rate of pay only as the time is accrued at the rate 
of one and one-half hours for each overtime hour worked.   


  
4. Tax consequences. The Association, Police Employees, Non-Sworn Employees and Law 
Firm acknowledge that neither the City, nor any of the City's representatives, including but not 
limited to City officers, elected officials, employees, attorneys and agents and any other person 
acting by, through, or in concert with the City, has made any promise, representation or warranty, 
expressed or implied, regarding the tax consequences that may be imposed by state or federal 
taxing authorities on any consideration paid pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. Police 
Employees, Non-Sworn Employees and Law Firm acknowledge and agree that they have sole 
responsibility for the payment of any taxes, interest or penalties arising from receipt of any 
payments provided under paragraph 2 above. Police Employees, Non-Sworn Employees, and Law 
Firm agree to indemnify and hold harmless the City in the event that the Internal Revenue Service 
or any other taxing authority assesses any taxes, excise taxes, penalties or interest against the City 
as a result of the payment of any of the amounts described in paragraph 2 above.  
 
5. Stipulated 7(k) Exemption for Police Employees.  Pursuant to the expressed terms of the 
MOU and the Prospective Overtime Calculation Methodology, contractual overtime compensation 
will continue to be paid at the rate of one and one-half times the employee’s regular rate of pay for 
hours in paid status in excess of 80 hours in a 14-day pay period for MOU overtime.  The Parties 
agree that effective upon ratification, the City will maintain a 14-day FLSA work period for Police 
Employees which requires overtime pay for time worked in excess of 86 hours in the work period, 
whereas Non-Sworn Employees will be covered under the FLSA’s 7-day work period which 
requires overtime pay for time worked in excess of 40 hour in the work period.  The City will 
ensure that its 14-day FLSA work period for Police Employees shall coincide with the City’s pay 
period. Non-Sworn Employees two (2) 7 day FLSA work periods shall coincide with the City’s 
pay period, except when working a flexible 9/80 schedule, which shall also utilize a 40 hour, 7-
day FLSA work period.  The City shall pay FLSA overtime where the amount due to employees 
under the FLSA exceeds the amount due pursuant to the terms of the Prospective Overtime 
Calculation Methodology. 
 
6. Release of Specific Claims. Acceptance of this settlement by Police Employees, Non-
Sworn Employees, and the Association constitutes a full and complete settlement of all alleged 
claims against the City relating to alleged wages owed under Section 10 of the MOU and claims 
for unpaid overtime compensation under the FLSA for the period of September 21, 2015 through 
execution of this Agreement. Police, Employees Non-Sworn Employees and the Association 







-8- 


hereby, on behalf of themselves and their spouses, domestic partners, heirs, representatives, 
executors, agents, attorneys, administrators, successors-in-interest and assigns, irrevocably and 
unconditionally release and discharge the City, including the City's elected and appointed officers, 
employees, representatives, agents, attorneys, administrators, and successors-in-interest, from any 
and all lawsuits, claims, actions, demands, grievances, or other legal responsibilities of any kind 
which the Police Employees, Non-Sworn Employees or the Association may have against the City 
which arise under the Section 10 of the MOU, Rule 36.4 of the City Personnel Rules, the FLSA 
and any other applicable federal or state wage and hour law governing the payment of overtime 
compensation.  Police Employees, Non-Sworn Employees, and the Association expressly 
acknowledge that this release includes any and all wage and hour related claims that the 
Association and/or the Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees asserted or could have 
asserted with regard Article 10 of the MOU, Rule 36.4 of the City Personnel Rules, and claims for 
unpaid overtime compensation under the FLSA. In providing this release, the Police Employees, 
Non-Sworn Employees, the Association, and each of them, hereby waive any and all rights or 
benefits that any of them may have under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which 
provides: 
 


A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS 
THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT 
KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT 
THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, AND THAT IF 
KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY 
AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR 
OR RELEASED PARTY. 


 
The Parties understand that this release does not include claims relating to conduct or 


activity which does not arise from or is not attributable to the Association or a Police Employee’s 
or Non-Sworn Employee’s claims for unpaid overtime wages under Article 10 of the MOU, Rule 
36.4 of the City Personnel Rules, or for unpaid overtime compensation under the FLSA occurring 
before the execution of this Agreement or any conduct or activity which arises or occurs after the 
execution of this Agreement. The Parties understand that this is a compromise settlement of 
disputed claims, and that nothing herein shall be deemed or construed at any time or for any 
purpose as an admission of the merits of any claim or defense. The Association, Police Employees, 
and Non-Sworn Employees also acknowledge that this release is an essential and material term of 
this Agreement and that without such release, no settlement would have been reached by the 
Parties. 
 
7. Unanticipated consequences. The Parties recognize and acknowledge that factors which 
have induced them to enter into this Agreement may turn out to be incorrect or to be different from 
what they had previously anticipated, and the Parties hereby expressly assume any and all of the 
risks thereof and further expressly assume the risks of waiving the rights provided by California 
Civil Code section 1542. 
 
8. No admissions. This Agreement affects claims and demands which are disputed by and 
between the Parties, and by executing this Agreement, no Party admits or concedes any of the 
claims, defenses, or allegations which were raised or could be raised by any other Party or any 
third party. Neither this Agreement nor any part of this Agreement shall be construed to be an 







-9- 


admission by any Party of any violation of law or of any lack of conformity with the MOU, the 
City Personnel Rules, the FLSA, or any other applicable federal or state wage and hour law, nor 
shall this Agreement nor any part of it, nor any settlement negotiations or earlier drafts of this 
Agreement, be admissible in any proceeding as evidence of such an admission. This Agreement 
may be introduced in a proceeding solely to enforce the terms of this Agreement, and may be 
pleaded as a full and complete defense to any action, suit or other proceeding that has been or may 
be instituted, prosecuted or attempted with respect to any claim for unpaid wages by the Police 
Employees arising out of facts which occurred on or prior to the date of execution of this 
Agreement. 
 
9. Warranties and Affirmation. The Parties warrant that they have not assigned any of the 
claims or portions of the claims that are the subject of this Agreement. The Police Employees and 
Non-Sworn Employees affirm that they have reported all hours worked as of the date the Police 
Employees and Non-Sworn Employees sign their acknowledgment of this Agreement.  The 
Association, Police Employees, and Non-Sworn Employees affirm they have no knowledge to 
support a claim or allegation that they have been retaliated against in violation of federal and/or 
state law for filing any wage claim. 
 
10. No additional representations. Each Party represents that in executing this Agreement, 
the Party does not rely upon and has not relied upon any representation, promise, or statement not 
expressly contained herein. 
 
11. Complete and binding agreement. This Agreement is the complete agreement between 
the Parties and supersedes any prior agreements or discussions between the Parties. This agreement 
and all documents referred to herein shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Association and each 
of the Police Employees and Non-Sworn Employees and their spouses, domestic partners, 
children, heirs, estates, administrators, representatives, executors, attorneys, successors and 
assigns. Except as expressly provided herein, this Agreement is not for the benefit of any person 
not a party thereto or any person or entity not specifically identified as beneficiary herein or 
specifically identified herein as a person or entity released hereby. This Agreement is not intended 
to constitute a third-party beneficiary contract. 
 
12. California and federal law. This Agreement is executed and delivered in the State of 
California, and the rights and obligations of the Parties hereunder shall be construed and enforced 
in accordance with the laws of the State of California and to the extent necessary in accordance 
with federal law. 
 
13. Interpretation and construction. Any ambiguities or uncertainties herein shall be equally 
and fairly interpreted and construed without reference to the identity of the Party or Parties 
preparing this Agreement or the documents referred to herein, on the understanding that the Parties 
participated equally in the negotiation and preparation of the Agreement and the documents 
referred to herein or have had equal opportunity to do so. This Agreement has been arrived at 
through negotiation and none of the Parties is to be deemed the Party who prepared this Agreement 
or caused any uncertainty to exist within the meaning of Civil Code section 1654. The headings 
used herein are for reference only and shall not affect the construction of the Agreement. 
 







-10- 


14. Breach, waiver and amendment. No breach of this Agreement or of any provision herein 
can be waived except by an express written waiver executed by the Party waiving such breach. 
Waiver of any one breach shall not be deemed a waiver of any other breach of the same or any 
other provision of this Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended, altered, modified or 
otherwise changed in any respect or particular only by a writing duly executed by the Parties hereto 
or their authorized representatives. 
 
15. Exhibits. All exhibits and schedules attached to this Agreement are hereby incorporated 
into this Agreement as though fully set forth herein. 
 
16. Not Precedent Setting. The Parties agree the terms of this Agreement will not establish 
any precedent, nor will this Agreement be used as a basis by the Parties to seek or justify similar 
terms in any subsequent case and it may not be used by anyone else to seek or justify similar terms 
in any subsequent case. 
 
17. Authority to execute. Each Party hereto warrants to the other Parties that he, she, or it has 
the full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform under this Agreement and all 
documents referred to herein, and that any needed consent or approval from any other person has 
been obtained. 
 
18. Disclosure of Terms. The Parties understand and consent that the City may be required to 
disclose the terms of this Agreement pursuant to the requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act, 
Government Code section 54950, et seq., and the provisions of any other law or regulation 
requirement disclosure of information by public entities. 
 
19. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed by the Parties in any number of 
counterparts, all of which taken together shall be construed as one document. 
 
20. Effective date. The Agreement shall become effective following execution by all of the 
Parties, on the latest date appearing below. 
 
21. Duty to act in good faith. The Parties shall act in good faith and use their reasonable good 
faith efforts after the execution of this Agreement to ensure that their respective obligations 
hereunder are fully and punctually performed. The Parties shall promptly perform any further acts 
and execute and deliver any other documents or instruments that maybe reasonably necessary to 
carry out the provisions of this Agreement. Time is of the essence in this Agreement. 
 
22. Knowledge of the Parties. The Parties understand and agree to this Agreement and to the 
terms and conditions contained herein and enter into this Agreement knowingly and voluntarily. 
Police Employees have been advised they have the right to seek legal advice with respect to this 
Agreement, including the release, have had the opportunity to consult with counsel, and have in 
fact consulted with counsel of their choice.  The Parties have investigated the facts pertaining to 
this Agreement and all matters pertaining thereto as deemed necessary.  The Parties have relied on 
their judgment, belief, knowledge, understanding and expertise after having been afforded the 
opportunity to consult with their counsel concerning the legal effect of the settlement and its terms. 
By signing this Agreement and the documents referenced to herein, the Parties signify their full 







-11- 


understanding, agreement, and acceptance of the Agreement, including all Exhibits attached 
hereto. 
 
23. Savings clause. If any term, condition, provision or part of this Agreement is found by a 
court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable for any reason, 
the attempt shall first be made to read that provision in such a way as to make it valid and 
enforceable in light of the Parties' apparent intent as evidenced by this Agreement. If such a reading 
and correction is impossible, the tribunal having jurisdiction may revise the provision in any 
reasonable manner to the extent necessary to make it binding and enforceable. If no such revision 
is possible, the offending provision shall be deemed stricken from this Agreement and the 
remainder of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect. 
 
PLEASE READ CAREFULLY: THIS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND GENERAL 
RELEASE OF CLAIMS INCLUDES A RELEASE OF KNOWN AND UNKNOWN 
CLAIMS FOR UNPAID COMPENSATION ARISING UNDER SECTION 10 OF THE 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING, RULE 36.4 OF THE CITY PERSONNEL 
RULES AND CLAIMS FOR UNPAID OVERTIME COMPENSATION UNDER THE 
FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT. THE PARTIES HAVE BEEN REPRESENTED BY 
COUNSEL THROUGHOUT THE NEGOTIATION OF THIS AGREEMENT AND HAVE 
CONSULTED WITH THEIR ATTORNEYS BEFORE SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT. 
THE PARTIES FULLY UNDERSTAND THE FINAL AND BINDING EFFECT OF THIS 
AGREEMENT. THE ONLY PROMISES OR REPRESENTATIONS MADE TO ANY 
SIGNATORY ABOUT THIS AGREEMENT ARE CONTAINED IN THIS AGREEMENT. 
 
HAVING ELECTED TO EXECUTE THIS SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND 
RELEASE OF CLAIMS ALLEGING UNPAID WAGES, TO FULFILL THE PROMISES 
SET FORTH HEREIN, AND TO RECEIVE THEREBY THE SETTLEMENT SUM AND 
BENEFITS SET FORTH IN PARAGRAPH 2 ABOVE, POLICE EMPLOYEES, AND 
NON-SWORN EMPLOYEES FREELY AND KNOWINGLY ENTER INTO THIS 
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE OF WAGE CLAIMS INTENDING TO 
WAIVE, SETTLE AND RELEASE THE WAGE CLAIMS THEY HAVE OR MIGHT 
HAVE AGAINST THE CITY OF PINOLE. 
 
THE PARTIES ARE SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT VOLUNTARILY AND 
KNOWINGLY. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the PARTIES hereto have executed this AGREEMENT on the date 
written below. 
 


SIGNATURES OF INDIVIDUAL POLICE EMPLOYEES AND NON-SWORN 
EMPLOYEES ARE CONTAINED ON SEPARATE SIGNATURE PAGES ATTACHED AND 
INCLUDED HEREIN BY THIS REFERENCE. 
 
Dated:  __________________  _____________________________________ 
       
 
 
 
Dated:  __________________  _____________________________________ 
       







 
 
 
 


EXHIBIT A 
  







Name 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022


Liquidatio


n


Total By 


Employee


Avery 112.80      517.44          281.40      7.82           919.46         


Bash 111.11          247.46      0 358.57         


Blume 758.51      2,483.83       698.86      926.90805 1,029.72   1,465.12   84.85        -          581.17       8,028.98      


Breckenridge 380.93      1,137.51       1,335.83   1309.7905 1,616.08   1,378.63   965.30      100.95    977.88       9,202.91      


Corcoran 275.91      3,876.54       196.30      4,348.75      


Dalao -            290.96881 245.86      942.18      691.00      116.77    (3.23)         2,283.55      


Dean 0 909.66      1,024.99   811.80      100.92    2,847.38      


Dearing 509.96      1,085.81   1,595.77      


Deaver 336.50      -                336.50         


Delgado 525.92      2,085.97   1,570.30   4,182.19      


Duggan 242.88      1,075.47       1,119.33   1229.8604 1,111.12   1,174.08   1,593.78   60.65      7,607.16      


Engle 419.74      849.08          577.19      804.06722 702.13      835.59      1,428.57   166.27    140.68       5,923.33      


Eubanks 268.71      250.91    519.62         


Fernandez 76.63        3,449.42       870.21      114.1132 265.37      649.69      -            14.73      5,440.17      


Fodor, C 324.98      1,078.24       868.20      425.43832 782.15      1,048.10   1,141.78   72.53      38.23         5,779.64      


Fodor, T 4.39          266.44    270.83         


Hastings 612.34256 186.04      798.38         


Jensen 403.15      782.55          171.76       1,357.46      


Johantgen 227.53      555.72          237.81      564.85       1,585.90      


Johnson C -            -               


Keister 118.12      799.06          1,149.90   763.3681 942.50      -            -            -          522.56       4,295.50      


Lew 347.85      1,440.36       1,571.60   1450.5704 475.18      1,533.93   1,640.12   212.01    8,671.63      


Lopez -            204.69          302.44      277.59021 216.68      57.28        1,058.68      


Louis -            793.33      109.98    903.31         


Ly 86.92        531.75575 674.91      1,293.58      


Myovich 225.00      1,278.92       1,507.82   851.36445 630.71      382.34      4,876.15      


Palmini 441.14      1,917.62       1,847.14   2980.9545 2,759.03   2,171.68   1,536.08   -          13,653.65    


Peterson 123.25      985.70      149.27    1,258.21      


Porter -                1,414.16   1084.1769 394.37      535.50      611.05      -          2,878.08    6,917.34      


Powell  241.42      799.65      786.09      30.13      1,004.22    2,861.51      


Roberts, A 574.54      1,510.22   15.25      2,100.00      


Roberts, J 286.95      1,066.31       1,109.04   1066.4088 734.11      755.18      841.71      106.98    5,966.67      


Rogers 1,020.85   3,293.90       2,392.29   2801.1451 2,723.40   2,042.86   918.14      501.00    15,693.58    


Rude 69.61        2,598.07       541.80      87.253315 -            3,296.74      


Shavies 612.36155 1,265.85   -            1,878.22      


Takacs 159.90      897.35          883.48      1109.3701 923.39      173.25      -            1,325.92    5,472.66      


Taylay 99.47        99.47           


Updike 256.71      212.76          469.47         


Valencia 56.41        364.58      378.40       799.39         


Vasquez 166.57112 1,087.28   1,714.91   -            2,968.76      


Wallace -            -               


Wells 140.14      15.64            -            155.78         


Witschi 184.25512 294.82      59.80        65.48        31.19      635.54         


Grand Totals 6,625.81    29,641.57      19,338.65  19,680.63  20,794.10  22,403.07  19,334.21  2,305.99  8,588.35    148,712.39  







Name 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022


Comp-time 


Liquidation


Total By 


Employee


Ashlock 235.37   1,891.32  145.14     2,271.83       


Borghesani 361.60   2,025.17    592.54     970.98     548.24     331.01     694.42       56.16       5,580.11       


Brazil 113.42     676.51     717.24     864.36     287.36       315.74     2,974.63       


Carranza -            1,000.73  1,092.88  949.19     1,539.21    539.21     5,121.22       


Douthit 7.11       949.54          956.65          


Garcia 4.38          4.38               


Huckaby 50.30         1,053.24  1,283.66  1,214.65  860.82     1,486.91    454.42     6,403.99       


King -              -            -                 


Moore-Skallerud 168.08   816.77       658.12     1,354.79  748.32     1,127.25  1,389.96    622.88     6,886.19       


Ojeda Willis -            28.22       1,080.56  1,495.30  1,359.12    318.12     4,281.32       


Parker 2.81          -            2.81               


Pitchford 151.71   792.94       577.90     744.29     611.52     639.20     777.36       399.50     833.22          5,527.63       


Russo 276.26   1,202.68    1,422.53  2,017.16  2,081.99  1,770.82  1,323.88    416.92     10,512.22     


Salazar 73.41       403.91       477.32          


Sosa 127.84     601.08     438.02     495.75     1,005.06    358.82     3,026.56       


Stricklin -            14.92       488.05       502.98          


Tellez 84.81     221.13       495.98     683.61     602.10     427.18     982.66       201.99     3,699.46       


Valdepena [3] -            -            20.46          -            20.46             


Grand Totals 1,284.95  7,000.30    5,186.70  9,361.01  9,138.33  9,049.20  11,758.37  3,688.14  1,782.76      58,249.76     


 


 







EXHIBIT B 







Name
Medical In-


Lieu[2]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay Regular hours in Paid Status Overtime hours
Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Ashlock 1,800.00 1,552.31 3,352.31 560.00 27.50 587.50 8.559089362 235.37         
Borghesani 1,800.00 1,598.88 3,398.88 560.00 42.75 602.75 8.458432186 361.60         
Douthit 1,332.40 1,332.40 560.00 2.00 562.00 3.556227758 7.11              
Moore-Skallerud 1,034.87 1,034.87 560.00 68.00 628.00 2.471823248 168.08         
Pitchford 1,332.40 1,332.40 560.00 46.00 606.00 3.298019802 151.71         
Russo 1,148.06 1,148.06 560.00 107.00 667.00 2.581844078 276.26         
Tellez 1,800.00 1,422.95 3,222.95 560.00 10.00 570.00 8.481447368 84.81           


1,284.95      
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name
Medical In-


Lieu[2]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Ashlock 7,200.00 3,279.24 10,479.24 2,080.00 284.50 2364.50 6.647857898 1,891.32      
Borghesani 7,200.00 3,107.81 10,307.81 2,080.00 313.50 2393.50 6.45987675 2,025.17      
Huckaby 4,200.00 1,740.02 5,940.02 1,321.00 7.50 1328.50 6.706834776 50.30            
Moore-Skallerud 4,061.88 4,061.88 2,080.00 322.00 2402.00 2.536561199 816.77         
Pitchford 4,187.05 4,187.05 2,080.00 300.55 2380.55 2.638287371 792.94         
Russo 3,408.60 3,408.60 2,080.00 639.75 2719.75 1.879915433 1,202.68      
Tellez 2,208.82 2,208.82 2,080.00 148.75 2228.75 1.486586652 221.13         


7,000.30      
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Ashlock 1,763.46 1,763.46 2,080.00 120.75 2200.75 1.201949335 145.14         
Borghesani 3,129.32 3,129.32 2,080.00 300.50 2380.50 1.971846251 592.54         
Brazil 1,418.09 1,418.09 1,020.90 57.50 1078.40 1.972491654 113.42         
Carranza 1,745.33 1,745.33 1,240.00 1240.00 2.11128629 -                
Huckaby 2,923.44 2,923.44 2,080.00 657.50 2737.50 1.601884932 1,053.24      
Moore-Skallerud 2,386.66 2,386.66 2,080.00 468.50 2548.50 1.404743967 658.12         
Ojeda Willis 0.00 0.00 80.00 0.00 80.00 0 -                
Pitchford 3,528.79 3,528.79 2,080.00 254.92 2334.92 2.26696632 577.90         
Russo 3,590.78 3,590.78 2,080.00 746.50 2826.50 1.905597028 1,422.53      
Sosa 1,309.01 1,309.01 1,120.00 78.00 1198.00 1.638994157 127.84         
Tellez 3,049.60 3,049.60 2,080.00 252.95 2332.95 1.960779271 495.98         


5,186.70      
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Borghesani 3,893.66 3,893.66 2,080.00 414.75 2494.75 2.341112336 970.98         
Brazil 3,450.51 3,450.51 2,080.00 312.75 2392.75 2.163103124 676.51         
Carranza 3,320.45 3,320.45 2,080.00 523.00 2603.00 1.91343642 1,000.73      
Huckaby 3,691.30 3,691.30 2,080.00 627.75 2707.75 2.044852738 1,283.66      
Moore-Skallerud 4,328.26 4,328.26 2,080.00 548.50 2628.50 2.469998098 1,354.79      
Ojeda Willis 3,279.23 3,279.23 2,080.00 12.00 2092.00 2.35126434 28.22           
Pitchford 4,055.09 4,055.09 2,080.00 290.00 2370.00 2.566512658 744.29         
Russo 4,639.38 4,639.38 2,080.00 849.00 2929.00 2.375920109 2,017.16      
Sosa 2,671.82 2,671.82 2,080.00 367.00 2447.00 1.637813649 601.08         
Tellez 4,255.09 4,255.09 2,080.00 249.50 2329.50 2.739916291 683.61         


9,361.01      
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Borghesani 4,972.91 4,972.91 2,080.00 165.00 2245.00 3.322657016 548.24         
Brazil 3,488.93 3,488.93 2,080.00 330.34 2410.34 2.171226881 717.24         
Carranza 3,885.80 3,885.80 2,080.00 480.00 2560.00 2.276835938 1,092.88      
Huckaby 4,511.56 4,511.56 2,080.00 455.00 2535.00 2.66956213 1,214.65      
Moore-Skallerud 3,878.93 3,878.93 2,080.00 307.00 2387.00 2.437534562 748.32         
Ojeda Willis 4,046.40 4,046.40 2,080.00 450.50 2530.50 2.398577356 1,080.56      
Parker 1,770.63 1,770.63 1,418.27 1.50 1419.77 1.870686801 2.81              
Pitchford 5,016.22 5,016.22 2,080.00 184.00 2264.00 3.323467314 611.52         
Russo 4,952.23 4,952.23 2,080.00 810.00 2890.00 2.570361592 2,081.99      
Sosa 3,367.39 3,367.39 2,080.00 197.50 2277.50 2.217819978 438.02         
Stricklin 1,192.00 1,192.00 864.00 0.00 864.00 2.069444444 -                
Tellez 3,980.85 3,980.85 2,080.00 233.25 2313.25 2.581335783 602.10         
Valdepena [3] 0.00 0.00 2,080.00 0.00 2080.00 0 -                


9,138.33      
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name
Medical In-


Lieu[2]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Borghesani 5,169.43 5,169.43 2,080.00 92.75 2172.75 3.568816017 331.01         
Brazil 3,943.03 3,943.03 2,080.00 356.00 2436.00 2.427974138 864.36         
Carranza 4,242.12 4,242.12 2,080.00 364.67 2444.67 2.602878916 949.19         
Huckaby 4,207.56 4,207.56 2,080.00 328.50 2408.50 2.62044426 860.82         
Moore-Skallerud 5,163.99 5,163.99 2,080.00 354.25 2434.25 3.182082777 1,127.25      
Ojeda Willis 4,123.11 4,123.11 2,080.00 663.25 2743.25 2.254502871 1,495.30      
Parker 715.20 715.20 221.50 0.00 221.50 4.843340858 -                
Pitchford 4,355.40 4,355.40 2,080.00 225.58 2305.58 2.833603692 639.20         
Russo 4,829.18 4,829.18 2,080.00 673.00 2753.00 2.631227752 1,770.82      
Salazar 1,462.67 1,462.67 2,080.00 72.00 2152.00 1.019519052 73.41            
Sosa 3,709.88 3,709.88 2,080.00 203.42 2283.42 2.437054944 495.75         
Stricklin 3,458.81 3,458.81 2,080.00 6.00 2086.00 2.487159636 14.92            
Tellez 4,143.75 4,143.75 2,080.00 153.50 2233.50 2.782907992 427.18         
Valdepena [3] 3,825.00 0.00 3,825.00 2,080.00 0.00 2080.00 2.758413462 -                


9,049.20      
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name
Medical In-


Lieu[2]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Borghesani 5,639.96 5,639.96 2,080.00 186.00 2266.00 3.733424537 694.42         
Brazil 3,252.97 3,252.97 2,080.00 130.16 2210.16 2.207738354 287.36         
Carranza 5,447.41 5,447.41 2,080.00 482.75 2562.75 3.18841674 1,539.21      
Huckaby 5,220.70 5,220.70 2,080.00 487.50 2567.50 3.05006816 1,486.91      
King 0.00 0.00 124.00 0.00 124.00 0 -                
Moore-Skallerud 5,593.51 5,593.51 2,080.00 413.00 2493.00 3.365529483 1,389.96      
Ojeda Willis 5,153.18 5,153.18 2,080.00 443.75 2523.75 3.062811293 1,359.12      
Pitchford 4,923.90 4,923.90 2,080.00 244.67 2324.67 3.177160629 777.36         
Russo 5,258.70 5,258.70 2,080.00 419.50 2499.50 3.15585117 1,323.88      
Salazar 2,632.79 2,632.79 1,084.00 123.50 1207.50 3.270546584 403.91         
Sosa 5,301.15 5,301.15 2,080.00 300.94 2380.94 3.339741867 1,005.06      
Stricklin 2,786.06 2,786.06 1,280.00 169.25 1449.25 2.883622563 488.05         
Tellez 5,739.54 5,739.54 2,080.00 268.00 2348.00 3.666656729 982.66         
Valdepena [3] 3,000.00 3,000.00 2,080.00 9.50 2089.50 2.153625269 20.46            


11,758.37    
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name
Medical In-


Lieu[2]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Borghesani 1,235.54 1,235.54 320.00 10.00 330.00 5.616090909 56.16            
Brazil 1,139.57 1,139.57 320.00 72.50 392.50 4.355044586 315.74         
Carranza 1,302.36 1,302.36 320.00 122.00 442.00 4.419773756 539.21         
Garcia 937.52 937.52 320.00 1 321.00 4.380934579 4.38              
Huckaby 1,302.36 1,302.36 320.00 97 417.00 4.684748201 454.42         
King 1,071.45 1,071.45 320.00 0.00 320.00 5.022421875 -                
Moore-Skallerud 1,331.67 1,331.67 320.00 145 465.00 4.295709677 622.88         
Ojeda Willis 1,240.35 1,240.35 320.00 66 386.00 4.820012953 318.12         
Pitchford 1,331.67 1,331.67 320.00 80 400.00 4.9937625 399.50         
Russo 1,154.22 1,154.22 320.00 101.5 421.50 4.107544484 416.92         
Sosa 1,302.37 1,302.37 320.00 72 392.00 4.983558673 358.82         
Tellez 1,331.67 1,331.67 320.00 36 356.00 5.610969101 201.99         
Valdepena [3] 900.00 0.00 900.00 320.00 0 320.00 4.21875 -                


3,688.14      
[1]Rate does not affect the holiday pay calculation. Total paid is reflected because rates differ depending on whether the holiday is worked or not.
[2]Previously included in RRP calculation. Medical in-lieu starting December 2016 (exception Comm Safety Spec).
[3]Community Safety Specialist. Does not receive Holiday Pay in lieu of time off.







Name CT Payout Date
Most recent 
work week Hours Rate Total Paid Base Rate


Hrs. in paid 
status


 Straight-
time pay 


Holiday 
Pay inc.


 Other incentive pays 
(longv, Shift Diff, Disp 
trainer, MIL, Acting, 


Ed inc.) Total Pay RRP CT Payout  Diff. Due 
Douthit 1/15/2016 12/21-12/27/15 121.14 33.31 4,035.15    32.3396 42 1,358.26 266.48 103.48 1,728.22 41.15      4,984.69    949.54     
Pitchford 2/23/2018 2/8-2/15/18 70 34.143 2,389.98    34.1425 64 2,185.12 161.18 2,346.30 36.66      2,566.27    176.29     
Pitchford 7/27/2018 7/12-7/19/18 60 35.167 2,110.01    35.1668 50 1,758.34 171.51 1,929.85 38.60      2,315.82    205.81     
Pitchford 11/16/2018 11/1-11/8/18 24 35.167 844.00       35.1668 48 1,688.01 178.53 1,866.54 38.89      933.27       89.26        
Pitchford 8/23/2019 8/8-8/15/18 30 36.222 1,086.65    36.2218 44 1,593.76 240.3 1,834.06 41.68      1,250.49    163.84     
Pitchford 10/15/2021 9/30-10/7/21 50 40.699 2,034.94    40.6988 46 1,872.14 182.17 2,054.31 44.66      2,232.95    198.01     


1,782.76  
Row Labels Sum of Diff. Due
Douthit 949.5403149
Pitchford 833.2194037
Grand Total 1782.759719


Comp-time Liquidation Payment Comp-time Liquidation at RRP







Name Hourly [1]
Medical In-


Lieu
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Avery 48.0173 1,478.93 1,478.93 560.00 30 590.00 3.759998746 112.80         
Blume 40.9922 1,800.00 1,262.56 3,062.56 560.00 110.75 670.75 6.848810496 758.51         
Breckenridge 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 141.00 701.00 2.701625735 380.93         
Corcoran 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 95.50 655.50 2.889152769 275.91         
Deaver 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 121.00 681.00 2.780968634 336.50         
Duggan 40.9922 1,350.00 1,262.56 2,612.56 560.00 37.00 597.00 6.564220503 242.88         
Engle 48.0173 1,800.00 1,478.93 3,278.93 560.00 52.25 612.25 8.033318514 419.74         
Fernandez 40.9922 1,800.00 1,262.56 3,062.56 560.00 9.50 569.50 8.066443617 76.63           
Fodor, C 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 116.00 676.00 2.801537929 324.98         
Jensen 48.0173 1,800.00 1,478.93 3,278.93 560.00 50.00 610.00 8.062949607 403.15         
Johantgen 48.0173 1,478.93 1,478.93 560.00 64.00 624.00 3.555127019 227.53         
Johnson C 40.9922 180.37 180.37 60.00 0.00 60.00 4.509142 -                
Keister 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 37.25 597.25 3.170932842 118.12         
Lew 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 126.00 686.00 2.760699184 347.85         
Lopez 48.0173 1,800.00 1,478.93 3,278.93 560.00 0.00 560.00 8.782855821 -                
Myovich 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 75.50 635.50 2.980078112 225.00         
Palmini 48.0173 1,478.93 1,478.93 560.00 139.00 699.00 3.173675622 441.14         
Roberts, J 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 100.00 660.00 2.869454 286.95         
Rogers 40.9922 1,800.00 1,262.56 3,062.56 560.00 160.00 720.00 6.380332833 1,020.85      
Rude 40.9922 721.46 721.46 280.00 19.25 299.25 3.616354486 69.61           
Takacs 48.0173 1,478.93 1,478.93 560.00 43.50 603.50 3.675889412 159.90         
Updike 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 338.00 53.00 391.00 4.843579642 256.71         
Wallace 48.0173 1,478.93 1,478.93 180.00 0.00 180.00 12.32444033 -                
Wells 40.9922 1,262.56 1,262.56 560.00 44.75 604.75 3.131607507 140.14         


6,625.81     
[1]Top step of classification effective November 2015







Name Hourly [1]
Medical In-


Lieu
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Avery 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 135.75 2215.75 3.811692348 517.44         
Bash 42.017 1,294.12 1,294.12 560.00 34 594.00 3.267988889 111.11         
Blume 42.017 7,200.00 4,806.74 12,006.74 2,080.00 332.75 2412.75 7.464560025 2,483.83      
Breckenridge 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,062.00 386.25 2448.25 2.945008557 1,137.51      
Corcoran 42.017 7,200.00 4,806.74 12,006.74 2,080.00 570.50 2650.50 6.794988568 3,876.54      
Deaver 42.017 3,512.62 3,512.62 24.00 24.00 219.538825 -                
Duggan 42.017 450.00 4,806.74 5,256.74 2,080.00 328.50 2408.50 3.273870542 1,075.47      
Engle 49.2177 7,200.00 5,630.50 12,830.50 2,080.00 96.00 2176.00 8.844557592 849.08         
Fernandez 42.017 7,200.00 4,806.74 12,006.74 2,080.00 492.75 2572.75 7.000337071 3,449.42      
Fodor, C 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 365.75 2445.75 2.94801889 1,078.24      
Jensen 49.2177 1,200.00 649.67 1,849.67 224.00 88.00 312.00 8.892661731 782.55         
Johantgen 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 146.50 2226.50 3.793288713 555.72         
Keister 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,066.00 257.5 2323.50 3.103127695 799.06         
Lew 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 519.25 2599.25 2.77392217 1,440.36      
Lopez 49.2177 7,200.00 5,630.50 12,830.50 2,000.00 21.50 2021.50 9.520532931 204.69         
Myovich 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 448.50 2528.50 2.851539332 1,278.92      
Palmini 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,063.00 606.00 2669.00 3.164390154 1,917.62      
Porter 42.017 739.50 739.50 296.00 296.00 3.747462162 -                
Roberts, J 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 361.00 2441.00 2.95375551 1,066.31      
Rogers 49.2177 7,200.00 5,630.50 12,830.50 2,080.00 429.50 2509.50 7.66916012 3,293.90      
Rude 42.017 6,000.00 4,806.74 10,806.74 2,080.00 397.00 2477.00 6.544254017 2,598.07      
Takacs 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 247.27 2327.27 3.629040601 897.35         
Updike 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 296.00 9.00 305.00 23.63972852 212.76         
Wells 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 1,840.00 4.00 1844.00 3.910041866 15.64           


29,641.57   
[1]Top step of classification effective November 2016







Name Hourly [1]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Avery 49.2177 2,815.25 2,815.25 1,040.00 74.25 1114.25 3.789884371 281.40         
Bash 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 1,653.00 58.75 1711.75 4.212132145 247.46         
Blume 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 223.25 2303.25 3.13041016 698.86         
Breckenridge 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 473.00 2553.00 2.824174383 1,335.83      
Corcoran 42.017 1,294.12 1,294.12 560.00 63.00 623.00 3.115867416 196.30         
Dalao 42.017 184.87 184.87 80.00 80.00 3.4664025 -                
Duggan 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 382.25 2462.25 2.928263661 1,119.33      
Engle 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 181 2261.00 3.188906325 577.19         
Fernandez 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 285.5 2365.50 3.048030945 870.21         
Fodor, C 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 284.75 2364.75 3.048997653 868.20         
Johantgen 49.2177 2,598.69 2,598.69 708.00 46 754.00 5.169816764 237.81         
Keister 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 394.67 2474.67 2.913567142 1,149.90      
Lew 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 579.75 2659.75 2.710825153 1,571.60      
Lopez 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 77.25 2157.25 3.915057281 302.44         
Ly 42.017 1,294.12 1,294.12 560.00 26.25 586.25 3.311190448 86.92           
Myovich 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 550 2630.00 2.74148943 1,507.82      
Palmini 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 582.25 2662.25 3.172413305 1,847.14      
Porter 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 507.5 2587.50 2.786518725 1,414.16      
Roberts, J 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 314.42 2394.42 3.527266444 1,109.04      
Rogers 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 822 2902.00 2.910322991 2,392.29      
Rude 42.017 4,806.74 4,806.74 2,080.00 169 2249.00 3.205921387 541.80         
Takacs 49.2177 5,630.50 5,630.50 2,080.00 243 2323.00 3.635711287 883.48         
Taylay 42.017 2,218.50 2,218.50 925.00 28.5 953.50 3.490032931 99.47           
Wells 42.017 3,697.50 3,697.50 0.00 0.00 0 -                


19,338.65   
[1]Top step of classification effective November 2017







Name Hourly [1] Holiday Pay Total Add'l Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status


Overtime 
hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Bash 44.5758 4,314.94 4,314.94 32.00 0 32.00 202.2626925 -                
Blume 52.2151 5,973.41 5,973.41 2,080.00 240 2320.00 3.862116879 926.91         
Breckenridge 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 429.75 2509.75 3.047796506 1,309.79      
Dalao 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 82.25 2162.25 3.537614651 290.97         
Dean 44.5758 196.13 196.13 960.00 0 960.00 0.306458625 -                
Duggan 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 398.5 2478.50 3.086224442 1,229.86      
Engle 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,024.00 237.75 2261.75 3.381986197 804.07         
Fernandez 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 31.5 2111.50 3.622641383 114.11         
Fodor, C 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 122.5 2202.50 3.472965848 425.44         
Hastings 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 181 2261.00 3.383108041 612.34         
Keister 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 230.59 2310.59 3.310499604 763.37         
Lew 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 486.75 2566.75 2.980113872 1,450.57      
Lopez 52.2151 5,973.41 5,973.41 2,080.00 66.5 2146.50 4.174288917 277.59         
Ly 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 155.4 2235.40 3.421851695 531.76         
Myovich 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 260.5 2340.50 3.268193668 851.36         
Palmini 52.2151 5,973.41 5,973.41 2,080.00 1037 3117.00 2.874594533 2,980.95      
Porter 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 343.5 2423.50 3.156264609 1,084.18      
Roberts, J 52.2151 5,973.41 5,973.41 2,080.00 281 2361.00 3.795049199 1,066.41      
Rogers 52.2151 5,973.41 5,973.41 2,080.00 946 3026.00 2.961041362 2,801.15      
Rude 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 24 2104.00 3.635554791 87.25            
Shavies 44.5758 2,745.87 2,745.87 1,108.00 193.5 1301.50 3.164659178 612.36         
Takacs 52.2151 5,973.41 5,973.41 2,080.00 293.92 2373.92 3.77439474 1,109.37      
Vasquez 44.5758 2,549.74 2,549.74 1,120.00 51 1171.00 3.266100461 166.57         
Witschi 44.5758 5,099.47 5,099.47 2,080.00 51.34 2131.34 3.588919309 184.26         


19,680.63   
[1]Top step of classification effective November 2018







Name
Hourly 


[1]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Blume 53.7815 6,152.60 6,152.60 1,700.00 213.5 1913.50 4.823049595 1,029.72      
Breckenridge 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 536.75 2616.75 3.010867664 1,616.08      
Dalao 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 67 2147.00 3.669626437 245.86         
Dean 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 271.5 2351.50 3.350494561 909.66         
Delgado 45.9131 3,030.26 3,030.26 1,200.00 157.01 1357.01 3.349567726 525.92         
Duggan 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 341.5 2421.50 3.253639463 1,111.12      
Engle 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 203.5 2283.50 3.45026843 702.13         
Fernandez 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 72.5 2152.50 3.660249923 265.37         
Fodor, C 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 229.25 2309.25 3.411795154 782.15         
Hastings 45.9131 1,818.16 1,818.16 642.00 47 689.00 3.958255646 186.04         
Keister 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 1,286.05 174.75 1460.80 5.393406325 942.50         
Lew 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 133.5 2213.50 3.559380149 475.18         
Lopez 53.7815 6,152.60 6,152.60 2,080.00 50.01 2130.01 4.332799095 216.68         
Ly 45.9131 4,040.35 4,040.35 1,580.00 198 1778.00 3.408621597 674.91         
Myovich 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 181 2261.00 3.484603255 630.71         
Palmini 53.7815 6,152.60 6,152.60 2,080.00 887 2967.00 3.110517492 2,759.03      
Porter 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 109.6 2189.60 3.598231622 394.37         
Powell  45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 65.75 2145.75 3.671764166 241.42         
Roberts, J 53.7815 6,152.60 6,152.60 2,080.00 179.75 2259.75 4.084038234 734.11         
Rogers 53.7815 6,152.60 6,152.60 2,080.00 870.75 2950.75 3.127647344 2,723.40      
Rude 45.9131 1,414.12 1,414.12 560.00 560.00 3.78783075 -                
Shavies 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 892.00 170.75 1062.75 7.413491376 1,265.85      
Takacs 53.7815 6,152.60 6,152.60 2,080.00 231.25 2311.25 3.993036409 923.39         
Valencia 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 15 2095.00 3.760710243 56.41           
Vasquez 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 333 2413.00 3.265100688 1,087.28      
Witschi 45.9131 5,252.46 5,252.46 2,080.00 80.86 2160.86 3.646089039 294.82         


20,794.10   
[1]Top step of classification effective November 2019







Name
Hourly 


[1]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status


Overtime 
hours


Total Hrs 
in Paid FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Blume 57.0084 6,521.76 6,521.76 1,828.00 322 2150.00 4.550065786 1,465.12      
Breckenridge 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 411.25 2491.25 3.352297698 1,378.63      
Dalao 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 264.5 2344.50 3.562129085 942.18         
Dean 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 291 2371.00 3.52231617 1,024.99      
Dearing 48.6679 4,711.05 4,711.05 360.00 28 388.00 18.21283268 509.96         
Delgado 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 692.5 2772.50 3.01223143 2,085.97      
Duggan 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 340.25 2420.25 3.450640074 1,174.08      
Engle 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 231.25 2311.25 3.613374425 835.59         
Fernandez 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,036.00 171.75 2207.75 3.782770531 649.69         
Fodor, C 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 298.5 2378.50 3.511209435 1,048.10      
Keister 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 0.00 0.00 0 -                
Lew 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 468 2548.00 3.277634082 1,533.93      
Lopez 57.0084 6,521.76 6,521.76 2,080.00 12.25 2092.25 4.675656083 57.28           
Louis 48.6679 428.28 428.28 160.00 160.00 4.01510175 -                
Myovich 48.6679 3,036.88 3,036.88 523.88 48 571.88 7.965509268 382.34         
Palmini 57.0084 6,521.76 6,521.76 2,080.00 593.5 2673.50 3.65911406 2,171.68      
Peterson 48.6679 1,927.25 1,927.25 640.00 28.5 668.50 4.324417741 123.25         
Porter 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 142.51 2222.51 3.757648623 535.50         
Powell  48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 220.25 2300.25 3.630653903 799.65         
Roberts, A 48.6679 4,711.05 4,711.05 1,712.00 151.51 1863.51 3.792080043 574.54         
Roberts, J 57.0084 6,521.76 6,521.76 2,080.00 174 2254.00 4.340124862 755.18         
Rogers 57.0084 6,521.76 6,521.76 2,080.00 549 2629.00 3.721050377 2,042.86      
Shavies 48.6679 4,068.64 4,068.64 315.50 315.50 19.34375487 -                
Takacs 57.0084 6,521.76 6,521.76 2,080.00 37.5 2117.50 4.619901506 173.25         
Valencia 48.6679 1,070.69 1,070.69 332.00 97.5 429.50 3.739326426 364.58         
Vasquez 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 1,844.00 476.5 2320.50 3.598970756 1,714.91      
Witschi 48.6679 5,567.61 5,567.61 2,080.00 15 2095.00 3.986354005 59.80           


22,403.07   
[1]Top step of classification effective November 2020







Name Hourly [1]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Blume 60.4289 6,913.07 6,913.07 2,000.00 16.5 2016.50 5.142375026 84.85           
Breckenridge 60.4289 6,913.07 6,913.07 2,080.00 213.50 2293.50 4.521298993 965.30         
Dalao 60.4289 6,913.07 6,913.07 2,080.00 148.5 2228.50 4.65317444 691.00         
Dean 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 210 2290.00 3.865720873 811.80         
Dearing 51.588 4,085.77 4,085.77 1,384.00 298 1682.00 3.643670868 1,085.81      
Delgado 51.588 5,447.69 5,447.69 1,877.00 446.5 2323.50 3.51690949 1,570.30      
Duggan 60.4289 6,913.07 6,913.07 2,080.00 377.75 2457.75 4.219143216 1,593.78      
Engle 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 400.25 2480.25 3.569196976 1,428.57      
Eubanks 51.588 3,858.78 3,858.78 760.00 37 797.00 7.262451192 268.71         
Fernandez 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 552.00 552.00 16.03713913 -                
Fodor, C 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 308 2388.00 3.707077387 1,141.78      
Fodor, T 51.588 453.97 453.97 154.00 1 155.00 4.393300645 4.39              
Keister 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 703.98 703.98 12.57493224 -                
Lew 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 473 2553.00 3.467489542 1,640.12      
Louis 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 204.75 2284.75 3.874603698 793.33         
Palmini 60.4289 6,913.07 6,913.07 1,580.00 274.75 1854.75 5.590833934 1,536.08      
Peterson 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 260.62 2340.62 3.7821179 985.70         
Porter 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 1,694.00 125.6 1819.60 4.865080677 611.05         
Powell  51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 202.7 2282.70 3.878083322 786.09         
Roberts, A 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 427.83 2507.83 3.529944534 1,510.22      
Roberts, J 60.4289 6,913.07 6,913.07 2,080.00 183.75 2263.75 4.5807175 841.71         
Rogers 60.4289 3,190.65 3,190.65 2,080.00 493.75 2573.75 1.859531376 918.14         
Takacs 60.4289 3,190.65 3,190.65 920.00 0 920.00 5.202140087 -                
Vasquez 51.588 3,177.82 3,177.82 844.00 0 844.00 5.647785782 -                
Witschi 51.588 5,901.67 5,901.67 2,080.00 15.5 2095.50 4.224529134 65.48           


19,334.21   
[1]Top step of classification effective November 2021







Name Hourly [1]
Holiday 


Pay
Total Add'l 


Pay
Regular hours 
in Paid Status Overtime hours


Total Hrs in 
Paid Status FLSA Factor FLSA OT


Blume 60.4289 1,063.55 1,063.55 320.00 320.00 4.98538425 -                
Breckenridge 54.8107 964.67 964.67 320.00 24.00 344.00 4.206402558 100.95         
Dalao 54.8107 964.67 964.67 320.00 28.09 348.09 4.156978023 116.77         
Dean 49.1314 864.71 864.71 320.00 27 347.00 3.737950893 100.92         
Duggan 54.8107 964.67 964.67 320.00 14 334.00 4.332342754 60.65           
Engle 51.588 907.95 907.95 320.00 44.5 364.50 3.736414815 166.27         
Eubanks 44.5635 784.32 784.32 320.00 86.75 406.75 2.892382053 250.91         
Fernandez 51.588 907.95 907.95 320.00 3.5 323.50 4.209963524 14.73           
Fodor, C 51.588 907.95 907.95 320.00 18 338.00 4.02935858 72.53           
Fodor, T 46.7917 823.53 823.53 320.00 88 408.00 3.027698235 266.44         
Keister 51.588 907.95 907.95 320.00 320.00 4.25601 -                
Lew 51.588 907.95 907.95 320.00 59 379.00 3.593464908 212.01         
Louis 44.5635 784.32 784.32 320.00 33 353.00 3.332794334 109.98         
Palmini 60.4289 1,063.55 1,063.55 0.00 0.00 0 -                
Peterson 44.5635 784.32 784.32 320.00 46.5 366.50 3.210031105 149.27         
Porter 51.588 907.95 907.95 320.00 320.00 4.25601 -                
Powell  46.7917 823.53 823.53 320.00 8 328.00 3.76616122 30.13           
Roberts, A 46.7917 823.53 823.53 320.00 4 324.00 3.812657037 15.25           
Roberts, J 60.4289 1,063.55 1,063.55 320.00 23 343.00 4.651087347 106.98         
Rogers 60.4289 1,063.55 1,063.55 320.00 146.5 466.50 3.419770547 501.00         
Witschi 51.588 907.95 907.95 320.00 7.5 327.50 4.158544122 31.19           


2,305.99     
[1]Current salary step.







Name CT Payout Date Pay Period Dates Hours Rate Total Paid Base Rate
Hrs. in paid 


status
 Straight-
time pay 


Holiday Pay 
inc. calc.


 Other 
incentive pays Total Pay RRP CT Payout  Diff. Due 


Avery 11/4/2016 10/17-10/30/16 87 53.16$  4,624.49$ 49.22$       104 5,118.64$ -$           418.84$           5,537.48$    53.25$    4,632.32$ 7.82$            
Blume 12/1/2017 11/13-11/26/17 38 43.28$  1,644.64$ 42.02$       86 3,613.46$ 873.95$     435.45$           4,922.87$    57.24$    2,175.22$ 530.58$        
Blume 5/18/2018 4/30-5/13/18 12 43.28$  519.33$     43.28$       104 4,500.86$ -$           438.48$           4,939.34$    47.49$    569.92$     50.59$          
Breckenridge 11/20/2015 11/2-11/15/15 18 37.18$  669.26$     37.18$       98.75 3,671.62$ 386.68$     -$                  4,058.31$    41.10$    739.74$     70.48$          
Breckenridge 7/15/2016 6/27-7/10/16 38 40.02$  1,520.62$ 40.02$       95.5 3,821.55$ 416.17$     -$                  4,237.72$    44.37$    1,686.21$ 165.60$        
Breckenridge 2/24/2017 2/6-2/19/17 40 40.02$  1,600.65$ 40.02$       105.5 4,221.71$ -$           288.12$           4,509.83$    42.75$    1,709.89$ 109.24$        
Breckenridge 4/21/2017 4/3-4/16/17 40 40.02$  1,600.65$ 40.02$       100 4,001.62$ -$           160.06$           4,161.68$    41.62$    1,664.67$ 64.02$          
Breckenridge 5/5/2017 4/17-4/30/17 40 40.02$  1,600.65$ 40.02$       84 3,361.36$ -$           160.06$           3,521.42$    41.92$    1,676.87$ 76.22$          
Breckenridge 6/2/2017 5/15-5/28/17 40 40.02$  1,600.65$ 40.02$       100.5 4,021.63$ -$           272.12$           4,293.75$    42.72$    1,708.95$ 108.31$        
Breckenridge 9/8/2017 8/21-9/3/17 40 40.02$  1,600.65$ 40.02$       101 4,041.63$ -$           160.06$           4,201.69$    41.60$    1,664.04$ 63.39$          
Breckenridge 10/6/2017 9/18-10/1/17 50 40.02$  2,000.81$ 40.02$       110.5 4,421.79$ -$           288.12$           4,709.91$    42.62$    2,131.18$ 130.37$        
Breckenridge 4/20/2018 4/2-4/15/18 40 41.22$  1,648.67$ 41.22$       97.5 4,018.62$ -$           164.87$           4,183.49$    42.91$    1,716.30$ 67.64$          
Breckenridge 7/13/2018 6/25-7/8/18 10 43.28$  432.77$     41.22$       86 3,544.63$ 428.65$     164.87$           4,138.15$    48.12$    481.18$     48.41$          
Breckenridge 9/6/2019 8/19-9/1/19 40 45.91$  1,836.52$ 45.91$       99 4,545.40$ -$           183.65$           4,729.05$    47.77$    1,910.73$ 74.20$          
Dalao 3/22/2019 3/4-3/17/19 0.25 57.76$  14.44$       38.51$       88.5 3,407.80$ -$           560.30$           3,968.10$    44.84$    11.21$       (3.23)$           
Engle 8/9/2019 7/22-8/4/19 60.47 45.91$  2,776.37$ 45.91$       92 4,224.01$ -$           214.04$           4,438.05$    48.24$    2,917.05$ 140.68$        
Fodor, C 11/6/2015 10/19-11/1/15 8 40.99$  327.94$     40.99$       83.5 3,422.85$ -$           398.99$           3,821.84$    45.77$    366.16$     38.23$          
Jensen 2/12/2016 1/25-2/7/16 41.5 49.46$  2,052.50$ 49.46$       92 4,550.12$ -$           380.77$           4,930.89$    53.60$    2,224.26$ 171.76$        
Johantgen 7/1/2016 6/13-6/26/16 122.3 45.73$  5,591.49$ 45.73$       84 3,841.38$ -$           103.85$           3,945.23$    46.97$    5,742.66$ 151.16$        
Johantgen 5/5/2017 4/17-4/30/17 119.3 46.87$  5,590.66$ 46.87$       84 3,937.42$ -$           291.35$           4,228.77$    50.34$    6,004.34$ 413.68$        
Keister 7/15/2016 6/27-7/10/16 80 38.11$  3,048.84$ 38.11$       144 5,487.91$ 396.35$     208.65$           6,092.91$    42.31$    3,384.95$ 336.11$        
Keister 4/7/2017 3/20-4/2/17 9 40.02$  360.15$     40.02$       96.75 3,871.57$ 416.17$     217.75$           4,505.49$    46.57$    419.11$     58.97$          
Keister 5/19/2017 5/1-5/14/17 85 40.02$  3,401.38$ 40.02$       102.5 4,101.66$ -$           153.73$           4,255.39$    41.52$    3,528.86$ 127.48$        
Porter 8/9/2019 7/22-8/4/19 80 39.66$  3,172.91$ 39.66$       88.5 3,510.03$ -$           491.27$           4,001.30$    45.21$    3,617.00$ 444.09$        
Porter 9/20/2019 9/2-9/15/19 80 41.64$  3,331.55$ 41.64$       108 4,497.60$ 433.10$     409.57$           5,340.27$    49.45$    3,955.75$ 624.20$        
Porter 4/3/2020 3/16-3/29/20 80 41.64$  3,331.55$ 41.64$       90 3,748.00$ 433.10$     501.19$           4,682.29$    52.03$    4,162.03$ 830.48$        
Porter 8/7/2020 7/20-8/2/20 50 46.35$  2,317.52$ 46.35$       93.25 4,322.17$ -$           686.87$           5,009.04$    53.72$    2,685.81$ 368.29$        
Porter 10/2/2020 9/14-9/27/20 80 46.35$  3,708.02$ 46.35$       96 4,449.63$ -$           733.22$           5,182.85$    53.99$    4,319.04$ 611.02$        
Powell  12/13/2019 11/25-12/8/19 25 37.77$  944.32$     37.77$       96 3,626.18$ 785.67$     57.69$             4,469.54$    46.56$    1,163.94$ 219.63$        
Powell  4/3/2020 3/16-3/29/20 32.66 37.77$  1,233.66$ 37.77$       84.00$       3,172.91$ 392.84$     57.69$             3,623.44$    43.14$    1,408.83$ 175.17$        
Powell  12/24/2021 12/6-12/19/21 60 46.79$  2,807.50$ 46.79$       133.75 6,258.39$ 973.27$     385.24$           7,616.90$    56.95$    3,416.93$ 609.42$        
Takacs 12/1/2017 11/13-11/26/17 40 51.68$  2,067.14$ 49.22$       106 5,217.08$ 1,023.73$  300.72$           6,541.53$    61.71$    2,468.50$ 401.36$        
Takacs 11/16/2018 10/29-11/11/18 40 52.22$  2,088.60$ 52.22$       116.5 6,083.06$ -$           312.71$           6,395.77$    54.90$    2,195.97$ 107.37$        
Takacs 1/25/2019 1/7-1/20/19 25 52.22$  1,305.38$ 52.22$       81.5 4,255.53$ -$           291.82$           4,547.35$    55.80$    1,394.89$ 89.52$          
Takacs 12/13/2019 11/25-12/8/19 50 53.78$  2,689.08$ 53.78$       84 4,517.65$ 1,118.66$  103.85$           5,740.16$    68.34$    3,416.76$ 727.68$        
Valencia 3/6/2020 2/17-3/1/20 76.5 37.77$  2,889.61$ 37.77$       84.00$       3,172.91$ 392.84$     22.66$             3,588.40$    42.72$    3,268.01$ 378.40$        


8,588.35$    
Row Labels Sum of Diff. Due
Avery 7.821969231
Blume 581.1737658
Breckenridge 977.8778843
Dalao -3.230506638
Engle 140.6847696
Jensen 171.7603804
Johantgen 564.845881
Keister 522.5632422
Porter 2878.080317
Takacs 1325.923772
Valencia 378.3982157
Powell  1004.21915
Fodor, C 38.22658683
Grand Total 8588.345427


Comp-time Liquidation Payment Comp-time Liquidation at RRP







EXHIBIT C 







EXHIBIT C  


ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM 


I am a present or former employee of the City of Pinole’s Police Department. I, the undersigned, 


hereby acknowledge that I understand and agree to the terms and conditions contained in this 


Settlement Agreement and Release, as set forth in the above eleven (11) page Agreement and the 


referenced Exhibits A, B, C and D. I acknowledge and agree by my signature below to accept any 


compensation I receive pursuant to the damage calculation methodologies therein as a taxable wage 


payment for back wages and as full settlement of any and all claims for unpaid wages in violation 


of the Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) between the City of Pinole (“City”) and the 


Pinole Police Employees Association, the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and/or any other 


claim for unpaid wages arising under any applicable federal and/or state law that I have or may 


have had with the City of Pinole through the date I execute this form. 


 
I understand that my acceptance of the wage payment means that I agree that I have been 


compensated in full for any unpaid wages that may be due to me under the MOU, the FLSA and/or 


any other applicable state or federal law. The FLSA provides that an employee may bring suit on 


his or her behalf for unpaid minimum wages and/or compensation, as well as an equal amount as 


liquidated damages, plus attorney’s fees and court costs. Generally, a 2-year statute of limitations 


applies to the recovery of back wages. 


 
By signing below, I am agreeing to the terms of the Settlement Agreement and General Release. 


I understand that by agreeing to the terms of those documents, that the City’s payment of 


Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000.00) to the law firm of Rains Lucia Stern St. Phalle & Silver, 


constitutes a full and complete settlement of my claims against the City. I accept this settlement 


as fair and reasonable and understand that it is intended to compensate me for all compensation 


allegedly owed, all amounts allegedly owed for liquidated damages, a one-year extension of the 


statute of limitations, interest, attorneys’ fees and costs and any and all other damages or relief 


potentially recoverable under the MOU, the FLSA and/or any other applicable federal or state 


wage and hour law. 


 


Having been afforded the opportunity to consult with counsel, I voluntarily enter into this 


Settlement Agreement and Release after investigating the facts as I saw fit and based upon my 


own decision. Prior to signing this acknowledgement, I had the opportunity to consult with legal 


counsel if I so desired regarding how signing this Acknowledgement affects my rights and 


obligations.  No one forced me to sign below. 


 
I certify under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 


 
Dated:       


Police Employee (Signature) 
 


 
 


 


Police Employee (Print Name) 







EXHIBIT D 







Payroll calculation at RRP


1336.6452 Step 1 $30.3783/hr x 44 hrs in paid status Payroll Detail: 7/12/19 Payroll: 6/24/19-7/7/19 Pay Period 7-Day Payroll payment Incentive pays


364.5400 Step 2 Incentive pays 364.54 Holiday Pay 364.54


1215.13 Hourly


1,701.19 Step 3 Step 1 + Step 2 182.27 4 hrs Overtime


38.6633 Step 4 Step 3 /44 hrs in paid status= Regular rate of pay 1761.9398 Paid 364.54 Total incentive pays


231.98 Step 5 (Step 4 x 1.5) x 4 overtime hrs


WORK PERIOD


FROM: 6/27/2019


TO: 7/4/2019


5% rate Hours Pay 5% rate Hours Pay Holiday Medical Incentives


Hourly Educ Inc Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Shift Diff Shift Diff Shift Diff Pay In Lieu Total* FLSA Factor Hours in FLSA Hrs FLSA OT


Paid status


Ojeda-Willits 30.3783 1.5189 0 0 .0000 0 0 364.54        364.54 12.4275 44 4 49.7100


*Incentive pays built into the overtime rate are not to be included in this FLSA true up calculation.







Payroll calculation at RRP Payroll Detail: 7/12/19 Payroll: 6/24/19-7/7/19 Incentive Pays
3080.49 Step 1 $36.6725/hr x 84 hrs in paid status
535.42 Step 2 Incentive pays


3,615.91 Step 3 Step 1 + Step 2 7.33 S/T portion of Shift Differential OT
43.0465 Step 4 Step 3 /84 hrs in paid status= Regular rate of pay 146.69 Shift Differential


7/4/19 Holiday Pay-paid 2x a year 381.39 381.39 Holiday Pay
258.28 Step 5 (Step 4 x 1.5) x 4 overtime hrs Total Paid 3,692.92$  535.41 Total incentive pays


7/12/19 Payroll: 6/24-7/7/19 5% 5%
NAME Hourly Educ Inc Medical Holiday Rate Hrs Pay Rate Hrs Pay Incentives FLSA Hours in FLSA FLSA OT FLSA OT FLSA OT


In-Lieu Pay Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Shift Diff Shift Diff Shift Diff Total* Factor Paid Status Hours before adj. (Less: OT
premium paid)


Dean 36.6725 0.00 381.39 1.8336 0 1.8336 84 154.0245 535.42 9.5610 84.00 4 38.24 11.00 27.24


*Incentive pays built into the overtime rate are not to be included into this FLSA true up calculation.







Payroll calculation at RRP Payroll Detail: 7/26/19 Payroll: 7/8/19-7/21/19 Incentive Pays
3380.6567 Step 1 $37.7727/hr x 89.5 hrs in paid status


169.03 Step 2 Incentive pays
3021.82


3,549.69 Step 3 Step 1 + Step 2 538.26
39.6613 Step 4 Step 3 /89.5 hrs in paid status= Regular rate of pay 26.91 17.94 S/T portion of Shift Differential OT


151.09 151.09 Shift Differentail
565.17 Step 5 (Step 4 x 1.5) x 9.5 overtime hrs


Total Paid 3,738.08$  169.03 Total incentive pays


7/26/19 Payroll: 7/8/19-7/21/19 5% 5%
NAME Hourly Educ Inc Medical Holiday Rate Hrs Pay Rate Hrs Pay Incentives FLSA Hours in FLSA FLSA OT FLSA OT FLSA OT


In-Lieu Pay Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Shift Diff Shift Diff Shift Diff Total* Factor Paid Status Hours before adj. less:(OT
premium pd)


Dean 37.7727 0.00 1.8886 0 1.8886 89.5 169.032833 169.03 2.832953 89.50 9.5 26.91 -26.91 0.00


*Incentive pays built into the overtime rate are not to be included into this FLSA true up calculation.







Payroll calculation at RRP Payroll Detail: 5/3/19 Payroll: 4/15/19-4/28/19 Pay pertaining to FLSA period Incentive pays
6683.5328 Step 1 $52.2151/hr x 128 hrs in paid status


380.77 Step 2 Incentive pays 103.85        POST Certificate 103.85              


7,064.30 Step 3 Step 1 + Step 2
55.1899 Step 4 Step 3 /128 hrs in paid status= Regular rate of pay 4,177.21    


276.92        Medical In-Lieu 276.92              
3973.67 Step 5 (Step 4 x 1.5) x 48 overtime hrs 3,759.49    Overtime


8,317.47$  380.77$           Total incentives


5/3/19 Payroll: 4/15/19-4/28/19 5% 5%
NAME Hourly Educ Inc Medical Holiday Rate Hrs Pay Rate Hrs Pay Incentives FLSA Hours in FLSA FLSA OT


In-Lieu Pay Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Acting/FTO Shift Diff Shift Diff Shift Diff Total* Factor Paid Status Hours


Rogers 52.2151 103.85 276.92 2.6108 0 2.6108 0 0 380.77 4.4621 128.00 48.0 214.18


*Incentive pays built into the overtime rate are not to be included into this FLSA true up calculation.







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: ERIC CASHER, CITY ATTORNEY 


SUBJECT: ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 9.24 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE 
TO REGULATE THE USE AND SALE OF FIREWORKS IN THE CITY OF 
PINOLE 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends the City Council waive the second reading and adopt an ordinance 
amending Chapter 9.24 of the Pinole Municipal Code regulating the use and sale of 
fireworks in the City of Pinole, consistent with Contra Costa County’s fireworks ordinance. 


BACKGROUND 


At its regularly scheduled meeting on Tuesday, March 15th, the City Council received a 
presentation and staff report to introduce and conduct a first reading of an ordinance to 
amend Chapter 9.24 of the Municipal Code to update the City’s regulation of fireworks. 
The staff report and ordinance from the March 15th meeting are included as Attachment 
A.  


The proposed ordinance amends the Pinole Municipal Code to enhance and modernize 
regulations on the possession, manufacture, sale, use, and discharge of fireworks in the 
City. The proposed ordinance would more specifically define what constitutes a firework 
and provide for citation and enforcement of the ordinance against private property owners 
where fireworks are sold or discharged. The proposed ordinance would also create 
consistency between the City and County regulations, allowing City code enforcement 
staff to have one uniform set of regulations to inform code enforcement activities. 


If approved on second read, the ordinance will go in to effect in thirty (30) days. 


FISCAL IMPACT 


There is no direct fiscal impact associated with adopting the proposed ordinance. 


ATTACHMENTS 


A – March 15 Staff Report. 


9I


224 of 316







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


DATE: MARCH 15, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: ERIC CASHER, CITY ATTORNEY 


SUBJECT: ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 9.24 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE 
TO REGULATE THE USE AND SALE OF FIREWORKS IN THE CITY OF 
PINOLE 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends the City Council conduct a first reading of an ordinance amending 
Chapter 9.24 of the Pinole Municipal Code regulating the use and sale of fireworks in the 
City of Pinole consistent with Contra Costa County’s fireworks ordinance.  


BACKGROUND 


The City currently regulates the use and sale of fireworks under Chapter 9.24 of the 
Municipal Code.  Chapter 9.24 prohibits the use and sale of fireworks within the City’s 
jurisdiction with the exception of City Council approved fireworks displays by a qualified 
vendor.  Chapter 9.24 permits code enforcement to issue citations for violation of the 
ordinance.  The City’s current fireworks ordinance has not been updated for several 
years. 


In June 2021, the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance No. 
2021-19 amending Chapter 44-2 of the County’s fireworks ordinance to enhance and 
modernize regulations on the possession, manufacture, sale, use, and discharge of 
fireworks in the unincorporated areas of the County.  The County’s updated ordinance 
includes provisions allowing for citation and enforcement of the ordinance against private 
property owners where fireworks are sold or discharged.   


At the direction of the City Council, staff reviewed the City’s current fireworks ordinance 
in order to propose updates, and align the City’s ordinance with the County’s newly 
adopted fireworks ordinance.  On February 28, 2022, the City Attorney presented a draft 
ordinance to the Municipal Code Update Subcommittee for review and consideration.  A 
few minor changes were made to the proposed ordinance based on recommendations 
from the Subcommittee.  Attachment A is a copy of the revised ordinance that was 
approved by the Municipal Code Update Subcommittee, and is now before the City 
Council for consideration. 


10A
ATTACHMENT A


225 of 316







City Council Report 
March 15, 2022 2 


DISCUSSION 


The City’s fireworks ordinance as set forth in Chapter 9.24 of the Municipal Code is due 
for an update.  Currently, Chapter 9.24 prohibits the use and sale of fireworks in the City 
of Pinole, with the limited exception of City Council approved fireworks displays by 
qualified vendors.  The City’s current fireworks ordinance does not define what is 
considered a firework, or provide direction on the citation of property owners for violations 
of the ordinance.  In updating the City’s fireworks ordinance to align with the County’s 
ordinance, the following objectives will be achieved:  


• The updated ordinance creates consistency between the City and County
ordinance allowing our code enforcement staff to have one uniform set of
regulations to inform code enforcement activities;


• The updated ordinance clarifies and expands the definition of fireworks and
explicitly references the applicable California Health and Safety Code sections
creating a consistent definition of the term “firework” for code enforcement
purposes;


• The updated ordinance creates liability for private property owners where
individuals possess, manufacture, sell, offer to sell, use, or discharge fireworks
on their property.  City staff, including the Police Department, Building Division,
and Code Enforcement, would be authorized to issue an administrative citation to
private property owners for violations of the ordinance; and


• The updated ordinance maintains the City’s ability to approve fireworks displays
by qualified vendors.


As mentioned, the attached draft ordinance was reviewed and approved by the 
Municipal Code Update Subcommittee with two recommended changes.  Chapter 
9.24.030 creates an exception for City approved fireworks displays conducted by 
qualified vendors.  Chapter 9.24.030 also adds a requirement that qualified vendors 
conducting fireworks displays be duly licensed and permitted.   


In order to approve, the City Council will need to conduct a first reading of the ordinance 
in a noticed public hearing, followed by a second reading of the ordinance at the April 5, 
2022 City Council Meeting. 


FISCAL IMPACT 


There is no direct fiscal impact associated with adopting the proposed ordinance. 


ATTACHMENTS 


A – Ordinance (including text amendments to Municipal Code) 


226 of 316







ATTACHMENT A 
ORDINANCE 2022- 


AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF  
PINOLE AMENDING CHAPTER 9.24 OF THE PINOLE MUNICIPAL CODE TO 


REGULATE THE USE AND SALE OF FIREWORKS 


WHEREAS, Chapter 9.24 of the City of Pinole Municipal Code provides that the 
discharge, firing, or use of fireworks or substances designed or intended for pyrotechnic display 
within the city is prohibited; and, 


WHEREAS, Chapter 9.24 of the City of Pinole Municipal Code provides that the sale of 
fireworks within the city is prohibited; and,  


WHEREAS, the use of fireworks within the City presents a danger to public safety and is 
difficult to police; and 


WHEREAS, the City seeks to better protect against the danger to public safety posed by 
use of fireworks in the city; and,  


WHEREAS, the City ordinance has not been updated in several years and is now 
inconsistent with a fireworks ordinance approved by the Contra Costa County Board of 
Supervisors in June 2021; and  


WHEREAS, the City desires to update the City’s existing fireworks ordinance and create 
consistency with the County’s fireworks ordinance; and 


WHEREAS, the City Council Municipal Code Update Subcommittee has reviewed and 
approved the proposed ordinance; and 


WHEREAS, the City Council held a duly noticed public hearing to consider the proposed 
amendment to the Municipal Code on March 15, 2022, at which time all interested persons had an 
opportunity to be heard; and  


WHEREAS, after the close of the public hearing, the City Council considered all public 
comments received both before and during the public hearing, the presentation by city staff, the 
staff report, and all other pertinent documents regarding the proposed Municipal Code amendment; 
and  


WHEREAS, the City Council desires to adopt the proposed changes to the Municipal 
Code. 


NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Pinole does 
hereby ordain as follows: 


Section 1.  Recitals 


The above recitals are true and correct and made a part of this Ordinance. 


227 of 316







Section 2.  Municipal Code Amendment – Chapter 9.24 


Chapter 9.24 is hereby amended to remove the following paragraph below reflected in 
strikethrough text, and replace the strikethrough text with the new Chapter 9.24 as set forth 
below. 


   The discharge, firing or use of all firecrackers, rockets, torpedoes, roman candles, or 
other fireworks or substances designed and intended for pyrotechnic display, within the city of 
Pinole is prohibited; provided, however, that the Council may at any time order or permit the 
public display of fireworks by properly qualified individuals under the direct supervision of 
experts in the handling of fireworks; provided also, that such display or displays shall be of such 
a character and so located, discharged or fired as, in the opinion of the fire marshal, shall not be 
hazardous to the surrounding property or endanger any person or persons. The sale 
of fireworks within the city of Pinole is prohibited. (Prior code § 98). 


Section 3. Municipal Code Amendment 9.24 


Chapter 9.24 et seq. is hereby added to the Municipal Code to read as follows: 


Chapter 9.24 USE OF FIREWORKS – SALE. 


Fireworks  


9.24.010 Definitions. For purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases have the 
following meanings:  


“Fireworks” has the meaning set forth in the Health and Safety Code section 12511.  


The term “fireworks” includes the following: 


“Dangerous fireworks,” as defined in Health and Safety Code section 12505. 


“Safe and sane fireworks,” as defined in Health and Safety Code section 12529. 


The term “fireworks” excludes the following:  


“Exempt fireworks,” as defined in Health and Safety Code section 12508. 


“Party poppers” and “snap caps,” as each is defined in California Code of 
regulations, title 19, section 980. 


“Responsible party” means any of the following: 


A person that owns, rents, leases, or otherwise has possession of, or is in immediate 
control of, a residence or other private property or a vessel. 


A person that organizes, supervises, sponsors, conducts, allows, controls. or controls 
access to, the possession, manufacture, sale, offer for sale, use or discharge of 
fireworks at a residence or other private property or on a vessel.  


228 of 316







 
If a residence or other private property is rented or leased for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days, the landlord or lessor is not a responsible party unless the landlord or lessor: 
has possession of, or is in immediate control of, the residence or other private property; or has 
knowledge of the possession, manufacture, sale, offer for sale, use, or discharge of fireworks at 
the residence or other private property.  


“Vessel” has the meaning set forth in Harbors and Navigation Code section 651.  


9.24.020 Prohibition. No person shall possess, manufacture, sell, offer to sell, use, or discharge, 
any fireworks.  


9.24.030 Exceptions. This chapter does not prohibit the proper use of flares by railroad 
personnel, peace officers, fire officials, or motorists.  The City Council may at any time order or 
permit the public display of fireworks by properly qualified and duly licensed and permitted 
individuals or vendors under the direct supervision of experts in the handling 
of fireworks; provided also, that such display or displays shall be of such a character and so 
located, discharged or fired as, in the opinion of the fire marshal, shall not be hazardous to the 
surrounding property or endanger any person or persons. 


9.24.040 Responsible Party Liability. A responsible party shall maintain, manage, and 
supervise the residence or other private property, or vessel, for which they are responsible to 
prevent violations of this chapter. A responsible party violates this chapter if any person 
possesses, manufactures, sells, offers to sell, uses, or discharges, any fireworks at the residence 
or other private property, or other private property, or on the vessel, for which the responsible 
party is responsible, regardless of whether the responsible party is present when the violation 
occurs.   


9.24.050 Enforcement. The City may seek compliance with this chapter by any remedy allowed 
under this code and any other remedy allowed by law.  


Section 4. Severability 


If any provision of this Ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is 
held invalid, the remainder of this Ordinance, including the application of such part or provision 
to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby and shall continue in full force 
and effect.  To this end, provisions of this Ordinance are severable.  The City Council of the City 
of Pinole hereby declares that it would have passed each section, subsection, subdivision, 
paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more 
sections, subsections, subdivisions, paragraphs, sentences, clauses, or phrases be held 
unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable. 


Section 4. Effective Date  


In accordance with California Government Code Section 36937, this Ordinance shall take effect 
and be in force on the thirty-first day after adoption.  


Section 5. Publication 


Within fifteen days after the passage of this Ordinance the City Clerk shall cause this Ordinance 
or a summary thereof to be published or to be posted in at least three public places in the City of 
Pinole in accordance with the requirements of California Government Code Section 36933. 


229 of 316







 
 


PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Pinole City Council held on the 15th day 
of March, 2022, by the following vote:  
 


 
AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:  
  
NOES:  COUNCILMEMBERS:  
  
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
  
ABSTAIN: COUNCILMEMBERS:  
 
 


 
 
          _____________________________ 


Vincent Salimi, Mayor, 2021-2022 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC, City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
Eric S. Casher, City Attorney  


 


230 of 316







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


9J


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCILMEMBERS 


FROM: STEPHANIE DOWNS, ASSISTANT CITY ATTORNEY 
SANJAY MISHRA, DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC WORKS  


SUBJECT: APPROVE A DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF PINOLE AND GRP SHORES, LLC FOR 
THE DEVELOPMENT OF PROPERTY LOCATED AT 850 SAN 
PABLO AVENUE KNOWN AS PINOLE SHORES 2 


RECOMMENDATION 


It is recommended that the City Council approve a Disposition and Development 
Agreement between the City of Pinole and GRP Shores, LLC for property located at 
850 San Pablo Avenue known as Pinole Shores 2 (the “Property”). 


BACKGROUND 


On September 12, 2018, the City received a Letter of Intent from General Realty CE, 
LLC for the purchase of the Property.  GRP Shores, LLC (the “Developer”) is the 
limited liability company created by General Realty CE, LLC for the purchase and 
development of the Property.  The Property consists of 7.848 acres (total of 341,859 
square feet) of vacant site located on the north side of San Pablo Avenue between 
Sunnyview Drive and Pinole Shores Drive. The Property consists of six parcels (402-
230-015, 402-230-016, 402-230-017, 402-230-018, 402-230-020 and 402-230-022), 
of which only four are developable. 


On April 2, 2019, the City Council approved the execution of an Exclusive 
Negotiating Agreement to reach an arrangement on a Development Agreement and 
Purchase and Sale Agreement for the transfer of the property to the Developer. By 
October 24, 2019, both the general form and terms of the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement and Development Agreement, respectively, for the Pinole Shores II 
development had been negotiated, however, the ENA has been extended until 
June 30, 2022.   


The purpose of the extension to June 30, 2022 was to allow the City to complete 
negotiations with the owners of the Pinole Shores I property (the “Association”) for a 
reciprocal easement agreement (the “REA”) which includes (i) an easement from 
San Pablo Avenue to the Property for the City and its successors and (ii) an 


Revised







City Council Report 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022  2 


easement for the Association through the Property from the Association’s property 
for the Association to perform its required storm drain maintenance. 
 
Both the City and the Association have obtained appraisals of the easements for 
inclusion in the REA.  The appraisal obtained by the Association came in higher than 
the appraisal obtained by the City, and the parties are in the process of hiring a third 
appraiser to determine the final cost of the easements in order to finalize the REA. 


While the REA has been in negotiation, the Developer submitted its application for 
the project to the Planning Department on December 9, 2021 and the City has 
commenced CEQA for the proposed project. 


Under State law, the City cannot enter into the Purchase and Sale Agreement with 
the Developer until CEQA has been completed.  Therefore, the Developer has 
requested to enter into a Disposition and Development Agreement (the “DDA”), 
which will, among other things, give the Developer the right to purchase the property 
subject to completion of CEQA.  The Developer would like to know that it has the 
right to purchase the property before it expends further funds on pre-development, 
CEQA and entitlement costs for the project. By entering into the DDA negotiated 
between the City and the Developer, the City is meeting its good faith negotiation 
requirements under the ENA, ensuring a smooth transition moving forward toward 
the completion of the project and providing certain parameters for construction of the 
project that could not be included in a Purchase and Sale Agreement. 


REVIEW AND ANALYSIS 
 
The City and Developer have negotiated a DDA which outlines the terms and 
conditions under which the City would transfer Property to the Developer and the 
Developer would construct two buildings approximately sized 80,461 and 37,482 
square feet each to hold various light industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce 
businesses and research and development businesses (the “Project”).  The 
architecture for the Project is intended to conform to the architecture of the adjacent 
completed project know as Pinole Shores 1 so that the projects meld together. 
 
The Property was previously used as an auto wrecking site and has a deed 
restriction from the State Water Resources Control Board that limits the use of the 
Property, which is currently zoned industrial. 
 
The DDA has been drafted with the following key points:  
 


• Purchase Price – The purchase price for the Property is Three Million 
Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($3,075,000). 


• Cost of REA – The Developer will reimburse the City for the appraised cost of 
the REA. 







City Council Report 
Meeting Date: April 5, 2022  3 


• Developer’s Deposit – The Developer will provide a $100,000 deposit into 
escrow within 5 days of approval of the DDA.   


• Conditions of Closing 
o Completion of CEQA 
o Planning Commission Design Review 
o Completion and Execution of the REA 
o Building permit issuance by the City 


 
There are other sections within the DDA that are not listed above, which reflect 
standard language on warranties and covenants, insurance, indemnification, breach, 
or default by the Developer. 
 
Staff recommends that City Council approve the Disposition and Development 
Agreement for the development of the Property in accordance with its terms.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The Property is a former Redevelopment Property and upon sale of the Property the 
proceeds will be transferred to the appropriate taxing entities.  As a taxing entity, the 
City will receive approximately $553,500 in proceeds from the sale of the Property, 
plus 100% reimbursement of the funds that will need to be paid for the cost of the 
easement. 
 
In addition, once the Property is transferred, the City will begin to receive property 
taxes and the Project, once completed, will provide an increase in property taxes, as 
well as employment opportunities for local residents. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A Resolution  
B Disposition and Development Agreement 
 
 
 







RESOLUTION NO 2022- 


A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PINOLE APPROVING A 
DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
PINOLE AND GRP SHORES, LLC FOR THE SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE 


PINOLE SHORES 2 PROPERTY 


WHEREAS, the City is the owner of certain properties located at 830-850 San 
Pablo Avenue in the City of Pinole, California, County Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 402-
230-015, 402-230-016, 402-230-017, 402-230-018, 402-230-020 and 402-230-022 (the 
“Property”); and 


WHEREAS, on May 28, 2019, the City and GRP Shores, LLC (successor in 
interest to General Realty CE, LLC) (“Developer”) executed an Exclusive Negotiating 
Agreement (the “ENA”) to negotiate the terms and conditions of a development 
agreement and a purchase and sale agreement, for the Properties; and  


WHEREAS, Developer desires to purchase the Property and proposes to 
construct two buildings approximately sized 80,461 and 37,482 square feet each to hold 
various light industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce businesses and research and 
development businesses; and 


WHEREAS, City had an appraisal done on the Property by Denton Valuation 
which valued the Property in its “as-is” condition at Three Million Seventy-Five 
Thousand Dollars ($3,075,000); and 


WHEREAS, upon the sale of the Property the City, as an affected taxing entity, 
will receive approximately $553,500 in proceeds from the sale of the Property; and 


WHEREAS, Disposition of the Property is subject to completion of the required 
analysis of the environmental effects that may be caused by the Project, pursuant to the 
California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq., 
hereinafter “CEQA”); and  


WHEREAS, on December 8, 2021, Developer submitted its application for the 
Project; and  


WHEREAS, the City and the Developer have negotiated a Disposition and 
Development Agreement (the “DDA”), substantially in the form on file with the City 
Clerk, that sets forth the terms and conditions under which the City will convey the 
Property to the Developer; and 


WHEREAS, Developer desires to enter into the DDA in order to ensure that the 
Developer has the right to purchase the Property prior to Developer expending 
additional funds on pre-development costs and entitlement costs for development of the 


ATTACHMENT A







Property and the City desires to enter into the DDA to ensure a smooth transition 
moving forward toward the completion of the project; and 


WHEREAS, the disposition and development of the Property pursuant to this 
Agreement will be of benefit to the community and to the taxing entities that will share in 
the Purchase Price and the property taxes assessed against the Property. 


NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of 
Pinole hereby: 


Section 1. Declares the above recitals are true and correct and incorporated 
by this reference. 


Section 2:  Approves the Disposition and Development Agreement between 
the City of Pinole and GRP Shores, LLC, substantially in the form on file with the City 
Clerk.  


Section 3. Authorizes the City Manager, or his designee, to execute 
Disposition and Development Agreement and to take all actions and execute all 
documents necessary to carry out the intent of this Resolution. 


PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City of Pinole 
held on the 5th day of April 2022 by the following vote: 


AYES:  COUNCILMEMBERS: 
NOES: COUNCILMEMBERS: 
ABSENT: COUNCILMEMBERS: 
ABSTAIN: COUNCILMEMBERS: 


I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was introduced, passed, and adopted on this 5th 
day of April, 2022. 


____________________________ 
Heather Bell, CMC 
City Clerk 







1 


DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 


by and between 


THE CITY OF PINOLE 


and 


GRP SHORES, LLC 


Dated April ___, 2022


ATTACHMENT B







2 
 


THIS DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is 
entered into as of April ___, 2022 (the “Effective Date”) by and between the City of Pinole, a 
California municipal corporation (the “City”) and GRP Shores, LLC, a California limited 
liability company (the “Developer”). City and Developer are collectively referred to herein as 
the “Parties.” 


RECITALS 


A. City is the owner of certain property located on San Pablo Avenue in the City 
known as County Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 402-230-015, 402-230-016, 402-230-017, 
402-230-018, 402-230-020-8, 402-230-022 (the “Property”), as more particularly described 
in Exhibit A attached hereto, and as diagrammed in Exhibit B attached hereto. 


B. The Property was transferred to the City from the Successor Agency to the 
Community Redevelopment Agency for the City of Pinole (“Successor Agency”) pursuant 
to the long-range property management plan (“Property Management Plan”) adopted by 
the Successor Agency and approved by the California Department of Finance on 
November 20, 2015 pursuant to California Health and Safety Code Section 34191.5. 


C. On May 28, 2019, the City and General Realty CE LLC executed an 
Exclusive Negotiating Agreement (the “ENA”) to negotiate the terms and conditions of 
disposition agreements for the Property. 


D. Developer is the successor in interest to General Realty CE, LLC. 


E. Developer desires to purchase the Property and proposes to construct two 
buildings approximately sized 80,461 and 37,482 square feet each to hold various light 
industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce businesses and research and development 
businesses, as generally diagramed as in Exhibit C attached hereto (the “Project”). 


F. City had an appraisal done on the Property by Denton Valuation which valued 
the Property in its “as-is” condition at Three Million Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars 
($3,075,000) (the “Purchase Price”). 


G. The Pinole Shores Owner’s Association (the “Association”) owns the property 
located adjacent to the Property, known as Assessor’s Parcel Number 402-390-021-2 (the 
“Association Property”), which provides access to San Pablo Avenue. 


H. The City is in the process of negotiating a reciprocal easement agreement (the 
“REA”) with the Association, in order (i) to ensure continued access through the 
Association Property to the Property for the City and for all future owners of the Property, 
and (ii) to ensure legal access through the Property for the Association and its agents, 
employees, and contractors in order for the Association to have access to the stormwater 
facility located on the Property. 







3 
 


I. As a part of the negotiation of the REA, the City and the Association have 
agreed to hire an appraiser to conduct a third appraisal (the “Third Appraisal”) in order to 
determine the purchase value of the REA, which has delayed the execution of the REA. 


J. As set forth in this Agreement, Developer will reimburse the City for the cost 
to purchase the easement benefitting the Property conferred by the REA and (iii) the cost of 
the Third Appraisal (the “Appraisal Reimbursement”). 


K. Disposition of the Property is subject to completion of the required analysis of 
the environmental effects that may be caused by the Project, pursuant to the California 
Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq., hereinafter 
“CEQA”). 


L. The Property is subject to that certain Covenant and Environmental 
Restriction on Property recorded December 17, 2002 as document 2002-0482270-00 in the 
official records of Contra Costa County, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit D 
(the “Environmental Covenant”). 


M. On December 8, 2021, Developer submitted its application for the Project (the 
“Application”) to the Planning Department of the City. 


N. The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement in order to ensure that the 
Developer has the right to purchase the Property prior to Developer expending additional 
funds on pre-development costs and entitlement costs for development of the Property.  


O. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the Parties with respect to the 
conveyance and development the Property.  The City Council has determined that the 
disposition and development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement will be of benefit to 
the community and to the taxing entities that will share in the Purchase Price and the property 
taxes assessed against the Property. 


P. Upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in this Agreement and 
subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement the City will convey the 
Property to Developer. 


Q. A material inducement to City to enter into this Agreement is the agreement 
by Developer to develop the Project within the time periods specified herein and in subject to 
and accordance with the provisions hereof, and the City would be unwilling to enter into this 
Agreement in the absence of an enforceable commitment by Developer to take such actions 
and complete such work subject to and in accordance with such provisions and within such 
time periods. 


NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein and 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the Parties agree as follows. 







4 
 


ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS, EXHIBITS, INCORPORATIONS 


1.1. Definitions.  The following terms shall have the meanings set forth in the 
Sections referenced below whenever used in this Agreement and the Exhibits attached 
hereto. Additional terms are defined in the Recitals and text of this Agreement. 


“Appraisal Reimbursement” is defined in Recital J 


“Association Property” is defined in Recital G. 


“City Council” means the City Council of the City of Pinole.  


“City Manager” means the City Manager of the City of Pinole.  


“Claims” is defined in Section 4.1. 


“Closing Date” or “Close of Escrow” shall be the date that escrow closes for 
conveyance of the Property to Developer. 


“Conditions of Approval” is defined in Section 5.3. 


“Deposit” is defined in 3.2.3. 


“Environmental Laws” is defined in Section 4.9.2.  


“Grant Deed” is defined in Section 3.1. 


“Hazardous Material” is defined in Section 4.9.l.  


“lndemnitees” is defined in Section 4.1.  


“Official Records” means the Official Records of Contra Costa County.  


“Permitted Exceptions” is defined in Section 3.3.1. 


“Project” is defined in Recital E. 


“Property” is defined in Recital A. 


“Property Management Plan” is defined in Recital B.  


“Successor Agency” is defined in Recital B. 


“Title Policy” is defined in Section 3.4.2. 


“Transfer” is defined in Section 7.2. 







5 
 


1.2. Exhibits. The following exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated into 
this Agreement by this reference: 


A Legal Description of Property 
B Diagram of Property 
C Diagram of Project 
D Covenant and Environmental Restriction on Property 
E Form of Grant Deed 
 


1.3. Incorporation of Recitals and Exhibits.  The Recitals set forth above and the 
Exhibits attached to this Agreement are each incorporated into the body of this Agreement 
as if set forth in full. 


ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS; EFFECTIVE DATE;  


PROJECT SCOPE 


2.1. Developer’s Representations and Warranties.  Developer represents and 
warrants to City as follows, and Developer covenants that until the expiration or earlier 
termination of this Agreement, upon learning of any fact or condition which would cause 
any of the warranties and representations in this Section 2.1 not to be true, Developer shall 
immediately give written notice of such fact or condition to City. Developer acknowledges 
that City shall rely upon Developer’s representations made herein notwithstanding any 
investigation made by or on behalf of City. 


(i) Authority. Developer is a limited liability company, duly organized 
and in good standing under the laws of the State of California. Developer has the full right, 
power and authority to undertake all obligations of Developer under this Agreement and all 
other documents and instruments to be executed and delivered by Developer pursuant to this 
Agreement. The execution, performance and delivery of this Agreement and all other 
documents and instruments to be executed and delivered by Developer pursuant to this 
Agreement have been duly authorized by all requisite actions. The persons acting on behalf 
of Developer to execute this Agreement and all other documents and instruments to be 
executed by Developer pursuant to this Agreement have been duly authorized to do so. This 
Agreement constitutes, and when executed, all other documents and instruments to be 
executed by Developer pursuant to  this Agreement will constitute, valid and binding 
obligations of Developer, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms. 


(ii) No Conflict. Developer’s execution, delivery and performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement and the documents and instruments to be executed by 
Developer pursuant to this Agreement, will not constitute a default or a breach under any 
contract, agreement or order to which Developer is a party or by which it is bound. 


(iii) No Litigation or Other Proceeding. No litigation or other proceeding 
(whether administrative or otherwise) is outstanding or, to Developer's knowledge,  has been 
threatened which would prevent, hinder or delay the ability of Developer to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement. 







6 
 


(iv) No Developer Bankruptcy.  Developer is not the subject of a 
bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding. 


The truth and accuracy of each of the representations and warranties, and the 
performance of all covenants of Developer contained in this Agreement are conditions 
precedent to City’s obligation to proceed with the Closing hereunder.   


2.2. City's Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  In addition to the 
representations, warranties and covenants of City contained in other sections of this 
Agreement, City hereby represents, warrants and covenants to Developer that the 
statements below in this Section 6.1 are each true and correct as of the Closing Date 
provided however, if to City’s actual knowledge any such statement becomes untrue prior 
to Closing, City will notify Developer in writing and Developer will have three (3) business 
days thereafter to determine if Developer wishes to proceed with Closing.. 


(i) Authority. City is a municipal corporation, lawfully formed, in 
existence and in good standing under the laws of the State of California.  City has the full 
right, capacity, power and authority to enter into and carry out the terms of this Agreement.  
This Agreement has been duly executed by City, and upon delivery to and execution by 
Developer is a valid and binding agreement of City. 


(ii) Encumbrances.  The City has not alienated, encumbered, transferred, 
mortgaged, assigned, pledged, or otherwise conveyed its interest in the Property or any 
portion thereof, nor entered into any Agreement to do so, and there are no liens, 
encumbrances, mortgages, covenants, conditions, reservations, restrictions, easements or 
other matters affecting the Property, except as disclosed in the Preliminary Report.  City will 
not, directly or indirectly, alienate, encumber, transfer, mortgage, assign, pledge, or 
otherwise convey its interest prior to the Close of Escrow, as long as this Agreement is in 
force. 


(iii) Other Agreements.  There are no agreements, leases or liens affecting 
the Property except those which have been disclosed in writing by City.  There are no 
agreements which will be binding on the Developer or the Property after the Close of 
Escrow other than the Environmental Covenant.   


The truth and accuracy of each of the representations and warranties, and the 
performance of all covenants of City contained in this Agreement are conditions precedent 
to Developer’s obligation to proceed with the Closing hereunder.  The foregoing 
representations and warranties shall survive Close of Escrow or the expiration or termination 
of this Agreement and shall not be deemed merged into the deed upon Close of Escrow. 


2.3. Scope of Development. The Project will include the construction of construct 
two buildings approximately sized 80,461 and 37,482 square feet each to hold various light 
industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce businesses or research and development 
businesses.  The Parties agree that the square footage of the buildings will be determined 
during the entitlement period. 







7 
 


2.4. Design Review; Conditions of Approval. Developer agrees that subject to its 
acquisition of the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
it will develop the Project in accordance with the requirements resulting from City's review 
its Application and all Conditions of Approval adopted by City for the Project. 


ARTICLE III 
DISPOSITION OF THE PROPERTY; CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CLOSING 


3.1. Purchase and Sale of Property.  


3.1.1. Agreement to Buy and Sell.  Subject to the terms and conditions set 
forth herein, City agrees to sell the Property to Developer, and Developer hereby agrees 
to acquire the Property from City. 


3.1.2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price to be paid by Developer to City 
for the Property is Three Million Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars and No/100 
($3,075,000) (the “Purchase Price”). 


3.1.3. Payment of Purchase Price.  The Purchase Price will be paid in 
immediately available funds to Developer at Closing (defined below). 


3.2. Escrow.   


3.2.1. Escrow Account.  Developer has opened an interest-bearing escrow 
account (the “Escrow”) maintained by Old Republic Title Company as Escrow No. 
0147025823-DJ, located at 1000 Burnett Ave., Suite 400, Concord, CA 94520, Attn: 
Donna Jones (the “Escrow Holder”), with interest accruing to the benefit of Developer.  
Escrow Holder shall perform all escrow and title services in connection with this 
Agreement.. 


3.2.2. Opening of Escrow.  Within five (5) business days after the 
Effective Date, the Parties will deposit into Escrow the fully executed Agreement, or 
executed counterparts thereto.  The date such fully executed Agreement is received by 
Escrow Holder will be deemed the “Opening of Escrow.” 


3.2.3. Developer’s Deposit.  Upon Opening of Escrow, the Developer 
shall deposit One Hundred Thousand Dollars and No/100 ($100,000.00) into Escrow 
(the “Deposit”).  If Developer requests an extension to the Due Diligence Contingency 
Period as provided in Section 3.3.2, and has not provided written notice to City 
terminating this Agreement in accordance with Section 3.3.3, then Developer shall 
deposit Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000) for each extension request, which sum 
will be added to the Deposit.  The Deposit is non-refundable after the Due Diligence 
Contingency Period has expired but applicable to the Purchase Price at Closing.  In the 
event Developer does not approve Due Diligence on or before the expiration of the Due 
Diligence Contingency Period, Developer’s deposit shall be immediately returned to 
Developer. 







8 
 


3.3. Due Diligence and Property Disclosure Requirements.    


3.3.1. Condition of Title/Preliminary Title Report.  Within fourteen days 
of Opening of Escrow, Escrow Holder will deliver a Preliminary Title Report for the 
Property (the “Preliminary Report”) to Developer and City.  Developer will review the 
Preliminary Report and approve all of the following exceptions to title, (the “Permitted 
Exceptions”): (a) standard printed exceptions in the Preliminary Report; (b) general and 
special real property taxes and assessments constituting a lien not yet due and payable; 
(c) any exceptions approved in writing by Developer. 


3.3.2. Due Diligence Contingency Period.  Developer will have one 
hundred twenty (120) days from the Effective Date (the “Due Diligence Contingency 
Period”) to complete physical inspections of the Property and due diligence related to 
the purchase of the Property.  Developer may extend the Due Diligence Contingency 
Period by thirty (30) days upon written notice to City not less than two (2) days prior to 
the end of the Due Diligence Contingency Period and deposit of the additional funds 
required for extension, as set forth in Section 3.2.3.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
Developer may only extend the Due Diligence Contingency Period two (2) times.  City 
shall provide to Developer copies of all reasonably available and known documents 
relating to the ownership and operation of the Property, including but not limited to 
agreements, plans, permits and reports (environmental, structural, mechanical, 
engineering and land surveys) that City has in its possession not later than five (5) days 
following the Effective Date.  All physical inspections must be coordinated with City’s 
representative.  Developer hereby agrees to indemnify and hold City harmless for any 
damage to the Property caused (but not merely revealed) by Developer’s inspections. 


3.3.3. Satisfaction of Due Diligence Contingency.  Developer shall have 
the right, in its sole discretion, to terminate this Agreement for any reason prior to the 
expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency Period and receive a refund of Developer’s 
Deposit.  Developer hereby agrees to provide written notice to City prior to the 
expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency Period if Developer disapproves any due 
diligence items.  Upon provision of such notice to City, this Agreement will terminate, 
and all amounts deposited by Developer into escrow, together with interest thereon, if 
any, will be returned to Developer, and neither Party will have any further rights or 
obligations hereunder except those which expressly survive the termination of this 
Agreement.  If Developer fails to notify City in writing of its approval of its due 
diligence on or before the expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency Period, it will be 
conclusively presumed that Developer has disapproved due diligence and this Agreement 
shall terminate. 


3.3.4. Environmental and Natural Hazards Disclosure.  California Health 
& Safety Code section 25359.7 requires owners of non-residential real property who 
know, or have reasonable cause to believe, that any release of hazardous substances are 
located on or beneath the real property to provide written notice of same to the buyer of 
real property.  Other applicable laws require City to provide certain disclosures regarding 
natural hazards affecting the Property.  







9 
 


3.4. Closing Date, Conditions to Closing.  


3.4.1. Closing Date.  The closing (the “Closing” or “Close of Escrow”) will 
occur no later than thirty (30) days from the expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency 
Period and any extended periods and the satisfaction of all of City’s Conditions to Closing 
and Developers Conditions to Closing, or such other date that the Parties agree in writing 
(the “Closing Date”). 


3.4.2. Developer’s Conditions to Closing.  Developer's obligation to purchase 
the Property is subject to the satisfaction of all of the following conditions or Developer's 
written waiver thereof (in Developer’s sole discretion) on or before the Closing Date: 


(a) Developer has approved the condition of the Property;   


(b) City has entered into the REA with the Association, in a form 
approved by Developer, to ensure access by Developer to the Property through the 
Association Property and the REA is recorded in the Official Records prior to or 
concurrently with Closing; 


(c) City has performed all obligations to be performed by City 
pursuant to this Agreement.  In addition, the City agrees that it shall not delay or withhold 
performance of its obligations; 


(c) City's representations and warranties herein are true and correct 
in all material respects as of the Closing Date; 


(d) The Title Company is irrevocably committed to issue an ALTA 
Extended Owner's Policy of Title Insurance to Developer, effective as of the Closing Date, 
subject only to the Permitted Exceptions, insuring title to Developer in the full amount of the 
Purchase Price, together with such endorsements as are requested by Developer including, 
without limitation, (1) ALTA 17-06 (Direct Access and Entry); (2) ALTA 8.2-06 
(Commercial Environmental Protection Lien); (3) ALTA 18.1-06 (Multiple Tax Parcel); (4) 
19-06 (Continuity of Parcels); (5) ALTA 17.2-06 (Utility Access); (6) ALTA 22-06 
(Location); (7) ALTA 28.1-06 (Encroachments – Boundaries and Easements); (8) ALTA 25-
06 (Same as Survey); (9) ALTA 26 (Subdivision); (10) Deletion of Arbitration; and (11) 
ALTA 39-06 (Policy Authentication) (the “Title Policy”); 


(e) CEQA has been completed; and 


(f) Developer has received a building permit and all necessary 
entitlements from the City to construct the Project. 


3.4.3. City’s Conditions to Closing.  The Close of Escrow and City's 
obligation to sell and convey the Property to Developer are subject to the satisfaction of the 
following conditions or City's written waiver (in City’s sole discretion) of such conditions 
on or before the Closing Date: 







10 
 


(a) Developer has performed all obligations to be performed by 
Developer pursuant to this Agreement before the Closing Date; 


(b) Developer's representations and warranties set forth herein are 
true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date; 


(c) CEQA has been completed; 


(d) Developer has received all necessary entitlements and a 
building permit from the City to construct the Project; and 


(d) City has received all other approvals necessary to construct the 
Project. 


3.4.4. Conveyance of Title.  City will deliver marketable fee simple title to 
Developer at the Closing, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions.  The Property will be 
conveyed by City to Developer in an “as is” condition, with no warranty, express or implied, 
by City as to the physical condition including, but not limited to, the soil, its geology, or the 
presence of known or unknown faults or hazardous materials or hazardous waste (as defined 
below and by state and federal law); provided, however, that the foregoing shall not relieve 
City from disclosure of any such conditions of which City has actual knowledge. 


3.5. Deposits into Escrow.   


3.5.1. Deliveries by City.  City shall deposit into the Escrow for delivery 
to Developer at Closing:  (i) the REA, if not already recorded, (ii) a grant deed; (iii) an 
affidavit or qualifying statement which satisfies the requirements of paragraph 1445 of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, any regulations thereunder (the “Non-
Foreign Affidavit”); and (iv) a California Franchise Tax Board form 590 to satisfy the 
requirements of California Revenue and Taxation Code Section 18805(b) and 26131. 


3.5.2. Deliveries by Developer.  No less than one (1) business day prior to 
the Close of Escrow, Developer shall deposit into escrow immediately available funds in 
the amount, which together with the Deposit plus interest thereon, if any, is equal to:  
(i) the Purchase Price as adjusted by any prorations between the Parties; (ii) the 
Appraisal Reimbursement; (iii) all escrow fees and recording fees and Closing Costs 
(defined below); and (iv) the cost of the Title Policy. 


3.6. Closing; Closing Costs.   


3.6.1. Closing.  Upon Closing, Escrow Holder shall:  (i) record the grant 
deed; (ii) disburse to City the Purchase Price and the Appraisal Reimbursement; 
(iii) deliver to Developer the Non-Foreign Affidavit, the California Certificate and the 
original recorded grant deed; (iv) pay any commissions and other expenses payable 
through escrow; and (v) distribute to itself the payment of escrow fees and expenses 
required hereunder. 







11 
 


3.6.2. Closing Costs.  Each party will pay one-half of escrow fees and 
recording fees.  Developer will pay title insurance and title report costs. Developer will 
pay all governmental conveyance fees and all transfer taxes and pro-rated property taxes 
(the “Closing Costs”).  Developer will pay all broker fees, if any. 


3.6.3. Pro-Rations.  At the Close of Escrow, the Escrow Holder shall 
make the following prorations: (i) property taxes will be prorated as of the Close of 
Escrow based upon the most recent tax bill available, including any property taxes which 
may be assessed after the close of escrow but which pertain to the period prior to the 
transfer of title to the Property to Developer, regardless of when or to whom notice 
thereof is delivered; (ii) any bond or assessment that constitutes a lien on the Property at 
Closing will be assumed by Developer but shall be paid current by City.  City does not 
pay ad valorem property taxes. 


ARTICLE IV 
CONDITION OF THE SITE; ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 


4.1. Access to Site: Inspections.  Prior to the Close of Escrow, Developer and 
Developer’s authorized representatives may enter upon and conduct further reviews and 
assessments of the physical and environmental condition of the Property and the condition 
of the existing improvements.  City may require Developer to execute a right of entry 
agreement satisfactory to City prior to entry onto the Property for such purpose and shall 
require Developer to provide proof of liability insurance acceptable to City.  Developer’s 
inspection, examination, survey and review of the Property shall be at Developer’s sole 
expense.  Developer shall provide City with copies of all reports and test results promptly 
following completion of such reports and testing. Developer hereby agrees to notify the 
City twenty four (24) hours in advance of its intention to enter the Property and will 
provide workplans, drawings, and descriptions of any intrusive sampling it intends to do. 
Developer must keep the Property in a safe condition during its entry. Developer shall 
repair, restore and return the Property to its condition immediately preceding Developer’s 
entry thereon at Developer’s sole expense Developer will not permit any mechanics liens, 
stop notices or other liens or encumbrances to be placed against the Property prior to Close 
of Escrow.  Without limiting any other indemnity provisions set forth in this Agreement, 
Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold the City, and 
its elected and appointed officers, officials, employees, agents, consultants, and contractors 
(collectively, the “lndemnitees”) harmless from and against all liability, loss, cost, expense 
(including without limitation attorneys’ fees and costs of litigation), claim, demand, action, 
suit, judicial or administrative proceeding, penalty, deficiency, fine, order, and damage (all 
of the foregoing collectively “Claims”) resulting from or arising in connection with entry 
upon the Property by Developer or Developer’s agents, employees, consultants, contractors 
or subcontractors pursuant to this Section 4.1. Developer’s indemnification obligations set 
forth in this Section 4.1 shall survive the Close of Escrow and the termination of this 
Agreement. 


4.2. Environmental Disclosure.  To the extent the City has copies of 
environmental investigation reports, City will provide copies to Developer upon request; 
but the Parties acknowledge that City will not be conducting a public records search of any 







12 
 


regulatory agency files-although the City urges Developer to do so to satisfy itself 
regarding the environmental condition of the Property.  By execution of this Agreement, 
Developer:  (i) acknowledges that it will have an opportunity to conduct its own 
independent review and investigation of the Property prior to the Close of Escrow; (ii) 
agrees to rely solely on its own experts in assessing the environmental condition of the 
Property and its sufficiency for its intended use; and (iii) waives any and all rights 
Developer may have to assert that the City failed to disclose information about the 
environmental condition of the Property. 


4.3. Property Sold “AS IS.”  Developer specifically acknowledges that the City is 
selling and Developer is purchasing the Property on an “AS IS”, “WHERE IS” and “WITH 
ALL FAULTS” basis and that Developer is not relying on any representations or warranties 
of any kind whatsoever, express or implied, from City, or its employees, board members, 
agents, or brokers as to any matters concerning the Property.  City makes no representations 
or warranties as to any matters concerning the Property, including without limitation:  (i) 
the quality, nature, adequacy and physical condition of the Property, including, but not 
limited to, appurtenances, access, landscaping, parking facilities, (ii) the quality, nature, 
adequacy, and physical condition of soils, geology and any groundwater, (iii) the existence, 
quality, nature, adequacy and physical condition of utilities serving the Property, (iv) the 
development potential of the Property, and the Property’s use, merchantability, or fitness, 
suitability, value or adequacy of the Property for any particular purpose, (v) the zoning or 
other legal status of the Property or any other public or private restrictions on use of the 
Property, (vi) the compliance of the Property or its operation with any Environmental Laws, 
covenants, conditions and restrictions of any governmental or quasi-governmental entity or 
of any other person or entity, (vii) the presence or removal of Hazardous Material, 
substances or wastes on, under or about the Property or the adjoining or neighboring 
property; (viii) the quality of any labor and materials used in any improvements on the 
Property, or (ix) the condition of title to the Property. 


4.4. Developer to Rely on Own Experts. Developer understands that 
notwithstanding the delivery by City to Developer of any materials, including, without 
limitation, third party reports, Developer will rely entirely on Developer’s own experts and 
consultants and its own independent investigation in proceeding with the acquisition of the 
Property. 


4.5. Release by Developer.  Effective upon the Close of Escrow, Developer 
WAIVES, RELEASES, REMISES, ACQUITS AND FOREVER DISCHARGES the 
Indemnitees and any person acting on behalf of the City, from any and all Claims, direct or 
indirect, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, which Developer now has or which 
may arise in the future on account of or in any way arising out of or in connection with the 
physical condition of the Property, the presence of Hazardous Material in, on, under or 
about the Property, or any law or regulation applicable thereto including, without limiting 
the generality of the foregoing, all Environmental Laws.  Notwithstanding anything to 
contrary contained herein, the foregoing waiver and release contained in this Section (or 
otherwise) shall not prevent Developer from adding by interpleader or otherwise City or 
other parties as a party to any action or proceeding by any third-party arising from or 







13 
 


attributable to hazardous materials at the Property prior to the Close of Escrow.  Further, 
the foregoing waiver and release contained in this Section (or otherwise) shall not apply to, 
any Claims therefor, arising from or attributable to (x) a matter actually known to City and 
(1) not disclosed to Developer in writing prior to the Close of Escrow, and (2) not 
discovered by Developer prior to the Close of Escrow, (x) any breach by City of its express 
representations or warranties under this Agreement, (y) any third-party claims either for 
injury to persons or damage to the Property occurring prior to the Close of Escrow whether 
or not same are subject to the indemnification obligations contained in this Agreement, and 
(z) City's indemnification obligations contained in this Agreement. 


DEVELOPER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT DEVELOPER IS FAMILIAR WITH SECTION 
1542 OF THE CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE, WHICH PROVIDES AS FOLLOWS: 


A GENERAL RELEASE DOES  NOT EXTEND TO 
CLAIMS WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR 
SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE 
TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE, WHICH IF 
KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE MATERIALLY 
AFFECTED HIS SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR. 


BY INITIALING BELOW, DEVELOPER EXPRESSLY WAIVES THE BENEFITS OF 
SECTION 1542 OF THE CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE WITH RESPECT TO THE 
FOREGOING  RELEASE: 


Developer’s initials: _ 
 


4.6. Developer’s Post-Closing Obligations. Developer hereby covenants and 
agrees that  


 (1)  Developer shall not knowingly permit the Property or any portion thereof 
to be a site for the use, generation, treatment, manufacture, storage, disposal or 
transportation of Hazardous Material or otherwise knowingly permit the presence or 
release of Hazardous Material in, on, under, about or from the Property with the 
exception of limited amounts of cleaning supplies and other materials customarily 
used in construction, rehabilitation, use or maintenance of commercial properties 
similar in nature to the Property and any commercial uses developed as part of the 
Project, and used, stored and disposed of in compliance with Environmental Laws. 


 (2)  Developer shall keep and maintain the Property and each portion thereof in 
compliance with, and shall not cause or permit the Project or the Property or any portion of 
either to be in violation of, any Environmental Laws. 


 (3)  Upon receiving actual knowledge of the same, Developer shall immediately 
advise City in writing of: (i) any and all enforcement, cleanup, removal or other 
governmental or regulatory actions instituted, completed or threatened against the 
Developer, or the Property pursuant to any applicable Environmental Laws; (ii) any and all 
claims made or threatened by any third party against the Developer or the Property relating to 







14 
 


damage, contribution, cost recovery, compensation, loss or injury resulting from any 
Hazardous Material; (iii) the presence or release of any Hazardous Material in, on, under, 
about or from the Property; or (iv) Developer’s discovery of any occurrence or condition on 
any real property adjoining or in the vicinity of the Project classified as “Border Zone 
Property” under the provisions of California Health and Safety Code, Sections 25220 et seq., 
or any regulation adopted in connection therewith, that may in any way affect the Property 
pursuant to any Environmental Laws or cause it or any part thereof to be designated as 
Border Zone Property. The matters set forth in the foregoing clauses (i) through (iv) are 
hereinafter referred to as “Hazardous Materials Claims”). The City shall have the right to 
join and participate in, as a party if it so elects, any legal proceedings or actions initiated in 
connection with any Hazardous Materials Claim. 


 (4)  Without the City’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably 
withheld or delayed, Developer shall not take any remedial action in response to the 
presence of any Hazardous Material in, on, under, or about the Property (other than in 
emergency situations or as required by governmental agencies having jurisdiction in which 
case the City agrees to provide its consent), nor enter into any settlement agreement, consent 
decree, or other compromise in respect to any Hazardous Materials Claim. 


4.7. Environmental Indemnity. To the greatest extent allowed by law, Developer 
shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold Indemnitees harmless from 
and against all Claims resulting, arising, or based directly or indirectly in whole or in part, 
upon (i) the presence, release, use, generation, discharge, storage or disposal of any Hazardous 
Material on, under, in or about the Property, or the transportation of any such Hazardous 
Material to or from, the Property, or (ii) the failure of Developer, Developer’s employees, 
agents, contractors, subcontractors, or any person acting on behalf of or as the invitee of any of 
the foregoing to comply with Environmental Laws, unless caused by the City’s active or 
passive negligence. The foregoing indemnity shall further apply to any residual 
contamination in, on, under or about the Property or affecting any natural resources, and to any 
contamination of any property or natural resources arising in connection with the generation, 
use, handling, treatment, storage, transport or disposal of any such Hazardous Material, and 
irrespective of whether any of such activities were or will be undertaken in accordance with 
Environmental Laws. 


4.8. No Limitation. Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that Developer’s 
duties, obligations and liabilities under this Agreement are in no way limited or otherwise 
affected by any information the City may have concerning the Property and/or the presence 
in, on, under or about the Property of any Hazardous Material, whether the City obtained 
such information from the Developer or from its own investigations, unless such 
information was known to the City at the time of execution of this Agreement and/or the 
time of the close of escrow for the conveyance of the Property to the Developer but not 
disclosed to Developer. 


4.9. Definitions. 


4.9.1. “Hazardous Material” means any chemical, compound, material, 
mixture, or substance that is now or may in the future be defined or listed in, or 







15 
 


otherwise classified pursuant to any Environmental Laws (defined below) as a 
“hazardous substance”, “hazardous material”, “hazardous waste”, “extremely hazardous 
waste”, “infectious waste’’, “toxic substance’’, toxic pollutant”, or any other 
formulation intended to define, list or classify substances by reason of deleterious 
properties such as ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity, carcinogenicity, or toxicity.  The 
term “hazardous material” shall also include asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, 
radon, chrome and/or chromium, polychlorinated biphenyls, petroleum, petroleum 
products or by-products, petroleum components, oil, mineral spirits, natural gas, natural 
gas liquids, liquefied natural gas, or synthetic gas usable as fuel, perchlorate, and methy 
tert butyl ether, whether or not defined as a hazardous waste or hazardous substance in 
the Environmental Laws. 


4.9.2. “Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state and local 
statutes, ordinances, orders, rules, regulations, guidance documents, judgments, 
governmental authorizations or directives, or any other requirements of governmental 
authorities, as may presently exist, or as may be amended or supplemented, or hereafter 
enacted, relating to the presence, release, generation, use, handling, treatment, storage, 
transportation or disposal of Hazardous Material, or the protection of the environment or 
human, plant or animal health, including, without limitation, the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the 
Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (42 U.S.C. § 9601), the 
Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. § 1801 et seq.), the Resource 
Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.), the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), the 
Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.), the Oil Pollution Act (33 
U.S.C. § 2701 et seq.), the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act (42 
U.S.C. § 11001 et seq.), the Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Cal. Water Code 
§ 13000 et seq.), the Toxic Mold Protection Act (Cal. Health & Safety Code § 26100, et 
seq.), the Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986 (Cal. Health & 
Safety Code § 25249.5 et seq.), the Hazardous Waste Control Act (Cal. Health & Safety 
Code § 25100 et seq.), the Hazardous Materials Release Response Plans & Inventory Act 
(Cal. Health & Safety Code § 25500 et seq.), and the Carpenter-Presley-Tanner 
Hazardous Substances Account Act (Cal. Health and Safety Code, Section 25300 et 
seq.). 


ARTICLE V 
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS 


5.1. Construction of Project.  Developer will construct the Project in accordance 
with the requirements set forth in this Agreement. 


5.2. Project Approvals.  Prior to the Closing, Developer shall have obtained all 
entitlements, permits, licenses and approvals required for the development and operation of 
the Project, including without limitation, Site Development Review, applicable zoning text 
amendments, building permits and use permits, or shall provide evidence satisfactory to 
City that receipt of such permits and approvals is subject only to such conditions as City 
may reasonably approve.  In connection with Developer’s application for a use permit for 







16 
 


the Project, City will consider modifications to City’s requirements for setbacks, building 
height, and on-site storage requirements.  City staff shall work cooperatively with 
Developer to assist in coordinating the expeditious processing and consideration of all 
permits, entitlements and approvals necessary for the development and operation of the 
Project as contemplated by this Agreement. 


5.3. Conditions of Approval.  Developer shall develop the Property in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of the Development Agreement and in compliance with the 
terms and conditions of all approvals, entitlements and permits that the City or any other 
governmental body or agency with jurisdiction over the Project or the Property has granted 
or issued as of the date hereof or may hereafter grant or issue in connection with 
development of the Project, including without limitation, all mitigation measures imposed 
in connection with environmental review of the Project and all conditions of approval 
imposed in connection with any entitlements, approvals or permits (all of the foregoing 
approvals, entitlements, permits, mitigation measures and conditions of approval are 
hereafter collectively referred to as the “Conditions of Approval”). 


5.4. Fees. Developer shall be solely responsible for, and shall promptly pay when 
due, all customary and usual fees and charges of City and all other agencies with 
jurisdiction over development of the Property in connection with obtaining building 
permits and other approvals for the Project, including without limitation, those related to the 
processing and consideration of amendments, if any, to the current entitlements, any related 
approvals and permits, environmental review, architectural review, and any subsequent 
approvals for the Project. 


5.5. Certificate of Occupancy for Project.  Promptly after completion of 
construction of the Project, issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy or equivalent by 
the City and the written request of Developer, the City will provide an instrument 
(“Certificate of Occupancy”) so certifying, provided that at the time such certificate is 
requested all applicable work has been completed.  


5.6. Equal Opportunity.  There shall be no discrimination on the basis of race, 
color, religion, creed, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, ancestry or national origin in 
the hiring, firing, promoting or demoting of any person engaged in construction work on 
the Property, and Developer shall direct its contractors and subcontractors to refrain from 
discrimination on such basis. 


5.7. Compliance with Laws.  Developer shall carry out and shall cause its 
contractors to carry out the construction of the Project in conformity with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws, rules, ordinances and regulations, including without limitation, 
all applicable federal and state labor laws and standards, applicable provisions of the 
California Public Contracts Code (if any), the City zoning and development standards, 
building, plumbing, mechanical and electrical codes, all other provisions of the City’s 
Municipal Code, and all applicable disabled and handicapped access requirements, 
including without limitation, the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. Section 
12101, et seq., Government Code Section 4450, et seq., Government Code Section 11135, 
et seq., and the Unruh Civil Rights Act, Civil Code Section 51, et seq.. Developer shall 







17 
 


indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold harmless the Indemnitees 
from and against any and all Claims arising in connection with the breach of Developer’s 
obligations set forth in this Section whether or not any insurance policies shall have been 
determined to be applicable to any such Claims.  It is further agreed that City does not and 
shall not waive any rights against Developer which they may have by reason of this 
indemnity and hold harmless agreement because of the acceptance by City, or Developer’s 
deposit with City of any of the insurance policies described in this Agreement.  
Developer’s indemnification obligations set forth in this Section shall not apply to Claims 
arising solely from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Indemnitees.   
Developer’s defense and indemnification obligations set forth in this Section 5.15 shall 
survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement and the issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy for the Project. 


5.8. Liens and Stop Notices.  Until the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, 
Developer shall not allow to be placed on the Property or any part thereof any lien or stop 
notice on account of materials supplied to or labor performed on behalf of Developer. If a 
claim of a lien or stop notice is given or recorded affecting the Project or the Property, 
Developer shall within twenty (20) days of such recording or service: (a) pay and 
discharge (or cause to be paid and discharged) the same; or (b) effect the release thereof by 
recording and delivering (or causing to be recorded and delivered) to the party entitled 
thereto a surety bond in sufficient form and amount; or (c) provide other assurance 
satisfactory to City that the claim of lien or stop notice will be paid or discharged. 


5.9. Insurance Requirements.  Developer shall maintain and shall cause its 
contractors to maintain all applicable insurance coverage specified in Article X 


5.10. Survival.  The terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Article V 
shall survive Close of Escrow and shall not be deemed merged into the deed upon Close of 
Escrow. 


ARTICLE VI 
USE OF THE PROPERTY 


6.1. Maintenance.  Following conveyance of the Property to Developer, 
Developer shall at its own expense, maintain the Property, landscaping and common areas 
in good physical condition, in good repair, and in decent, safe, sanitary, habitable and 
tenantable living conditions in conformity with all applicable state, federal, and local laws, 
ordinances, codes, and regulations. Without limiting the foregoing, Developer agrees to 
maintain the Property (including without limitation, the landscaping, driveways, parking 
areas, and walkways) in a condition free of all waste, nuisance, debris, unmaintained 
landscaping, graffiti, disrepair, abandoned vehicles/appliances, and illegal activity, and 
shall take all reasonable steps to prevent the same from occurring on the Property.  
Developer shall prevent and/or rectify any physical deterioration of the Property and 
shall make all repairs, renewals and replacements necessary to keep the Property and the 
improvements located thereon in good condition and repair. 







18 
 


6.2. Taxes and Assessments.  Following conveyance of the Property to 
Developer, Developer shall pay all real and personal property taxes, assessments and 
charges and all franchise, income, payroll, withholding, sales, and other taxes assessed 
against the Property and payable by Developer, at such times and in such manner as to 
prevent any penalty from accruing, or any lien or charge from attaching to the Property; 
provided, however, that Developer shall  have the right to contest in good faith, any such 
taxes, assessments, or charges.  In the event the Developer exercises its right to contest any 
tax, assessment, or charge, the Developer, on final determination of the proceeding or 
contest, shall immediately pay or discharge any decision or judgment rendered against it, 
together with all costs, charges and interest. 


6.3. Obligation to Refrain from Discrimination.  Developer shall not restrict the 
rental, sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property, 
or any portion thereof, on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, sexual orientation, 
disability, marital status, ancestry, or national origin of any person.  Developer covenants 
for itself and all persons claiming under or through it, and this Agreement is made and 
accepted upon and subject to the condition that there shall be no discrimination against or 
segregation of any person or group of persons on account of any basis listed in subdivision 
(a) or (d) of Section 12955 of the Government Code, as those bases are defined in Sections 
12926, 12926.1, subdivision (m) and paragraph (1) of subdivision (p) of Section 12955, and 
Section 12955.2 of the Government Code, in the sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, 
occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property or part thereof, nor shall Developer or any 
person claiming under or through Developer establish or permit any such practice or 
practices of discrimination or segregation with reference to the selection, location, number, 
use or occupancy of tenants, lessees, subtenants, sublessees or vendees in, of, or for the 
Property or part thereof.  Developer shall include such provision in all deeds, leases, 
contracts and other instruments executed by Developer, and shall enforce the same 
diligently and in good faith. 


ARTICLE VII 
LIMITATIONS ON CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP, MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL 


OF DEVELOPER 


7.1. Identity of Developer; Changes Only Pursuant to this Agreement.  Developer 
and its principals have represented that they possess the necessary expertise, skill and 
ability to carry out the development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement.  The 
qualifications, experience, financial capacity and expertise of Developer and its principals 
are of particular concern to the City. It is because of these qualifications, experience, 
financial capacity and expertise that the City has entered into this Agreement with 
Developer. No voluntary or involuntary successor, assignee or transferee of Developer 
shall acquire any rights or powers under this Agreement, except as expressly provided 
herein. 


7.2. Prohibition on Transfer. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, 
Developer shall not, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, directly or indirectly, 
voluntarily, involuntarily or by operation of law make or attempt any total or partial sale, 
transfer, conveyance, assignment or lease (collectively, “Transfer”) of the whole or any 







19 
 


part of the Property, the Project, or this Agreement, without the prior written approval of 
City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Any such attempt to assign this 
Agreement without the City’s consent shall be null and void and shall confer no rights or 
privileges upon the purported assignee. 


7.3. Permitted Transfers. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, the 
prohibitions set forth in this Article shall not be deemed to prevent, and the City's consent 
or approval shall not be required for:  (i) the granting of temporary easements or permits to 
facilitate development of the Property; (ii) the dedication of any property required pursuant 
to this Agreement; (iii) after issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, the lease or sale of the 
Project or any commercial space to one or more individual tenants or buyers.  A Transfer 
by Developer in accordance with this Agreement shall be deemed to relieve the 
Developer from any further obligations under this Agreement. 


7.4. Requirements for Proposed Transfers.  The City shall, in the exercise of its 
discretion, not to be unreasonably withheld, consent to a proposed Transfer of this 
Agreement, the Property or portion thereof if all of the following requirements are met 
(provided however, the requirements of this Section 7.4 shall not apply to Transfers 
described in Section 7.3): 


(i) The proposed transferee demonstrates to the City’s satisfaction that it 
has the qualifications, experience and financial resources necessary and adequate as may be 
reasonably determined by the City to competently complete the Project and to otherwise 
fulfill the obligations undertaken by the Developer under this Agreement. 


(ii) The Developer and the proposed transferee shall submit for City 
review and approval all instruments and other legal documents proposed to effect any 
Transfer of this Agreement, the Property or interest therein together with such 
documentation of the proposed transferee’s qualifications and development capacity as the 
City may reasonably request. 


(iii) The proposed transferee shall expressly assume all of the rights and 
obligations of the Developer under this Agreement arising after the effective date of the 
Transfer and all obligations of Developer arising prior to the effective date of the Transfer 
(unless Developer expressly remains responsible for such obligations) and shall agree to be 
subject to and assume all of Developer’s obligations pursuant to the Conditions of Approval 
and all other conditions, and restrictions set forth in this Agreement. 


(iv) The Transfer shall be effectuated pursuant to a written instrument 
satisfactory to the City in form recordable in the Official Records. 


Consent to any proposed Transfer may be given by the City Manager unless the 
City Manager in his or her discretion, refers the matter of approval to the City Council.  If a 
proposed Transfer has not been approved in writing within thirty (30) days following City’s 
receipt of written request by Developer, it shall be deemed rejected. 


7.5. Effect of Transfer without Consent. 







20 
 


7.5.1. In the absence of specific written agreement by the City, no 
Transfer by Developer shall be deemed to relieve the Developer or any other party from 
any obligation under this Agreement. 


7.5.2. If, in violation of this Agreement, the Developer Transfers all or 
any part of the Property or the Project prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy 
for the Project, the City shall be entitled to receive from Developer the amount by which 
the consideration payable for such Transfer exceeds the sum of (a) the Purchase Price 
for the Property, and (b) the costs incurred by Developer in connection with the 
improvement and development of the Property, including carrying charges, interest, fees, 
taxes, assessments and escrow fees. Such excess consideration shall belong to and be 
paid to the City by the Developer and until so paid, the City shall have a lien on the 
Property for such amount. The provisions of this Section 7.5.2 have been agreed upon so 
as to discourage land speculation by Developer; accordingly, these provisions shall be 
given a liberal interpretation to accomplish that end.  Following the issuance of the 
Certificate of Occupancy, the provisions of this Section 7.5.2 shall have no further force 
and effect. 


7.5.3. Without limiting any other remedy City may have under this 
Agreement, or under law or equity, it shall be an Event of Developer Default hereunder 
entitling City to terminate this Agreement if without the prior written approval of the 
City, Developer assigns or Transfers this Agreement, the Project, or the Property prior to 
the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy.  This Section 7.5.3 shall not apply to 
Transfers described in Section 7.3. 


7.6. Recovery of Costs. Developer shall reimburse City for all City costs, 
including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in reviewing instruments 
and other legal documents proposed to effect a Transfer under this Agreement and in 
reviewing the qualifications and financial resources of a proposed successor, assignee, or 
transferee within ten days following City’s delivery to Developer of an invoice detailing 
such costs. This Section shall not apply to Transfers described in Section 7.3. 


ARTICLE VIII 
SECURITY FINANCING AND RIGHTS OF MORTGAGEES 


8.1. Mortgages and Deeds of Trust for Development.  Prior to issuance of the 
Certificate of Occupancy, mortgages and deeds of trust, or any other reasonable security 
instrument are permitted to be placed upon the Property or the Project only for the purpose 
of securing loans for the purpose of financing the acquisition of the Property, the design 
and construction of the Project, and other expenditures reasonably necessary for 
development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement.  As used herein, the terms 
“mortgage” and “deed of trust” shall mean any security instrument used in financing real 
estate acquisition, construction and land development. 


8.2. Holder Not Obligated to Construct.  The holder of any mortgage, deed of 
trust authorized by this Agreement shall not be obligated to complete construction of the 







21 
 


Project or to guarantee such completion. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to 
permit or authorize any such holder to devote the Property or any portion thereof to any 
uses, or to construct any improvements thereon, other than those uses or improvements 
provided for or authorized by this Agreement. 


8.3. Notice of Default and Right to Cure.  Whenever City delivers any notice of 
default under this Agreement, City shall concurrently deliver a copy of such notice to each 
holder of record of any mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or the Project, 
provided that City has been provided with the address for delivery of such notice.  City 
shall have no liability to any such holder for any failure by the City to provide such notice 
to such holder.  Each such holder shall have the right, but not the obligation, at its option, to 
cure or remedy any such default or breach within the cure period provided to Developer 
extended by and additional sixty (60) days. In the event that possession of the Property or 
the Project (or any portion thereof) is required to effectuate such cure or remedy, the holder 
shall be deemed to have timely cured or remedied the default if it commences the 
proceedings necessary to obtain possession of the Property or Project, as applicable, within 
sixty (60) days after receipt of the City’s notice, diligently pursues such proceedings to 
completion, and after obtaining possession, diligently completes such cure or remedy.  A 
holder who chooses to exercise its right to cure or remedy a default or breach shall first 
notify City of its intent to exercise such right prior to commencing to cure or remedy such 
default or breach. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to permit or 
authorize such holder to undertake or continue the construction of the Project (beyond the 
extent necessary to conserve or protect the same) without first having expressly assumed in 
writing Developer’s obligations to City under this Agreement.  The holder in that event 
must agree to complete, in the manner provided in this Agreement, the Project and submit 
evidence reasonably satisfactory to City that it has the development capability on staff or 
retainer and the financial capacity necessary to perform such obligations.  Any such holder 
properly completing the Project pursuant to this Section shall assume all rights and 
obligations of Developer under this Agreement and shall be entitled to a Certificate of 
Occupancy upon compliance with the requirements of this Agreement. 


8.4. Failure of Holder to Complete Project.  In any case where, six (6) months 
after default by Developer in completion of construction of the Project, the holder of record 
of any mortgage or deed of trust has not exercised its option to construct the Project, or 
having first exercised its option to construct, has not proceeded diligently with construction, 
City shall be afforded those rights against such holder that it would otherwise have against 
Developer under this Agreement. 


8.5. City Right to Cure Defaults.  In the event of a breach or default by Developer 
under a mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or the Project, City may cure the 
default, without acceleration of the subject loan, following prior notice thereof to the holder 
of such instrument and Developer.  In such event, Developer shall be liable for, and City 
shall be entitled to reimbursement from Developer for all costs and expenses incurred by 
City associated with and attributable to the curing of the default or breach. 


8.6. Holder to be Notified.  Developer agrees to use commercially reasonable 
efforts to ensure that each term contained herein dealing with security financing and rights 







22 
 


of holders shall be either inserted into the relevant deed of trust or mortgage or 
acknowledged by the holder prior to its creating any security right or interest in the 
Property or the Project. 


8.7. Modifications to Agreement.  City shall not unreasonably withhold consent 
to modifications of this Agreement requested by Project lenders or investors provided such 
modifications do not alter City’s substantive rights and obligations under this Agreement. 


8.8. Estoppel Certificates.  Either Party shall, at any time, and from time to time, 
within fifteen (15) days after receipt of written request from the other Party, execute and 
deliver to such Party a written statement certifying that, to the knowledge of the certifying 
Party:  (i) this Agreement is in full force and effect and a binding obligation of the Parties 
(if such be the case), (ii) this Agreement has not been amended or modified, or if so 
amended, identifying the amendments, and (iii) the requesting Party is not in default in the 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement, or if in default, describing the nature 
of any such defaults. 


ARTICLE IX 
DEFAULTS, REMEDIES AND TERMINATION 


9.1. Event of Developer Default.  The following events shall constitute an event 
of default on the part of Developer (“Event of Developer Default”): 


(a) A Transfer occurs, either voluntarily or involuntarily, in violation of 
Article VIII; 


(b) Developer fails to maintain insurance as required pursuant to this 
Agreement, and Developer fails to cure such default within five (5) days; 


(c) Subject to Developer’s right to contest the following charges pursuant 
to Section 6.2, if Developer fails to pay prior to delinquency taxes or assessments due on the 
Property or the Project or fails to pay when due any other charge that may result in a lien on 
the Property or the Project, and Developer fails to cure such default within thirty (30) days 
of date of delinquency, but in all events upon the imposition of any such tax or other lien; 


(d) A default arises under any loan secured by a mortgage, deed of trust or 
other security instrument recorded against the Property and remains uncured beyond any 
applicable cure period such that the holder of such security instrument has the right to 
accelerate repayment of such loan; 


(e) Any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any 
application, financial statement, certificate or report submitted to the City in connection with 
this Agreement proves to have been incorrect in any material and adverse respect when 
made and continues to be materially adverse to the City; 


(f) If, pursuant to or within the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy 
Code or any other federal or state law relating to insolvency or relief of debtors 







23 
 


(“Bankruptcy Law”), Developer or any manager, managing member or general partner 
thereof (i) commences a voluntary case or proceeding; (ii) consents to the entry of an order 
for relief against Developer or any general partner, managing member, or manager thereof in 
an involuntary case; (iii) consents to the appointment of a trustee, receiver, assignee, 
liquidator or similar official for Developer or any manager, managing member or general 
partner thereof; (iv) makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (v) admits in 
writing its inability to pay its debts as they become due; 


(g) A court of competent jurisdiction shall have made or entered any 
decree or order (1) adjudging the Developer to be bankrupt or insolvent, (2) approving as 
properly filed a petition seeking reorganization of the Developer or seeking any arrangement 
for Developer under bankruptcy law or any other applicable debtor’s relief law or statute of 
the United States or any state or other jurisdiction, (3) appointing a receiver, trustee, 
liquidator, or assignee of the Developer in bankruptcy or insolvency or for any of its 
properties, or (4) directing the winding up or liquidation of the Developer; 


(h) Developer shall have assigned its assets for the benefit of its creditors 
(other than pursuant to a mortgage loan) or suffered a sequestration or attachment of or 
execution on any substantial part of its property, unless the property so assigned, 
sequestered, attached or executed upon shall have been returned or released within sixty 
(60) days after such event (unless a lesser time period is permitted for cure under any other 
mortgage on the Property, in which event such lesser time period shall apply under this 
subsection as well) or prior to any sooner sale pursuant to such sequestration, attachment, or 
execution; 


(i) The Developer shall have voluntarily suspended its business or 
Developer shall have been dissolved or terminated; 


(j) Developer defaults in the performance of any term, provision, 
covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement other than an obligation enumerated in 
this Section 10.1 and unless a shorter cure period is specified for such default, the default 
continues for ten ( 10) days in the event of a monetary default or thirty (30) days in the event 
of a nonmonetary default after the date upon which City shall have given written notice of 
the default to Developer; provided however, if the default is of a nature that it cannot be 
cured within thirty (30) days, a Developer Event of Default shall not arise hereunder if 
Developer commences to cure the default within thirty (30) days and thereafter prosecutes 
the curing of such default with due diligence and in good faith to completion and in no event 
later than ninety (90) days after receipt of notice of the default. 


9.2. City Default.  An event of default on the part of City (“Event of City 
Default”) shall arise hereunder if City fails to keep, observe, or perform any of its 
covenants, duties, or obligations under this Agreement, and the default continues for a 
period of thirty (30) days after written notice thereof from Developer to City, or in the case 
of a default which cannot with due diligence be cured within thirty (30) days, City fails to 
commence to cure the default within thirty (30) days of such notice and thereafter fails to 
prosecute the curing of such default with due diligence and in good faith to completion. 







24 
 


9.3. City Right to Terminate Agreement.  If an Event of Developer Default shall 
occur and be continuing beyond any applicable cure period, then City shall, in addition to 
other rights available under law or this Agreement, have the right to terminate this 
Agreement; provided, however, if a nonmonetary breach is of a nature that it cannot be 
cured within the applicable  cure period, Developer shall commence to cure within said 
cure period and diligently complete such cure within a reasonable time thereafter but in no 
event later than one hundred twenty ( 120) days.  If, after the expiration of the applicable 
cure period, City elects to terminate this Agreement, City shall give written notice to 
Developer and to any mortgagee entitled to such notice specifying the nature of the default 
and stating that this Agreement shall expire and terminate on the date specified in such 
notice, and upon the date specified in the notice, this Agreement and all rights of Developer 
under this Agreement, shall expire and terminate. 


9.4. City Remedies and Rights Upon an Event of Developer Default.  In the event 
of a breach or default under this Agreement by Developer, if such breach or default occurs 
prior to Close of Escrow, City reserves the right to do any of the following:  (i) to waive the 
breach or default and proceed to close as provided herein; (ii) extend the time for 
performance and the Closing Date until Developer is able to perform; or (iii) terminate this 
Agreement upon written notice to Developer, whereupon City and Developer shall cause 
Escrow Holder to send Deposit to City and return to Developer any other sums placed into 
the Escrow by Developer, and except for the rights and obligations expressly provided to 
survive termination of this Agreement, neither Party shall have any further obligations or 
liabilities hereunder. 


IN THE EVENT OF A BREACH OR DEFAULT HEREUNDER BY 
DEVELOPER AND THE CLOSING DOES NOT OCCUR DUE TO SUCH 
DEFAULT, CITY’S SOLE REMEDY SHALL BE TO RETAIN THE DEPOSITS 
AS LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  THE PARTIES AGREE THAT IN SUCH 
INSTANCE, THE DEPOSITS REPRESENT A REASONABLE 
APPROXIMATION OF CITY’S DAMAGES AND ARE NOT INTENDED AS A 
FORFEITURE OR PENALTY BUT RATHER AN ENFORCEABLE 
LIQUIDATED DAMAGES PROVISION PURSUANT TO CALIFORNIA CIVIL 
CODE SECTION 1671, ET SEQ.  IN NO EVENT SHALL EITHER PARTY BE 
ENTITLED TO LOST PROFITS OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES AS A 
RESULT OF THE OTHER PARTY’S BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT. 


   __________   _________ 
   Developer’s Initials  City’s Initials 


9.5. Developer’s Remedies Upon an Event of City Default.  Upon the occurrence 
of an Event of City Default, in addition to pursuing any other remedy allowed at law or in 
equity or otherwise provided in this Agreement, Developer may either (a) bring an action 
for equitable relief seeking the specific performance of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, and/or enjoining, abating, or preventing any violation of such terms and 
conditions, and/or seeking to obtain any other remedy consistent with the purpose of this 
Agreement, or (b) do any of the following:  (i) to waive the breach or default and proceed 
to close as provided herein; (ii) extend the time for performance and the Closing Date until 







25 
 


City is able to perform; (iii) terminate this Agreement upon written notice to City, 
whereupon City and Developer shall cause Escrow Holder to send Deposit to Developer 
and return to Developer any other sums placed into the Escrow by Developer, and except 
for the rights and obligations expressly provided to survive termination of this Agreement, 
neither Party shall have any further obligations or liabilities hereunder; or (iv)  pursue any 
and all other remedies available under this Agreement or under law or equity to enforce 
hereunder. 


9.6. Remedies Cumulative; No Consequential Damages. Except as otherwise 
expressly stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative, 
and the exercise by either Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not preclude 
the exercise by it, at the same or different time, of any other rights or remedies for the same 
or any other default by the other Party. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth 
herein, a Party’s right to recover damages in the event of a default shall be limited to actual 
damages and shall exclude consequential damages. 


9.7. Inaction Not a Waiver of Default. No failure or delay by either Party in 
asserting any of its rights and remedies as to any default shall operate as a waiver of such 
default or of any such rights or remedies, nor deprive either Party of its rights to institute 
and maintain any action or proceeding which it may deem necessary to protect, assert or 
enforce any such rights or remedies in the same or any subsequent default. 


9.8. Rights of Mortgagees.  Any rights of the City under this Article IX shall not 
defeat, limit or render invalid any mortgage or deed of trust permitted by this Agreement or 
any rights provided for in this Agreement for the protection of holders of such instruments. 
Any conveyance or reverter of the Property to the City pursuant to this Article IX shall be 
subject to mortgages and deeds of trust permitted by this Agreement. 


ARTICLE X 
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 


10.1. Indemnity.  Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by 
City) and hold Indemnitees harmless from and against any and all Claims arising out of or 
in connection with Developer’s performance under this Agreement, including without 
limitation, Claims arising directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, as a result of or in 
connection with Developer’s or Developer’s contractors, subcontractors, agents or 
employees development, construction, improvement, operation, ownership or maintenance 
of the Project or the Property, or any part thereof or otherwise..  Developer’s 
indemnification obligations under this Section 10.1 shall not extend to Claims arising prior 
to the Effective Date or resulting solely from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of 
Indemnitees.  The provisions of this Section 10.1 shall survive the issuance of a 
Certificate of Occupancy for the Project and the expiration or earlier termination of this 
Agreement. It is further agreed that City does not and shall not waive any rights against 
Developer that they may have by reason of this indemnity and hold harmless agreement 
because of the acceptance by City, or the deposit with City by Developer, of any of the 
insurance policies described in this Agreement. 







26 
 


10.2. Liability and Workers Compensation Insurance. 


(a) Prior to initiating work on the Project and continuing through the 
issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of 
Developer on the Project shall maintain a commercial general liability policy in the amount 
of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) each occurrence, Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) 
annual aggregate, together with Three Million Dollars ($3,000,000) excess liability 
coverage, or such other policy limits as City may require in its reasonable discretion, 
including coverage for bodily injury, property damage, products, completed operations and 
contractual liability coverage. Such policy or policies shall be written on an occurrence basis 
and shall name the Indemnitees as additional insureds. 


(b) Until issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all 
contractors working on behalf of Developer shall maintain a comprehensive automobile 
liability coverage in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), combined single limit 
including coverage for owned and non-owned vehicles and shall furnish or cause to be 
furnished to City evidence satisfactory to City that Developer and any contractor with whom 
Developer has contracted for the performance of work on the Property or otherwise pursuant 
to this Agreement carries workers’ compensation insurance as required by law. Automobile 
liability policies shall name the Indemnitees as additional insureds. 


(c) Upon commencement of construction work and continuing until 
issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of 
Developer shall maintain a policy of builder’s all-risk insurance in an amount not less than 
the full insurable cost of the Project on a replacement cost basis naming City as loss payee. 


(d) Until issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer shall 
maintain property insurance covering all risks of loss (other than earthquake), including 
flood (if required) for 100% of the replacement value of the Project with deductible, if any, 
in an amount acceptable to City, naming City as loss payee. 


(e) Companies writing the insurance required hereunder shall be licensed 
to do business in the State of California.  Insurance shall be placed with insurers with a 
current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: VII. The Commercial General Liability and 
comprehensive automobile policies required hereunder shall name the Indemnitees as 
additional insureds. Builder’s Risk and property insurance shall name City as loss payee. 


(f) Prior to commencement of construction work on the Project, 
Developer shall furnish City with certificates of insurance in form acceptable to City 
evidencing the required insurance coverage and duly executed endorsements evidencing 
such additional insured status. The certificates shall contain a statement of obligation on the 
part of the carrier to notify City of any material adverse change, cancellation, termination or 
non-renewal of the coverage at least thirty days in advance of the effective date of any such 
material adverse change, cancellation, termination or non-renewal. 


(g) If any insurance policy or coverage required hereunder is canceled or 
reduced, Developer shall, within five (5) days after receipt of notice of such cancellation or 







27 
 


reduction in coverage, but in no event later than the effective date of cancellation or 
reduction, file with City a certificate showing that the required insurance has been reinstated 
or provided through another insurance company or companies.  Upon failure to so file such 
certificate, City may, without further notice and at its option, procure such insurance 
coverage at Developer’s expense, and Developer shall promptly reimburse City for such 
expense upon receipt of billing from City. 


(h) Coverage provided by Developer shall be primary insurance and shall 
not be contributing with any insurance, or self-insurance maintained by City, and the 
policies shall so provide.  The insurance policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation for 
the benefit of the City. Developer shall furnish the required certificates and endorsements to 
City prior to the commencement of construction of the Project, and shall provide City with 
certified copies of the required insurance policies upon request. 


ARTICLE XI 
ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 


11.1. No Brokers.  Each Party warrants and represents to the other that no person 
or entity can properly claim a right to a real estate commission, brokerage fee, finder’s fee, 
or other compensation with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  
Each Party agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other Party from any claims, 
expenses, costs or liabilities arising in connection with a breach of this warranty and 
representation.  The terms of this Section shall survive the close of escrow and the 
expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement. 


11.2. Enforced Delay: Extension of Times of Performance.  Subject to the 
limitations set forth below, performance by either Party shall not be deemed to be in 
default, and all performance and other dates specified in this Agreement shall be extended 
where delays are due to: war, insurrection, strikes, lockouts, riots, floods, earthquakes, 
fires, casualties, acts of God, acts of the public enemy, epidemics, quarantine restrictions, 
freight embargoes, governmental restrictions or priority, litigation, including court delays, 
unusually severe weather, acts or omissions of the other Party, acts or failures to act of any 
public or governmental agency or  entity (provided that the acts or failures to act of City 
shall not excuse performance by City), or any other cause beyond the affected Party’s 
reasonable control.  An extension of time for any such cause shall be for the period of the 
enforced delay and shall commence to run from the time of the commencement of the 
cause, if notice by the Party claiming such extension is sent to the other Party within thirty 
(30) days of the commencement of the cause and such extension is not rejected in writing 
by the other Party within ten (10) days of receipt of the notice.  Neither Party shall 
unreasonably withhold consent to an extension of time pursuant to this Section. 


Times of performance under this Agreement may also be extended in writing by the 
mutual agreement of Developer, City (acting in the discretion of the City Manager unless he or 
she determines in his or her discretion to refer such matter to the City Council). 


City and Developer acknowledge that adverse changes in economic conditions, either of 
the affected Party specifically or the economy generally, changes in market conditions or 







28 
 


demand, and/or inability to obtain financing to complete the Project shall not constitute grounds 
of enforced delay pursuant to this Section. Each Party expressly assumes the risk of such 
adverse economic or market changes and/or financial inability, whether or not foreseeable as of 
the Effective Date. 


11.3. Notices.  Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, all notices to be 
sent pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in writing, and sent to the Parties at their 
respective addresses specified below or to such other address as a Party may designate by 
written notice delivered to the other Parties in accordance with this Section. All such 
notices shall be sent by: personal delivery, in which case notice is effective upon delivery; 
(ii) certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, in which case notice shall be 
deemed delivered on receipt if delivery is confirmed by a return receipt; or (iii) nationally 
recognized overnight courier, with charges prepaid or charged to the sender’s account, in 
which case notice is effective on delivery if delivery is confirmed by the delivery service. 


 
City: City of Pinole 
   34009 Alvarado-Niles Road  
   Pinole, CA  94587  
   Attn:  City Manager 
 
Developer: GRP Shores, LLC,  
 a California Limited Liability Company 
 2350 N. University Drive #848300 
 Pembroke Pines Florida 33084 
 Tel (954) 499-8663 
 Fax (954) 499-8669 


 Email: hector.vinas@onecorpglobal.com 
 


11.4. Attorneys’ Fees.  If any Party fails to perform any of its obligations under 
this Agreement, or if any dispute arises among the Parties concerning the meaning or 
interpretation of any provision hereof, then the prevailing Party in any proceeding in 
connection with such dispute shall be entitled to the costs and expenses it incurs on account 
thereof and in enforcing or establishing its rights hereunder, including, without limitation, 
court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements. 


11.5. Waivers: Modification.  No waiver of any breach of any covenant or 
provision of this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any other covenant or provision 
hereof, and no waiver shall be valid unless in writing and executed by the waiving Party. 
An extension of time for performance of any obligation or act shall not be deemed an 
extension of the time for performance of any other obligation or act, and no extension shall 
be valid unless in writing and executed by the Party granting the extension. This 
Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by the 
Parties. 







29 
 


11.6. Binding on Successors.  Subject to the restrictions on Transfers set forth in 
Article VII, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their 
respective permitted successors and assigns. Any reference in this Agreement to a 
specifically named Party shall be deemed to apply to any permitted successor and assign of 
such Party who has acquired an interest in compliance with this Agreement or under law. 


11.7. Survival. All representations made by Developer hereunder and Developer’s 
obligations pursuant to Sections 4.1, 11.1 and 11.18 shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement and the issuance and recordation of a Certificate of 
Occupancy.  All indemnities, covenants, representations and warranties contained in this 
Agreement shall survive Close of Escrow, and none of the provisions, terms, 
representations, warranties and covenants of this Agreement are intended to or shall be 
merged by any grant deed conveying the Property to Developer or any successor in 
interest, and neither such grant deed nor any other document shall affect or impair the 
provisions, terms, representations, warranties and covenants contained herein. 


11.8. Construction.  The section headings and captions used herein are solely for 
convenience and shall not be used to interpret this Agreement.  The Parties acknowledge 
that this Agreement is the product of negotiation and compromise on the part of all Parties, 
and the Parties agree, that since all Parties have participated in the negotiation and drafting 
of this Agreement, this Agreement shall not be construed as if prepared by one of the 
Parties, but rather according to its fair meaning as a whole, as if all Parties had prepared it. 


11.9. Action or Approval.  Whenever action and/or approval by City is required 
under this Agreement, the City Manager of the City of Pinole or his designee may act on 
and/or approve such matter unless specifically provided otherwise, or unless the City 
Manager determines in his discretion that such action or approval requires referral to City 
Council for consideration.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, whenever a 
party is required or permitted to give its consent or approval under this Agreement, such 
consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  If a party is required or 
permitted to give its consent or approval in its sole and absolute discretion or if such 
consent or approval may be unreasonably withheld, such consent or approval may be 
unreasonably withheld but shall not be unreasonably delayed. 


11.10. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including Exhibits A through H, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, contains the entire agreement between 
the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior written or oral 
agreements, understandings, representations or statements between the Parties with respect 
to the subject matter hereof. 


11.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, 
each of which shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one 
instrument. The signature page of any counterpart may be detached therefrom without 
impairing the legal effect of the signature(s) thereon provided such signature page is 
attached to any other counterpart identical thereto having additional signature pages 
executed by the other Party. Any executed counterpart of this Agreement may be delivered 







30 
 


to the other Party by facsimile and shall be deemed as binding as if an originally signed 
counterpart was delivered. 


11.12. Severability. If any term, provision, or condition of this Agreement is held 
by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this 
Agreement shall continue in full force and effect unless an essential purpose of this 
Agreement is defeated by such invalidity or unenforceability. 


11.13. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement is 
intended to or shall be deemed to confer upon any person, other than the Parties and their 
respective successors and assigns, any rights or remedies hereunder. 


11.14. Parties Not Co-Venturers.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall 
establish the Parties as partners, co-venturers, or principal and agent with one another. 


11.15. Non-Liability of Officials. Employees and Agents. No officer, official, 
employee or agent of City shall be personally liable to Developer or its successors in 
interest in the event of any default or breach by City or for any amount which may become 
due to Developer or its successors in interest pursuant to this Agreement. 


11.16. Time of the Essence: Calculation of Time Periods.  Time is of the essence for 
each condition, term, obligation and provision of this Agreement. Unless otherwise 
specified, in computing any period of time described in this Agreement, the day of the act 
or event after which the designated period of time begins to run is not to be included and 
the last day of the period so computed is to be included, unless such last day is not a 
business day, in which event the period shall run until the next business day. The final day 
of any such period shall be deemed to end at 5:00 p.m., local time at the Property. For 
purposes of this Agreement, a “business day” means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, a 
federal holiday or a state holiday under the laws of California. 


11.17. Governing Law: Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed 
in accordance with the laws of the State of California without regard to principles of 
conflicts of laws. Any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall be filed and heard 
in the Superior Court of Contra Costa County, California or in the Federal District Court for 
the Northern District of California. 


11.18. Inspection of Books and Records.  Upon request, Developer shall permit the 
City to inspect at reasonable times and on a confidential basis those books, records and all 
other documents of Developer to the extent reasonably necessary to determine 
Developer’s compliance with the terms of this Agreement. 


11.19. Confidentiality.  The Parties hereto shall not disclose any of the terms of this 
Agreement (except to the extent as may be required by law or as required by the Title 
Company or to the officers, directors, partners and employees of the Parties hereto in the 
ordinary course of business) without the prior written consent of the other Party.   


SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE(S). 







31 
 


 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Agreement effective as of the 


date first written above. 
 
CITY 
City of Pinole, a California municipal corporation 
 
 
By:_________________________ 
 City Manager 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:___________________________ 
 City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
By:_______________________________ 
 City Attorney 
 
 
DEVELOPER: 
 
GRP Shores, LLC, 
a California limited liability company 
 
 
By:__________________________ 
Its: Managing Member 







32 
 


 
EXHIBIT A 


LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
 
 
Real property located in the City of Pinole, County of Contra Costa, State of California, 
described as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
APN _________________ 
 
  







33 
 


EXHIBIT B 
 


DEPICTION OF PROPERTY 
 
 







34 
 


EXHIBIT C 
 


COVENANT AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESTRICTION 
 ON PROPERTY 


 







35 
 


EXHIBIT D 
 


FORM OF GRANT DEED 
 


5075274.2  























































































































CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: ERIC CASHER, CITY ATTORNEY 


SUBJECT: LETTER OF SUPPORT FOR ASSEMBLY BILL 1944 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that City Council consider issuing a letter in support for assembly Bill 
1944 which would update sections of the Ralph M. Brown Act (“Brown Act”). 


INTRODUCTION 


The City Council directed staff to prepare a future agenda item for discussion and 
consideration of a letter of support for Assembly Bill (“AB”) 1944.   


The Ralph M. Brown Act (the “Act”) requires that all meetings of a legislative body of a 
local agency be open and public and that all persons be permitted to attend and 
participate. The Act also provides that meetings may occur via teleconferencing, subject 
to requirements, including:  (i) that the legislative body notice each teleconference 
location of each member that will be participating in the public meeting; (ii) that each 
teleconference location be accessible to the public; (iii) that members of the public be 
allowed to address the legislative body at each teleconferencing location; (iv) that the 
legislative body post an agenda at each teleconference location; and (v) that at least a 
quorum of the legislative body participate from locations within the boundaries of the local 
agency’s jurisdiction.  


As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Governor Newsom issued several Executive 
Orders relaxing the teleconferencing requirements under the Brown Act. In September, 
2021 Governor Newsom signed Assembly Bill 361 into law which amended section 54953 
of the Government Code and relaxed Brown Act teleconferencing restrictions allowing for 
public agencies to meet via videoconference and without the noticing requirements 
related to the physical location of attendees.  AB 1944 would formally amend the Brown 
Act to relax the physical location noticing requirements. 


ANALYSIS 


AB 1944 was drafted to protect the personal, private information of public officials and 
their families while preserving the public’s right to access information concerning the 
conduct of public business.   


12A


270 of 316







City Council Report 
April 5, 2022  2 


Like AB 361, AB 1944 further amends Government Code 54953 to provide that if a 
member of a local legislative body elects to teleconference from a location that is not 
public, the address of that location need not be identified in the notice and agenda, or be 
accessible to the public. AB 1944 would also require the local body that elects to use 
teleconferencing to provide:  (i) a video stream, as defined, accessible to members of the 
public; and (ii) an option for members of the public to address the body remotely during 
the public comment period through an audio-visual or call-in option. A copy of the AB 
1944 is included as Attachment A. 
 
At present, the League of California Cities has yet to take a formal position on AB 1944. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Staff recommends that Council consider issuing a letter in support of AB 1944. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
None. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
A - Assembly Bill 1944 
 
 


271 of 316







california legislature—2021–22 regular session 


ASSEMBLY BILL  No. 1944 


Introduced by Assembly Members Lee and Cristina Garcia 


February 10, 2022 


An act to amend Section 54953 of the Government Code, relating to 
public meetings. 


legislative counsel’s digest


AB 1944, as introduced, Lee. Local government: open and public 
meetings. 


Existing law, the Ralph M. Brown Act, requires, with specified 
exceptions, that all meetings of a legislative body of a local agency, as 
those terms are defined, be open and public and that all persons be 
permitted to attend and participate. The act contains specified provisions 
regarding the timelines for posting an agenda and providing for the 
ability of the public to observe and provide comment. The act allows 
for meetings to occur via teleconferencing subject to certain 
requirements, particularly that the legislative body notice each 
teleconference location of each member that will be participating in the 
public meeting, that each teleconference location be accessible to the 
public, that members of the public be allowed to address the legislative 
body at each teleconference location, that the legislative body post an 
agenda at each teleconference location, and that at least a quorum of 
the legislative body participate from locations within the boundaries of 
the local agency’s jurisdiction. The act provides an exemption to the 
jurisdictional requirement for health authorities, as defined. 


Existing law, until January 1, 2024, authorizes a local agency to use 
teleconferencing without complying with those specified 
teleconferencing requirements in specified circumstances when a 


99 


ATTACHMENT A


272 of 316







declared state of emergency is in effect, or in other situations related 
to public health. 


This bill would specify that if a member of a legislative body elects 
to teleconference from a location that is not public, the address does 
not need to be identified in the notice and agenda or be accessible to 
the public when the legislative body has elected to allow members to 
participate via teleconferencing. 


This bill would require all open and public meetings of a legislative 
body that elects to use teleconferencing to provide a video stream 
accessible to members of the public and an option for members of the 
public to address the body remotely during the public comment period 
through an audio-visual or call-in option. 


Existing constitutional provisions require that a statute that limits the 
right of access to the meetings of public bodies or the writings of public 
officials and agencies be adopted with findings demonstrating the 
interest protected by the limitation and the need for protecting that 
interest. 


This bill would make legislative findings to that effect. 
The California Constitution requires local agencies, for the purpose 


of ensuring public access to the meetings of public bodies and the 
writings of public officials and agencies, to comply with a statutory 
enactment that amends or enacts laws relating to public records or open 
meetings and contains findings demonstrating that the enactment furthers 
the constitutional requirements relating to this purpose. 


This bill would make legislative findings to that effect. 
Vote:   majority.   Appropriation:   no.  Fiscal committee:   yes.


State-mandated local program:   no.


The people of the State of California do enact as follows: 


 line 1 SECTION 1. Section 54953 of the Government Code, as 
 line 2 amended by Section 3 of Chapter 165 of the Statutes of 2021, is 
 line 3 amended to read: 
 line 4 54953. (a)  All meetings of the legislative body of a local 
 line 5 agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be permitted 
 line 6 to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, 
 line 7 except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 
 line 8 (b)  (1)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the 
 line 9 legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing for 


 line 10 the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency 


99 


— 2 — AB 1944 


  


273 of 316







 line 1 in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by law. 
 line 2 The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all 
 line 3 otherwise applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise 
 line 4 applicable provisions of law relating to a specific type of meeting 
 line 5 or proceeding. 
 line 6 (2)  Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used 
 line 7 for all purposes in connection with any meeting within the subject 
 line 8 matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during 
 line 9 a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 


 line 10 (3)  If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use 
 line 11 teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all teleconference 
 line 12 locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that 
 line 13 protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the 
 line 14 public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. 
 line 15 Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and 
 line 16 agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference 
 line 17 location shall be accessible to the public. public, except as provided 
 line 18 in subparagraph (A). During the teleconference, at least a quorum 
 line 19 of the members of the legislative body shall participate from 
 line 20 locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the 
 line 21 local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in 
 line 22 subdivisions (d) and (e). The agenda shall provide an opportunity 
 line 23 for members of the public to address the legislative body directly 
 line 24 pursuant to Section 54954.3 at each teleconference location.
 line 25 location, except as provided in subparagraph (A).
 line 26 (A)  If a member of a legislative body elects to teleconference 
 line 27 from a location that is not public, the address does not need to be 
 line 28 identified in the notice and agenda or be accessible to the public 
 line 29 when the legislative body has elected to allow members to 
 line 30 participate via teleconferencing. 
 line 31 (B)  If a legislative body elects to use teleconferencing, they shall 
 line 32 provide both of the following: 
 line 33 (i)  A video stream accessible to members of the public. 
 line 34 (ii)  An option for members of the public to address the body 
 line 35 remotely during the public comment period through an audio-visual 
 line 36 or call-in option. 
 line 37 (4)  For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a 
 line 38 meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different 
 line 39 locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or 


99 


AB 1944 — 3 — 


  


274 of 316







 line 1 video, or both. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency 
 line 2 from providing the public with additional teleconference locations. 
 line 3 (5)  For the purposes of this section, “video streaming” means 
 line 4 media in which the data from a live filming or a video file is 
 line 5 continuously delivered via the internet to a remote user, allowing 
 line 6 a video to be viewed online by the public without being downloaded 
 line 7 on a host computer or device. 
 line 8 (c)  (1)  No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, 
 line 9 whether preliminary or final. 


 line 10 (2)  The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report 
 line 11 any action taken and the vote or abstention on that action of each 
 line 12 member present for the action. 
 line 13 (3)  Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally 
 line 14 report a summary of a recommendation for a final action on the 
 line 15 salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of 
 line 16 fringe benefits of a local agency executive, as defined in 
 line 17 subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in 
 line 18 which the final action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect 
 line 19 the public’s right under the California Public Records Act (Chapter 
 line 20 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to 
 line 21 inspect or copy records created or received in the process of 
 line 22 developing the recommendation. 
 line 23 (d)  (1)  Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in 
 line 24 paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health authority conducts a 
 line 25 teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction 
 line 26 of the authority may be counted toward the establishment of a 
 line 27 quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 
 line 28 percent of the number of members that would establish a quorum 
 line 29 are present within the boundaries of the territory over which the 
 line 30 authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides 
 line 31 a teleconference number, and associated access codes, if any, that 
 line 32 allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the 
 line 33 number and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda 
 line 34 of the meeting. 
 line 35 (2)  Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as 
 line 36 discouraging health authority members from regularly meeting at 
 line 37 a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or 
 line 38 from using teleconference locations within or near the jurisdiction 
 line 39 of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is 


99 


— 4 — AB 1944 


  


275 of 316







 line 1 established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other 
 line 2 requirements of this section. 
 line 3 (3)  For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means 
 line 4 any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7, 14087.31, 
 line 5 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare 
 line 6 and Institutions Code, any joint powers authority created pursuant 
 line 7 to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 
 line 8 Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 
 line 9 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory 


 line 10 committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to 
 line 11 Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the 
 line 12 Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more 
 line 13 members. 
 line 14 (e)  (1)  A local agency may use teleconferencing without 
 line 15 complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision 
 line 16 (b) if the legislative body complies with the requirements of 
 line 17 paragraph (2) of this subdivision in any of the following 
 line 18 circumstances: 
 line 19 (A)  The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed 
 line 20 state of emergency, and state or local officials have imposed or 
 line 21 recommended measures to promote social distancing. 
 line 22 (B)  The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed 
 line 23 state of emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority 
 line 24 vote, whether as a result of the emergency, meeting in person 
 line 25 would present imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 
 line 26 (C)  The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed 
 line 27 state of emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant 
 line 28 to subparagraph (B), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting 
 line 29 in person would present imminent risks to the health or safety of 
 line 30 attendees. 
 line 31 (2)  A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this 
 line 32 subdivision shall do all of the following: 
 line 33 (A)  The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and 
 line 34 post agendas as otherwise required by this chapter. 
 line 35 (B)  The legislative body shall allow members of the public to 
 line 36 access the meeting and the agenda shall provide an opportunity 
 line 37 for members of the public to address the legislative body directly 
 line 38 pursuant to Section 54954.3. In each instance in which notice of 
 line 39 the time of the teleconferenced meeting is otherwise given or the 
 line 40 agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body 


99 


AB 1944 — 5 — 


  


276 of 316







 line 1 shall also give notice of the means by which members of the public 
 line 2 may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda 
 line 3 shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend 
 line 4 via a call-in option or an internet-based service option. This 
 line 5 subparagraph shall not be construed to require the legislative body 
 line 6 to provide a physical location from which the public may attend 
 line 7 or comment. 
 line 8 (C)  The legislative body shall conduct teleconference meetings 
 line 9 in a manner that protects the statutory and constitutional rights of 


 line 10 the parties and the public appearing before the legislative body of 
 line 11 a local agency. 
 line 12 (D)  In the event of a disruption which prevents the public agency 
 line 13 from broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the 
 line 14 call-in option or internet-based service option, or in the event of 
 line 15 a disruption within the local agency’s control which prevents 
 line 16 members of the public from offering public comments using the 
 line 17 call-in option or internet-based service option, the body shall take 
 line 18 no further action on items appearing on the meeting agenda until 
 line 19 public access to the meeting via the call-in option or internet-based 
 line 20 service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items during 
 line 21 a disruption which prevents the public agency from broadcasting 
 line 22 the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 
 line 23 (E)  The legislative body shall not require public comments to 
 line 24 be submitted in advance of the meeting and must provide an 
 line 25 opportunity for the public to address the legislative body and offer 
 line 26 comment in real time. This subparagraph shall not be construed 
 line 27 to require the legislative body to provide a physical location from 
 line 28 which the public may attend or comment. 
 line 29 (F)  Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to 
 line 30 provide public comment through the use of an internet website, or 
 line 31 other online platform, not under the control of the local legislative 
 line 32 body, that requires registration to log in to a teleconference may 
 line 33 be required to register as required by the third-party internet 
 line 34 website or online platform to participate. 
 line 35 (G)  (i)  A legislative body that provides a timed public comment 
 line 36 period for each agenda item shall not close the public comment 
 line 37 period for the agenda item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant 
 line 38 to subparagraph (F), to provide public comment until that timed 
 line 39 public comment period has elapsed. 


99 


— 6 — AB 1944 


  


277 of 316







 line 1 (ii)  A legislative body that does not provide a timed public 
 line 2 comment period, but takes public comment separately on each 
 line 3 agenda item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda 
 line 4 item to allow public members the opportunity to provide public 
 line 5 comment, including time for members of the public to register 
 line 6 pursuant to subparagraph (F), or otherwise be recognized for the 
 line 7 purpose of providing public comment. 
 line 8 (iii)  A legislative body that provides a timed general public 
 line 9 comment period that does not correspond to a specific agenda item 


 line 10 shall not close the public comment period or the opportunity to 
 line 11 register, pursuant to subparagraph (F), until the timed general 
 line 12 public comment period has elapsed. 
 line 13 (3)  If a state of emergency remains active, or state or local 
 line 14 officials have imposed or recommended measures to promote 
 line 15 social distancing, in order to continue to teleconference without 
 line 16 compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), the legislative 
 line 17 body shall, not later than 30 days after teleconferencing for the 
 line 18 first time pursuant to subparagraph (A), (B), or (C) of paragraph 
 line 19 (1), and every 30 days thereafter, make the following findings by 
 line 20 majority vote: 
 line 21 (A)  The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of 
 line 22 the state of emergency. 
 line 23 (B)  Any of the following circumstances exist: 
 line 24 (i)  The state of emergency continues to directly impact the 
 line 25 ability of the members to meet safely in person. 
 line 26 (ii)  State or local officials continue to impose or recommend 
 line 27 measures to promote social distancing. 
 line 28 (4)  For the purposes of this subdivision, “state of emergency” 
 line 29 means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to Section 8625 
 line 30 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing 
 line 31 with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2). 
 line 32 (f)  This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024, 
 line 33 and as of that date is repealed. 
 line 34 SEC. 2. Section 54953 of the Government Code, as added by 
 line 35 Section 4 of Chapter 165 of the Statutes of 2021, is amended to 
 line 36 read: 
 line 37 54953. (a)  All meetings of the legislative body of a local 
 line 38 agency shall be open and public, and all persons shall be permitted 
 line 39 to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a local agency, 
 line 40 except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 


99 


AB 1944 — 7 — 


  


278 of 316







 line 1 (b)  (1)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the 
 line 2 legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing for 
 line 3 the benefit of the public and the legislative body of a local agency 
 line 4 in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by law. 
 line 5 The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all 
 line 6 requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions 
 line 7 of law relating to a specific type of meeting or proceeding. 
 line 8 (2)  Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used 
 line 9 for all purposes in connection with any meeting within the subject 


 line 10 matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. All votes taken during 
 line 11 a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 
 line 12 (3)  If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use 
 line 13 teleconferencing, it shall post agendas at all teleconference 
 line 14 locations and conduct teleconference meetings in a manner that 
 line 15 protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the 
 line 16 public appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. 
 line 17 Each teleconference location shall be identified in the notice and 
 line 18 agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each teleconference 
 line 19 location shall be accessible to the public. public, except as provided 
 line 20 in subparagraph (A). During the teleconference, at least a quorum 
 line 21 of the members of the legislative body shall participate from 
 line 22 locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the 
 line 23 local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in 
 line 24 subdivision (d). The agenda shall provide an opportunity for 
 line 25 members of the public to address the legislative body directly 
 line 26 pursuant to Section 54954.3 at each teleconference location.
 line 27 location, except as provided in subparagraph (A).
 line 28 (A)  If a member of a legislative body elects to teleconference 
 line 29 from a location that is not public, the address does not need to be 
 line 30 identified in the notice and agenda, or be accessible to the public 
 line 31 when the legislative body has elected to allow members to 
 line 32 participate via teleconferencing. 
 line 33 (B)  If a legislative body elects to use teleconferencing, they shall 
 line 34 provide both of the following: 
 line 35 (i)  A video stream accessible to members of the public. 
 line 36 (ii)  An option for members of the public to address the body 
 line 37 remotely during the public comment period through an audio-visual 
 line 38 or call-in option. 
 line 39 (4)  For the purposes of this section, “teleconference” means a 
 line 40 meeting of a legislative body, the members of which are in different 


99 


— 8 — AB 1944 


  


279 of 316







 line 1 locations, connected by electronic means, through either audio or 
 line 2 video, or both. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency 
 line 3 from providing the public with additional teleconference locations 
 line 4 (5)  For the purposes of this section, “video streaming” means 
 line 5 media in which the data from a live filming or a video file is 
 line 6 continuously delivered via the internet to a remote user, allowing 
 line 7 a video to be viewed online by the public without being downloaded 
 line 8 on a host computer or device. 
 line 9 (c)  (1)  No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, 


 line 10 whether preliminary or final. 
 line 11 (2)  The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report 
 line 12 any action taken and the vote or abstention on that action of each 
 line 13 member present for the action. 
 line 14 (3)  Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally 
 line 15 report a summary of a recommendation for a final action on the 
 line 16 salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of 
 line 17 fringe benefits of a local agency executive, as defined in 
 line 18 subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in 
 line 19 which the final action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect 
 line 20 the public’s right under the California Public Records Act (Chapter 
 line 21 3.5 (commencing with Section 6250) of Division 7 of Title 1) to 
 line 22 inspect or copy records created or received in the process of 
 line 23 developing the recommendation. 
 line 24 (d)  (1)  Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in 
 line 25 paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), if a health authority conducts a 
 line 26 teleconference meeting, members who are outside the jurisdiction 
 line 27 of the authority may be counted toward the establishment of a 
 line 28 quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 
 line 29 percent of the number of members that would establish a quorum 
 line 30 are present within the boundaries of the territory over which the 
 line 31 authority exercises jurisdiction, and the health authority provides 
 line 32 a teleconference number, and associated access codes, if any, that 
 line 33 allows any person to call in to participate in the meeting and the 
 line 34 number and access codes are identified in the notice and agenda 
 line 35 of the meeting. 
 line 36 (2)  Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as 
 line 37 discouraging health authority members from regularly meeting at 
 line 38 a common physical site within the jurisdiction of the authority or 
 line 39 from using teleconference locations within or near the jurisdiction 
 line 40 of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is 


99 


AB 1944 — 9 — 


  


280 of 316







 line 1 established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other 
 line 2 requirements of this section. 
 line 3 (3)  For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means 
 line 4 any entity created pursuant to Sections 14018.7, 14087.31, 
 line 5 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 14087.9605 of the Welfare 
 line 6 and Institutions Code, any joint powers authority created pursuant 
 line 7 to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 
 line 8 Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 
 line 9 14087.3 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory 


 line 10 committee to a county-sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to 
 line 11 Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the 
 line 12 Health and Safety Code if the advisory committee has 12 or more 
 line 13 members. 
 line 14 (e)  This section shall become operative January 1, 2024. 
 line 15 SEC. 3. The Legislature finds and declares that Sections 1 and 
 line 16 2 of this act, which amends Section 54953 of the Government 
 line 17 Code, further, within the meaning of paragraph (7) of subdivision 
 line 18 (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution, the 
 line 19 purposes of that constitutional section as it relates to the right of 
 line 20 public access to the meetings of local public bodies or the writings 
 line 21 of local public officials and local agencies. Pursuant to paragraph 
 line 22 (7) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California 
 line 23 Constitution, the Legislature makes the following findings: 
 line 24 This act is necessary to ensure minimum standards for public 
 line 25 participation allowing for greater public participation in 
 line 26 teleconference meetings. 
 line 27 SEC. 4. (a)  The Legislature finds and declares that during the 
 line 28 COVID-19 public health emergency, certain requirements of the 
 line 29 Ralph M. Brown Act (Chapter 9 (commencing with Section 54950) 
 line 30 of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code) and the 
 line 31 Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act (Article 9 (commencing with 
 line 32 Section 11120) of Chapter 1 of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of 
 line 33 the Government Code) were suspended by Executive Order No. 
 line 34 N-29-20. Audio and video teleconference were widely used to 
 line 35 conduct public meetings in lieu of physical location meetings, and 
 line 36 public meetings conducted by teleconference during the COVID-19 
 line 37 public health emergency have been productive, have increased 
 line 38 public participation by all members of the public regardless of 
 line 39 their location in the state and ability to travel to physical meeting 
 line 40 locations, have protected the health and safety of civil servants 


99 


— 10 — AB 1944 


  


281 of 316







 line 1 and the public, and have reduced travel costs incurred by members 
 line 2 of state bodies and reduced work hours spent traveling to and from 
 line 3 meetings. 
 line 4 (b)  The Legislature finds and declares that Sections 1 and 2 of 
 line 5 this act, which amend Section 54953 of the Government Code, 
 line 6 imposes a potential limitation on the public’s right of access to the 
 line 7 meetings of public bodies or the writings of public officials and 
 line 8 agencies within the meaning of Section 3 of Article I of the 
 line 9 California Constitution. Pursuant to that constitutional provision, 


 line 10 the Legislature makes the following findings to demonstrate the 
 line 11 interest protected by this potential limitation and the need for 
 line 12 protecting that interest: 
 line 13 By removing the requirement for each teleconference location 
 line 14 to be identified in the notice and agenda, including the member’s 
 line 15 private home address, this act protects the personal, private 
 line 16 information of public officials and their families while preserving 
 line 17 the public’s right to access information concerning the conduct of 
 line 18 the people’s business. 


O 


99 


AB 1944 — 11 — 


  


282 of 316







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


12B 


DATE: APRIL 5, 2022 


TO:  MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: LILLY WHALEN, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 


SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF A LETTER OF SUPPORT FOR UNITED 
STEELWORKERS CONTRACT AT CHEVRON RICHMOND REFINERY 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council consider sending a letter of support (attached) for 
the United Steelworkers (USW) members employed at the Chevron refinery in Richmond 
regarding a labor contract. 


BACKGROUND 


At the March 1, 2022 City Council meeting, the Council directed staff to return with an 
agenda item to consider a letter of support for USW members employed at the Chevron 
refinery in Richmond. 


REVIEW AND DISCUSSION 


The Chevron refinery in Richmond is the city’s largest employer, produces 245,000 
barrels per day of gasoline, jet fuel, and diesel fuel, and provides about 20% of Northern 
California’s gasoline. 


The USW represents 850,000 workers employed in metals, mining, pulp and paper, 
rubber, chemicals, glass, auto supply, and the energy-producing industries, along with a 
growing number of workers in health care, public sector, higher education, tech and 
service occupations. USW Local 5 represents 550 Chevron Richmond Refinery workers, 
including machinists, pipefitters, lab technicians, and warehouse workers. USW Local 5’s 
contract with Chevron expired February 1, 2022. Since that time, members have been 
working under a rolling 24-hour extension while the USW and Chevron reach a new 
contract. 


283 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  2 


According to USW Local 5 representatives, staffing shortages are the primary unresolved 
labor issue. As reported by Reuters, USW Local 5 has asked for a 5% pay increase above 
that agreed to by its peers because of the higher cost of living in the San Francisco Bay 
Area. USW Local 5 has also asked Chevron to add staffing in order to reduce the 60-70 
hours that union members must sometimes work1. 
 
The last, best, and final offer provided by Chevron was rejected by USW Local 5, and on 
March 21, 2022 workers began an unfair labor practices strike, the first strike at the plant 
in over 40 years. As reported by the Wall Street Journal, Chevron said USW Local 5’s 
demands were more than what the company considers reasonable and went beyond the 
national pattern bargaining agreement2. Non-union workers were brought in by Chevron 
to operate the refinery during the strike. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
There is no fiscal impact associated with the City Council considering the aforementioned 
letter of support. 
 
Attachments 
 
A - Draft Letter of Support 
 
 


 
1 https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/union-workers-chevron-refinery-prepare-strike-monday-2022-
03-20/  
2 https://www.wsj.com/articles/more-than-500-chevron-workers-strike-at-california-refinery-11647876757  


284 of 316



https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/union-workers-chevron-refinery-prepare-strike-monday-2022-03-20/

https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/union-workers-chevron-refinery-prepare-strike-monday-2022-03-20/

https://www.wsj.com/articles/more-than-500-chevron-workers-strike-at-california-refinery-11647876757





April 5, 2022 


Mike Wirth 
Chief Executive Officer 
Chevron Corporation 


Re: Support for a Fair Labor Contract for United Steelworkers (USW) Local 5 at Chevron 
Richmond Refinery 


Dear Mr. Wirth, 


We are aware that on February 1, 2022, the contract between Chevron and USW Local 5 
expired with no successor contract in place and that members of USW Local 5, including 
machinists, pipefitters, lab technicians, and warehouse workers, worked on a rolling 24-hour 
extension while USW and Chevron worked to resolve the labor contract issues. It is our 
understanding that the last, best, and final offer provided by Chevron was rejected by USW 
Local 5, and on March 21, 2022, workers began an unfair labor practices strike, the first strike at 
the plant in over 40 years. 


We understand that on February 15, 2022, the City Council of the City of Richmond adopted a 
resolution supporting a safe and fair contract for Richmond Chevron refinery workers. The 
Pinole City Council urges Chevron to agree to a fair labor contract with USW Local 5. 


Sincerely, 


Vincent Salimi  
Mayor, City of Pinole 


Cc: 
Pinole City Councilmembers 
Andrew Murray, Pinole City Manager 
Mike Smith, Chair, United Steelworkers National Oil Bargaining Program 


CITY OF PINOLE 
2131 Pear Street Phone: (510) 724-9833 
Pinole, CA  94564 FAX: (510) 724-9826 


www.ci.pinole.ca.us 


ATTACHMENT A


285 of 316







CITY COUNCIL 
REPORT 


12C 


DATE APRIL 5, 2022 


TO: MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS 


FROM: ANDREW MURRAY, CITY MANAGER 


SUBJECT: RECEIVE DRAFT INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY PLAN (“IT PLAN”) 
AND RECOMMEND CHANGES, IF ANY, TO BE INCORPORATED INTO 
FINAL IT PLAN 


RECOMMENDATION 


Staff recommends that the City Council receive a presentation of the draft Information 
Technology (IT) Plan Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Through FY 2025-26 (“IT Plan”) and 
recommend changes, if any, to be incorporated into the final IT Plan. 


BACKGROUND 


The City of Pinole uses information technology (IT), along with human resources, 
facilities, other equipment, and procedures, to provide services to the community. The 
City must make efficient and effective use of IT to provide efficient and effective services 
to the public. To make efficient and effective use of IT, organizations must engage in 
regular, periodic strategic planning regarding IT. 


In February 2020, the City of Pinole adopted a Strategic Plan 2020 – 2025. The Strategic 
Plan identified four goals for the community (safe and resilient, financially stable, vibrant, 
and beautiful, and high performance) and 22 specific “strategies” (special projects), to be 
completed over a five-year timeframe, that would help the city achieve the goals. One of 
the strategies was to develop a comprehensive information technology plan, which this 
Information Technology (IT) Plan Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Through FY 2025-26 (“IT 
Plan”) represents. 


The IT Plan describes how the City currently manages IT; the City’s IT infrastructure; the 
City’s major software systems; recent technology accomplishments; and prospective IT 
projects and budgets for a future five-year period. The City intends to update the IT Plan 
on a biennial basis, in advance of the budget adoption process. 


REVIEW & ANALYSIS 


The City’s IT consultant, Precision IT Consulting, Inc., and City staff collaborated to create 
the draft IT Plan. As the City’s first IT Plan in recent years, one of its objectives is to 
document and explain the City’s existing conditions for IT, including how IT is managed, 
the IT infrastructure, primary software systems, and recent IT accomplishments. These 


286 of 316







City Council Report  
April 5, 2022  2 


existing conditions had not previously been thoroughly documented. A second key 
objective of the IT Plan is to identify all significant IT projects that the City will need to 
complete over the upcoming five years. Prior to this IT Plan, the City had not recently 
engaged in any planning for IT beyond a one-year timeframe, in association with the 
development of the annual budget. The IT Plan does list all of the significant IT projects 
that Precision IT Consulting and City staff think will be needed over the planning horizon. 
The scope and cost of some of the projects have not yet been fully determined, however. 
 
The City will need to undertake several IT projects over the next five years to update 
existing systems as well as leverage new technology to improve City operations. The IT 
Plan recommends increasing staffing of the IT function by one full time employee to 
improve the operation of systems and better support users. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
 
The is no fiscal impact from receiving a presentation of the draft IT Plan and 
recommending changes to be incorporated into the final IT Plan. Although the IT Plan 
recommends some specific IT expenditures, any actual City expenditures on IT would 
need to be approved by the City Council as part of the budget. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
 


A - Draft Information Technology (IT) Plan Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Through FY  
      2025-26 (“IT Plan”) 


287 of 316







1 | Page 


CITY OF PINOLE 


INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT) PLAN 


FISCAL YEAR (FY) 2021-22 
THROUGH FY 2025-26 


DRAFT – MARCH 2022 


ATTACHMENT A


288 of 316







2 | Page 
 


Table of Contents 
 
Introduction 3 


IT Management 4 


IT Planning and Budgeting Process 6 


IT Infrastructure 7 


City Data Network 7 


Servers and Workstations 8 


IT Backup Systems 9 


Software Applications 10 


Electronic Devices Managed By City Departments 15 


Recent Technology Accomplishments 17 


Proposed Major IT Projects and Annual Budget FY 2021-22 Through FY 2025-26 18 


Fiscal Year 2021-2022 Projects and Budget 19 


Project Details 19 


Fiscal Year 2022-2023 Budget & Projects 21 


Project Details 21 


Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Budget & Projects 24 


Project Details 24 


Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget & Projects 25 


Project Details 26 


Fiscal Year 2025-2026 Budget & Projects 27 


Project Details 28 
  


289 of 316







3 | Page 
 


Introduction 
 
The term "information technology” (IT) refers to computers, software, and networks used to 
acquire, process, store, and distribute data. The City of Pinole uses information technology, 
along with human resources, facilities, other equipment, and procedures, to provide services to 
the community. 
 
The City must make efficient and effective use of IT to provide efficient and effective services to 
the public. To make efficient and effective use of IT, organizations must engage in regular, 
periodic strategic planning regarding IT. 
 
In February 2020, the City of Pinole adopted a Strategic Plan 2020 – 2025. The Strategic Plan 
identified four goals for the community (safe and resilient, financially stable, vibrant, and 
beautiful, and high performance) and 22 specific “strategies” (special projects), to be 
completed over a five-year timeframe, that would help the city achieve the goals. One of the 
strategies was to develop a comprehensive information technology plan, which this Information 
Technology (IT) Plan Fiscal Year (FY) 2021-22 Through FY 2025-26 (“IT Plan”) represents. 
 
The IT Plan describes how the City currently manages IT; the City’s IT infrastructure; the City’s 
major software systems; recent technology accomplishments; and prospective IT projects and 
budgets for a five-year period. 
 
The City intends to update the IT Plan on a biennial basis, in advance of the budget adoption 
process. 


  


290 of 316







4 | Page 
 


IT Management 
 
Responsibility for IT at the City is shared between the Information Technology (IT) Division (“IT 
Division”) of the City Manager department and each other City department. 
 
The IT Division is responsible for the following: 
 


● Performing long-term planning for IT, including the creation of the IT Plan 
● Identifying the City organization’s overarching IT needs and determining the appropriate 


service model and budget for addressing those needs 
● Providing certain overarching IT services to all City departments 
● Assisting departments in selecting and implementing department-specific hardware and 


software 
 
City departments are responsible for participating, with the IT Division, in long-term planning 
and collaborating with the IT Division in selecting and implementing department-specific 
hardware and software. In most cases, City departments are responsible for selecting and 
administering department-specific hardware and software. 
 
The IT Division has hired a private firm, Precision IT Consulting, Inc (“Precision”), to assist with 
long-term planning; identifying overarching needs; to assist departments with department-
specific hardware and software; and to provide the overarching IT services to City departments 
mentioned above. Precision has served in this capacity since 2017. 
 
The overarching IT services that Precision provides to all City departments include: 
 


● Procuring and maintaining basic computing devices (desktop computers, laptops, and 
tablets) 


● Procuring and maintaining basic printers, mobile phones, and desk phones 
● Procuring and maintaining the City’s computer networking and storage hardware and 


software, including internet connectivity 
● Procuring, maintaining, and administering enterprise software that all City departments 


use, such as for email, office functions, file sharing, and data security 
 
To carry out its functions, Precision provides one full-time Systems Administrator at City Hall 
that oversees the daily operation of the City’s systems and provides end- user support. The 


291 of 316







5 | Page 
 


Systems Administrator is also supported by one vCIO (Virtual Chief Information Officer) and a 
team of remote engineers and technicians. 
 
Note that under the City’s current arrangement, the IT Division and Precision are not 
responsible for procuring, maintaining, and/or administering all City electronic devices. City 
departments, rather than the IT Division and Precision, are responsible for some electronic 
devices that are department-specific and/or do not contain computers, such as audio/visual 
equipment; two-way radios; specialized printers; electronic building security and surveillance 
systems; GPS tracking systems for City vehicles; climate controls; body-worn cameras; 
fingerprint sensors; radar guns; and automated license plate readers, for example. A more 
complete list of electronic devices that individual departments are responsible for is provided in 
a subsequent chapter. 
  


292 of 316







6 | Page 
 


IT Planning and Budgeting Process 
 
The City has historically gone through an annual process, as part of the budget process, of 
identifying, scheduling, and funding IT projects. The creation of the IT Plan expands the former 
annual process to cover a five-year timeframe.  
 
The planning process begins with Precision conducting a "Technical Alignment Review," which is 
a detailed assessment of all major citywide IT systems that results in recommendations on 
projects to improve the City's IT infrastructure. This review includes computers, servers, 
network equipment, citywide software, department-related specialized software, various 
Internet and County connections, internet usage, and phone systems. In addition, each 
department is asked about its department-specific IT needs. 
 
Once the citywide and department-specific IT needs have been identified, the IT Division and 
Precision work with other appropriate City staff to determine the priority and timeline of these 
upgrades and projects. The proposed priority and timeline of the projects are reflected in the IT 
Plan and proposed annual budget. 
 
All City departments contribute funds toward the foundational IT services that the IT Division 
provides. This is accounted for through an internal service fund. In addition, City departments 
pay for the cost of department-specific IT services and projects. The IT Division works with the 
departments to determine if items should be in the department budget versus the centralized 
IT budget.  


293 of 316







7 | Page 
 


IT Infrastructure 
 
The City’s IT infrastructure includes the data network and computers, as described below. 
 


City Data Network 
 
City departments must be able to transmit and share data across various City facilities and via 
the internet to provide services. The city has communication links that connect six City facilities: 
City Hall, Public Safety Building, Corp Yard/Water Pollution Control Plant (WPCP), Youth 
Center/Pinole Cable TV (PCTV), Senior Center, and Station 74. These locations, and the data and 
software housed at each, are connected to one another through either City-owned 
underground fiber optic cable, City-leased dedicated T1 lines, or commercial internet service 
connections. Different network technologies are used based on the requirements of the 
location and costs. 
 
The City of Pinole owns underground fiber optic 
infrastructure that connects different City buildings in the 
downtown area. City Hall, which acts as the hub, is 
connected via fiber to the Public Safety Building, Youth 
Center/PCTV, and the Senior Center. Through this 
network, illustrated in the picture to the right, these 
facilities can share data housed at any of the facilities and 
access the internet. 
 


City-Owned Fiber Optic Network 
 
City Hall serves as the City’s access point to the internet (provided by AT&T, 100Mbps MIS 
Service). The Public Safety Building is connected to City Hall via fiber that was replaced in 2019 
that runs at a speed of 1Gbps. The Youth Center/PCTV and the Senior Center are connected to 
City Hall via fiber that was installed in the late 1990s and runs at a speed of 100Mbps. It is 
through this network that PCTV can livestream its broadcast through the City’s website. The 
Police Department also has surveillance cameras at Fernandez Park that are connected to the 
downtown area fiber network described above. The City also owns underground fiber optic 
cable installed along Fitzgerald Blvd. that supports a network of surveillance cameras used by 
the Police Department. This fiber network connects back to the Public Safety building. The 


294 of 316







8 | Page 
 


Fitzgerald Blvd. fiber infrastructure is maintained by the Police Department and a private 
contractor. 
 
Other Communication Connections 
 
Fire Station 74 is connected to City Hall via a dedicated, point-to-point T1 line that the City 
leases from AT&T. The Public Safety Building has a dedicated phone line connection between 
the Fire Department and Confire for dispatch coordination.  
 
The PCTV studio, located at the Youth Center, has a dedicated Comcast Fiber Optic cable that 
runs from the studio to the Comcast Headend, through which PCTV content is transmitted from 
the studio to the City’s franchise cable television company, Comcast, so that Comcast can 
broadcast the content on Public, Educational, and Governmental Access (PEG) channels 
(channels 26 and 28).  Similarly, AT&T, the City’s other franchise cable television company, has 
placed four T1 lines that run from the studio to transport the station's broadcasts to AT&T.  The  
AT&T cable viewer must then tune into channel 99 and scroll through the listings to Pinole 
Community Televisions 26 and 28. 
 
The Corp Yard/WPCP is connected to City Hall via a 10-megabit Sonic DSL Internet Service 
connection with a Site-to-Site VPN tunnel. 
 


Servers and Workstations 
 
The city has four physical servers, two in City Hall and two at the Public Safety Building. The 
servers at City Hall host all City software except for programs used exclusively by the Police and 
Fire departments. In City Hall, there are two physical servers (1 VMWare host and 1 Datto 
backup appliance). The VMWare host currently has 8 virtual servers that run the software used 
by City staff (Microsoft Active Directory, TRAKiT, Sire, Versatile, Laserfiche, etc.). All virtual 
servers are backed up every two hours by the Datto appliance. All backups are stored on-site 
and in two geo-redundant data centers on the west and east coast. The Police and Fire 
departments each have their own server that hosts applications and files for their respective 
employees. Each server is backed up using a dedicated Datto appliance. 
 
Approximately 100 end-user desktop computers are used across all City locations. Most 
department managers are also issued laptop computers for off-site work. The City recently 
undertook an upgrade project that replaced all workstations with new Dell desktop computers 
running Windows 10. 
 


295 of 316







9 | Page 
 


IT Backup Systems 
 
Redundancy - The 4 physical servers that provide application access and file and print services 
to the City (two at City Hall and two at the Public Safety Building) have many redundant 
features. All servers have redundant hard drives, redundant network cards, redundant power 
supplies, and are all plugged into battery backup systems that can provide an hour of uptime. 
 
Network Switches – Although the switches are not redundant and cannot failover 
automatically, there are enough free ports in other switches that if one failed, all connections 
could be moved from the failed switch to a working switch. 
 
Data Backup – The servers at City Hall and the Public Safety Building are fully backed up 
multiple times each day. This allows the restoration of a file or folder quite quickly if it is 
accidentally deleted. If a “virtual server” were to fail, it can be entirely restored onto existing or 
new server hardware. If the physical server were to fail for some reason, we can restore all the 
virtual servers up into the cloud and users would be able to get access to their files and 
applications. 
 
Network Room Power – The Public Safety Building servers and network equipment are plugged 
into UPS (uninterruptible power supply) battery backup units. The Public Safety Building also 
has a generator to keep power up and running in the event of a power outage. 
  
City Hall servers and network equipment are plugged into UPS battery backup units. City Hall 
does not have a generator to keep power up and running during a power outage.  If there was a 
sustained power outage, users would still be able to access email outside of City Hall as all 
email is in the cloud, but server resources and applications in City Hall would be down until the 
power came back on. If the power outage continued the City would need to decide to wait it 
out or “failover” to the cloud. If the City chose to failover to the cloud, Precision would turn on 
the virtual servers being backed up in the Datto cloud then work with select administrative staff 
to re-connect them to those cloud servers. The backed-up Datto cloud servers are meant to be 
used for recovery and administration only. Any non-administrative staff would be unable to 
work until power to the facility was restored.  


 


  


296 of 316







10 | Page 
 


Software Applications 
 
City departments rely on numerous software applications to provide services. Below is a table 
that shows all essential applications and data service subscriptions used by City staff. 
 


Application Name Application Use 
  


Citywide (IT Division) 
Adobe Document creation and management 


software 
Cisco Meraki WiFi system for City Hall and Public Safety 


Building 
DocuSign Electronic signature  management 
Microsoft 365 Email, document sharing, instant messaging, 


meetings, word processing, spreadsheet, 
database, presentation software 


Microsoft Hyper-V Server Virtualization 
VMWare vSphere Server Virtualization 
Zoom Virtual meetings 
  


City Clerk 
GovQA Public records management 
Granicus Public meeting streaming 
Laserfiche Electronic document management 
SIRE FileCenter Electronic document management 
Versatile Express File indexing software 
  


City Manager 
CivicLive City website content management 
Facebook Social media communication 
Nextdoor Social media communication 
SurveyMonkey Online survey tool 
  


Community Development 


297 of 316







11 | Page 
 


ArcGIS (Desktop/Online) [Planned, jointly 
shared with Public Works] 


Mapping and analysis software 


Bluebeam Revu Digital blueprint/plan review software 
Central Square TRAKiT [Current] 
 
Central Square Community Development 
Suite (Mobiles, GIS, Licensing, Code 
Enforcement, Permitting, Citizen Portal) 
[Planned, shared with Public Works and 
Finance] 


Building, Planning, Code Enforcement, Public 
Works and Finance permit tracking and 
issuance 


GreenHalo [Planned] Construction waste diversion reporting 
RealQuest  Property ownership information 
RSMeans Data Construction estimating cost data 
SolarApp+ [Planned] Automated residential solar permitting 
Stripe Online payment collection platform 
Yiftee Economic development tool 
  


Community Services 
Adobe Creative Suite Editing software for PCTV 
Allan and Heath  Audio mixing software for Council Meetings 
Apple Final Cut Pro Video editing software 
Audacity Audio editor and recorder 
AV Snap Audio/visual system design software 
Compix Broadcast Graphics Characters and graphics software for video 


streaming 
Leightronix Winlgx Broadcasting systems for long format video 


recording and playback on PCTV 
Leightronix Total Import File management software 
RecDesk Program management and reservation 


scheduling for Recreation 
Scala Scroll or bulletin board messaging systems 


for PCTV on air use 
Zoner Photo Studio 16 Photograph editing, tagging and organizing 


software 
VLC Media Player Cross-platform multimedia player and 


framework 


298 of 316







12 | Page 
 


  
Finance 


Balancing Act Interactive survey platform 
GovInvest Labor costing  
MuniCast (Planned for FY 2021/22) Financial forecasting  
Tyler Technologies ERP Pro Cloud-based financial software 
  


Fire 
California Environmental Reporting System 
(CERS) 


 


Cordico Employee wellness 
Knox MedVault Digital coded access to vaults for controlled 


substances 
Operative IQ  Controlled substances tracking 
Physio Control For LIFEPAK-15 cardiac defibrillator monitors 


Tablet Command Dispatch and incident management program 
installed on iPad tablet MDCs in all apparatus 
and command vehicles 


TRAKiT (fire inspection module) Fire inspection software 
Vector Solutions – Target Solutions & Vector 
Scheduling 


Training, scheduling, and personnel 
accountability 


Zoll e-PCR Patient care reports program 
Zoll Fire RMS Fire Department records management 


system 
Zonehaven Evacuation software 
  


Human Resources  
NeoGov A web-based recruitment tool used by 


Human Resources for their recruitment 
process. 


LinkedIn Human resources social media 
Tyler Technologies Human Resources 
Management Pro 


Personnel management 


  
Police 


299 of 316







13 | Page 
 


3SI GPS tracker application 
APBNet Law enforcement alert and information 


sharing system 
Automated Regional Information Exchange 
System (ARIES) 


Criminal justice and law enforcement 
information sharing platform for criminal 
case scheduling  


Axon/Evidence.com Body worn cameras network docks, Taser 
network docks, vehicle cradle points 


California Law Enforcement 
Telecommunications System (CLETS) 


Data sharing and messaging network among 
State and national law enforcement agencies 


Cordico Employee wellness application 
Crossroads Electronic citation system, including WiFi 


network for uploading data 
FileonQ Police Department evidence management 
ManageEngine MDM Mobile Device Management software for 


Police Department mobile phones 
Milestone XProtect Video Management software for citywide 


surveillance cameras (Public Safety Building, 
Fernandez Park, Senior Center, Fitzgerald 
Drive, Skate Park) 


ShotSpotter Gunshot detection through San Pablo 
Stancil 911 Call Recording 


Sun Ridge RIMS Computer Aided Dispatch and Records 
Management System 


Tyler Technologies Enterprise Public Safety 
Software 


Legacy Computer Aided Dispatch and 
Records System  


Vigilant Solutions ALPR (Automatic License Plate Recognition) 
  


Public Works 
ArcGIS (Desktop/Online) Mapping and analysis solution to make maps, 


analyze data, share and collaborate 
Aveva Citect SCADA Industrial process management for Water 


Pollution Control Plant 
Beehive Asset management, maintenance 


management, fleet management 


300 of 316



http://www.co.contra-costa.ca.us/index.aspx?NID=1336





14 | Page 
 


CivicPlus SeeClickFix (Planned for FY 2021/22) Non-emergency resident request 
management 


eNPDES Water quality compliance monitoring and 
reporting to State and federal agencies 


Public Purchase Procurement platform 
Streetsaver Pavement management system, provided to 


the City by the Metropolitan Transportation 
Commission (MTC), which provides analysis 
tools, including Budget Needs, Budget 
Scenarios, Target Driven Scenarios, and 
Project Selection for City Roads. 


Versatile Physical document tracking 


  


301 of 316



http://www.enpdes.com/





15 | Page 
 


Electronic Devices Managed By City Departments 
 
As noted above, under the City’s current IT service delivery model, the IT Division and Precision 
are not responsible for procuring, maintaining, and/or administering all City electronic devices. 
Below is a list of City electronic devices that are procured and maintained by individual 
departments. 
 
Citywide (IT Division) 
 


● Multi-functional devices 
 
Community Development 
 


● Large format printer (plotter) 
 
Community Services (PCTV) 
 


● Amplifiers and microphones 
● Apple computers 
● Assistive listening systems 
● Audio mixing boards 
● Backup projector 
● Drone 
● DVD recorders 
● Encoder 
● Field video cameras 
● Intercom systems 
● Microwave  AV transport systems 
● Replay systems 
● Signal converters 
● Signal distribution systems both audio and video 
● Specialized monitors and recorders 
● Studio lighting control 
● Studio lights 
● Wireless microphones 


 


302 of 316







16 | Page 
 


Fire 
 


● Base station radios 
● Fire Station Alerting System 
● LIFEPAK-15 cardiac defibrillator monitors 
● Mobile Digital Computers (MDCs)  – iPad tablets in all apparatus and command vehicles 
● Two-way portable radios 
● Vehicular mobile radios 


Human Resources 
 


● Identification card printer 
 
Police 
 


● Automated license plate readers 
● Body-worn cameras 
● Fingerprint sensors 
● Veriton 
● ThinBlueOnline 
● Radar guns 
● Two-way portable radios 


 
Public Works 
 


● Electronic building security equipment 
● Facility climate controls 
● GPS tracking systems for City vehicles 


 
  


303 of 316







17 | Page 
 


Recent Technology Accomplishments 
 
The City has implemented several IT improvements over the past few years. Below is a list of 
some recent accomplishments. 
 


Project Description 


  
Office 365 Migration 


Migration from on-premises Exchange 2003 to Cloud-based 
Office 365 to increase accessibility and reliability of 
electronic communication. 


Workstation Replacement 
  


Replaced approximately 75 end-user workstations with 
new Windows 10 machines from Dell. Old machines were 
5+ years old and out of warranty 


Network Switch Replacement Upgraded the switches in the Public Safety building and 
City Hall from 100Mbps "Fast Ethernet" switches to 1Gbps 
switches with 10Gb uplinks. Gives us the ability to move to 
a full 10Gb network backbone in the future. 


Data Center Power Upgrade 
  


Replaced Uninterruptible Power Supplies (UPS) for all 
critical network infrastructure and servers.  


City Hall Firewall Replacement 
  


Upgraded the firewall in City Hall to a more secure solution. 
 


  
  
Business Continuity & Disaster 
Recovery 


Migrated from legacy LTO Tape backups to an automated 
off- site backup and disaster recovery solution. Dramatically 
increased backup reliability and information assurance. 
Decreased the time needed to recover from possible 
hardware failure and disaster scenarios. 


Public Safety Building 
Fiber Replacement 


  


Replaced the fiber link between City Hall and the Public 
Safety building. Increased available network bandwidth 
between sites. 


Corp Yard Network Upgrade Replaced the leased T1 line with 10Mbps Sonic internet. 
Improves network speed until the city can install a Fiber 
connection. Fiber was installed under the railroad tracks 
separating the Corp Yard/WPCP from the downtown area 
but was not continued to City Hall. 


Website Upgrade Upgraded the City's website to a platform that improved 
transparency and civic interaction. 


 
  


304 of 316







18 | Page 
 


Proposed Major IT Projects and Annual Budget FY 2021-22 
Through FY 2025-26 
 
One of the most significant components of the IT Plan is the identification of potential IT 
projects and budgets for the five-year planning period. Below find a list of the major IT projects 
proposed over the next five years as well as the planning-level estimated City IT budget for 
those years.  


  


305 of 316







19 | Page 
 


Fiscal Year 2021-22 Projects and Budget 
  
Expenditure Amount 


Professional Services $210,000 


Network Maintenance $79,757 


Software Maintenance $189,899 


Equipment Maintenance and Leases $49,700 


Software Purchases and Subscriptions $61,230 


Communications - Voice Service $174,786 


Computer Equipment $76,500 


Measure S-2014 (Direct Charge) $42,600 


Projects (Details below) $391,000 


Total $1,275,472 


 


Potential Projects 
 


Project Department Cost Description 


Implement 2 Factor 
Authentication 


All $4,000 Implementing two-factor authentication (2FA) on City 
employee Office 365 email accounts and services will 
add an additional layer of protection that can help 
prevent unauthorized access to staff’s email and files. 
Completing 2FA will simply be an additional step taken 
by employees when accessing Office 365 through their 
internet browsers, programs, or mobile applications. 


Police Mobile 
Digital Computers 
(MDCs) 


Police $92,000 Fleet-wide replacement of the Police Department in-car 
MDC computers. The current Getac units are well over 5 
years old and have been suffering hardware failures for 
the past year or so. The replacement of the existing units 
will increase reliability and stability. The Police 
Department is procuring a replacement Dispatch and 
Records system. Replacing the MDCs would line up with 
the new system being implemented. 


Phone System 
Replacement 


All $65,000 The existing AT&T CENTREX phone system lacks modern 
functionality, hinders efficient workflow, limits off-site 
usability, and is becoming more and more unreliable and 
expensive. One of the primary goals will be to replace 
the existing system with a TBD VOIP solution that will 
increase reliability, functionality, and ease of use. 


306 of 316







20 | Page 
 


Fiber Data Network 
Evaluation 


Recreation & 
PCTV 


$10,000 The City-owned underground fiber connection that 
supplies the Youth Center/PCTV and Senior Center with 
network/internet access was initially installed in the late 
1990s and has suffered multiple instances where it has 
been dug up by construction crews. With a generally 
acceptable lifespan of 20-25 years, the underground 
fiber needs to be evaluated for its current condition and 
future replacement. A fiber conduit was installed under 
the railroad tracks separating the Corp Yard/WPCP from 
the downtown area. The condition of that conduit needs 
to be inspected so it can be used for a future expansion 
of the fiber system from City Hall. Installing a City-owned 
fiber connection to the Corp Yard would negate the need 
for the existing expensive private internet connection 
service. 


Upgrade to new 
version of GIS 


Multiple $10,000 Reestablish GIS software 


Upgrade to new 
version of TRAKiT 


Multiple $200,000 Upgrade to current version of TRAKiT (eTRAKiT) 
community development and business license software 


Upgrade MedVaults 
to KnoxConnect 2.5 
cloud system 


Fire $2,500 Upgrade management software for Fire Department’s 
narcotics vaults (at Fire Station and on vehicles) 


Implement 
Operative IQ (or 
obtain PSTrax in lieu 
of Operative IQ) 


Fire $2,500 Upgrade software for narcotics tracking and reporting to 
County Emergency Medical Services 


Expand use of 
Target Solutions 
(Vector Solutions 
and Vector 
Scheduling) 


Fire $5,000 Implement new scheduling software that integrates with 
payroll 


 


  


307 of 316







21 | Page 
 


Fiscal Year 2022-23 Budget & Projects 
 
Expenditure Amount 


Professional Services* $396,550 


Network Maintenance $82,149 


Software Maintenance $195,595 


Equipment Maintenance and Leases $51,191 


Software Purchases and Subscriptions $63,066 


Communications - Voice Service $182,748 


Computer Equipment $20,600 


Measure S-2014 (Direct Charge) $43,878 


Projects (Details below) $153,500 


Total $1,189,277 


*Note that the professional services budget amount includes two full-time staff from Precision 
onsite at City Hall, whereas currently Precision provides one full-time staff member onsite to 
support the City.  
 


Potential Projects 
 


Project Department Cost Description 


Document Storage Clerk’s Office 
& HR 


TBD Digitize City paper records 


Citywide Employee 
ID/Access Card 
System 


Public Works 
& HR 


TBD Implement cardkey access systems for all City 
facilities 


Replace Youth/Senior 
Center Fiber Run & 
install Fiber run to 
Corp Yard/WPCP 


Recreation & 
PCTV 


$50,000 It is recommended that the city replace and install 
fiber runs that were evaluated in the previous year. 
Replacing the fiber run to the Youth Center/PCTV 
and Senior Center will ensure the network’s stability 
and availability for years to come, and installing a 
fiber run to the Corp Yard/WPCP will negate the 
need for the current expensive internet service 
($500/month) and drastically increase internet 
speeds at that location. 


Replace Youth Center 
Building Alarm and 
Call Box System 


Community 
Services 
Department 


TBD For FY 2022-2023, it is recommended that the city 
replace the outdated alarm and call box system at 
the Youth Center. The system has been out of 


308 of 316







22 | Page 
 


service for over a year.  A new system will ensure 
that the building is secure and report any 
emergencies. The callbox will allow staff to 
communicate with the public and allow them to 
enter the building through the buzzer system.  


Replace Senior 
Center  Building  
Alarm System 


Community 
Services 
Department 


TBD For FY 2022-2023, it is recommended that the city 
replace the outdated alarm system at the Senior 
Center. The system has been out of service for many  
years.  A new system will ensure that the building is 
secure and report any emergencies. 


Public Safety 
Network Re-
addressing 


Police $6,000 It is also recommended that the Public Safety 
network is re-addressed per guidance from the 
Contra Costa County Department of Information 
Technology (DoIT). The current Public Safety ACCJIN 
network uses a county-assigned network address 
space that was planned in the late 1990s. The issue 
with the current address space is that it’s a publicly 
routable address used in a private network. DoIT has 
been in contact with Precision IT and is highly 
recommending moving to a private address space 
that they will assign. It is recommended that the city 
undertakes this project as the County will likely 
require it to be done in the future. This project will 
not require any hardware purchases as it is a strictly 
logical change in the network design. 


Mobile Device 
Management 


All $2,500 Mobile Device Management (MDM) - With so many 
mobile devices connected to the City’s network 
(phones and tablets) keeping track of inventory and 
remotely managing the devices is time-consuming 
and difficult. MDM addresses this concern by 
providing a single interface for inventory, tracking, 
and management. The City currently has an MDM 
solution for Police, this existing solution should be 
deployed to all City phones/tablets. 


City Website Update City Manager $40,000 For FY 2022-23, it is recommended that the city 
update its website, to improve the architecture, user 
experience, tools, and accessibility. This is a 
recommendation of the Communication and 
Engagement Plan. A significant component of the 
project will be ensuring the accessibility of the site, 
including adding closed captioning to appropriate 
videos. 


Expand Zoll Fire RMS Fire TBD Expand the functionality of the Fire Department’s 
records management system 


Station 74 re-opening 
(computers, alerting, 


Fire TBD Refresh IT hardware and software to reopen Fire 
Station 74 


309 of 316







23 | Page 
 


printers, etc.) 


Online payment 
platform for Finance 


All $5,000 Implement software to enable online payment of 
various City fees and charges 


Install updated 
computers, AV, and 
communication 
devices in room 
serving as the 
Emergency 
Operations Center 


All $50,000 Refresh EOC systems 


  


310 of 316







24 | Page 
 


Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget & Projects 
 


Expenditure Amount 


Professional Services $408,446 


Network Maintenance $84,614 


Software Maintenance $201,463 


Equipment Maintenance and Leases $52,726 


Software Purchases and Subscriptions $64,958 


Communications - Voice Service $188,231 


Computer Equipment $21,218 


Measure S-214 (Direct Charge) $45,194 


Projects (Details below) $34,000 


Total $1,100,850 


 


Potential Projects 
 


Project Department Cost Description 


Replace Public Safety 
Building Access 
Points 


Police & Fire $6,000 Public Safety AP’s – The current WIFI network at the 
Safety Building is almost 10 years old. There are also 
areas of the Safety Building with weak WIFI signals. 
By upgrading the WIFI network to the latest Meraki 
technology it will become more efficient and more 
secure. 


PC Refresh (Laptops) All $28,000 PC Refresh (laptops) – Most department head PCs 
will be near the end of life. By replacing all 
department head PCs with laptops, it will make 
remote working much more flexible.  With events 
like illness, power outages, pandemics, etc., a user 
can simply take their laptop and work from home. 


Public Safety Building 
Rewiring 


Police & Fire TBD With the increased use of computers and other 
network devices in the Public Safety Building, there 
are areas that are not covered by the internal 
structured cabling. Because some temporary 
solutions have been put in place, the building's 
wiring is difficult to trace and troubleshoot. 


City Hall Rewiring City Hall TBD City Hall's data cabling was installed shortly after 


311 of 316







25 | Page 
 


City Hall was built in 1997. Some of the structured 
data cabling has stopped working due to age and is 
the older CAT5 specification. City Hall's data cabling 
should be replaced to ensure future reliability and to 
provide increased network speed with the newer 
CAT6 standard. 


Upgrade all radios Fire TBD Current inventory of mobiles & two-way portables 
becoming obsolete and will be without support 


Continue to improve 
Station Alerting 
System (timers, 
information displays 
etc.) 


Fire TBD Improve fire station alerting systems 


 
  


312 of 316







26 | Page 
 


Fiscal Year 2024-25 Budget & Projects 
 
Expenditure Amount 


Professional Services $420,699 


Network Maintenance $87,152 


Software Maintenance $207,507 


Equipment Maintenance and Leases $54,308 


Software Purchases and Subscriptions $66,907 


Communications - Voice Service $193,878 


Computer Equipment $21,854 


Measure S-214 (Direct Charge) $46,550 


Projects (Details below) $43,900 


Total $1,142,755 


 


Potential Projects 
 


Project Department Cost Description 


Replace City Hall VM 
Host 


All $28,500 The existing VMware Host server will be 6 years old 
in October 2024, this age is typically end of life for a 
physical server. Also, 6 years is typically as far as you 
are able to put a 24/7 warranty on. This server is 
critical as it runs 8 virtual servers that provide 
different services to City staff. The new server would 
have future growth potential and a full 24/7 
warranty. 


City Hall Server Room 
UPS Refresh 


All $7,400 The 7 UPSs in the City Hall server room will be 6 
years old in October 2024. These units provide 
battery backup power for the critical servers and 
networking equipment in City Hall and should be 
replaced at this time. 


Replace City Hall 
Firewall 


All $8,000 The current Sophos XG 310 firewall protects the 
entire City network from outside attacks and 
controls Internet traffic. This firewall will be over 5 
years old and the warranty cannot be extended. 
Recommend replacing the current Sophos firewall 
with the newest current model. This will futureproof 
the City for 5 years as new larger/faster Internet 
connections become available. 


313 of 316







27 | Page 
 


PC Refresh Phase 1 All TBD In 2025 approximately 40 PCs will be approaching 5 
years of age. It is recommended that these PCs be 
replaced after 5 years as reliability and speed 
decreases. We would evaluate the PCs at this time 
and likely recommend replacements.  The City 
should continue the process of deploying 
approximately 20 per year so all PCs are replaced 
approximately every 5 years. This provides 
consistent budgeting and avoids a much larger 
project of replacing all PC’s every 5 years. 


 


  


314 of 316







28 | Page 
 


Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget & Projects 
 
Expenditure Amount 


Professional Services $433,320 


Network Maintenance $89,767 


Software Maintenance $213,733 


Equipment Maintenance and Leases $55,937 


Software Purchases and Subscriptions $68,914 


Communications - Voice Service $199,694 


Computer Equipment $22,510 


Measure S-214 (Direct Charge) $47,946 


Projects (Details below) $34,000 


Total $1,165,821 


 


Potential Projects 
 


Project Department Cost Description 


Replace Police 
Department VM Host 


Police $17,000 The existing Hyper-V Host 
server was purchased in 
January 2021 and will be 
5 years old in January 
2026. This age is typically 
the end of life for a 
physical server.  Also, 5 
years is typically as far as 
you are allowed to put a 
24/7 warranty on a 
server. This server is 
critical as it provides 
access to files and 
applications related to 
the police department. 
The new server would 
have future growth 
potential and a full 24/7 
warranty. 


Replace Fire Department 
VM Host 


Fire $17,000 The existing VMware Host 
server was purchased in 
March 2020 and will be 6 


315 of 316







29 | Page 
 


years old in March 2026. 
Replacement is 
recommended for similar 
reasons as stated above. 


PC Refresh Phase 2 All TBD In 2026 approximately 40 
PCs will be approaching 5 
years of age. It is 
recommended that these 
PCs be replaced after 5 
years as reliability and 
speed decreases. We 
would evaluate the PCs at 
this time and likely 
recommend 
replacements. The City 
should continue the 
process of deploying 
approximately 20 per 
year so all PCs are 
replaced approximately 
every 5 years. This 
provides consistent 
budgeting and avoids a 
much larger project of 
replacing all PC’s every 5 
years. 


 


 


 
 
 


316 of 316





		2022-04-05 Hybrid Agenda Final

		9A 03.15.22

		9A-1 0322.22 Special Meeting

		9B

		9C

		Pinole - SR - AB 361 Resolution 4.5.22

		Reso - AB 361 Remote Meetings Draft

		RESOLUTION NO. 2022-





		9D

		Recommendation

		BACKGROUND

		REVIEW & ANALYSIS

		FISCAL IMPACT



		ATTACHMENT



		9E

		DATE:   APRIL 5, 2022

		TO:    MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS

		FROM: LILLY WHALEN, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

		SUBJECT: STATUS OF BUILDING PERMIT PROCESS

		Recommendation



		Summary

		BACKGROUND and trends

		building permit process and timelines

		challenges, improvements and opportunities for enhancement

		FISCAL IMPACT





		9F

		SR Approval of LEG Agmt - FINAL

		TO:  MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS

		FROM: ANDREW MURRAY, CITY MANAGER



		Recommendation

		BACKGROUND

		REVIEW & ANALYSIS



		FISCAL IMPACT

		ATTACHMENTS





		City of Pinole Nov 2022 Ballot Measure Consulting RFP - FINAL 2-23-2022

		Reso Approval of LEG Agmt - FINAL

		Pinole Form Consulting Services Agreement 3-29-22 LEG Comm - FINAL



		9G

		Pinole - SR - Approving Fire Services Cost Recovery_CW

		Pinole-Resolution- Services Agreement Fire Recovery USA (2022)_CW

		Fire Recovery USA Service Agreement



		9H Revised

		SR Police FLSA Settlement Agreement - DRAFT

		RESO Police FLSA Settlement Agreement - DRAFT

		A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PINOLE,



		Settlement Agreement - FINAL

		Exhibit B -Non-Sworn (rev).pdf

		2015

		2016

		2017

		2018

		2019

		2020

		2021

		2022

		Comp-time Liquidation



		Exhibit B -Sworn (rev).pdf

		2015

		2016

		2017

		2018

		2019

		2020

		2021

		2022

		Comp-time liquidation



		Exhibit D (rev).pdf

		Non-Sworn

		Sworn-Example 1

		Sworn-Example 2

		Sworn-Example 3(prev. ex 4)





		Exhibit B - Signed Acknowledgements

		FLSA Acknowledgement Form.pdf

		FLSA Settlement Acknowledgement - Palmini.pdf





		9I

		Pinole - CC SR - Second Reading of Fireworks Ordinance [DRAFT]

		Attachment A SR and Fireworks Ordinance

		 The updated ordinance creates consistency between the City and County ordinance allowing our code enforcement staff to have one uniform set of regulations to inform code enforcement activities;

		 The updated ordinance clarifies and expands the definition of fireworks and explicitly references the applicable California Health and Safety Code sections creating a consistent definition of the term “firework” for code enforcement purposes;

		 The updated ordinance creates liability for private property owners where individuals possess, manufacture, sell, offer to sell, use, or discharge fireworks on their property.  City staff, including the Police Department, Building Division, and Code...

		 The updated ordinance maintains the City’s ability to approve fireworks displays by qualified vendors.

		As mentioned, the attached draft ordinance was reviewed and approved by the Municipal Code Update Subcommittee with two recommended changes.  Chapter 9.24.030 creates an exception for City approved fireworks displays conducted by qualified vendors.  C...

		In order to approve, the City Council will need to conduct a first reading of the ordinance in a noticed public hearing, followed by a second reading of the ordinance at the April 5, 2022 City Council Meeting.

		“Fireworks” has the meaning set forth in the Health and Safety Code section 12511.

		The term “fireworks” includes the following:

		“Dangerous fireworks,” as defined in Health and Safety Code section 12505.

		“Safe and sane fireworks,” as defined in Health and Safety Code section 12529.



		The term “fireworks” excludes the following:

		“Exempt fireworks,” as defined in Health and Safety Code section 12508.

		“Party poppers” and “snap caps,” as each is defined in California Code of regulations, title 19, section 980.





		“Responsible party” means any of the following:

		A person that owns, rents, leases, or otherwise has possession of, or is in immediate control of, a residence or other private property or a vessel.

		A person that organizes, supervises, sponsors, conducts, allows, controls. or controls access to, the possession, manufacture, sale, offer for sale, use or discharge of fireworks at a residence or other private property or on a vessel.



		“Vessel” has the meaning set forth in Harbors and Navigation Code section 651.







		9J

		Pinole - Pinole Shores - SR for DDA with GRP Shores LLC -  3-30-2022 - v2

		Pinole - RESO  Approval of DDA with GRP Shores 3-31-22

		Pinole -  DDA with GRP Shores for Pinole Shores 2

		DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

		by and between



		A. City is the owner of certain property located on San Pablo Avenue in the City known as County Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 402-230-020-8 (the “Property”), as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto, and as diagrammed in Exhibit B atta...

		B. The Property was transferred to the City from the Successor Agency to the Community Redevelopment Agency for the City of Pinole (“Successor Agency”) pursuant to the long-range property management plan (“Property Management Plan”) adopted by the Suc...

		C. On May 28, 2019, the City and General Realty CE LLC executed an Exclusive Negotiating Agreement (the “ENA”) to negotiate the terms and conditions of disposition agreements for the Property.

		D. Developer is the successor in interest to General Realty CE, LLC.

		E. Developer desires to purchase the Property and proposes to construct two buildings approximately sized 80,000 and 30,000 square feet each to hold various light industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce businesses and research and development busin...

		F. City had an appraisal done on the Property by Denton Valuation which valued the Property in its “as-is” condition at Three Million Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($3,075,000) (the “Purchase Price”).

		G. The Pinole Shores Owner’s Association (the “Association”) owns the property located adjacent to the Property, known as Assessor’s Parcel Number 402-390-021-2 (the “Association Property”), which provides access to San Pablo Avenue.

		H. The City is in the process of negotiating a reciprocal easement agreement (the “REA”) with the Association, in order (i) to ensure continued legal access through the Association Property to the Property for the City and for all future owners of the...

		I. As a part of the negotiation of the REA, the City and the Association have agreed to hire an appraiser to conduct a third appraisal (the “Third Appraisal”) in order to determine the purchase value of the REA, which has delayed the execution of the ...

		J. As set forth in this Agreement, Developer will reimburse the City for the cost to purchase the easement conferred by the REA and Developer will reimburse the City for the cost of the Third Appraisal (the “Appraisal Reimbursement”).

		K. Disposition of the Property is subject to completion of the required analysis of the environmental effects that may be caused by the Project, pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq., hereina...

		L. The Property is subject to that certain Covenant and Environmental Restriction on Property recorded December 17, 2002 as document 2002-0482270-00 in the official records of Contra Costa County, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C (the “...

		M. On December 8, 2021, Developer submitted its application for the Project to the Planning Department of the City.

		N. The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement in order to ensure that the Developer has the right to purchase the Property prior to Developer expending additional funds on pre-development costs and entitlement costs for development of the Property.

		O. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the Parties with respect to the conveyance and development the Property.  The City Council has determined that the disposition and development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement will be of bene...

		P. Upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in this Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement the City will convey the Property to Developer.

		Q. As a material inducement to City to enter into this Agreement is the agreement by Developer to develop the Project within the time periods specified herein and in accordance with the provisions hereof, and the City would be unwilling to enter into ...

		ARTICLE I  DEFINITIONS

		1.1. Definitions.  The following terms shall have the meanings set forth in the Sections referenced below whenever used in this Agreement and the Exhibits attached hereto. Additional terms are defined in the Recitals and text of this Agreement.

		1.2. Exhibits. The following exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated into this Agreement by this reference:



		ARTICLE II  REPRESENTATIONS; EFFECTIVE DATE;  PROJECT SCOPE

		2.1. Developer’s Representations.  Developer represents and warrants to City as follows, and Developer covenants that until the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, upon learning of any fact or condition which would cause any of the wa...

		(i) Authority. Developer is a limited liability company, duly organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of California. Developer has the full right, power and authority to undertake all obligations of Developer under this Agreement an...

		(ii) No Conflict. Developer’s execution, delivery and performance of its obligations under this Agreement and the documents and instruments to be executed by Developer pursuant to this Agreement, will not constitute a default or a breach under any con...

		(iii) No Litigation or Other Proceeding. No litigation or other proceeding (whether administrative or otherwise) is outstanding or has been threatened which would prevent, hinder or delay the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this ...

		(iv) No Developer Bankruptcy.  Developer is not the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding.



		2.2. Scope of Development. The Project will include the construction of construct two buildings approximately sized 80,000 and 30,000 square feet each to hold various light industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce businesses or research and developm...

		2.3. Design Review; Conditions of Approval. By not later than the date specified in Exhibit D, Developer shall submit a formal site development review application to City. Developer agrees that it will develop the Project in accordance with the requir...



		ARTICLE III  DISPOSITION OF THE PROPERTY; CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CLOSING

		3.1. Purchase and Sale of Property.

		3.1.1. Agreement to Buy and Sell.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, City agrees to sell the Property to Developer, and Developer hereby agrees to acquire the Property from City.

		3.1.2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price to be paid by Developer to City for the Property is Three Million Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars and No/100 ($3,075,000) (the “Purchase Price”).

		3.1.3. Payment of Purchase Price.  The Purchase Price will be paid in immediately available funds to Developer at Closing (defined below).



		3.2. Escrow.

		3.2.1. Escrow Account.  Developer has opened an interest-bearing escrow account (the “Escrow”) maintained by Old Republic Title Company as Escrow No. 0147025823-DJ, located at 1000 Burnett Ave., Suite 400, Concord, CA 94520, Attn: Donna Jones (the “Es...

		3.2.2. Opening of Escrow.  Within five (5) business days after the Effective Date, the Parties will deposit into Escrow the fully executed Agreement, or executed counterparts thereto.  The date such fully executed Agreement is received by Escrow Holde...

		3.2.3. Developer’s Deposit.  Upon Opening of Escrow, the Developer shall deposit One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and No/100 ($150,000.00) into Escrow (the “Deposit”).  If Developer requests an extension to the Due Diligence Contingency Period as pr...



		3.3. Due Diligence and Property Disclosure Requirements.

		3.3.1. Condition of Title/Preliminary Title Report.  Within fourteen days of Opening of Escrow, Escrow Holder will deliver a Preliminary Title Report for the Property (the “Preliminary Report”) to Developer and City.  Developer will review the Prelimi...

		3.3.2. Due Diligence Contingency Period.  Developer will have one hundred twenty (120) days from the Effective Date (the “Due Diligence Contingency Period”) to complete physical inspections of the Property and due diligence related to the purchase of ...

		3.3.3. Satisfaction of Due Diligence Contingency.  Developer shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to terminate this Agreement for any reason prior to the expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency Period and receive a refund of Developer’s D...

		3.3.4. Environmental and Natural Hazards Disclosure.  California Health & Safety Code section 25359.7 requires owners of non-residential real property who know, or have reasonable cause to believe, that any release of hazardous substances are located ...



		3.4. Closing Date, Conditions to Closing.

		3.4.1. Closing Date.  The closing (the “Closing” or “Close of Escrow”) will occur no later than thirty (30) days from the expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency Period and any extended periods and the satisfaction of all of City’s Conditions to C...

		3.4.2. Developer’s Conditions to Closing.  Developer's obligation to purchase the Property is subject to the satisfaction of all of the following conditions or Developer's written waiver thereof (in Developer’s sole discretion) on or before the Closin...

		(a) Developer has approved the condition of the Property;

		(b) City has entered into the REA with the Association to ensure access by Developer to the Property through the Association Property and the REA is recorded in the Official Records prior to or concurrently with Closing;

		(c) City has performed all obligations to be performed by City pursuant to this Agreement.

		(c) City's representations and warranties herein are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date.

		(d) The Title Company is irrevocably committed to issue an ALTA Title Policy (the “Title Policy”) to Developer, effective as of the Closing Date, insuring title to Developer in the full amount of the Purchase Price, together with such endorsements as ...

		3.4.3. City’s Conditions to Closing.  The Close of Escrow and City's obligation to sell and convey the Property to Developer are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions or City's written waiver (in City’s sole discretion) of such condi...

		(a) Developer has performed all obligations to be performed by Developer pursuant to this Agreement before the Closing Date.

		(b) Developer's representations and warranties set forth herein are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date.

		(c) CEQA has been completed and Developer has received all necessary entitlements from the City to construct the Project.

		(d) City has received all approvals necessary to record the Development Agreement.

		3.4.4. Conveyance of Title.  City will deliver marketable fee simple title to Developer at the Closing, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions.  The Property will be conveyed by City to Developer in an “as is” condition, with no warranty, express or...



		3.5. Deposits into Escrow.

		3.5.1. Deliveries by City.  City shall deposit into the Escrow for delivery to Developer at Closing:  (i) the REA, if not already recorded, (ii) a grant deed; (iii) an executed counterpart to the Development Agreement; (iv) an affidavit or qualifying ...

		3.5.2. Deliveries by Developer.  No less than one (1) business day prior to the Close of Escrow, Developer shall deposit into escrow immediately available funds in the amount, which together with the Deposit plus interest thereon, if any, is equal to:...



		3.6. Closing; Closing Costs.

		3.6.1. Closing.  Upon Closing, Escrow Holder shall:  (i) record the grant deed; (ii) disburse to City the Purchase Price and the Appraisal Reimbursement; (iii) deliver to Developer the Non-Foreign Affidavit, the California Certificate and the original...

		3.6.2. Closing Costs.  Each party will pay one-half of escrow fees and recording fees.  Developer will pay title insurance and title report costs. Developer will pay all governmental conveyance fees and all transfer taxes and pro-rated property taxes ...

		3.6.3. Pro-Rations.  At the Close of Escrow, the Escrow Holder shall make the following prorations: (i) property taxes will be prorated as of the Close of Escrow based upon the most recent tax bill available, including any property taxes which may be ...





		ARTICLE IV  CONDITION OF THE SITE; ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

		4.1. Access to Site: Inspections.  Prior to the Close of Escrow, Developer and Developer’s authorized representatives may enter upon and conduct further reviews and assessments of the physical and environmental condition of the Property and the condit...

		4.2. Environmental Disclosure.  To the extent the City has copies of environmental investigation reports, City will provide copies to Developer upon request; but the Parties acknowledge that City will not be conducting a public records search of any r...

		4.3. Property Sold “AS IS.”  Developer specifically acknowledges that the City is selling and Developer is purchasing the Property on an “AS IS”, “WHERE IS” and “WITH ALL FAULTS” basis and that Developer is not relying on any representations or warran...

		4.4. Developer to Rely on Own Experts. Developer understands that notwithstanding the delivery by City to Developer of any materials, including, without limitation, third party reports, Developer will rely entirely on Developer’s own experts and consu...

		4.5. Release by Developer.  Effective upon the Close of Escrow, Developer WAIVES, RELEASES, REMISES, ACQUITS AND FOREVER DISCHARGES the Indemnitees and any person acting on behalf of the City, from any and all Claims, direct or indirect, known or unkn...

		4.6. Developer’s Post-Closing Obligations. Developer hereby covenants and agrees that

		4.7. Environmental Indemnity. To the greatest extent allowed by law, Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold Indemnitees harmless from and against all Claims resulting, arising, or based directly or indirectly in who...

		4.8. No Limitation. Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that Developer’s duties, obligations and liabilities under this Agreement are in no way limited or otherwise affected by any information the City may have concerning the Property and/or the ...

		4.9. Definitions.

		4.9.1. “Hazardous Material” means any chemical, compound, material, mixture, or substance that is now or may in the future be defined or listed in, or otherwise classified pursuant to any Environmental Laws (defined below) as a “hazardous substance”, ...

		4.9.2. “Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state and local statutes, ordinances, orders, rules, regulations, guidance documents, judgments, governmental authorizations or directives, or any other requirements of governmental authorities, a...





		ARTICLE V  AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

		5.1. Construction of Project.  Developer will construct the Project in accordance with the requirements set forth in the Development Agreement.

		5.2. Project Approvals.  Prior to the Closing, Developer shall have obtained all entitlements, permits, licenses and approvals required for the development and operation of the Project, including without limitation, Site Development Review, applicable...

		5.3. Conditions of Approval.  Developer shall develop the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Development Agreement and in compliance with the terms and conditions of all approvals, entitlements and permits that the City or any...

		5.4. Fees. Developer shall be solely responsible for, and shall promptly pay when due, all customary and usual fees and charges of City and all other agencies with jurisdiction over development of the Property in connection with obtaining building per...

		5.5. relied upon by Developer or any third party as a warranty or representation by the City as to the quality of the design or construction of the improvements or otherwise.

		5.6. Certificate of Occupancy for Project.  Promptly after completion of construction of the Project, issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy or equivalent by the City and the written request of Developer, the City will provide an instrument (“Ce...

		5.7. Equal Opportunity.  There shall be no discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, ancestry or national origin in the hiring, firing, promoting or demoting of any person engaged in construc...

		5.8. Compliance with Laws.  Developer shall carry out and shall cause its contractors to carry out the construction of the Project in conformity with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, ordinances and regulations, including without li...

		5.9. Liens and Stop Notices.  Until the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, Developer shall not allow to be placed on the Property or any part thereof any lien or stop notice on account of materials supplied to or labor performed on behalf of Deve...

		5.10. Insurance Requirements.  Developer shall maintain and shall cause its contractors to maintain all applicable insurance coverage specified in Article X.



		ARTICLE VI  USE OF THE PROPERTY

		6.1. Maintenance.  Following conveyance of the Property to Developer, Developer shall at its own expense, maintain the Property, landscaping and common areas in good physical condition, in good repair, and in decent, safe, sanitary, habitable and tena...

		6.2. Taxes and Assessments.  Following conveyance of the Property to Developer, Developer shall pay all real and personal property taxes, assessments and charges and all franchise, income, payroll, withholding, sales, and other taxes assessed against ...

		6.3. Obligation to Refrain from Discrimination.  Developer shall not restrict the rental, sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property, or any portion thereof, on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, ...



		ARTICLE VII  LIMITATIONS ON CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP, MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF DEVELOPER

		7.1. Identity of Developer; Changes Only Pursuant to this Agreement.  Developer and its principals have represented that they possess the necessary expertise, skill and ability to carry out the development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement.  ...

		7.2. Prohibition on Transfer. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, Developer shall not, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, directly or indirectly, voluntarily, involuntarily or by operation of law make or attempt any tota...

		7.3. Permitted Transfers. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, the prohibitions set forth in this Article shall not be deemed to prevent:  (i) the granting of temporary easements or permits to facilitate development of the Property; (ii) the...

		7.4. Requirements for Proposed Transfers.  The City may, in the exercise of its sole discretion, consent to a proposed Transfer of this Agreement, the Property or portion thereof if all of the following requirements are met (provided however, the requ...

		(i) The proposed transferee demonstrates to the City’s satisfaction that it has the qualifications, experience and financial resources necessary and adequate as may be reasonably determined by the City to competently complete the Project and to otherw...

		(ii) The Developer and the proposed transferee shall submit for City review and approval all instruments and other legal documents proposed to effect any Transfer of this Agreement, the Property or interest therein together with such documentation of ...

		(iii) The proposed transferee shall expressly assume all of the rights and obligations of the Developer under this Agreement arising after the effective date of the Transfer and all obligations of Developer arising prior to the effective date of the T...

		(iv) The Transfer shall be effectuated pursuant to a written instrument satisfactory to the City in form recordable in the Official Records.



		7.5. Effect of Transfer without Consent.

		7.5.1. In the absence of specific written agreement by the City, no Transfer by Developer shall be deemed to relieve the Developer or any other party from any obligation under this Agreement.

		7.5.2. If, in violation of this Agreement, the Developer Transfers all or any part of the Property or the Project prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the Project, the City shall be entitled to receive from Developer the amount by w...

		7.5.3. Without limiting any other remedy City may have under this Agreement, or under law or equity, it shall be an Event of Developer Default hereunder entitling City to terminate this Agreement if without the prior written approval of the City, Deve...



		7.6. Recovery of Costs. Developer shall reimburse City for all City costs, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in reviewing instruments and other legal documents proposed to effect a Transfer under this Agreement and in r...



		ARTICLE VIII  SECURITY FINANCING AND RIGHTS OF MORTGAGEES

		8.1. Mortgages and Deeds of Trust for Development.  Prior to issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, mortgages and deeds of trust, or any other reasonable security instrument are permitted to be placed upon the Property or the Project only for the p...

		8.2. Holder Not Obligated to Construct.  The holder of any mortgage, deed of trust authorized by this Agreement shall not be obligated to complete construction of the Project or to guarantee such completion. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed t...

		8.3. Notice of Default and Right to Cure.  Whenever City delivers any notice of default hereunder, City shall concurrently deliver a copy of such notice to each holder of record of any mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or the Project, ...

		8.4. Failure of Holder to Complete Project.  In any case where, six (6) months after default by Developer in completion of construction of the Project, the holder of record of any mortgage or deed of trust has not exercised its option to construct the...

		8.5. City Right to Cure Defaults.  In the event of a breach or default by Developer under a mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or the Project, City may cure the default, without acceleration of the subject loan, following prior notice t...

		8.6. Holder to be Notified.  Developer agrees to use best efforts to ensure that each term contained herein dealing with security financing and rights of holders shall be either inserted into the relevant deed of trust or mortgage or acknowledged by t...

		8.7. Modifications to Agreement.  City shall not unreasonably withhold consent to modifications of this Agreement requested by Project lenders or investors provided such modifications do not alter City’s substantive rights and obligations under this A...

		8.8. Estoppel Certificates.  Either Party shall, at any time, and from time to time, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of written request from the other Party, execute and deliver to such Party a written statement certifying that, to the knowledg...



		ARTICLE IX  DEFAULTS, REMEDIES AND TERMINATION

		9.1. Event of Developer Default.  The following events shall constitute an event of default on the part of Developer (“Event of Developer Default”):

		(a) A Transfer occurs, either voluntarily or involuntarily, in violation of Article VIII;

		(b) Developer fails to maintain insurance as required pursuant to this Agreement, and Developer fails to cure such default within five (5) days;

		(c) Subject to Developer’s right to contest the following charges pursuant to Section 6.2, if Developer fails to pay prior to delinquency taxes or assessments due on the Property or the Project or fails to pay when due any other charge that may result...

		(d) A default arises under any loan secured by a mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument recorded against the Property and remains uncured beyond any applicable cure period such that the holder of such security instrument has the right to...

		(e) Any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any application, financial statement, certificate or report submitted to the City in connection with this Agreement proves to have been incorrect in any material and adverse respect ...

		(f) If, pursuant to or within the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy Code or any other federal or state law relating to insolvency or relief of debtors (“Bankruptcy Law”), Developer or any manager, managing member or general partner thereof (i) c...

		(g) A court of competent jurisdiction shall have made or entered any decree or order (1) adjudging the Developer to be bankrupt or insolvent, (2) approving as properly filed a petition seeking reorganization of the Developer or seeking any arrangement...

		(h) Developer shall have assigned its assets for the benefit of its creditors (other than pursuant to a mortgage loan) or suffered a sequestration or attachment of or execution on any substantial part of its property, unless the property so assigned, ...

		(i) The Developer shall have voluntarily suspended its business or Developer shall have been dissolved or terminated;

		(j) Developer defaults in the performance of any term, provision, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement other than an obligation enumerated in this Section 10.1 and unless a shorter cure period is specified for such default, the default co...



		9.2. City Default.  An event of default on the part of City (“Event of City Default”) shall arise hereunder if City fails to keep, observe, or perform any of its covenants, duties, or obligations under this Agreement, and the default continues for a p...

		9.3. City Right to Terminate Agreement.  If an Event of Developer Default shall occur and be continuing beyond any applicable cure period, then City shall, in addition to other rights available under law or this Agreement, have the right to terminate ...

		9.4. City Remedies and Rights Upon an Event of Developer Default.  In the event of a breach or default under this Agreement by City, if such breach or default occurs prior to Close of Escrow, Developer reserves the right to either (a) seek specific pe...

		IN THE EVENT OF A BREACH OR DEFAULT HEREUNDER BY BUYER AND THE CLOSING DOES NOT OCCUR DUE TO SUCH DEFAULT, CITY’S SOLE REMEDY SHALL BE TO RETAIN THE DEPOSITS AS LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  THE PARTIES AGREE THAT IN SUCH INSTANCE, THE DEPOSITS REPRESENT A REA...

		__________   _________    Developer’s Initials  City’s Initials

		9.5. Developer’s Remedies Upon an Event of City Default.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of City Default, in addition to pursuing any other remedy allowed at law or in equity or otherwise provided in this Agreement, Developer may bring an action for ...

		9.6. Remedies Cumulative; No Consequential Damages. Except as otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative, and the exercise by either Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not pre...

		9.7. Inaction Not a Waiver of Default. No failure or delay by either Party in asserting any of its rights and remedies as to any default shall operate as a waiver of such default or of any such rights or remedies, nor deprive either Party of its right...

		9.8. Rights of Mortgagees.  Any rights of the City under this Article IX shall not defeat, limit or render invalid any mortgage or deed of trust permitted by this Agreement or any rights provided for in this Agreement for the protection of holders of ...



		ARTICLE X  INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

		10.1. Indemnity.  Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold Indemnitees harmless from and against any and all Claims, including without limitation, Claims arising directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, as a resul...

		10.2. Liability and Workers Compensation Insurance.

		(a) Prior to initiating work on the Project and continuing through the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer on the Project shall maintain a commercial general liability policy in the am...

		(b) Until issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer shall maintain a comprehensive automobile liability coverage in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), combined single limit incl...

		(c) Upon commencement of construction work and continuing until issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer shall maintain a policy of builder’s all-risk insurance in an amount not less than the...

		(d) Developer shall maintain property insurance covering all risks of loss (other than earthquake), including flood (if required) for 100% of the replacement value of the Project with deductible, if any, in an amount acceptable to City, naming City as...

		(e) Companies writing the insurance required hereunder shall be licensed to do business in the State of California.  Insurance shall be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: VII. The Commercial General Liability and...

		(f) Prior to commencement of construction work, Developer shall furnish City with certificates of insurance in form acceptable to City evidencing the required insurance coverage and duly executed endorsements evidencing such additional insured status....

		(g) If any insurance policy or coverage required hereunder is canceled or reduced, Developer shall, within five (5) days after receipt of notice of such cancellation or reduction in coverage, but in no event later than the effective date of cancellati...

		(h) Coverage provided by Developer shall be primary insurance and shall not be contributing with any insurance, or self-insurance maintained by City, and the policies shall so provide.  The insurance policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation for ...





		ARTICLE XI  ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

		11.1. No Brokers.  Each Party warrants and represents to the other that no person or entity can properly claim a right to a real estate commission, brokerage fee, finder’s fee, or other compensation with respect to the transactions contemplated by thi...

		11.2. Enforced Delay: Extension of Times of Performance.  Subject to the limitations set forth below, performance by either Party shall not be deemed to be in default, and all performance and other dates specified in this Agreement shall be extended w...

		11.3. Notices.  Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, all notices to be sent pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in writing, and sent to the Parties at their respective addresses specified below or to such other address as a Party may ...

		11.4. Attorneys’ Fees.  If any Party fails to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, or if any dispute arises among the Parties concerning the meaning or interpretation of any provision hereof, then the prevailing Party in any proceeding...

		11.5. Waivers: Modification.  No waiver of any breach of any covenant or provision of this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any other covenant or provision hereof, and no waiver shall be valid unless in writing and executed by the waiving Party. ...

		11.6. Binding on Successors.  Subject to the restrictions on Transfers set forth in Article VII, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns. Any reference in this Agreement t...

		11.7. Survival. All representations made by Developer hereunder and Developer’s obligations pursuant to Sections 4.1, 11.1 and 11.18 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement and the issuance and recordation of a Certificate of Occ...

		11.8. Construction.  The section headings and captions used herein are solely for convenience and shall not be used to interpret this Agreement.  The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement is the product of negotiation and compromise on the part of a...

		11.9. Action or Approval.  Whenever action and/or approval by City is required under this Agreement, the City Manager of the City of Pinole or his designee may act on and/or approve such matter unless specifically provided otherwise, or unless the Cit...

		11.10. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including Exhibits A through H, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, contains the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior writte...

		11.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one instrument. The signature page of any counterpart may be detached therefrom withou...

		11.12. Severability. If any term, provision, or condition of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect unless an essential purpos...

		11.13. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to or shall be deemed to confer upon any person, other than the Parties and their respective successors and assigns, any rights or remedies hereunder.

		11.14. Parties Not Co-Venturers.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall establish the Parties as partners, co-venturers, or principal and agent with one another.

		11.15. Non-Liability of Officials. Employees and Agents. No officer, official, employee or agent of City shall be personally liable to Developer or its successors in interest in the event of any default or breach by City or for any amount which may be...

		11.16. Time of the Essence: Calculation of Time Periods.  Time is of the essence for each condition, term, obligation and provision of this Agreement. Unless otherwise specified, in computing any period of time described in this Agreement, the day of ...

		11.17. Governing Law: Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California without regard to principles of conflicts of laws. Any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall be filed a...

		11.18. General Indemnification. Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold harmless the Indemnitees from all Claims (including without limitation, attorneys’ fees) arising in connection with any claim, action or proceed...

		11.19. Inspection of Books and Records.  Upon request, Developer shall permit the City to inspect at reasonable times and on a confidential basis those books, records and all other documents of Developer necessary to determine Developer’s compliance w...







		12A

		Pinole - CC SR Support of AB 1944 [DRAFT]

		AB 1944



		12B

		Steelworkers Chevron Contract CC 4-5-22 final

		DATE:   APRIL 5, 2022

		TO:    MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS

		FROM: LILLY WHALEN, COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

		SUBJECT: CONSIDERATION OF A LETTER OF SUPPORT FOR UNITED STEELWORKERS CONTRACT AT CHEVRON RICHMOND REFINERY

		Recommendation



		BACKGROUND

		FISCAL IMPACT





		Attachment A - Support for USW



		12C

		SR Draft IT Plan - FINAL

		TO:  MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEMBERS

		FROM: ANDREW MURRAY, CITY MANAGER



		Recommendation

		BACKGROUND

		REVIEW & ANALYSIS



		FISCAL IMPACT

		ATTACHMENTS





		Pinole IT Plan 2021-2026 - DRAFT 3-30-22

		Introduction

		IT Management

		IT Planning and Budgeting Process

		IT Infrastructure

		City Data Network

		Servers and Workstations

		IT Backup Systems



		Software Applications

		Electronic Devices Managed By City Departments

		Recent Technology Accomplishments

		Proposed Major IT Projects and Annual Budget FY 2021-22 Through FY 2025-26

		Fiscal Year 2021-22 Projects and Budget

		Potential Projects



		Fiscal Year 2022-23 Budget & Projects

		Potential Projects



		Fiscal Year 2023-24 Budget & Projects

		Potential Projects



		Fiscal Year 2024-25 Budget & Projects

		Potential Projects



		Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget & Projects

		Potential Projects







		9H Revised.pdf

		SR Police FLSA Settlement Agreement

		RESO Police FLSA Settlement Agreement

		Settlement Agreement - FINAL

		Exhibit B -Non-Sworn (rev).pdf

		2015

		2016

		2017

		2018

		2019

		2020

		2021

		2022

		Comp-time Liquidation



		Exhibit B -Sworn (rev).pdf

		2015

		2016

		2017

		2018

		2019

		2020

		2021

		2022

		Comp-time liquidation



		Exhibit D (rev).pdf

		Non-Sworn

		Sworn-Example 1

		Sworn-Example 2

		Sworn-Example 3(prev. ex 4)







		9J Revised.pdf

		Pinole - Pinole Shores - SR for DDA with GRP Shores LLC -  3-30-2022 - v2

		Pinole - RESO  Approval of DDA with GRP Shores 3-31-22

		Pinole -  DDA with GRP Shores for Pinole Shores 2 - 3-30-22

		DISPOSITION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT

		by and between



		A. City is the owner of certain property located on San Pablo Avenue in the City known as County Assessor’s Parcel Numbers 402-230-015, 402-230-016, 402-230-017, 402-230-018, 402-230-020-8, 402-230-022 (the “Property”), as more particularly described ...

		B. The Property was transferred to the City from the Successor Agency to the Community Redevelopment Agency for the City of Pinole (“Successor Agency”) pursuant to the long-range property management plan (“Property Management Plan”) adopted by the Suc...

		C. On May 28, 2019, the City and General Realty CE LLC executed an Exclusive Negotiating Agreement (the “ENA”) to negotiate the terms and conditions of disposition agreements for the Property.

		D. Developer is the successor in interest to General Realty CE, LLC.

		E. Developer desires to purchase the Property and proposes to construct two buildings approximately sized 80,461 and 37,482 square feet each to hold various light industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce businesses and research and development busin...

		F. City had an appraisal done on the Property by Denton Valuation which valued the Property in its “as-is” condition at Three Million Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars ($3,075,000) (the “Purchase Price”).

		G. The Pinole Shores Owner’s Association (the “Association”) owns the property located adjacent to the Property, known as Assessor’s Parcel Number 402-390-021-2 (the “Association Property”), which provides access to San Pablo Avenue.

		H. The City is in the process of negotiating a reciprocal easement agreement (the “REA”) with the Association, in order (i) to ensure continued access through the Association Property to the Property for the City and for all future owners of the Prope...

		I. As a part of the negotiation of the REA, the City and the Association have agreed to hire an appraiser to conduct a third appraisal (the “Third Appraisal”) in order to determine the purchase value of the REA, which has delayed the execution of the ...

		J. As set forth in this Agreement, Developer will reimburse the City for the cost to purchase the easement benefitting the Property conferred by the REA and (iii) the cost of the Third Appraisal (the “Appraisal Reimbursement”).

		K. Disposition of the Property is subject to completion of the required analysis of the environmental effects that may be caused by the Project, pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (Public Resources Code Section 21000 et seq., hereina...

		L. The Property is subject to that certain Covenant and Environmental Restriction on Property recorded December 17, 2002 as document 2002-0482270-00 in the official records of Contra Costa County, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit D (the “...

		M. On December 8, 2021, Developer submitted its application for the Project (the “Application”) to the Planning Department of the City.

		N. The Parties desire to enter into this Agreement in order to ensure that the Developer has the right to purchase the Property prior to Developer expending additional funds on pre-development costs and entitlement costs for development of the Property.

		O. This Agreement sets forth the understanding of the Parties with respect to the conveyance and development the Property.  The City Council has determined that the disposition and development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement will be of bene...

		P. Upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent set forth in this Agreement and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement the City will convey the Property to Developer.

		Q. A material inducement to City to enter into this Agreement is the agreement by Developer to develop the Project within the time periods specified herein and in subject to and accordance with the provisions hereof, and the City would be unwilling to...

		ARTICLE I  DEFINITIONS, EXHIBITS, INCORPORATIONS

		1.1. Definitions.  The following terms shall have the meanings set forth in the Sections referenced below whenever used in this Agreement and the Exhibits attached hereto. Additional terms are defined in the Recitals and text of this Agreement.

		1.2. Exhibits. The following exhibits are attached hereto and incorporated into this Agreement by this reference:

		1.3. Incorporation of Recitals and Exhibits.  The Recitals set forth above and the Exhibits attached to this Agreement are each incorporated into the body of this Agreement as if set forth in full.



		ARTICLE II  REPRESENTATIONS; EFFECTIVE DATE;  PROJECT SCOPE

		2.1. Developer’s Representations and Warranties.  Developer represents and warrants to City as follows, and Developer covenants that until the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, upon learning of any fact or condition which would caus...

		(i) Authority. Developer is a limited liability company, duly organized and in good standing under the laws of the State of California. Developer has the full right, power and authority to undertake all obligations of Developer under this Agreement an...

		(ii) No Conflict. Developer’s execution, delivery and performance of its obligations under this Agreement and the documents and instruments to be executed by Developer pursuant to this Agreement, will not constitute a default or a breach under any con...

		(iii) No Litigation or Other Proceeding. No litigation or other proceeding (whether administrative or otherwise) is outstanding or, to Developer's knowledge,  has been threatened which would prevent, hinder or delay the ability of Developer to perform...

		(iv) No Developer Bankruptcy.  Developer is not the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding.

		The truth and accuracy of each of the representations and warranties, and the performance of all covenants of Developer contained in this Agreement are conditions precedent to City’s obligation to proceed with the Closing hereunder.

		2.2. City's Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  In addition to the representations, warranties and covenants of City contained in other sections of this Agreement, City hereby represents, warrants and covenants to Developer that the statements...

		(i) Authority. City is a municipal corporation, lawfully formed, in existence and in good standing under the laws of the State of California.  City has the full right, capacity, power and authority to enter into and carry out the terms of this Agreeme...

		(ii) Encumbrances.  The City has not alienated, encumbered, transferred, mortgaged, assigned, pledged, or otherwise conveyed its interest in the Property or any portion thereof, nor entered into any Agreement to do so, and there are no liens, encumbra...

		(iii) Other Agreements.  There are no agreements, leases or liens affecting the Property except those which have been disclosed in writing by City.  There are no agreements which will be binding on the Developer or the Property after the Close of Escr...

		The truth and accuracy of each of the representations and warranties, and the performance of all covenants of City contained in this Agreement are conditions precedent to Developer’s obligation to proceed with the Closing hereunder.  The foregoing rep...



		2.3. Scope of Development. The Project will include the construction of construct two buildings approximately sized 80,461 and 37,482 square feet each to hold various light industrial businesses, offices, e-commerce businesses or research and developm...

		2.4. Design Review; Conditions of Approval. Developer agrees that subject to its acquisition of the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, it will develop the Project in accordance with the requirements resulting from ...



		ARTICLE III  DISPOSITION OF THE PROPERTY; CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO CLOSING

		3.1. Purchase and Sale of Property.

		3.1.1. Agreement to Buy and Sell.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, City agrees to sell the Property to Developer, and Developer hereby agrees to acquire the Property from City.

		3.1.2. Purchase Price.  The purchase price to be paid by Developer to City for the Property is Three Million Seventy-Five Thousand Dollars and No/100 ($3,075,000) (the “Purchase Price”).

		3.1.3. Payment of Purchase Price.  The Purchase Price will be paid in immediately available funds to Developer at Closing (defined below).



		3.2. Escrow.

		3.2.1. Escrow Account.  Developer has opened an interest-bearing escrow account (the “Escrow”) maintained by Old Republic Title Company as Escrow No. 0147025823-DJ, located at 1000 Burnett Ave., Suite 400, Concord, CA 94520, Attn: Donna Jones (the “Es...

		3.2.2. Opening of Escrow.  Within five (5) business days after the Effective Date, the Parties will deposit into Escrow the fully executed Agreement, or executed counterparts thereto.  The date such fully executed Agreement is received by Escrow Holde...

		3.2.3. Developer’s Deposit.  Upon Opening of Escrow, the Developer shall deposit One Hundred Thousand Dollars and No/100 ($100,000.00) into Escrow (the “Deposit”).  If Developer requests an extension to the Due Diligence Contingency Period as provided...



		3.3. Due Diligence and Property Disclosure Requirements.

		3.3.1. Condition of Title/Preliminary Title Report.  Within fourteen days of Opening of Escrow, Escrow Holder will deliver a Preliminary Title Report for the Property (the “Preliminary Report”) to Developer and City.  Developer will review the Prelimi...

		3.3.2. Due Diligence Contingency Period.  Developer will have one hundred twenty (120) days from the Effective Date (the “Due Diligence Contingency Period”) to complete physical inspections of the Property and due diligence related to the purchase of ...

		3.3.3. Satisfaction of Due Diligence Contingency.  Developer shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to terminate this Agreement for any reason prior to the expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency Period and receive a refund of Developer’s D...

		3.3.4. Environmental and Natural Hazards Disclosure.  California Health & Safety Code section 25359.7 requires owners of non-residential real property who know, or have reasonable cause to believe, that any release of hazardous substances are located ...



		3.4. Closing Date, Conditions to Closing.

		3.4.1. Closing Date.  The closing (the “Closing” or “Close of Escrow”) will occur no later than thirty (30) days from the expiration of the Due Diligence Contingency Period and any extended periods and the satisfaction of all of City’s Conditions to C...

		3.4.2. Developer’s Conditions to Closing.  Developer's obligation to purchase the Property is subject to the satisfaction of all of the following conditions or Developer's written waiver thereof (in Developer’s sole discretion) on or before the Closin...

		(a) Developer has approved the condition of the Property;

		(b) City has entered into the REA with the Association, in a form approved by Developer, to ensure access by Developer to the Property through the Association Property and the REA is recorded in the Official Records prior to or concurrently with Closing;

		(c) City has performed all obligations to be performed by City pursuant to this Agreement.  In addition, the City agrees that it shall not delay or withhold performance of its obligations;

		(c) City's representations and warranties herein are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date;

		(d) The Title Company is irrevocably committed to issue an ALTA Extended Owner's Policy of Title Insurance to Developer, effective as of the Closing Date, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions, insuring title to Developer in the full amount of the ...

		(e) CEQA has been completed; and

		(f) Developer has received a building permit and all necessary entitlements from the City to construct the Project.

		3.4.3. City’s Conditions to Closing.  The Close of Escrow and City's obligation to sell and convey the Property to Developer are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions or City's written waiver (in City’s sole discretion) of such condi...

		(a) Developer has performed all obligations to be performed by Developer pursuant to this Agreement before the Closing Date;

		(b) Developer's representations and warranties set forth herein are true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date;

		(c) CEQA has been completed;

		(d) Developer has received all necessary entitlements and a building permit from the City to construct the Project; and

		(d) City has received all other approvals necessary to construct the Project.

		3.4.4. Conveyance of Title.  City will deliver marketable fee simple title to Developer at the Closing, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions.  The Property will be conveyed by City to Developer in an “as is” condition, with no warranty, express or...



		3.5. Deposits into Escrow.

		3.5.1. Deliveries by City.  City shall deposit into the Escrow for delivery to Developer at Closing:  (i) the REA, if not already recorded, (ii) a grant deed; (iii) an affidavit or qualifying statement which satisfies the requirements of paragraph 144...

		3.5.2. Deliveries by Developer.  No less than one (1) business day prior to the Close of Escrow, Developer shall deposit into escrow immediately available funds in the amount, which together with the Deposit plus interest thereon, if any, is equal to:...



		3.6. Closing; Closing Costs.

		3.6.1. Closing.  Upon Closing, Escrow Holder shall:  (i) record the grant deed; (ii) disburse to City the Purchase Price and the Appraisal Reimbursement; (iii) deliver to Developer the Non-Foreign Affidavit, the California Certificate and the original...

		3.6.2. Closing Costs.  Each party will pay one-half of escrow fees and recording fees.  Developer will pay title insurance and title report costs. Developer will pay all governmental conveyance fees and all transfer taxes and pro-rated property taxes ...

		3.6.3. Pro-Rations.  At the Close of Escrow, the Escrow Holder shall make the following prorations: (i) property taxes will be prorated as of the Close of Escrow based upon the most recent tax bill available, including any property taxes which may be ...





		ARTICLE IV  CONDITION OF THE SITE; ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

		4.1. Access to Site: Inspections.  Prior to the Close of Escrow, Developer and Developer’s authorized representatives may enter upon and conduct further reviews and assessments of the physical and environmental condition of the Property and the condit...

		4.2. Environmental Disclosure.  To the extent the City has copies of environmental investigation reports, City will provide copies to Developer upon request; but the Parties acknowledge that City will not be conducting a public records search of any r...

		4.3. Property Sold “AS IS.”  Developer specifically acknowledges that the City is selling and Developer is purchasing the Property on an “AS IS”, “WHERE IS” and “WITH ALL FAULTS” basis and that Developer is not relying on any representations or warran...

		4.4. Developer to Rely on Own Experts. Developer understands that notwithstanding the delivery by City to Developer of any materials, including, without limitation, third party reports, Developer will rely entirely on Developer’s own experts and consu...

		4.5. Release by Developer.  Effective upon the Close of Escrow, Developer WAIVES, RELEASES, REMISES, ACQUITS AND FOREVER DISCHARGES the Indemnitees and any person acting on behalf of the City, from any and all Claims, direct or indirect, known or unkn...

		4.6. Developer’s Post-Closing Obligations. Developer hereby covenants and agrees that

		4.7. Environmental Indemnity. To the greatest extent allowed by law, Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold Indemnitees harmless from and against all Claims resulting, arising, or based directly or indirectly in who...

		4.8. No Limitation. Developer hereby acknowledges and agrees that Developer’s duties, obligations and liabilities under this Agreement are in no way limited or otherwise affected by any information the City may have concerning the Property and/or the ...

		4.9. Definitions.

		4.9.1. “Hazardous Material” means any chemical, compound, material, mixture, or substance that is now or may in the future be defined or listed in, or otherwise classified pursuant to any Environmental Laws (defined below) as a “hazardous substance”, ...

		4.9.2. “Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state and local statutes, ordinances, orders, rules, regulations, guidance documents, judgments, governmental authorizations or directives, or any other requirements of governmental authorities, a...





		ARTICLE V  AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

		5.1. Construction of Project.  Developer will construct the Project in accordance with the requirements set forth in this Agreement.

		5.2. Project Approvals.  Prior to the Closing, Developer shall have obtained all entitlements, permits, licenses and approvals required for the development and operation of the Project, including without limitation, Site Development Review, applicable...

		5.3. Conditions of Approval.  Developer shall develop the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Development Agreement and in compliance with the terms and conditions of all approvals, entitlements and permits that the City or any...

		5.4. Fees. Developer shall be solely responsible for, and shall promptly pay when due, all customary and usual fees and charges of City and all other agencies with jurisdiction over development of the Property in connection with obtaining building per...

		5.5. Certificate of Occupancy for Project.  Promptly after completion of construction of the Project, issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy or equivalent by the City and the written request of Developer, the City will provide an instrument (“Ce...

		5.6. Equal Opportunity.  There shall be no discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, ancestry or national origin in the hiring, firing, promoting or demoting of any person engaged in construc...

		5.7. Compliance with Laws.  Developer shall carry out and shall cause its contractors to carry out the construction of the Project in conformity with all applicable federal, state and local laws, rules, ordinances and regulations, including without li...

		5.8. Liens and Stop Notices.  Until the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, Developer shall not allow to be placed on the Property or any part thereof any lien or stop notice on account of materials supplied to or labor performed on behalf of Deve...

		5.9. Insurance Requirements.  Developer shall maintain and shall cause its contractors to maintain all applicable insurance coverage specified in Article X

		5.10. Survival.  The terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Article V shall survive Close of Escrow and shall not be deemed merged into the deed upon Close of Escrow.



		ARTICLE VI  USE OF THE PROPERTY

		6.1. Maintenance.  Following conveyance of the Property to Developer, Developer shall at its own expense, maintain the Property, landscaping and common areas in good physical condition, in good repair, and in decent, safe, sanitary, habitable and tena...

		6.2. Taxes and Assessments.  Following conveyance of the Property to Developer, Developer shall pay all real and personal property taxes, assessments and charges and all franchise, income, payroll, withholding, sales, and other taxes assessed against ...

		6.3. Obligation to Refrain from Discrimination.  Developer shall not restrict the rental, sale, lease, sublease, transfer, use, occupancy, tenure or enjoyment of the Property, or any portion thereof, on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, ...



		ARTICLE VII  LIMITATIONS ON CHANGE IN OWNERSHIP, MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL OF DEVELOPER

		7.1. Identity of Developer; Changes Only Pursuant to this Agreement.  Developer and its principals have represented that they possess the necessary expertise, skill and ability to carry out the development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement.  ...

		7.2. Prohibition on Transfer. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, Developer shall not, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, directly or indirectly, voluntarily, involuntarily or by operation of law make or attempt any tota...

		7.3. Permitted Transfers. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, the prohibitions set forth in this Article shall not be deemed to prevent, and the City's consent or approval shall not be required for:  (i) the granting of temporary easements ...

		7.4. Requirements for Proposed Transfers.  The City shall, in the exercise of its discretion, not to be unreasonably withheld, consent to a proposed Transfer of this Agreement, the Property or portion thereof if all of the following requirements are m...

		(i) The proposed transferee demonstrates to the City’s satisfaction that it has the qualifications, experience and financial resources necessary and adequate as may be reasonably determined by the City to competently complete the Project and to otherw...

		(ii) The Developer and the proposed transferee shall submit for City review and approval all instruments and other legal documents proposed to effect any Transfer of this Agreement, the Property or interest therein together with such documentation of ...

		(iii) The proposed transferee shall expressly assume all of the rights and obligations of the Developer under this Agreement arising after the effective date of the Transfer and all obligations of Developer arising prior to the effective date of the T...

		(iv) The Transfer shall be effectuated pursuant to a written instrument satisfactory to the City in form recordable in the Official Records.



		7.5. Effect of Transfer without Consent.

		7.5.1. In the absence of specific written agreement by the City, no Transfer by Developer shall be deemed to relieve the Developer or any other party from any obligation under this Agreement.

		7.5.2. If, in violation of this Agreement, the Developer Transfers all or any part of the Property or the Project prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the Project, the City shall be entitled to receive from Developer the amount by w...

		7.5.3. Without limiting any other remedy City may have under this Agreement, or under law or equity, it shall be an Event of Developer Default hereunder entitling City to terminate this Agreement if without the prior written approval of the City, Deve...



		7.6. Recovery of Costs. Developer shall reimburse City for all City costs, including but not limited to reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in reviewing instruments and other legal documents proposed to effect a Transfer under this Agreement and in r...



		ARTICLE VIII  SECURITY FINANCING AND RIGHTS OF MORTGAGEES

		8.1. Mortgages and Deeds of Trust for Development.  Prior to issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, mortgages and deeds of trust, or any other reasonable security instrument are permitted to be placed upon the Property or the Project only for the p...

		8.2. Holder Not Obligated to Construct.  The holder of any mortgage, deed of trust authorized by this Agreement shall not be obligated to complete construction of the Project or to guarantee such completion. Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed t...

		8.3. Notice of Default and Right to Cure.  Whenever City delivers any notice of default under this Agreement, City shall concurrently deliver a copy of such notice to each holder of record of any mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or th...

		8.4. Failure of Holder to Complete Project.  In any case where, six (6) months after default by Developer in completion of construction of the Project, the holder of record of any mortgage or deed of trust has not exercised its option to construct the...

		8.5. City Right to Cure Defaults.  In the event of a breach or default by Developer under a mortgage or deed of trust secured by the Property or the Project, City may cure the default, without acceleration of the subject loan, following prior notice t...

		8.6. Holder to be Notified.  Developer agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that each term contained herein dealing with security financing and rights of holders shall be either inserted into the relevant deed of trust or mortgage o...

		8.7. Modifications to Agreement.  City shall not unreasonably withhold consent to modifications of this Agreement requested by Project lenders or investors provided such modifications do not alter City’s substantive rights and obligations under this A...

		8.8. Estoppel Certificates.  Either Party shall, at any time, and from time to time, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of written request from the other Party, execute and deliver to such Party a written statement certifying that, to the knowledg...



		ARTICLE IX  DEFAULTS, REMEDIES AND TERMINATION

		9.1. Event of Developer Default.  The following events shall constitute an event of default on the part of Developer (“Event of Developer Default”):

		(a) A Transfer occurs, either voluntarily or involuntarily, in violation of Article VIII;

		(b) Developer fails to maintain insurance as required pursuant to this Agreement, and Developer fails to cure such default within five (5) days;

		(c) Subject to Developer’s right to contest the following charges pursuant to Section 6.2, if Developer fails to pay prior to delinquency taxes or assessments due on the Property or the Project or fails to pay when due any other charge that may result...

		(d) A default arises under any loan secured by a mortgage, deed of trust or other security instrument recorded against the Property and remains uncured beyond any applicable cure period such that the holder of such security instrument has the right to...

		(e) Any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or in any application, financial statement, certificate or report submitted to the City in connection with this Agreement proves to have been incorrect in any material and adverse respect ...

		(f) If, pursuant to or within the meaning of the United States Bankruptcy Code or any other federal or state law relating to insolvency or relief of debtors (“Bankruptcy Law”), Developer or any manager, managing member or general partner thereof (i) c...

		(g) A court of competent jurisdiction shall have made or entered any decree or order (1) adjudging the Developer to be bankrupt or insolvent, (2) approving as properly filed a petition seeking reorganization of the Developer or seeking any arrangement...

		(h) Developer shall have assigned its assets for the benefit of its creditors (other than pursuant to a mortgage loan) or suffered a sequestration or attachment of or execution on any substantial part of its property, unless the property so assigned, ...

		(i) The Developer shall have voluntarily suspended its business or Developer shall have been dissolved or terminated;

		(j) Developer defaults in the performance of any term, provision, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement other than an obligation enumerated in this Section 10.1 and unless a shorter cure period is specified for such default, the default co...



		9.2. City Default.  An event of default on the part of City (“Event of City Default”) shall arise hereunder if City fails to keep, observe, or perform any of its covenants, duties, or obligations under this Agreement, and the default continues for a p...

		9.3. City Right to Terminate Agreement.  If an Event of Developer Default shall occur and be continuing beyond any applicable cure period, then City shall, in addition to other rights available under law or this Agreement, have the right to terminate ...

		9.4. City Remedies and Rights Upon an Event of Developer Default.  In the event of a breach or default under this Agreement by Developer, if such breach or default occurs prior to Close of Escrow, City reserves the right to do any of the following:  (...

		IN THE EVENT OF A BREACH OR DEFAULT HEREUNDER BY DEVELOPER AND THE CLOSING DOES NOT OCCUR DUE TO SUCH DEFAULT, CITY’S SOLE REMEDY SHALL BE TO RETAIN THE DEPOSITS AS LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  THE PARTIES AGREE THAT IN SUCH INSTANCE, THE DEPOSITS REPRESENT A...

		__________   _________    Developer’s Initials  City’s Initials

		9.5. Developer’s Remedies Upon an Event of City Default.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of City Default, in addition to pursuing any other remedy allowed at law or in equity or otherwise provided in this Agreement, Developer may either (a) bring an ...

		9.6. Remedies Cumulative; No Consequential Damages. Except as otherwise expressly stated in this Agreement, the rights and remedies of the Parties are cumulative, and the exercise by either Party of one or more of such rights or remedies shall not pre...

		9.7. Inaction Not a Waiver of Default. No failure or delay by either Party in asserting any of its rights and remedies as to any default shall operate as a waiver of such default or of any such rights or remedies, nor deprive either Party of its right...

		9.8. Rights of Mortgagees.  Any rights of the City under this Article IX shall not defeat, limit or render invalid any mortgage or deed of trust permitted by this Agreement or any rights provided for in this Agreement for the protection of holders of ...



		ARTICLE X  INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

		10.1. Indemnity.  Developer shall indemnify, defend (with counsel approved by City) and hold Indemnitees harmless from and against any and all Claims arising out of or in connection with Developer’s performance under this Agreement, including without ...

		10.2. Liability and Workers Compensation Insurance.

		(a) Prior to initiating work on the Project and continuing through the issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer on the Project shall maintain a commercial general liability policy in the am...

		(b) Until issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer shall maintain a comprehensive automobile liability coverage in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000), combined single limit incl...

		(c) Upon commencement of construction work and continuing until issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, Developer and all contractors working on behalf of Developer shall maintain a policy of builder’s all-risk insurance in an amount not less than the...

		(d) Until issuance of the Certificate of Occupancy, Developer shall maintain property insurance covering all risks of loss (other than earthquake), including flood (if required) for 100% of the replacement value of the Project with deductible, if any,...

		(e) Companies writing the insurance required hereunder shall be licensed to do business in the State of California.  Insurance shall be placed with insurers with a current A.M. Best’s rating of no less than A: VII. The Commercial General Liability and...

		(f) Prior to commencement of construction work on the Project, Developer shall furnish City with certificates of insurance in form acceptable to City evidencing the required insurance coverage and duly executed endorsements evidencing such additional ...

		(g) If any insurance policy or coverage required hereunder is canceled or reduced, Developer shall, within five (5) days after receipt of notice of such cancellation or reduction in coverage, but in no event later than the effective date of cancellati...

		(h) Coverage provided by Developer shall be primary insurance and shall not be contributing with any insurance, or self-insurance maintained by City, and the policies shall so provide.  The insurance policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation for ...





		ARTICLE XI  ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

		11.1. No Brokers.  Each Party warrants and represents to the other that no person or entity can properly claim a right to a real estate commission, brokerage fee, finder’s fee, or other compensation with respect to the transactions contemplated by thi...

		11.2. Enforced Delay: Extension of Times of Performance.  Subject to the limitations set forth below, performance by either Party shall not be deemed to be in default, and all performance and other dates specified in this Agreement shall be extended w...

		11.3. Notices.  Except as otherwise specified in this Agreement, all notices to be sent pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in writing, and sent to the Parties at their respective addresses specified below or to such other address as a Party may ...

		11.4. Attorneys’ Fees.  If any Party fails to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, or if any dispute arises among the Parties concerning the meaning or interpretation of any provision hereof, then the prevailing Party in any proceeding...

		11.5. Waivers: Modification.  No waiver of any breach of any covenant or provision of this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any other covenant or provision hereof, and no waiver shall be valid unless in writing and executed by the waiving Party. ...

		11.6. Binding on Successors.  Subject to the restrictions on Transfers set forth in Article VII, this Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns. Any reference in this Agreement t...

		11.7. Survival. All representations made by Developer hereunder and Developer’s obligations pursuant to Sections 4.1, 11.1 and 11.18 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement and the issuance and recordation of a Certificate of Occ...

		11.8. Construction.  The section headings and captions used herein are solely for convenience and shall not be used to interpret this Agreement.  The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement is the product of negotiation and compromise on the part of a...

		11.9. Action or Approval.  Whenever action and/or approval by City is required under this Agreement, the City Manager of the City of Pinole or his designee may act on and/or approve such matter unless specifically provided otherwise, or unless the Cit...

		11.10. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, including Exhibits A through H, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, contains the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior writte...

		11.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one instrument. The signature page of any counterpart may be detached therefrom withou...

		11.12. Severability. If any term, provision, or condition of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect unless an essential purpos...

		11.13. No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to or shall be deemed to confer upon any person, other than the Parties and their respective successors and assigns, any rights or remedies hereunder.

		11.14. Parties Not Co-Venturers.  Nothing in this Agreement is intended to or shall establish the Parties as partners, co-venturers, or principal and agent with one another.

		11.15. Non-Liability of Officials. Employees and Agents. No officer, official, employee or agent of City shall be personally liable to Developer or its successors in interest in the event of any default or breach by City or for any amount which may be...

		11.16. Time of the Essence: Calculation of Time Periods.  Time is of the essence for each condition, term, obligation and provision of this Agreement. Unless otherwise specified, in computing any period of time described in this Agreement, the day of ...

		11.17. Governing Law: Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California without regard to principles of conflicts of laws. Any action to enforce or interpret this Agreement shall be filed a...

		11.18. Inspection of Books and Records.  Upon request, Developer shall permit the City to inspect at reasonable times and on a confidential basis those books, records and all other documents of Developer to the extent reasonably necessary to determine...

		11.19. Confidentiality.  The Parties hereto shall not disclose any of the terms of this Agreement (except to the extent as may be required by law or as required by the Title Company or to the officers, directors, partners and employees of the Parties ...





		Pinole - Covenant and Environmental Restriction - Pinole Shores





		Return to Agenda: 






